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Corporate Information (Continued)
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China Merchants Bank
China Minsheng Bank
Wing Lung Bank Limited

www.ourgame.com

www.lianzhong.com
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Notes:

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

7

Mr. NG Kwok Leung Frank resigned as an executive Director and chairman of
the Risk Management Committee with effect from 29 June 2019. He also
resigned as a Co-Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect from 30
August 2019.

Mr. HU Wen was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 29
June 2019. Mr. FAN Tai resigned as a non-executive Director and a member of
the Audit Committee with effect from 26 June 2019.

Professor HUANG Yong was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director, a member of each of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination
and Corporate Governance Committee with effect from 17 December 2019.

Mr. GE Xuan was not re-elected at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 29 June 2019. Accordingly, Mr. GE ceased to be an independent non-
executive Director, a member of each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee, Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee and Risk
Management Committee on the same day.

Mr. HU Wen and Mr. LU Zhong were appointed as the members of the Audit
Committee with effect from 19 August 2019.

Mr. YANG Eric Qing was appointed as an authorized representative of the
Company with effect from 29 June 2019 when Mr. NG Kwok Leung Frank
ceased to be an authorized representative of the Company on the same day.

The headquarter of the Company has been changed to Room 1002, 10/F, Tower

B Fairmont, No.1 Building, 33# Community Guangshun North Street, Chaoyang
District, Beijing, PRC with effect from 26 August 2019.
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Financial Highlights
MR E

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—-BLEE

2019 2018 Changes
—E-AF —E-)N\F b
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARET T
(Audited) (Audited)
(BEZX) (& E%)
(Restated)
(f &%)
Revenue A 272,607 389,166 -30.0%
Loss attributable to equity holdersof ZAAQAREFIFHAELER
the Company (419,213) (622,970) -32.7%
Loss per share attributable to equity AATEZEEAEM
holders of the Company BRER
(expressed in RMB cents per share) (ABBRAREDT|R)
Basic HAR (38.72) (57.46)
Diluted e (38.72) (57.46)
REVENUE BY GEOGRAPHICAL AREAS LB A E 8o U
Year ended 31 December
BE+ZA=1+—HLEE
2019 2018 Changes
—E-hE —E-N\F 2%
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET R ARBTF T
(Audited) (Audited)
(BREX) (' Z)
[Restated)
(&&= 5)
People’s Republic of China ["PRC")" REARLME(HER)" 92,523 246,855 -62.5%
Outside the PRC? =elEiR R N 180,084 142,311 26.5%
Total revenue AN 272,607 389,166 -30.0%
(1) For the purpose of this annual report, the revenue from the PRC does not (1) MARERME KB PEBHUW AN KB IEL

include those from Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan (if any).

(2) The revenue outside the PRC was primarily derived from Allied Esports
Entertainment, Inc. ("TAESE"), an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, which is separately listed on the Nasdag Stock Exchange ("NASDAQ")
and operates the World Poker Tour ("WPT") and eSports business.

(2)

BEE BRMRAENKRAMEA) -

TEBNRATEZREARAEEIEZE
fff /B X 7]Allied Esports Entertainment, Inc.
(TAESE] - E 70 43 Hi 3% 2 3 %5 X 5 Pt (Nasdaq
Stock Exchange * [#AHFE R ) B £/ T &
B REREE(TWPT)) RERER)

—B-NEER



hFEUBRE

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
—ET-RF ZE—RF T—+F T\ ZE-hEF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFT ARETT ARETT AR%®TxR
Revenue WA 769,625 871,148 617,025 389,166 272,607
Gross profit £ 459 436 61,951 329,053 154,927 127,620
Profit/(Loss) before income & P8R A1 FIE
tax (B1#8) 139,145 146,499 (36,596) (712,969) (456,952)
Profit/(Loss] for the year FEME/ (EE) 112,059 139,376 (42,956) (697,513) (456,265)
Attributable to equity RARERFAA
holders of the Company &1 114,351 148,669 (23,99¢) (622,970) (419,213)
Attributable to non- FEVE AR = FE (R
controlling interests (2,292) (9,293) (18,960) (74,543) (37,052)
Assets and liabilities BEERAR
Total assets MEE 1,191,945 1,428,881 1,618,212 1,266,430 978,802
Total liabilities waE 164,678 174,335 162,682 286,456 321,583
Total equity B 1,027,267 1,254,546 1,455,530 979,974 657,219
Note: BT :

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group decided to reorganise the PC
Business under the Lianzhong Group which will effectively result in the disposal of
Beijing Lianzhong Co., Ltd. and the divested businesses and on 15 August 2018, the
Group entered into the reorganisation agreement. For the years ended 31 December
2018 and 2017, results of the PC Business under the Lianzhong Group were presented
asasingle line item of “discontinued operations” in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

On 1 April 2019, the Group announced to terminate the reorganisation given the
performance of the divested businesses has shown continued stabilisation. The results
of the PC Business previously presented as "discontinued operations” for the year
ended 31 December 2018 has been reclassified and included in profit or loss from
continuing operations, and re-presented for the year ended 31 December 2018.

To supplement its financial statements which is presented in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS"), the Group has also used
unaudited non-IFRS adjusted financials as an additional financial measure to evaluate
our financial performance since the listing of the Company’s shares on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange”] in 2014. Given that the
difference between IFRS and non-IFRS financials is insignificant and will not provide
meaningful information to the shareholders of the Company (the "Shareholders"), the
Company determines that it will no longer disclose non-1FRS measures.

Annual Report 2019

BHE-_Z-\F+_A=+—-HILEFE XxEHR
FTEHEAMBEEETHPCEB(HBERERLEEL
REBREHRERNEARARALMNEES) AR
“E-NFNATHB  AEECITZERBE -
HE-ZE—\ER-_F—+F+-_A=+—HILF
B rBREEBETHPCEERGaERLEMET
WHRPEIRIERIEREER I NEFEREAE -

RZZE-NEOA—H ARAHBEEBHORRSE
BE MASEEMRILIEHE  EAREBE_F—
NEFTZA=+-"HLFER2IARERLLEEE
BIMPCEBMERCEENDBRNFHELEHX
BEaRAR YRBEZE_T-N\F+_A=+—
BiEFEES -

REARBERYBEHREEN(EHERMBHREE
B2 zHBEHRE BRRARNR T —MOF
EREEBARSMARAB (XA LWL K
SENEBREELFERY B RS ERNKHER
BHBEFERBINFERBRBEZIES - ERERH
T R 5 2 Q) 2 3E BB B 7 S i AR BN 2 ) 2 B 7S U
ZRUAER BAERAQFBRR(TRERD RHE
BAEREZAR HUARTAREBRTBREER
BRI RE LRI BIER -



ETRBS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Ourgame International Holdings Limited [the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), | hereby present to
you the results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019.

In 2019, we continued to see the stabilization and rebuilding of the
Company’s China business and continued growth in its overseas business.
Given the continued challenging regulatory environment and market
conditions within China, the Company continued to optimize its cost
structure across its China online card and board games operations, with
selective shifting away from less profitable games and distribution
channels, and re-focused on developing games that are compliant with
regulations and have high potential for positive financial returns. The
Company has leveraged its brand and loyal user base to launch a number of
“user recall” marketing efforts to reactivate dormant users, together with
redevelopment of core classic games with new features, which have shown
good results. The Company also introduced the “free-to-user, paid-by-
advertiser” business model into the Company’s new mobile games that
brought in a new stream of revenue and broadened user base. Besides the
traditional app based games, the Company has expanded into HTML5 and
“small program” type of games which enabled us to reach new distribution
channels and partners. While there is still significant room for improvement
and advancement, we believe that through the efforts in 2019, we have
achieved a rebase-lining of the China online card and board games
businesses and laid the foundation to explore new avenue for growth going
forward.

In 2019, the Company’s overseas business in eSports of Allied eSports ("AES”)
and WPT achieved a significant milestone by completing the spin-off listing
with Black Ridge Acquisition Corporation (‘BRAC"], a company listed on the
NASDAQ. The transaction was completed on 9 August 2019 (US time], with
BRAC was renamed as Allied Esports Entertainment Inc. and commenced
trading on the main board of NASDAQ under the new stock symbol AESE
starting from 12 August 2019. As a result of the completion of the aforesaid
transaction, the Company is now the controlling shareholder of AESE with
approximately 51.92% of its issued shares and has control of its board of
directors, and AESE has become a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company. AESE gained three strategic investors in Simon Property and
Brookfield Property, which are two of the largest real estate companies in
the US with extensive holdings in malls and commercial properties across
the US and globally, and TV Azteca, the largest sports TV network in Mexico
with extensive media holdings in Mexico and Latin America. These strategic
investors are also strategic business partners that have signed cooperative
business agreements with AESE to develop the eSports business together.
As one of the first eSports companies to be listed globally, the Company’s
overseas business entered a new page of development. By listing on the
NASDAQ, AESE can not only now access the US capital market but also
have access to more partners globally to accelerate its growth to become a
leading company in the fast growing eSports business. With the financial
results of AESE fully consolidated into that of the Company’s, as the
controlling shareholder of AESE, the Company will continue to enjoy AESE's
progress and success.
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AESE achieved significant growth in 2019 with year over year revenue
growth of over 25% to over RMB180 million. The growth was across the
board for both the WPT line of business and AES eSports business. In 2019,
WPT continued its growth on tournaments, viewership, distribution
channels, sponsorship and geographic presence. In 2019, WPT held over 65
global events including its first ever event in Australia in October 2019 and
recorded user event in Cambodia in December 2019. In March 2019, WPT
set a record by conducting 11 international events in a single calendar
month across 4 continents, 5 countries, and 9 cities. Among those events, 3
were televised on FOX Sports Network. WPT continued to attract sponsors,
adding well-known brands such as Baccarat. The WPT television show
continued to grow in distribution numbers on a global scale. Traditional
television has now reached more than 142 million households and over-the-
top box user has reached more than 88 million households with a total
combined household reach of more than 230 million. WPT continued its
global expansion by signing a strategic agreement with Grupo Salinas and
TV Azteca of Mexico to expand into the Mexican and Latin American
markets. Grupo Salinas owns some of the largest banking, media and retail
companies in Mexico and South America and has an extensive online and
offline network presence. Through its partnership with Grupo Salinas, WPT
has launched TV programs in local language and its poker content library
has attracted a massive Latin American audience. The WPT television show
has premiered on TV Azteca in July 2019 and coincided with the launch of
the WPT social gaming platform WPTGO at the same time. The show is
already garnering a viewership of more than 25 million weekly viewers. With
the large users and viewers generated through its tournaments and TV
programs, WPT's online interactive games in ClubWPT and PlayWPT also

achieved robust growth.
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The Company’s eSports business in AES also achieved significant growth in
2019. The Las Vegas flagship arena (the "Arena”] continued to be an iconic
venue for eSports events. In the fourth quarter of 2019 alone, 78 events
were held at the Arena, with notable events including the League of Legends
All-Star 2019, Capcom North America Regional Finals, Simon Cup Grand
Final, SoulCalibur World Invitational, and the Big Buck Hunter World
Championship. AES’s mobile arena trucks in North America and Europe
were deployed at nine events, including Simon Cup Qualifiers, Posty Fest,
Las Vegas Bowl, DreamHack Atlanta and DreamHack Winter, Gamevention
and EGX London. Our trucks have proven to be a very effective method of
bringing the Allied Esports brand into high profile events, which
complements our stationary arena. With AES’'s strong brand, AES
introduced The Allied Esports Property Network in 2018 as the world's first
affiliate program for global partners interested in developing eSports
venues and participating in Allied Esports’ events. In the fourth quarter of
2019, AES signed an agreement with Wanyoo, the operator of the largest
network of eSports centers in China. Wanyoo will become an official affiliate
member of The Allied Esports Property Network and serve as a valuable
distribution channel to enable Allied Esports to sell future products and
services into the Chinese market. This includes Wanyoo's 16 million-plus
global members in more than 800 locations across China and around the
world, including facilities in the United States, Australia, Singapore, the
United Kingdom and Canada. Fortress Esports, the first affiliate program
partner of The Allied Esports Property Network covering Australia and New
Zealand, opened its first venue on 13 March 2020 at Australia’'s largest
shopping mall, Emporium, in Melbourne, Australia. At nearly 30,000 square
feet, the new facility is expected to be the largest video gaming and eSports
entertainment venue in the Southern Hemisphere. In collaboration with
strategic partner Simon Property, AES successfully completed its pilot
season of the Simon Cup, a US nationwide amateur eSports tournament,
licensed by Epic Games to include Fortnite, spanned online and on mall
qualifying events and was marketed at 13 Simon mall destinations. AES has
signed an agreement with Simon Property to open mall arenas in Simon
Property’s network of malls with the first arena targeted to be opened in
2020 in Atlanta, Georgia of the US. AES will continue to work with strong
partners to expand its in-person venue, multi-channel content and

interactive services business.

Going forward, the Company will continue to grow its China online card and
board games businesses, while starting to explore overseas games
segment targeting the significant and growing overseas Chinese markets.
AESE will continue its growth push with WPT leveraging its brand and large
global user and viewer base with partners into new geographies and
consumer entertainment segments, and with AES expanding with partners

to more location and more content and online services.
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The loss attributable to equity holders of the Company amounted to
RMB419.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2019, as compared
with the loss attributable to equity holders of the Company of
RMB623.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2018.

In 2019, revenue of the Group amounted to RMB272.6 million,
representing a decrease of RMB116.6 million or 30.0% as compared
with RMB389.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2018. The
decrease was mainly because of unexpected changes in our China
online card and board games market environment and the rescission
of the share transfer agreement with Nanjing Haoyun Meicheng
Electronics Technology Co., Ltd. (FRFEZEKE FEHEERA

("Nanjing Haoyun”) and its subsidiaries during 2019, offset by the
increase in revenue of the Group’'s overseas business in AESE Group,
primarily related to the increase in in-person revenue generated from
eSports Arena Las Vegas, and the increase in multiplatform content
revenue from WPT's distribution, sponsorship and advertising

revenue.

In 2019, cost of revenue of the Group amounted to RMB145.0 million,
representing a decrease of RMB89.2 million or 38.1% as compared
with RMB234.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2018. The
resulting gross profit margin increased from 39.8% for the year ended
31 December 2018 to 46.8% for the year ended 31 December 2019.
The increase was mainly due to cost control during the year ended 31
December 2019.

In 2019, other income of the Group amounted to RMB3.7 million,
representing a decrease of RMB16.8 million or 82.0% as compared
with RMB20.5 million in 2018. This was primarily due to the decrease

in interest income from loan to third parties.
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SELLING AND MARKETING EXPENSES

In 2019, selling and marketing expenses of the Group amounted to
RMB44.9 million, representing a decrease of RMB42.9 million or
48.9% as compared with RMB87.8 million in 2018. The decrease was
mainly due to cost control in light of changes in the market
environment during the year ended 31 December 2019.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

In 2019, administrative expenses of the Group amounted to RMB249.6
million, representing a decrease of RMB153.2 million or 38.0% as
compared with RMB402.8 million in 2018. The decrease was mainly
due to cost control in light of changes in the market environment and
as a result of the deconsolidation of eSports Arena, LLC during the
year ended 31 December 2019.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES

In 2019, research and development expenses of the Group amounted
to RMBO0.4 million, representing a decrease of RMB10.5 million or
96.3% as compared with RMB10.9 million in 2018. The decrease was
mainly due to higher selectivity and reduction of development efforts
on new versions of mobile games and costs incurred in associated

research and development activities.

FAIR VALUE CHANGES OF FINANCIAL
ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT
OR LOSS

In 2019, loss in fair value changes of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss of the Group amounted to RMB28.7 million, as
compared with gain in fair value changes of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss of RMB8.2 million in 2018. The decrease
was mainly due to unexpected changes in the market environment
and some of our investee companies also suffered from loss during
the year ended 31 December 2019.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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9.

10.

1.

12.

FAIR VALUE CHANGES OF CONTINGENT
CONSIDERATION PAYABLE

In 2019, there was no gain/loss in fair value change of contingent
consideration payables, as compared with a gain of RMB45.3 million
in 2018, because the share transfer agreement with Nanjing Haoyun
was rescinded during the year ended 31 December 2019.

IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS

In 2019, impairment of assets amounted to RMB175.5 million, as
compared with RMB358.6 million in 2018. In light of changes in
market environment during the year of 2018, the Group had written
down substantially all of the carrying values of the assets relating to
the PRC online card and board games businesses in 2018. For trade
and other receivables, the Group had fully impaired the receivables
that were considered unrecoverable, while for the rest the Group had
applied various percentages according to the Group policy. The
Company considered that the receivables not being impaired are

recoverable.

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS
OF THE COMPANY

The loss attributable to equity holders of the Company amounted to
RMB419.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2019, as compared
with loss attributable to equity holders of the Company of RMB623.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2018. The decrease was
mainly due to cost control during the year and the decrease in assets
impairment for the year ended 31 December 2019 compared to the
year ended 31 December 2018.

INCOME TAX CREDIT

In 2019, income tax credit of the Group amounted to RMBO.7 million,
representing a decrease of RMB14.8 million or 95.5% as compared
with RMB15.5 million in 2018.
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BEES R RO (8)

As at 31 December 2019, the Group's total bank balances and cash
increased by 14.2% from RMB162.7 million as at 31 December 2018 to
RMB185.8 million as at 31 December 2019. The increase was
primarily as a result of the proceeds from issuance of convertible
notes and repayment from loans to third parties during the year
ended 31 December 2019. As at 31 December 2019, the current assets
of the Group amounted to RMB266.4 million, including RMB185.8
million in bank balances and cash, other current assets of RMB80.6
million. Current liabilities of the Group amounted to RMB233.6
million, of which RMB128.2 million were trade and other payables and
deferred revenue, other current liabilities of RMB105.4 million. As at
31 December 2019, the current ratio (the current assets to current
liabilities ratio) of the Group was 1.14 as compared to 1.76 as at 31
December 2018. Gearing ratio is calculated on the basis of total
borrowings [net of cash and cash equivalents) over the Group's total
equity. The Group's gearing ratio as at 31 December 2019 was nil (2018:
nill. The Group currently intends to finance future expansion,
investments and business operations primarily with internal
resources, but may explore other financing sources in appropriate
circumstances.

Save as disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 11
August 2019 in relation to the transaction merger and proposed spin-
off completed on 9 August 2019, the Group did not have any material
investments during the year ended 31 December 2019.

Save as disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 11
August 2019 in relation to the transaction merger and proposed spin-
off completed on 9 August 2019, the Group did not have any material

acquisitions during the year ended 31 December 2019.
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BEES R RO (8)

The Group makes investments in financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss for the purposes of (i) supplementing the Group's games
portfolio to drive higher monetization of our user base and
profitability, (ii] exploring new business opportunities in related areas
of our business eco-system for acquisitions and strategic and
operational synergies and also leveraging on external financial
resources for expertise and scale. As at 31 December 2019, the
Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss amounted
to RMB63.4 million (31 December 2018: RMB109.1 million).

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s investments in unlisted equity
investments amounted to RMB63.4 million, which mainly included
direct equity investments in selected startup companies mainly
engaged in games or mind sports related technological research and
development and direct subscription to the interests in private equity
funds ("Private Equity Funds’] that focus on providing early-stage
funding for companies in the mind sports sector. A breakdown of the

majority of these investments is set out below:

Amount of

Capital Contributed

Name of Investee Company by the Group
HREQNRER rEBITESH

AEEBREZEARBTABEZCREE
EHBRE B REAEE 2 A
G UEDRMAPAREELARREHA
Feeh (IFBRESERERGMBAEY
ZHEBHE NWETKRERELEK
M B 7 B R - [ R £ B A B B 7% 3R
FESHENBREARE - R_ZT—
hWE+-_BR=+—B XEERQIALE
HABEREZEMEEAARKGLIES
T(ZEBE—NE+A=+—H: ARK
1091 &58&7T) °

RZEBE-NFE+-_A=+—H Fx&H
RIFLTHEREREZRERARE63.4
BET FTEERENETAEQR(ZE
Y= 7 E B AR B 2 Bl A B )
CEEREEGRENEERABLEREE
E(ZERAETRARENEP AR
HATHRE) (AEREES ) 2= -
HZEREBEZRBAAFHIET

Percentage of

Shareholding Principal Business

Beijing Yilian Investment Centre (L.P.)

EREBRERLERER)

Gong Qing Cheng Wujiang Xingyao Investment
Management Partnership (L.P.)
AEHTEERREERAREEBRER)

Beijing Zhongchuang Yonglian Investment
Management Centre (L.P.)
ERBEKBREEEDL(BRAR)

Tong Xiang Juli Fengyuan Equity Investment
Fund Management Partnership (L.P))

BB NLEREREESEBAREEBRER)

eSports Arena LLC ("eSports Arena’)
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For the year ended 31 December 2019, no dividends have been paid
from invested companies. All startup companies invested by the
Group are in relatively early stage, and are mainly focused on product
development and launching. Our Private Equity Funds were also
actively seeking and providing funds for early stage companies in the
Internet, sports and entertainment segment, which could provide us
with a platform to leverage on our experience and resources, and to
minimize our investment risks. We believe that our investment
initiative is an important aspect of our vision to build up our ecosystem
as a whole. The Group will continue to seek other investment
opportunities that not only create synergies on different levels but
also offer high-yield return potential. The Group will continue to
monitor its investment in financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss in a responsible manner. There are no financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss in the Group's investment portfolio that
individually constitutes significant investment as none of the
investments has a carrying amount that accounts for more than 5% of

the Group's total assets as at 31 December 2019.

Movements of Financial Assets at Fair Value
Through Profit or Loss

The movements of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

for the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out below:
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Unlisted equity Unlisted debt
investments investments Total
kEHm ¥LEWm
ERRE BERE ®et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTF T ARET T
Balance as at 1 January 2019 RZZE—-—N&F—HA—A82
iR 95,782 13,286 109,068
Reclassification from associate BEtE ANREHDE 5,663 — 5,663
Reclassification to loan to third ENOEERE = HRE
parties Z B — (13,286) (13,286)
Addition = 8,501 - 8,501
Disposals HE (18,034) — (18,034)
Fair value changes NREZE (28,668) — (28,668)
Exchange difference ME = 170 — 170
Balance as at 31 December 2019 R-Z—hhE+=A
=t—HZ#& 63,414 - 63,414
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17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

MATERIAL DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 23
December 2019 in relation to rescission of the share transfer

agreement with Nanjing Haoyun, the Group did not have any material
disposals during the year ended 31 December 2019.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2019, none of the Group's assets were pledged (2018:
nil.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2019 (2018: nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group mainly operated
in China and in the United States of America and the majority of its
transactions were settled in Renminbi ("'RMB”) or USD, being the
functional currencies of the Group entities to which the transactions
relate. As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not have significant
foreign currency exposure from its operations.

EMPLOYEE'S REMUNERATION AND POLICY

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had 171 employees, 25 of which
were responsible for games development and operation or general
administration in the PRC (including Hong Kong), 146 for AESE. The
total remuneration expenses (including share-based compensation
expense) for the year ended 31 December 2019 were RMB79.3 million,

representing a decrease of 46.6% as compared to the year of 2018.
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22.

23.

24,

EVENTS OCCURRED SINCE THE END OF THE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Save as disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 15
January 2020 in relation to the deemed disposal of equity interest in a
subsidiary, the Group did not have any material events occurred since
the end of the year ended 31 December 2019.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group does not have other

plans for material investments and capital assets.

DISCONTINUATION OF NON-IFRS MEASURES

To supplement its financial statements which is presented in
accordance with IFRS, the Group has also used unaudited non-IFRS
adjusted financials as an additional financial measure to evaluate our
financial performance since the listing of the Company’s shares on
the Stock Exchange in 2014. Given that the difference between IFRS
and non-IFRS financials is insignificant and will not provide
meaningful information to the Shareholders, the Company determines
that it will no longer disclose non-IFRS measures.
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ESBRS

The Board hereby presents its report together with the audited consolidated B EFEE@ZNIREAREERNAEEHE -Z
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019. —NF+ A=+ —HBLEFENLEZES
Bk -

The principal activities of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2019 are online card and board games development and operation via
its subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC"] and
eSports business and World Poker Tour business ("WPT Business”)
via Allied Esports Entertainment, Inc. [NASDAQ: AESE). The activities
of our principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The analysis of the Group’s revenues and segment information is set
out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

A review of the business of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2019 (including particulars of important events affecting
the Company that have occurred during the year ended 31 December
2019, an analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using
financial key performance indicators and a discussion on the Group's
future business development) is provided in the Chairman's
Statement on pages 7 to 9 of this annual report. A description of the
principal risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing can be
found on pages 81 to 83 of this Directors’ Report. In addition, the
financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are
available in Note 42 to the consolidated financial statements. Except
as disclosed in this annual report, no other important event affecting
the Company has occurred during the year ended 31 December 2019.

On 19 December 2018 [U.S. time], the Company, Allied Esports
Entertainment, Inc. (“Allied Esports”), Noble Link Global Limited ("Nobel
Link’] and Primo Vital Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, ("Primo Vital’), entered into a conditional merger
agreement (the "Merger Agreement’] with Black Ridge Acquisition
Corp. ("Black Ridge”] and Black Ridge Merger Sub Corp. ("Merger
Sub’] in relation to i) a business combination transaction by which
Noble Link would merge with and into Allied Esports with Allied
Esports becoming the surviving entity of such merger (the
"Redomestication Merger”); and ii] a business combination
transaction by which, immediately after the consummation of the
Redomestication Merger, Merger Sub would merge with and into
Allied Esports with Allied Esports becoming the surviving entity of
such merger (the “Transaction Merger”).
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The transactions contemplated under the Merger Agreement were
effectively (i) a reorganisation of the entire eSports business and WPT
Business of the Company [the "Merger Businesses”]) and [ii] an
injection of such Merger Businesses by the Company and its relevant
subsidiaries into Black Ridge, in exchange for an equity interest in
Black Ridge to be held by Primo Vital. Allied Esports, upon completion
of the Redomestication Merger and Transaction Merger, would
continue to be an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the

Company.

The Transaction Merger and Proposed Spin-off were completed on 9
August 2019 (US time). Black Ridge was renamed Allied Esports
Entertainment Inc. and commenced trading on the main board of
Nasdaq under the stock symbol AESE from 12 August 2019.

Further information of the Redomestication Merger, the Transaction
Merger and the Proposed Spin-off are set out in the announcements
of the Company dated 24 December 2018, 1 April 2019, 5 July 2019, 10
July 2019, 24 July 2019, 11 August 2019 and the circular of the
Company dated 19 June 2019.

As far as the Board is aware, except as disclosed herein, the Group
has complied with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group in all material respects during the

year ended 31 December 2019

The Group values the rights and interests and the needs of each
employee, and strictly observes the provisions of the relevant laws,
statutes and regulations of the PRC to provide employees with various
security, welfare and benefits. The Group has also set up a sound
promotion and assessment system to encourage fair competition. In
addition, the Group attaches importance to communications with its
employees. Apart from personalized mailbox and Lync accounts,
there are systems in place to allow one-on-one communication
between employees and the Chief Executive Officer, communication
between employees and their line managers, and communication

channels including all-staff town hall meeting.

As users of online card and board games could be regarded as the
main customers of the Group, the Group provides its users with high-
quality and safe services both in online and offline events. In relation
to online events, the Group has set up a link to the security center on
the official website and web games to protect users’ game accounts
and privacy.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group had approximately
147 suppliers. The Group selects, on its own initiative, suppliers
whose products and services are in compliance with relevant national
standards and adopts strict acceptance standards including a
preliminary assessment on the impact of the goods or services
provided by the suppliers on the environment and society. Under our
strict supervision, no risk has been identified in our supply chain
during the year ended 31 December 2019. Please refer to the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Group for further
details.

The WPT Enterprise, Inc., a subsidiary of the Group, has a non-profit
foundation WPT Foundation that helped to raise more than US$20
million since its inception in 2012, and about US$3 million was raised
in 2019, which was and would be dedicated to improve our planet by
supporting key charities in regards to human rights, education, world
hunger and the environment. More information about this foundation
can be found in the website at http://wptfoundation.org/.

Except the aforesaid, the Group did not make any other charitable
donations (2018: nil).

Taking the principal activities of the Group into consideration, less
destruction has been made directly to the environment, but protecting
the environment has always been essential to us and has guided our
actions to minimize our impact. In view of the scarcity of resources,
the Group advocates policies on the efficient use of resources on its
own initiative, motivates all of its employees to participate in
resources conservation activities and encourages them to save water,
power and paper. As most promotion campaigns are conducted
online, packaging or advertisement materials for such campaigns are
therefore not required and no consumption or waste is produced. In
respect of offline events under WPT Business, the Group encourages
online advertising and promotional activities and takes this as the
principle. For various materials used for offline events, the Group opts
for recyclable products so as to prolong their service cycles and
reduce renewal frequency.

In the future, continuous efforts will be made by the Group and our
employees in promoting sustainability in environment, social and
corporate governance.

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 112 to 113 of this annual report.
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The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: nil).

On 29 March 2019, the Company adopted a dividend policy in
accordance with the amended code provision E.1.5 of the Corporate
Governance Code (the "Corporate Governance Code”] as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). Please
refer to the section “Dividend Policy” under the Corporate Governance
Report for the main provisions of this dividend policy.

Changes to the reserves of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2019 are set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Changes to the reserves of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2019 are set out in Note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements. As at 31 December 2019, the Company had
reserves available for distribution of approximately RMB520.1 million
(2018: RMB878.6 million).

Changes to the property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
of the Group during the year are set out in Notes 17 and 22,
respectively, to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of the Company’s share capital and share incentive schemes
are set out in Notes 35 and 37 to the consolidated financial
statements, the paragraph headed “Share Option Schemes” on pages
25 to 33 and the paragraph headed “ Share Award Scheme” on pages
33 to 34 of this annual report, respectively.

Particulars of the Company’'s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2019
are set out in Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.
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A summary of the consolidated results and of the financial positions
of the Group is set out on pages 112 to 115 of this annual report.

On 12 September 2017, the Company entered into a management
subscription agreement with Total Victory Global Limited (the
“Management Subscriber”), an independent subscription agreement
with Noumena Innovations (BVI) LTD. (the “Independent Subscriber”),
and a connected subscription agreement with Irena Group Co., Ltd. (the
“Connected Subscriber”] respectively, pursuant to which the
Management Subscriber, Independent Subscriber and Connected
Subscriber respectively subscribed for 89,189,189 shares (the
"Management Subscription Shares”), 71,351,351 shares [the
“Independent Subscription Shares”] and 64,690,848 shares (the
“Connected Subscription Shares”) of the Company at an issue price
of HK$1.85 per share (collectively the “Subscriptions”). The market
price of the Management Subscription Shares, Independent
Subscription Shares and Connected Subscription Shares was HK$1.92
per share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 12 September 2017.

The subscription by the Independent Subscriber was completed on 28
December 2017, and the subscriptions by both the Management
Subscriber and the Connected Subscriber were completed on 4
January 2018. The net proceeds of the Subscriptions amounted to
approximately HK$416,478,000 (the “Net Proceeds of Subscriptions”).

As at 31 December 2019, the Group utilized all the Net Proceeds of
Subscriptions in accordance with the intended use as set out in the
circular of the Company dated 13 October 2017. The details of its
utilization are as follows:

(a)  approximately 30% [i.e. approximately HK$125 million) was
used to further develop the eSports business and expand the
global arena network of AES;

(b)  approximately 15% li.e. approximately HK$62 million] was used
to further develop the WPT business in high growth geographies
that the Group does not currently have a presence, as well as
further development and marketing of the WPT online games
products;
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(c)]  approximately 15% [i.e. approximately HK$62 million) was used
to revamp and update the Group’s core China mobile product
portfolio in addition to the current mobile carrier payment
system to substantially increase for other third party and non-
mobile carrier payment options mainly WeChat, Alipay and key
third party payment software kits;

(d)  approximately 30% [i.e. approximately HK$125 million) was
used to acquire and/or develop approximately 2 to 3 China
regional card and board games platforms to enlarge the
Group’s current China national games platform, including
through the acquisition of proven card and board games teams
and products; and

(e} approximately 10% [i.e. approximately HK$42 million) was used
to replenish working capital. The Company deployed
approximately HK$13 million for administrative expenses and
approximately HK$29 million for operation expenses in 2018
and 2019.

Issue of Shares pursuant to Completion of Share
Transfer Agreement, the Rescission of Share
Transfer Agreement and Shares Cancellation

On 16 January 2018, the Company and Tianjin Shengyou Shidai
entered into a share transfer agreement (the “Share Transfer
Agreement’] with Ms. Zhu Guifeng (the "Nanjing Seller”] and Mr.
Chen Zhong [the "Nanjing Seller Guarantor”), pursuant to which
Tianjin Shengyou Shidai purchased the entire equity interest in
Nanjing Haoyun from the Nanjing Seller and the Nanjing Seller
Guarantor at a consideration of RMB220 million (subject to
adjustment] (the "Nanjing Acquisition”). The consideration of RMB220
million for the Nanjing Acquisition was settled (i) as to RMB136
million in cash (subject to adjustment); and [ii) as to RMB84 million by
the Company allotting and issuing 38,888,888 consideration shares
(subject to adjustment) at the issue price of HK$2.62 (equivalent to
approximately RMB2.16). The Nanjing Acquisition was completed on 9
February 2018 and the first instalment consideration shares (being
15,555,556 shares of the Company) were issued to the Nanjing Seller
on 9 February 2018.
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On 23 December 2019, the Company received a binding arbitral award
issued by Nanjing Arbitration Commission that the arbitration panel
has determined that the Share Transfer Agreement should be
rescinded and the respective parties returned to their respective
positions prior to the entering into of the Share Transfer Agreement.
As a result of the rescission of the Share Transfer Agreement,
ownership of the equity interest in Nanjing Haoyun was reverted to
the Nanjing Seller, the 15,555,556 consideration shares issued to the
Nanjing Seller were returned to the Company for cancellation, and
the sum of RMB60,400,000 in cash was returned to the Company by
the Nanjing Seller. On 8 January 2020, the 15,555,556 consideration

shares were returned to and cancelled by the Company.

Further details of the Nanjing Acquisition and the rescission of the
Share Transfer Agreement are set out in the Company's
announcements dated 16 January 2018, 30 January 2018, 9 February
2018, 23 December 2019 and 8 January 2020.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any listed securities of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2019.

Apart from the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, the
Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, the 2014 Share Option
Scheme as set out in section 13 and the Share Award Scheme as set
out in section 14 of this Directors’ Report, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Group or existed during the year
ended 31 December 2019.
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The Company has adopted three share option schemes, namely, (i)

the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, (i) the Management
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and (iii) the 2014 Share Option Scheme.

As at 31 December 2019, a total of 73,062,128 share options were
granted to the following Directors pursuant to the Management Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme and the 2014 Share Option Scheme:

Outstanding

RRAB RN =IARB R ETE - BE
BERLFBEMBRESS  (1EHE
BERAFEESAERESS L) =F
—MEERER S -

WZZE-AE+-_A=+—H0 BRE
EEEBXAAAEEIBERETS RS
T-NFEEREFERATIEERLA
H73,062,12817 B A%

2

£

Outstanding

asat  Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed as at
1 January during during during during 31December  Exercise price
Name of Directors Date of Grant 2019 theyear theyear theyear theyear 2019 per Share
R-ZB-N§ R-Z-N&
-A-H t=A=t-A
EEnsR REAH HATE FARE FRTE FAEHE FRAAK HWATE BROEE
Mr. Yang Eric Qing 20 February 2014 20,851,064 - — - — 20,851,064 US$0.16714303
("Mr. Yang’) bl By o =| 0.16714303% 7T
BESE 5 January 2015 11,760,000 — — — — 11,760,000 HK$2.67
(MBEED —E-n%—-AEH 26THETT
8 January 2016 3,920,000 — — — — 3,920,000 HK$5.506
—E-R"E-ANH 5,506 7T
Mr. Ng Kwok Leung 20 February 2014 20,851,064 — — - — 20,851,064 US$0.16714303
Frank (Mr.Ng")"" —Z-m&-fA=-+H 0.16714303% 7T
HEREE 5 January 2015 11,760,000 — — - — 11,760,000 HK$2.67
([EEZE]D" —“T-hE—-AAA 267THTT
8 January 2016 3,920,000 — — - — 3,920,000 HK$5.506
—E-R"E-ANH 5,506 7T
Total 73,062,128 — - - - 73,062,128
T

m

Mr. Ng resigned as an executive Director with effect from 29 June 2019

and a Co-Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect from 30

August 2019.
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Summary of the Share Option Schemes

Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

Purpose

The purpose of the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is to give
employees of the Group an opportunity to acquire a personal stake in
the Company and help motivate such employees to optimize their
performance and efficiency, and to retain the employees whose
contributions are important to the long term growth and profitability
of our Group. The options entitle eligible employees to obtain existing
issued Shares in the Company from Blink Milestones Limited and will

not involve the Company issuing any new Shares.

Exercise Price

The exercise price under the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
is RMBO0.1276 per share (adjusted for capitalisation issue, on the basis
of RMB0.12756). Please refer to "Appendix IV — Statutory and General
Information” of the prospectus of the Company dated 18 June 2014 (the
“Prospectus”] for further information.

Exercise of Option

The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) subject to the Employee
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be vested in four equal annual
instalments, with the first instalment representing twenty five percent
(25%) of the Shares subject to the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme vesting on the first anniversary of the date of listing (the
“Listing”] of the Company's Shares on the Stock Exchange [i.e. 30
June 2014) (the "Listing Date"), and an additional instalment vesting
on each anniversary thereafter, subject to the fulfilment of the
grantee’s performance target for the full calendar year before the
vesting determined by the Company being fulfilled and the grantee’s
continuing to be an employee of the Company and being in compliance
with the terms and conditions of the option award agreement dated
20 February 2014 through each such date.

Maximum Numbers of Shares

The maximum numbers of Shares in respect of which options under
the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme may be granted is
25,009,600 Shares. On 7 March 2014, 25,009,600 share options (adjusted
for capitalization issue) were granted to 29 key employees of the
Company by Blink Milestones Limited, after that no further options
were granted. The particulars of the options granted under the
Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are set out in “Appendix IV

— Statutory and General Information” of the Prospectus.
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Life of the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is effective from 7
March 2014 and the remaining life of the scheme is approximately 4

years.

Outstanding Share Options

As at 31 December 2019, 25,009,600 share options (adjusted for
capitalization issue) were granted under the Employee Pre-IPQO Share
Option Scheme, 20,442,797 options have been exercised and 4,566,803

options have been forfeited, and no options were outstanding.

Details of the movements of the options under the Employee Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2019 are

set out below and in Note 37(a) to the consolidated financial
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statements: WK M FE37(a) ¢
Outstanding Outstanding
asat Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed asat
1 January during during during during 31 December  Exercise price
Grantees Date of Grant 2019 theyear theyear theyear theyear 2019 per Share
R=Z-n%F R=Z-h#F
—A—H +=-BA=+-H
ERA R A HATHE FARY FrTE FRAEHE FREXX i R AT B BRITEE
Certain employees 7 March 2014 5,076,400 — 5,076,400 — — — RMBO0.1276
aTESE “T-MF=A+A AR#012767T
Total 5,076,400 — 5,076,400 - — —

@5t

Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

Purpose

The purpose of the Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is to
give senior management of the Company (the “Participants”) an
opportunity to acquire a personal stake in our Company and help
motivate such Participants to optimize their performance and
efficiency, and also to help retain the Participants whose contributions
are important to the long-term growth and profitability of our Group.
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The principal terms of the Management Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme are substantially the same as the terms of the Employee
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme except that:

(a]  the exercise price under the Management Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme is US$0.16714303 per Share (adjusted for capitalisation
issue, on the basis of US$0.34398035];

(b)  twenty five percent (25%) of the Shares subject to the
Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be vested on
the first anniversary of the grant date and the remaining Shares
subject to the Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall
be vested in 36 equal monthly instalments with the first
instalment vesting upon the 13th monthly anniversary of the
grant date and each of the remaining instalments vesting on
each monthly anniversary of the 13th monthly anniversary of
the grant date thereafter. The options may be exercised upon

the Listing.

Maximum Numbers of Shares Available for Issue

The maximum numbers of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options under the Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
is 50,042,553 Shares.

Life of the Management Pre-1PO Share Option Scheme

The Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is effective for a
period of 10 years from 7 March 2014 and the remaining life of the
scheme is 4 years.

Outstanding Share Options

As at 31 December 2019, 50,042,554 share options were granted to
certain members of our senior management and Directors under the
Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, of which 3,822,624 share
options were exercised, leaving an outstanding balance of 46,219,930
options, representing approximately 4.23% of the issued Shares as at
31 December 2019.

Save as disclosed, none of the options so far granted have been

exercised, forfeited and/or lapsed.
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Details of the movements of options under the Management Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2019 are
set out in the table below and in Note 37(b) to the consolidated

financial statements:

Outstanding

EEBEBAAAEERBERETSET
BRENRBEEZE=_ZE—NF+=ZA=+—
AEFENEZHFBEHERTRRESY
¥ EF M FE37(0)

Outstanding

asat Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed as at
Position in relevant 1January  during during during  during 31 December  Exercise price
Grantees Group companies  Date of Grant 2019 theyear theyear theyear theyear 2019 per Share
R-ZZ-NF R-ZZ-NF
REBEE -A—H £R R £R R t=A=+-H
ARA ARHBL REBH i AT 6 B (g T AN HATE EBRITKEE
Director and connected persons of the Company
ESREAABEAL
Mr. Yang Chairman and Chief 20 February 2014 20,851,064 - - - - 20,851,064 US$0.16714303
Executive Officer
of the Company
Bk ARAER —E-mE-A=1+A 0.16714303% T
FOTHBE
Mr. Ng Consultant of 20 February 2014 20,851,064 - - - - 20,851,064 US$0.16714303
the Company
mEE AREER —E-NFEZR=1H 0.16714303% T
Mr. Zhang Peng Consultant of 20 February 2014 4,517,802 - - - 4517802 US$0.16714303
the Company
RIS L4 ARAER “Z-WNE-AZ+H 0.16714303% ¢
Total 46,219,930 - - - - 46,219,930
w@st

m

that omitted in 2016.

(2)

August 2019.

(3

from 25 May 2019.

2014 Share Option Scheme
Purpose

The Company adopted the 2014 Share Option Scheme on 19
November 2014 (the “Adoption Date”). The 2014 Share Option Scheme
is valid for a period of 10 years from the grant date of each option. The
purpose of the 2014 Share Option Scheme is to provide key
employees, directors or officers of the Group (the “Eligible Persons”)
with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the Company
and to encourage them to work towards enhancing the value of the
Company and its Shares for the benefit of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole. The 2014 Share Option Scheme provides the
Company with a flexible means of retaining, incentivizing, rewarding,

remunerating, compensating and/or providing benefits to Eligible

Persons.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, 1 option was added herein for

Mr. Ng resigned as an executive Director with effect from 29 June 2019
and a Co-Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect from 30

Mr. Zhang Peng resigned as the president of the Company with effect
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Any individual, being an employee, director or officer of any member
of the Group whom the Board or its delegatel(s] considers, in their
sole discretion, to have contributed or will contribute to the Group is
entitled to be offered and granted options.

Number of Shares Available for Issue under the 2014 Share
Option Scheme

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the 2014 Share Option Scheme and any
other schemes is 78,400,000, being no more than 10% of the shares in
issue as at the Adoption Date. Such scheme mandate limit may be
refreshed at any time by obtaining approval of the Shareholders in
general meetings and/or such other requirements prescribed under
the Listing Rules from time to time. However, the overall limit on the
number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the 2014
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company at any time must not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue
from time to time.

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 13 May 2016,
the Shareholders approved the proposed refreshment of the scheme
mandate, so that the Company could grant further options under the
2014 Share Option Scheme for subscription of up to a total of
78,719,037 additional Shares. Further details are set out in the
circular of the Company dated 12 April 2016.

Maximum Entitlement to Participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the options granted and to be granted under the 2014 Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company to
each Eligible Person [including both exercised and outstanding
options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the total
number of Shares in issue (the “Individual Limit"]). Any further grant
of options to a Eligible Person which would result in the aggregate
number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
granted and to be granted to such Eligible Person in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such further grant exceeding
the Individual Limit shall be subject to separate approval of the
Shareholders.

Annual Report 2019
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Determination of the Exercise Price

The amount payable for each Share to be subscribed for under an
option in the event of the option being exercised shall be determined
by the Board but shall be not less than the greater of: (a) the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet issued by
the Stock Exchange on the grant date; (b) the average closing price of
the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the grant
date; and (c) the nominal value of a Share on the grant date.

The option period is to be determined and notified by the Board to
each grantee at the time of making an offer, and shall not expire later
than ten years from the grant date of the 2014 Share Option Scheme.
There is no minimum period for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised in general. However, at the time of granting any
option, the Board may, on a case by case basis, make such grant
subject to such conditions, restrictions or limitations including (without
limitation] those in relation to the minimum period of the options to
be held and/or the performance targets to be achieved as the Board
may determine in its absolute discretion.

Vesting period of the Share Options
(1) 25% of the share options shall vest and be exercisable with
effect from the first anniversary of the grant date;

(2)  the second 25% of the share options shall vest and be
exercisable with effect from the second anniversary of the grant
date;

(3)  the third 25% of the share options shall vest and be exercisable
with effect from the third anniversary of the grant date;

(4)  the remaining 25% of the share options shall vest and be
exercisable with effect from the fourth anniversary of the grant
date.

Exercise of Option
The options may be exercised up to 25% of the Shares for each year
after the first anniversary of the grant date of the share option for four

consecutive years.

Payment on Acceptance of Share Option

An amount of RMB1.00 must be paid as consideration for the grant of
the share options and such payment must be made within 20 business
days from the date the share option grant offer is made to the Eligible
Person.
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Movements in the Share Options/Outstanding Share Options

Details of the movements of the options under the 2014 Share Option
Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in the

EBREBE HXITRERE

= — O PR 3 BB TR AR R
E-F-NF+-AZt+—BLEFEH
EHHERRTE

table below:
Outstanding Outstanding
asat Granted Exercised Cancelled  Lapsed asat
1January  during during during during 31 December Exercise price
Grantees Date of Grant Exercisable period 2019 theyear theyear theyear theyear 2019 per Share
RZB-NF RZB-hE
-A-8 £R) £R) £R #R +ZA=+-H
ERA REAH pER:E: L WATHE B (g4 e R HAITHR BRITKE
Director
=
Mr. Yang 5 January 2015 5 January 2015 - 11,760,000 - - - - 11,760,000 HK$2.67
4 January 2025
BRE —Z-1%—-A%A “ZT-R¥-ARAZE 26T T
“Z-H¥-AMA
8 January 2016 8 January 2016 - 3,920,000 - - - - 3,920,000 HK$5.506
7 January 2026
“E-RE-ANR —Z-"¥-ANBE 55067 7T
“E-RFE-RAtH
Connected person of the Company
ARAHEAL
Mr. Ng 5 January 2015 5 January 2015 - 11,760,000 - - - - 11,760,000 HK$2.67
4 January 2025
b —Z-1%—-A%A —ZT-h4¥-ARAZE 26T T
“Z-HF-AMA
8 January 2016 8 January 2016 - 3,920,000 - - - - 3,920,000 HK$5.506
7 January 2026
—E-x"%—-ANR ZE-R"E-ANRZE 55068 7T
“E-RFE-RAtH
Employees of the Company
ARAES
5 January 2015 5 January 2015 - 19,207,839 - — (150,000 (606,500] 18,451,339 HK$2.67
4 January 2025
—Z-1%—-A%A —Z-R4¥-ARAZE 26T T
“Z-HF-AMA
9 July 2015 9 July 2015 - 15,070,000 - —  [425,000) (1,350,000] 13,295,000 HK$4.402
8 July 2025
ZZ-REtLANA ZZ-RELANRE 440278 TT
“E-RFEANA
17 May 2016 17 May 2016 - 900,000 - —  [50,000)  (150,000] 700,000 HK$3.684
16 May 2026
“T-R"EFRATER ZZ-R"ERATtHZE 3.684BTT
“Z-RERRTARE
7 September 2016 7 September 2016 - 1,240,000 - - - (50,000) 1,190,000 HK$3.95
6 September 2026
ZE-R"ENAtA “T-R"ENAtBEZE 3958 T
ZZZRENARE
28 April 2017 28 April 2017 - 120,000 - - - - 120,000 HK$2.886
27 April 2027
ZE—+tFMAZF/N\B ZE-+tEMAZ+N\RE 288678 TC
R LFEMA-+tA
Total 67,897,839 - — (625,000 (2,156,500) 65,116,339
@t
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As at 31 December 2019, 84,840,000 options have been granted under
the 2014 Share Option Scheme, and 8,655,400 options have been
forfeited, 9,765,250 options have lapsed and 1,303,011 options have
been exercised, leaving an outstanding balance of 65,116,339 options,
representing approximately 5.96% of the issued Shares as at 31
December 2019. No share option was granted in 2019. Save for the
above, none of the options so far granted have been exercised,
forfeited and/or lapsed.

Life of the 2014 Share Option Scheme

The 2014 Share Option Scheme is effective for a period of 10 years
from 19 November 2014 and the remaining life of the scheme is 4
years and 7 months.

Valuation of Share Options

Details of the valuation of share options granted are set out in Note 37
to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company adopted a share award scheme on 19 May 2017 (the
“Share Award Scheme”). The Share Award Scheme is not a share
option scheme and is not subject to the provisions of Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules.

Purpose of the Share Award Scheme

The purpose of the Share Award Scheme is to align the interests of
eligible persons with those of the Group through ownership of Shares,
dividends and other distributions paid on Shares and/or the increase
in value of the Shares, and to encourage and retain eligible
participants to the Share Award Scheme (the “Share Award Scheme
Participants”] to make contributions to the long-term growth and
profits of the Group.

Maximum Number of Shares to be Granted

The aggregate number of shares underlying all grants made pursuant
to the Share Award Scheme (excluding awarded shares which have
been forfeited in accordance with the Share Award Scheme) will not
exceed 7% of the total number of issued Shares as at the date of
adoption of the Share Award Scheme (i.e. 15 May 2017], being
55,084,636 Shares (the “Share Award Scheme Limit"). If the Company
awards any shares which are to be newly issued, it shall be subject to
an annual limit of 3% of the Shares in issue as at the date of each

annual general meeting of the Company.
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Vesting of Awards

The Board or its delegate(s] may from time to time while the Share
Award Scheme is in force and subject to all applicable laws,
determine such vesting criteria and conditions or periods for the
Award to be vested.

Movements in the Share Award Scheme

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company purchased
4,056,000 Shares amounting to RMB2,300,000 through its trustee on
the Stock Exchange. As of 31 December 2019, 21,243,000 Shares were
purchased by the Company for the purpose of the Share Award
Scheme, and an aggregate of 1,000,000 Shares were awarded to the
Share Award Scheme Participants. As at the date of this annual
report, an aggregate of 4,000,000 Shares were awarded to the Share
Award Scheme Participants.

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2019 and up to the

date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Eric Qing (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank*

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Jiang
Ms. Fu Qiang
Mr. Chen Xian
Mr. Hu Wen**
Mr. Fan Tai**

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lu Zhong

Dr. Tyen Kan Hee Anthony
Professor Huang Yong***
Mr. Ge Xuan***
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Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank resigned as an executive Director with effect
from 29 June 2019 and a Co-Chief Executive Officer of the Company with
effect from 30 August 2019.

o Mr. Hu Wen was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from
29 June 2019. Mr. Fan Tai resigned as a non-executive Director with
effect from 26 June 2019.

**#* Mr. Ge Xuan was not re-elected at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 29 June 2019. Accordingly, Mr. Ge Xuan ceased to be
an independent non-executive Director on the same day. Professor
Huang Yong was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
with effect from 17 December 2019.

Biographical Details of Directors

Executive Director

Yang Eric Qing, aged 48, has been an executive Director, chairman of
the Board and chief executive officer since the incorporation of our
Company in 2013. He became the chief executive officer of the
Company upon the resignation of Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank as a co-
chief executive officer of the Company with effect from 30 August
2019. Mr. Yang joined our Group in December 2010. Mr. Yang held
various senior management positions of China and Asia — Pacific
area at International Business Machines Corporation (IBMJ], a
company listed on the New York Stock Exchange (stock code: IBM].
Mr. Yang received his Bachelor of Science degree from the University
of California, Berkeley, U.S. in 1994.

Non-Executive Directors

Liu Jiang, aged 52, has been an executive Director since the
incorporation of our Company and became a non-executive Director
from 27 March 2015. Mr. Liu joined our Group in December 2010 and
holds directorship in Sonic Force Limited. He also serves as chairman
of the board of directors of Hehong Holdings Group. Mr. Liu received
his Bachelor of Economics from the East China Jiaotong University,
China in 1991.
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Fu Qiang, aged 53, has been a non-executive Director since 23 June
2017. She worked for the China National Complete Plant Import and
Export Corp. from July 1989 to February 1993, and worked for China
Friendship Development International Engineering Design &
Consultation Co., Ltd. from March 1993 to September 2001. In 2001,
she co-founded Beijing Irena Culture Promotion Co., Ltd., where she
has gained extensive experience in carrying out foreign exchanges
and cooperation in the fields of culture and creative and arts. Since
2015, she has served as the chairlady and a director of Irena Group
Co., Ltd.

Hu Wen, aged 53, was appointed as a non-executive Director on 29
June 2019. Mr. Hu was awarded a bachelor’s degree in Science, from
the Physics Department of Wuhan University. From September 2015
to present, he has been the vice president of Irena Group Co., Ltd. (88
EzEXEBBERAR) (lrena”), and is responsible for the
construction and support of informatization of the company. He was
elected as a director of Irena in 2018. From 2002 to 2015, he was the
director and acting general manager of Beijing Tianhe Cube
Technology Development Co. Ltd. BERAEZ AR ERBRETR
Al), and was responsible for the technical management, project
management, marketing, and management, etc. of the company.
From 1999 to 2001, he was the manager of the research and
development department of Beijing Zhongxing New Communication
Technology Co. Ltd. (QtRAEFBERMARAE], and was
responsible for the management of technical team, and product
research and development, principally engaging in the work of “urban
intelligent transportation system”, “signal acquisition analysis
system”. He was a technical engineer of Beijing Tonglu
Communication Equipment Development Center ({t AR B(ZRME
FAEE AL during 1997 to 1999, Beijing China Digital Video Company (3
RETEFFAF]) during 1995 to 1997, and Xi'an Petroleum Exploration
Instrument Complex (FAZRAMENIREESAR) during 1990 to 1995,
respectively, engaging in the development of data products, audio and

video matrix switching equipment, and intelligent monitoring systems.

Chen Xian, aged 38, has been a non-executive Director since 7 March
2014. Mr. Chen has worked at CMC Capital Partners since May 2013
and serves as a partner since 28 January 2018. From July 2009 to
March 2013, he worked at Providence Equity Asia Limited and served
as a director by the time he left. Prior to that, Mr. Chen served at
Morgan Stanley Private Equity Asia Division from 2004 to June 2009.
Mr. Chen obtained his Bachelor of Engineering degree in Electronics
Engineering from Tsinghua University, China in 2003.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Lu Zhong, aged 57, has been an independent non-executive Director
since the Listing. Mr. Lu worked at the General Planning Bureau
under the Ministry of Machine & Electric Industry of China as a civil
servant from August 1984 to August 1990; as deputy chief executive
officer of 8848.net from May 2000 to May 2002; as general sales
manager of China and Hong Kong region of Advanced Micro Devices,
Inc., a company listed on the New York Stock Exchange (stock code:
AMD] from July 2003 to October 2004. Mr. Lu then served as the
chairman of the board of HiChina.com and the chief strategy officer
from then to September 2009 as well as the president from 2010 until
December 2012 at HiChina.com. Mr. Lu served as a vice president of
the Alibaba Group from December 2012 until July 2014. Mr. Lu
became the founding partner of Beijing Zhonghai Investment Ltd
since August 2014. Mr. Lu obtained his Bachelor’s degree in computer
and application from Harbin Institute of Electrical Engineering in
1984, and obtained his Master degree in Business Administration
from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business in 2010.

Tyen Kan Hee Anthony, aged 64, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 27 March 2018. Dr. Tyen has over 40 years’
experience in accounting, auditing and consultancy practice. In 1977,
he joined Price Waterhouse, and then joined Klynveld Main Goerdeler
and The Morgan Bank. Dr. Tyen founded his own accounting and
consulting firm in 1985. His firm then merged with Grant Thornton, a
major international accounting firm in Hong Kong, in 1990. He was
stationed in Beijing for seven years since then and was responsible
for the development of the firm’s China practice. From 2001 to 2003,
he worked in a local bank and participated in the bank’s mergers and
acquisitions business. Since 2003, he has been working at his own
accounting and consulting firm providing professional services for

local and international companies.

Dr. Tyen holds a doctorate degree in Philosophy and a master degree
in Business Administration, both from the Chinese University of Hong
Kong. He is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong,
a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Directors and the Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administration and a member of the

Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Dr. Tyen is currently an independent non-executive director of China
Baofeng (International) Limited (Stock Exchange stock code: 3966)
and an independent director of Allied Esports Entertainment Inc., a
company listed on the NASDAQ Capital Market (Nasdaq: AESE). He
was previously an independent director of Alpha Peak Leisure Inc. (TSX
stock code: AAP:Venture), a company listed on the TSX Venture
Exchange Inc., and Entertainment Gaming Asia Inc., a company listed
on the NASDAQ Capital Market (Nasdag: EGT). Dr. Tyen was also an
independent non-executive director of Melco International
Development Limited (Stock Exchange stock code: 200), Summit
Ascent Holdings Limited (Stock Exchange stock code: 102), ASR
Logistics Holdings Limited [now known as Beijing Sports and
Entertainment Industry Group Limited) (Stock Exchange stock code:
1803), Value Convergence Holdings Limited (Stock Exchange stock
code: 821), Recruit Holdings Limited (later known as Cinderella Media
Group Limited and now known as KK Culture Holdings Limited] (Stock
Exchange stock code: 550).

Professor Huang Yong, aged 57, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 17 December 2019. Professor Huang is a
law professor at the School of Law of the University of International
Business and Economics ("UIBE"), Ph.D. Supervisor, Head of the
Department of Economic Law, and director of the Competition Law
Centre of UIBE. Concurrently, he is also a member of the Expert
Advisory Board of the State Council Anti-monopoly Commission and

standing director of Chinese Economic Law Research Society.

Professor Huang is mainly engaged in teaching and research in the
areas of economic law and international economic law, and teaches
in courses including competition law and economic law. Professor
Huang is a legislative expert. As an expert in competition law, he
participated fully in the enactment process of the Antitrust Law of the
PRC. Professor Huang has published several monographs including
Research on International Competition Law, the Anti-trust Law
Classic Cases and Commentaries and the Anti-unfair Competition
Law Classic Cases and Commentaries. Professor Huang has also
published nearly one hundred academic papers in the SSCI core
journals of the United States of America, domestic CSSCI core

journals and other newspapers and periodicals

Professor Huang received an LL.B from Peking University, and LL.M.
and Ph.D. in law degrees from UIBE.
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Mr. Yang Eric Qing has entered into a service contract with the
Company under which he agreed to act as executive Director for a
term of three years commencing from the date of his service contract
and will continue thereafter until which may be terminated by not less
than three months’ notice in writing served by either Mr. Yang or the

Company.

Ms. Fu Qiang has signed an appointment letter with the Company for
a term of three years commencing on 23 June 2017, Dr. Tyen Kan Hee
Anthony has signed an appointment letter with the Company for a
term of three years commencing on 27 March 2018, Mr. Hu Wen has
signed an appointment letter with the Company for a term of three
years commencing on 29 June 2019, Professor Huang Yong has
signed an appointment letter with the Company for a term of three
years commencing on 17 December 2019, and each of the other non-
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors has
signed an appointment letter with the Company for a term of three
years commencing from the date of their appointment letter or until
the third annual general meeting of our Company since the date of
their letters of appointment (whichever is sooner]) and subject to the
terms and conditions specified therein. The appointments of Directors
are subject to the provisions of retirement and rotation of Directors
under the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles of
Association”).

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting (the "AGM"] has an unexpired service
contract which is not determinable by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the Group's
business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at any time during the year ended 31 December
2019.
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Details of the remuneration of the Directors and those of the five
highest paid individuals are set out in Note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements. The remuneration of the Directors are
determined based on the market price and contribution made by such
Director to the Company.

There has been no arrangement under which any Director has waived

or agreed to waive any emoluments.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director or other
officers of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the
assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or
sustained by him/her as a Director or other officers of the Company in
defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which

judgment is given in his/her favor, or in which he/she is acquitted.
The Company has maintained Directors’ liability insurance during the

year ended 31 December 2019 and up to the date of this annual report
which provides appropriate cover for the Directors.
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As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (a) were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they have taken, or are deemed to have,
under such provisions of the SFOJ; or (b) were required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company; or (c] were required, pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules [the "Model Code"), to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

W-_E-NFE+_A=+—8B BFK
AAREBITHABR AR A 8 HAF 5
FE(EEREBELFRBAEBEMEXNVI)H
B - MR GH REREFETEER)IRE
BAERBAEEDEXVEET 8D B /A 4
CARNARBRANEZ R AR (P1E
BEFHFLAEGROIMAEGRIESHEE
ERERABEBENERLAR) )R
BESRBEKEGFEIEABLHN K
RABBZENFTENECLMAmERZ
Kog A sk ()R ¥R £ Th AR BI BT 82 10 B &
EHBETAERETESFHMIRLEST
Al ([BESA ) BEME AR A R FT
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Approximate

percentage
Number of of interest in
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares held the Company®
LR NVNRCTR 32
EEnA B REEMtE FisROEE O = s A
Shares
IR 15
Mr. Yang Interest in controlled corporation'”! 221,653,555(L) 20.27%
55 A& R EEER"
Mr. Liu Jiang ("Mr. Liu") Interest of spouse 2,182,000(L) 0.20%
2T E(B8%E]D il B =
Share Options
BB AR
Mr. Yang Beneficial interest” 36,531,064(L) 3.34%
S B s
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Notes:

(1) The interest is directly held by Jianying Ourgame High Growth
Investment Fund (E2mEt R S K RIZEEE) in which Total Victory Global
Limited, controlled by Mr. Yang, Mr. Ng and Mr. Zhang Peng, has the
majority voting rights. Please refer to the Company’s announcement
dated 4 January 2018 for further information.

(2) The interest comprises 20,851,064 underlying Shares and 15,680,000
underlying Shares granted to Mr. Yang pursuant to the Management
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the 2014 Share Option Scheme,
respectively. Details of the share options granted are set out in the
section headed “Share Option Schemes”

(3] The letter "L denotes the person’s long position in such Shares.

(4) The percentages are calculated on the basis of 1,093,355,443 Shares in
issue as at 31 December 2019.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company and their respective
associates had or was deemed to have any interests or short positions
in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which the Directors and chief executive
of the Company are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFOJ, or were required to be recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which
were required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short
Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures of the Company

TERFRAINTAR - 166
ROREEBDPHETIVELRS

RXE

BEEMAM R_Z-NAFT+A=
T—B REARXFKND  BEROKE
BETHERBEERILAEKRNF
BIGFAERBER AR REBEZGIFE
MELTMANERZIAENAL(ES

To the best knowledge of our Directors, as at 31 December 2019, the
following persons (other than the Directors or the chief executive of
the Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company as recorded in the

register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the

SFO:

FARRBEZTHABRINAT

Approximate

percentage
Number of of interest in
Name of Shareholders Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares held the Company
LR NN R
BREE BB 270 £ 131 FEROHE BOBEOEI "
Irena Group Co., Ltd. Interest of controlled corporation'”  290,690,848(L) 26.99%
BEZEXLBRHERAA ZEEE "
Glassy Mind Holdings Limited Beneficial owner"” 290,690,848(L) 26.59%
SBEEREBRAR EnmA A
Mr. Ng Beneficial owner™ 36,531,064(L) 3.34%
hmEE EnmER A"
Interest of controlled corporation”  221,653,555(L) 20.27%
RHEEER"
Mr. Zhang Peng ("Mr. Zhang") Beneficial owner 12,884,425(L) 1.18%
SRS e A (TR EAED) ERERA
Interest of controlled corporation”  221,653,555(L) 20.27%
L E "
Total Victory Global Limited Interest of controlled corporation”  221,653,555(L) 20.27%
ZrEEE"
Jianying Ourgame High Growth Investment Fund ~ Beneficial owner? 221,653,555(L) 20.27%
ERBRESARREES EnER AN
CMC Ace Holdings Limited Beneficial owner™ 117,600,000(L) 10.76%
BEanma A
CMC Capital Partners, GP, L.P. Interest of controlled corporation[“ 117,600,000(L) 10.76%

ZrEEs"
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Approximate

percentage
Number of of interest in
Name of Shareholders Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares held the Company"”
HERATER
BRRER LB B EEME MERGEHE HELIEI N
CMC Capital Partners, GP, Ltd. Interest of controlled corporation”  117,600,000(L) 10.76%
ZEEE Y
CMC Capital Partners, L.P. Interest of controlled corporation””  117,600,000(L) 10.76%
420 5% B 4 25
La Confiance Investments Ltd. Interest of controlled corporation[” 117,600,000(L) 10.76%
SEEEEEY
Le Bonheur Holdings Ltd. Interest of controlled corporation”  117,600,000(L) 10.76%
ZErE R
KongZhong Corporation Beneficial owner® 20,737,000(L) 1.90%
ZEHBERADA EwnmEA A"
Interest of controlled corporation®™®  71,351,351(L) 6.53%
A R s
Linkedsee Group Limited Interest of controlled corporation 92,088,351(L} 8.42%
TP A EER"
Linkedsee Limited Interest of controlled corporation®  92,088,351(L) 8.42%
SEEEEEY
Mr. Wang Leilei Interest of controlled corporationls] 92,088,351(L) 8.42%
FEEEE TR A E R
Shanghai Changhui Internet Technology Co., Ltd.  Interest of controlled corporation® 92,088,351(L} 8.42%
FERETBENEERAR TP A B
Beijing Wuxing Rongcheng Technology Co., Ltd. Interest of controlled corporation® 92,088,351(L} 8.42%
IR AERABEEREERA SEEEERY
Noumena Innovations (BVI]) LTD. Beneficial owner® 71,351,351(L) 6.53%
LET 2N
Dacheng (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. Interest of controlled corporation 71,351,351(L) 6.53%
S5 E "
Mr. Yang Zhen Interest of controlled corporation[“ 71,351,351(L) 6.53%
HBRERE S EEEY
Shanghai Dacheng Internet Technology Co., Ltd.  Interest of controlled corporation® 71,351,351(L) 6.53%

EBRABPKZMAR QA
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Approximate

percentage

Number of of interest in

Name of Shareholders Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares held the Company

HERATER

BRRES LB B EEME FEROHE HEAESL

Kongzhong (China) Co., Ltd. Interest of controlled corporation 71,351,351(L) 6.53%
22 o (s ) R A ) ok E Y

Alpha Lion Investments Limited Beneficial owner” 64.,864,864(L) 5.93%

BEMITEBRDA Ewa A

Global Elite Group Limited Interest of controlled corporation”  64,864,864(L) 5.93%
ZEEEER"

Ms. Han Lei Interest of controlled corporation”  64,864,864(L) 5.93%
BELLT ZrrEER"

Mr. Huang Xiangin Interest of controlled corporation” 64,864,864(L) 5.93%
e E b SEEEEE"

Ruixin Taifu Investment Group Co., Ltd. Interest of controlled corporation'” 64,864,864(L) 5.93%
R EE R

Silverwood International Limited Interest of controlled corporationm 64.,864,864(L) 5.93%
ZEE R

Mr. Xu Rongta Interest of controlled corporation”  64,864,864(L) 5.93%

TREIE A& SErEER"
Notes:

(1

(2)

(3)

(4)

The 290,690,848 Shares represent the same block of Shares held by a
chain of ownership involving Glassy Mind Holdings Limited.

The interest is directly held by Jianying Ourgame High Growth
Investment Fund (Zmi RS K& EZEE) in which Total Victory Global
Limited, controlled by Mr. Yang, Mr. Ng and Mr. Zhang, has the majority
voting rights.

Mr. Ng resigned as an executive Director with effect from 29 June 2019
and a Co-Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect from 30
August 2019. The interest comprises 20,851,064 underlying Shares and
15,680,000 underlying Shares granted to Mr. Ng pursuant to the
Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the 2014 Share Option
Scheme, respectively. Details of the share options granted are set out in
the section headed “Share Option Schemes”.

The 117,600,000 Shares represent the same block of Shares held by a
chain of ownership involving CMC Capital Partners.

BB

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

7% % 290,690,848 X P& 10 5 A1 B2 95 =2 B 45
BERARIZ —ERHEBEAZTBENOR
—HER& D -

ZREHERBBRSRERREESE
#4548 MTotal Victory Global Limited (g
BREE BEERKREEZEH)RNE S
BAERKBIIRERE -

hELEBRENTEE B-FT—NF
NAZTABARERER - RTEEHER
RABETRAESE B -_F—NLF/N\A
STHEBEH - ZRESEEEDBRIE
EREEERAREEMBRESE R
CE-MEBERBEEAETEHEED
20,851,064 8% 48 4 A% 17 % 15,680,000 % 48
BED - AR BRENF BN
Rt RT 81— -

#% % 117,600,000/% A% 17 8 &5 B #ECMC
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(5) The 92,088,351 Shares represent the same block of Shares held by a
chain of ownership involving KongZhong Corporation.

(6) The 71,351,351 Shares represent the same block of Shares held by a
chain of ownership involving Noumena Innovations (BVI) LTD.

(7) The 64,864,864 Shares represent the same block of shares held by a
chain of ownership involving Alpha Lion Investments Limited.

(8) The percentage figures have been subject to rounding adjustments.
Accordingly, figures shown in totals may not be an arithmetic
aggregation of the figures preceding them.

(9] The letter "L" denotes the person’s long position in such Shares.

(10)  The percentages are calculated on the basis of 1,093,355,443 Shares in
issue as at 31 December 2019.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, the Directors and
the chief executive of the Company were not aware of any other
person (other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company)
who had an interest or short position in the Shares, underlying Shares
or debentures of the Company as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, save as disclosed below,
no other related party transaction disclosed in Note 40 to the
consolidated financial statements constitutes a connected transaction
or continuing connected transaction which should be disclosed
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. All the connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions with disclosure
requirements under the Listing Rules during the year are listed
below. The Directors confirm they have complied with the disclosure

requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Connected Transactions

Purchase Agreement

On 17 May 2019 (Las Vegas time), Noble Link Global Limited ("Noble
Link”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and Ms. Man Sha,
Mr. Martin Weigold ("Mr. Weigold“), Mr. Norbert Teufelberger and
Ms. Lan Wu (together, the "Subscribers’] entered into a purchase
agreement (the "Purchase Agreement’), pursuant to which Noble
Link has agreed to issue and the Subscribers have agreed to
subscribe for, the convertible notes (the "Convertible Notes") in the
aggregate principal amount of up to US$4 million [equivalent to
approximately HK$31 million). Among the Subscribers, each of Ms.
Man Sha and Mr. Weigold has agreed to subscribe for a Convertible

Note in the principal amount of US$1 million.

Ms. Man Sha is the wife of Mr. Ng, the chief executive officer of Allied
Esports and a past executive Director in the last 12 months.
Accordingly, Mr. Ng is a connected person of the Company pursuant
to Rule 14A.07(1) and Rule 14A.07(2) of the Listing Rules, and Ms. Man
Sha is therefore a connected person of the Company pursuant to Rule
14A.07(4) of the Listing Rules. Mr. Weigold is a director of Noble Link,
a subsidiary of the Company, and is considered a connected person of
the Company pursuant to Rule 14A.07(1) of the Listing Rules. The
issue of Convertible Notes to each of Ms. Man Sha and Mr. Weigold

therefore constitutes a connected transaction of the Company.

Further details of the Purchase Agreement and the Convertible Notes
are set out in the announcements of the Company dated 20 May 2019
and 17 June 2019 and the circular of the Company dated 19 June
2019.

Reorganisation Agreement

On 15 August 2018, the Company, Beijing Lianzhong, WFOE, Mr. Liu
Jiang, Mr. Zhang Rongming, Mr. Shen Dongri, Mr. Bao Yuegiao, Ms.
Long Qi and Ms. Wu Lan (the “Beijing Lianzhong Shareholders”)
entered into a reorganisation agreement (the "Reorganisation
Agreement”), pursuant to which the parties agreed to reorganise the
domestic PRC online game business (the “Divested Businesses”)
currently held by Beijing Lianzhong (the "Reorganisation”]. As at the
signing date of the Reorganisation Agreement, (i) one of the Beijing
Lianzhong Shareholders, Mr. Liu Jiang, is a non-executive Director
and (i) Mr. Liu Jiang is interested in more than 10% of the equity
interest in Beijing Lianzhong. As such, each of Mr. Liu Jiang and
Beijing Lianzhong is considered a connected person of the Company
under Rule 14A.07(1) and Rule 14A.07(5) of the Listing Rules,

respectively.
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On 10 May 2019, the Company, Beijing Lianzhong, the WFOE and the
Beijing Lianzhong Shareholders entered into a termination agreement
(the "Termination Agreement’] to terminate the Reorganisation
Agreement, pursuant to which (i) the respective rights and obligations
of the parties under the Reorganisation Agreement shall cease to
have any force and effect; and (i) no party shall have any unfulfilled
obligations against the other party under the Reorganisation

Agreement immediately upon signing of the Termination Agreement.

Further details of the Reorganisation Agreement and its termination
are set out in the announcements of the Company dated 15 August
2018, 31 October 2018, 1 April 2019 and 10 May 2019.

Contractual Arrangements

The VIE Structure 1

On 11 December 2001, the State Council promulgated the Regulations
for the Administration of Foreign-Invested Telecommunications
Enterprises ([ (HIINEHEREBEEEEEMRE) ) (the "FITE
Regulations”], which were amended on 10 September 2008.
According to the FITE Regulations, foreign investors are not allowed
to hold more than 50% of the equity interests of a company providing
value-added telecommunications services. In addition, a foreign
investor who invests in a value-added telecommunications business
in the PRC must demonstrate a good track record and prior
experience in providing value-added telecommunications outside the
PRC prior to acquiring any equity interests in any value-added
telecommunications services business in the PRC (the “Qualification
Requirement”). Currently, none of the applicable PRC laws,
regulations or rules provides clear guidance or interpretation on the
Qualification Requirement. Therefore, in order for the Company to be
able to carry on its business in the PRC, the Group has entered into a
series of agreements to enable the Company to gain effective control
over, and receive all the economic benefits generated by the business
currently operated by Beijing Lianzhong and its subsidiary on the one
hand, and Beijing Lianzhong and its shareholders on the other hand.
Please refer to the Prospectus for further details.

As at 31 December 2019, the Company has no update to disclose in

relation to the Qualification Requirement.
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As disclosed in the Prospectus, the Group conducts its online game
business through the PRC operating entity, Beijing Lianzhong, an
important wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group. Beijing Lianzhong is
principally engaged in the operation of online card and board games.
Because of certain foreign investment restrictions, it was not viable
for the Company to hold Beijing Lianzhong directly through equity
ownership as a foreign investor. In line with common practice in
industries which is subject to foreign investment restrictions in the
PRC, the Company would gain effective control over, and receive all
the economic benefits generated by the business currently operated
by Beijing Lianzhong and its subsidiaries through a series of
contractual arrangements [the “Contractual Arrangements 1)
between Beijing Lianzhong Garden Network Technology Co., Ltd. (the
"WFOE 1), the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary on the one hand,
and Beijing Lianzhong and its shareholders on the other hand. The
Contractual Arrangements 1 allow Beijing Lianzhong's financials and
results of operations, together with those of its subsidiaries, to be
consolidated into our financials as if it was a wholly-owned Subsidiary
of our Group (the "VIE Structure 17).

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company controlled
Beijing Lianzhong and WFOE 1 through the Contractual Arrangements
1. WFOE 1 is a limited company incorporated under the laws of the
PRC on 21 January 2014 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Lianzhong
Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited, a company incorporated under the
laws of Hong Kong on 18 December 2013 and a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. WFOE 1 is therefore a connected person
of the Company pursuant to Rule 14A.07(5) of the Listing Rules. By
virtue of the Contractual Arrangements 1, Beijing Lianzhong is a
connected person of the Company for the purposes of Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. The transactions under the Contractual
Arrangements 1 therefore constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Company. The Company confirms that it has
complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of these continuing
connected transactions.

Reasons for the Contractual Arrangements 1
Details of the reasons for using the Contractual Arrangements 1 are
set out on pages 130 to 132 of the Prospectus.
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Risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements 1

We believe the following risks are associated with the Contractual
Arrangements 1. Further details of these risks are set out on pages
35 to 39 of the Prospectus.

o If the PRC government finds that the agreements that establish
the structure for operating our business in China do not comply
with applicable PRC laws and regulations, or if these laws and
regulations or their interpretations change in the future, we
could be subject to severe penalties and our business may be

materially and adversely affected.

o The Group relies on the Contractual Arrangements 1 to control
and obtain economic benefits from Beijing Lianzhong, which
may not be as effective in providing operational control as equity
ownership.

o The shareholders of Beijing Lianzhong may have conflicts of
interest with us, which may materially and adversely affect our

business and financial condition.

J Certain terms of the Contractual Arrangements 1 may not be
enforceable under PRC laws.

o We may lose the ability to use and enjoy assets held by Beijing
Lianzhong that are important to the operation of our business if
Beijing Lianzhong declares bankruptcy or becomes subject to a
dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

o The Contractual Arrangements 1 between the WFOE 1 and
Beijing Lianzhong may subject our Group to increased income
tax due to the different income tax rates applicable to the WFOE
1 and Beijing Lianzhong, which may adversely affect our results
of operations.

o The Group's exercise of the option to acquire equity interests of
Beijing Lianzhong may be subject to certain limitations and the

ownership transfer may subject us to substantial costs.

J The Contractual Arrangements 1 between the WFOE 1 and
Beijing Lianzhong may be subject to scrutiny by the PRC tax
authorities and any finding that we or Beijing Lianzhong owe
additional taxes could substantially reduce our consolidated net

income and the value of our Shareholders’ investment.
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Mitigation actions taken by the Company

. The Company has existing protections measures under the
Contractual Arrangements 1. The Company’s Risk Management
Committee will regularly review the compliance and
performance of such conditions under the Contractual

Arrangements 1.

o The Company’s public affair department and legal department
will deal with matters relating to compliance and regulatory
enquiries from relevant PRC authorities and report to the Board

on a regular basis.

o Legal advisers and other professional have been and will
continue to be retained to assist the Company to deal with
related matters arising from the Contractual Arrangements 1,
and the auditor of the Group was engaged to provide annual
confirmations regarding the Contractual Arrangements 1.

The extent to which the Contractual Arrangements 1 relate to
requirements other than the foreign ownership restriction

All of the Contractual Arrangements 1 are subject to the restrictions
as set out on pages 130 to 132 of the Prospectus.

Contractual Arrangements 1

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Contractual
Arrangements 1 comprised six agreements, namely (a) the Master
Exclusive Service Agreement 1, [(b] the Business Cooperation
Agreement 1, (c) the Exclusive Option Agreement 1, (d] the Share
Pledge Agreement 1, (e] the Proxy Agreement 1 and (f) the Power of
Attorney 1.
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The following diagram illustrates how economic benefits flow from THRBMBES O L RER
Group under the Contractual Arrangements 1: EEBROLCENE

Beijing Lianzhong to our

(1) Convenants not to materially affect Beijing Lianzhong's assets and business and
right to appoint its directors and officers (Note 1)
(2] Power of attorney to exercise all shareholders' rights in Beijing Lianzhong (Note 2}
(3] Exclusive option to acquire all or part of the equity interest in Beijing Lianzhong
(Note 3]
(4) First priority security interest over the entire equity interest in Beijing Lianzhong
(Note 4)
(1) TEEERBR I EEREBUARZARES RS RBE 2 RMERERTE 2225 (1)
(2) FTEAL s B R A A R 2 ARt E (MH5E2)
(3) Wb s R 2 BP0 0 Pk 2 B R B e (PRE3)
(4) HEREBR2ERE 2 FE—EREREE (M)
The WFOE 1 P Original Shareholders (Note 6]
SNEIEE BT FRIGARER (FI5Es)
T
1
Management and consultation service ! !
1
LNote 5‘] X - ! ! 100%
B M# MRS (PHEED) ro
v
.
Beijing Lianzhong
1B R
Notes: Bt 5
1, Please refer to the section headed “Contractual Arrangements 1 — 1. BHFE B2HAFERIEHZH1—

Business Cooperation Agreement 17 of this annual report for details.

EXBAalEmE 15

Please refer to the section headed “Contractual Arrangements 1 — 2. BHFE B2HAERIEHLH1—
Proxy Agreement and Power of Attorney 1" of this annual report for ZpEAREERE -
details.

Please refer to the section headed “Contractual Arrangements 1 — 3. BHFE B2HAFERIEHTH1—
Exclusive Option Agreement 1" of this annual report for details. BRERE R —E -

Please refer to the section headed “Contractual Arrangements 1 — 4. BHFE B2HAERIEHZH1—
Share Pledge Agreement 1" of this annual report for details. M BRG] — 8 e

Please refer to the section headed “Contractual Arrangements 1 — 5. BTG F2HRFRIAOTH1—
Master Exclusive Service Agreement 1" of this annual report for details. BRRIS AT ZE1]—&F -

Original Shareholders are Mr. Zhang Rongming, Mr. Liu, Mr. Shen, Mr. 6. RRERRKBPELE  BIKE  RE
Bao Yuegiao, Ms. Long and Ms. Wu Lan. FoMBBEE ERLIREMZ L
“—" denotes direct legal and beneficial ownership in the equity interest 7. [~ HERBRETNEERERERAER

and "--->" denotes contractual relationship.
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Master Exclusive Service Agreement 1

Beijing Lianzhong entered into a master exclusive service agreement
with the WFOE 1 on 28 January 2014 (the "Master Exclusive Service
Agreement 1), pursuant to which, in exchange for a quarterly service
fee, Beijing Lianzhong agreed to engage the WFOE 1 as its exclusive
provider for the following services:

o any activities not within its normal business scope, or operating

its business in a way that is inconsistent with its past practice;

J providing technology development and transfer, and technical
consulting services;

o providing occupation and pre-occupation staff training services;

J providing public relation services;

J providing market investigation, research and consulting
services;

o providing mid- or short-term market development and market

planning services;

o providing human resource management and internal

information management;

o providing network development, upgrade and daily

maintenance;

o providing sale services of self-produced products;
. licensing of software;
o providing maintenance services in respect of computer software

and hardware system, database and computer servers;

o providing maintenance and upgrade services in respect of the

online games;

. providing training services in respect of online game technology
and operations;

. providing research and development services in respect of

online game software and maintenance of the system;

o selling and authorising Beijing Lianzhong to license software;
and
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. other services determined from time to time by the WFOE 1
according to the need of business and capacity of the WFOE 1
and its designated affiliates.

Under the Master Exclusive Service Agreement 1, the service fee is
equal to 100% of the consolidated net profits of Beijing Lianzhong.
The WFOE 1 may adjust the service fee at its sole discretion with
reference to the working capital requirements of Beijing Lianzhong
and in accordance with several factors relating to the services
provided, including (i} technical difficulty and complexity of the
services; (i) time spent in providing the services; [iii) contents and
commercial value of the services; and (iv) the benchmark price of
similar services in the market. Since Beijing Lianzhong's funding
requirements are satisfied by their residual operating cash after
paying the service fee to the WFOE 1, we do not expect to transfer any

net proceeds from the Global Offering to Beijing Lianzhong.

Intellectual property rights are developed during the normal course of
business of Beijing Lianzhong since its daily operations involve,
among other things, research and development and game
development. Pursuant to the Master Exclusive Service Agreement 1,
any intellectual properties developed by performance of the Master
Exclusive Service Agreement 1, including but not limited to copyrights,
trademarks, patents, technical secrets and knowhow, belong to the
WFOE 1. If a development is based on the intellectual properties
owned by Beijing Lianzhong, Beijing Lianzhong shall warrant and
guarantee that such intellectual properties are flawless and it shall
bear all damages and losses caused to the WFOE 1 by any flaw of
such intellectual properties. The WFOE 1 has the right to recover all

of its losses from Beijing Lianzhong for liabilities to any third party.

The Master Exclusive Service Agreement 1 can be terminated by the
WEFOE 1 at any time upon 30 days” written notice to Beijing Lianzhong.
The Master Exclusive Service Agreement 1 shall also be terminated
upon the transfer of all the shares of Beijing Lianzhong to the WFOE 1
and/or a third party designated by the WFOE 1 pursuant to the
Exclusive Option Agreement 1.
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Business Cooperation Agreement 1

Beijing Lianzhong, its shareholders and the WFOE 1 entered into a
business cooperation agreement on 28 January 2014 (the "Business
Cooperation Agreement 1°). Under the Business Cooperation
Agreement 1, Beijing Lianzhong and its shareholders, jointly and
severally, agree and covenant that, without obtaining the written
consent of the WFOE 1, Beijing Lianzhong shall not, and Beijing
Lianzhong's shareholders shall cause Beijing Lianzhong not to,
engage in any transaction which may materially affect its asset,

obligation, right or operation, including without limitation:

. any activities not within its normal business scope, or operating
its business in a way that is inconsistent with its past practice;

. merger, reorganisation, acquisition or restructuring of its
principal business or assets, or acquisition or investment in any

other form;

o offering any loan to any third party, incurring any debt from any
third party, or assuming any debt other than in the ordinary

course of business;

J engaging, changing or dismissing any director or any senior
management officer;

o selling to or acquiring from any third party, mortgaging,
licensing or disposing of in other ways tangible or intangible

assets, other than in the ordinary course of business;

o incurring, inheriting, assuming or guaranteeing any debt that
are not incurred during the ordinary course of business, using
its assets to provide security or other forms of guarantees to
any third party, or setting up any other encumbrances over its

assets;

o making any supplement, amendment or alternation to its
articles of association and by-laws, increasing or decreasing of
its registered capital or changing the structure of its registered

capital in other manners;

. making a distribution of a dividend, or share interest or
sponsorship interest in any way, provided that upon the written
request of the WFOE 1, Beijing Lianzhong shall immediately
distribute part or all of its distributable profits to its
shareholder(s) who shall in turn immediately and
unconditionally pay or transfer to the WFOE 1 any such
distribution;
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o executing any material contract, except contracts executed in
the ordinary course of business (for purpose of this subsection,
the WFOE 1 may define a material contract at its sole
discretion);

o selling, transferring, mortgaging or disposing of in any manner
any legal or beneficial interest in its business or revenues, or

allowing the encumbrance thereon of any security interest;

o a dissolution or a liquidation and distribution of residual assets;
or
o causing any of its branches or subsidiaries to engage in any of

the foregoing or enter into any contract, agreement or other
legal documents which may lead to or result in any of the
foregoing.

In addition, Beijing Lianzhong agreed and covenanted to the WFOE 1
that Beijing Lianzhong shall, and the shareholders shall cause Beijing

Lianzhong to:

o accept suggestions raised by the WFOE 1 over the engagement
and replacement of employees, daily operations, dividend
distribution and financial management systems of Beijing
Lianzhong, and Beijing Lianzhong shall strictly abide by and
perform accordingly;

o maintain Beijing Lianzhong’s corporate existence in accordance
with good financial and business standards and practices by
prudently and effectively operating its business and handling its

affairs;

. conduct Beijing Lianzhong's businesses in the ordinary course
of business to maintain the asset value of Beijing Lianzhong
and refrain from any act or omission that may adversely affect

Beijing Lianzhong's operating status and asset value;

o provide the WFOE 1 with information on Beijing Lianzhong's
business operations and financial condition at the request of
the WFOE 1;

. if requested by the WFOE 1, procure and maintain insurance in
respect of Beijing Lianzhong's assets and business from an
insurance carrier acceptable to the WFOE 1, at an amount and
type of coverage typical for companies that operate similar
businesses;
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. immediately notify the WFOE 1 of the occurrence or possible
occurrence of any litigation, arbitration or administrative
proceedings relating to Beijing Lianzhong's assets, business or

revenue; and

. execute all necessary or appropriate documents, take all
necessary or appropriate actions and file all necessary or
appropriate complaints or raise necessary and appropriate
defences against all claims so as to maintain the ownership by
Beijing Lianzhong of all of its assets.

According to the Business Cooperation Agreement 1, the
shareholders of Beijing Lianzhong shall only appoint persons
designated by the WFOE 1 as directors, the general manager, the
chief financial officer and other senior management members of
Beijing Lianzhong, and the shareholders shall dismiss any such
directors or senior management members upon the request of the
WFOE 1. Beijing Lianzhong and its shareholders also jointly and
severally covenanted that Beijing Lianzhong shall seek appropriate

approval from the WFOE 1 prior to entering into any material contract.

Furthermore, the shareholders agree that, unless required by the
WFOE 1, they shall not put forward, or vote in favour of, any
shareholders’ resolution to, or otherwise request Beijing Lianzhong
to, distribute profits, funds, assets or property to the shareholders, or
to issue any dividends or other distributions with respect to the shares
of Beijing Lianzhong held by the shareholders.

The Business Cooperation Agreement 1 shall remain effective as long
as Beijing Lianzhong exists, unless the WFOE 1 terminates it upon 30
days” advance written notice or upon the transfer of all the shares
held by Beijing Lianzhong's shareholders to the WFOE 1 and/or a third
party designated by the WFOE 1.

Exclusive Option Agreement 1

Beijing Lianzhong and its shareholders entered into an exclusive
option agreement with the WFOE 1 on 28 January 2014 (the "Exclusive
Option Agreement 1°), pursuant to which the WFOE 1 has a right to
require the respective shareholders to transfer any or all the shares
of Beijing Lianzhong they hold to the WFOE 1 and/or a third party
designated by it, in whole or in part at any time and from time to time,
at the lowest price allowable under PRC laws and administration
regulations at the time of transfer.
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The Exclusive Option Agreement 1 shall remain effective as long as
Beijing Lianzhong exists, and cannot be terminated by either Beijing
Lianzhong or its shareholders. The Exclusive Option Agreement 1 can
be terminated (i) by the WFOE 1 at any time upon 30 days’ advance
written notice to Beijing Lianzhong and its shareholders; or (i) upon
the transfer of all the shares held by the shareholders to the WFOE 1
and/or a third party designated by the WFOE 1.

Beijing Lianzhong and its shareholders, among other things, have
covenanted that:

o without the prior written consent of the WFOE 1, they shall not
in any manner supplement, change or amend the articles of
association and bylaws of Beijing Lianzhong, increase or
decrease its registered capital, or change the structure of its
registered capital in other manners;

o they shall maintain Beijing Lianzhong’'s corporate existence in
accordance with good financial and business standards and
practices by prudently and effectively operating its business and
handling its affairs;

o without the prior written consent of the WFOE 1, they shall not
sell, transfer, mortgage or dispose of in any manner any assets
of Beijing Lianzhong (except in the ordinary course of business),
or legal or beneficial interest in the business or revenues of
Beijing Lianzhong, or allow the encumbrance thereon of any
security interest;

. without the prior written consent of the WFOE 1, they shall not
incur, inherit, guarantee or assume any debt, except for debts
incurred in the ordinary course of business;

o they shall always operate all of Beijing Lianzhong's businesses
during the ordinary course of business to maintain the asset
value of Beijing Lianzhong and refrain from any action/omission

that may adversely affect Beijing Lianzhong's operating status
and asset value;

o without the prior written consent of the WFOE 1, they shall not
cause Beijing Lianzhong to execute any material contract (as
defined by the WFOE 1 at its sole discretion), except the
contracts executed in the ordinary course of business;
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without the prior written consent of the WFOE 1, they shall not
cause Beijing Lianzhong to provide any person with any loan or

credit other than in the course of ordinary business;

they shall provide the WFOE 1 with information on Beijing
Lianzhong's business operations and financial condition at the
request of the WFOE 1;

if requested by the WFOE 1, they shall procure and maintain
insurance in respect of Beijing Lianzhong's assets and business
from an insurance carrier acceptable to the WFOE 1, at an
amount and type of coverage typical for companies that operate

similar businesses;

without the prior written consent of the WFOE 1, they shall not
cause or permit Beijing Lianzhong to merge, consolidate with,

acquire or invest in any person;

they shall immediately notify the WFOE 1 of the occurrence or
possible occurrence of any litigation, arbitration or
administrative proceedings relating to Beijing Lianzhong's

assets, business or revenue;

to maintain the ownership by Beijing Lianzhong of all of its
assets, they shall execute all necessary or appropriate
documents, take all necessary or appropriate actions and file
all necessary or appropriate complaints or raise necessary and
appropriate defences against all claims;

they shall ensure that Beijing Lianzhong shall not, without the
prior written consent of the WFOE 1, in any manner distribute
dividends to its shareholder(s], provided that upon the written
request of the WFOE 1, Beijing Lianzhong shall immediately
distribute part or all of its distributable profits to its
shareholder(s) who shall in turn immediately and
unconditionally pay or transfer to the WFOE 1 any such
distribution;

at the request of the WFOE 1, they shall appoint any persons
designated by the WFOE 1 as the directors and/or executive

directors of Beijing Lianzhong;
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o they shall cause the meeting of shareholders and the board of
directors of Beijing Lianzhong to pass shareholders’ resolutions
and board resolutions in accordance with the instruction of the
WFOE 1; and

o unless otherwise mandatorily required by PRC laws, Beijing
Lianzhong shall not be dissolved or liquidated without prior
written consent by the WFOE 1.

Share Pledge Agreement 1

The shareholders of Beijing Lianzhong and the WFOE 1 entered into a
share pledge agreement on 28 January 2014 (the "Share Pledge
Agreement 1°]. Under the Share Pledge Agreement 1, the
shareholders of Beijing Lianzhong unconditionally and irrevocably
pledged all of the shares of Beijing Lianzhong that they own, including
any interest or dividend paid for such shares, to the WFOE 1 as a
security for the performance of the obligations by Beijing Lianzhong
and its shareholders under the Master Exclusive Service Agreement 1,
the Business Cooperation Agreement 1, the Exclusive Option
Agreement 1 and other agreements to be executed among Beijing
Lianzhong, its shareholders and the WFOE 1 from time to time
(collectively the “Principal Agreements 17).

The pledge shall remain valid until all parties have agreed to
terminate the Share Pledge Agreement 1, the Principal Agreements 1
have been fulfilled to the satisfaction of the WFOE 1 or all of the
Principal Agreements 1 have expired or been terminated.

Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an event of
default (as defined in the Share Pledge Agreement 1), the WFOE 1
shall have the right to require Beijing Lianzhong's shareholders to
immediately pay any amount payable by Beijing Lianzhong under the
Master Exclusive Service Agreement 1, repay any loans and pay any
other due payments, and the WFOE 1 shall have the right to exercise
all such rights as a secured party under any applicable PRC law,
including without limitations, (i) to sell all or any part of the pledged
shares at one or more public or private sales upon three days” written
notice to the pledgor, and [ii) to execute an agreement with Beijing
Lianzhong's shareholders to acquire the pledged shares based on
their monetary value which shall be determined by referencing the

their market price.
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Proxy Agreement 1 and Power of Attorney 1

Beijing Lianzhong, each of its shareholders and the WFOE 1 entered
into a proxy agreement and power of attorney on 28 January 2014 (the
"Proxy Agreement 1 and Power of Attorney 1°). Under the Proxy
Agreement 1 and Power of Attorney 1, each shareholder irrevocably
appointed the WFOE 1 [as well as its successors, including a
liquidator, if any, replacing the WFOE 1] as its attorney-in-fact to
exercise on its behalf, and agreed and undertook not to exercise
without such attorney-in-fact’s prior written consent, any and all right
that it has in respect of its shares in Beijing Lianzhong, including

without limitation:

o to call and attend shareholders” meetings of Beijing Lianzhong,
and receive notices and materials with respect to the

shareholders’ meeting;

. to execute and deliver any and all written resolutions and
meeting minutes in the name and on behalf of such
shareholder;

. to vote by itself or by proxy on any matters discussed on
shareholders” meetings of Beijing Lianzhong, including without
limitation, the sale, transfer, mortgage, pledge or disposal of
any or all of the assets of Beijing Lianzhong;

o to sell, transfer, pledge or dispose of any or all of the shares in

Beijing Lianzhong;

o to nominate, appoint or remove the directors, supervisors and
senior management of Beijing Lianzhong when necessary;

. to oversee the economic performance of Beijing Lianzhong;

o to have full access to the financial information of Beijing
Lianzhong at any time;

. to file any shareholder lawsuits or take other legal actions
against Beijing Lianzhong's directors or senior management
members when such directors or members are acting to the
detriment of the interest of Beijing Lianzhong or its

shareholder(s);
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° to approve annual budgets or declare dividends;
o to manage and dispose of the assets of Beijing Lianzhong;
o have the full rights to control and manage Beijing Lianzhong's

finance, accounting and daily operation [including but not
limited to signing and execution of contracts and payment of

government taxes and duties);

o to approve the filing of any documents with the relevant
governmental authorities or regulatory bodies; and any other
rights conferred by the articles of association of Beijing
Lianzhong and/or the relevant laws and regulations on the

shareholders.

In addition, if any share transfer is contemplated under the Exclusive
Option Agreement 1 and the Share Pledge Agreement 1 that Beijing
Lianzhong's shareholders enter into for the benefits of the WFOE 1 or
its affiliate, the WFOE 1 shall have the right to sign the share transfer
agreement and other relevant agreements and to perform the

Exclusive Option Agreement 1 and the Share Pledge Agreement 1.

The Proxy Agreement 1 and Power of Attorney 1 shall remain effective
as long as Beijing Lianzhong exists. Beijing Lianzhong's shareholders
shall not have the right to terminate the Proxy Agreement 1 and
Power of Attorney 1 or to revoke the appointment of the attorney-in-

fact without the prior written consent of the WFOE 1.

Save as disclosed above, there were no new contractual
arrangements entered into, renewed or reproduced among Beijing
Lianzhong and its shareholders, and the WFOE 1 during the year
ended 31 December 2019. There was no material change in the
Contractual Arrangements 1 and/or the circumstances under which
they were adopted for the year ended 31 December 2019.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, none of the Contractual
Arrangements 1 has been unwound as none of the restrictions that
led to the adoption of structured contracts under the Contractual

Arrangements 1 has been removed.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EETTRS (B)

Revenue and Assets subject to the Contractual BRZHE1BTHRAREE
Arrangements 1
The revenue, loss for the year and total assets subject to the ERREIETHEFRNRA BERAE
Contractual Arrangements 1 are set out as follows: EFHHNT
Year ended Year ended
31 December 2019 31 December 2018
BE-Z—h#F HE-_ZT—-N\F
+TZA=+—-HLEFEE TZA=1+T—HILFE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BT T ARBTT
Revenue W A 69,983 128,944
Loss for the year FRNEE (89,804) (303,316)
As at As at
31 December 2019 31 December 2018
R=ZZB—IF MNoZE—)\F
+t=A=+-—AH +=ZA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R AR®BFT
Total assets BEE 598,540 619,592

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the revenue and loss for the
year subject to the Contractual Arrangements 1 amounted to
approximately 25.7% (2018: 37.6%) and 19.7% (2018: 43.5%) of the
revenue and loss for the year of the Group respectively.

As at 31 December 2019, the total assets subject to the Contractual
Arrangements 1 amounted to approximately 61.2% (2018: 48.9%) of
the total assets of the Group.
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In the opinion of our PRC legal advisor King & Wood Mallesons ("PRC
Legal Advisor”) dated 26 January 2016, the Contractual Arrangements
1 are valid, binding and are in compliance with and enforceable under
the applicable PRC laws and regulations, except that the Contractual
Arrangements 1 provide that the arbitral tribunal or the arbitrators
may award remedies over the shares or land assets of Beijing
Lianzhong, relief or winding up of Beijing Lianzhong, and that courts
of competent jurisdictions are empowered to grant interim injunctive
relief or other interim relief in support of the arbitration when
formation of the arbitral tribunal is pending or under appropriate
circumstances, while under PRC laws, an arbitral tribunal or the
arbitrators has no power to grant injunctive relief or provisional or
final liquidation order to preserve the assets or any shares of Beijing

Lianzhong in case of dispute.

VIE Structure 2

On 9 February 2017, the Board announced that the Group was
conducting a series of reorganisation steps that involve, among other
things, (i) the Group establishing a new VIE structure by entering into
new VIE agreements [(collectively, the Master Exclusive Service
Agreement 2, the Business Cooperation Agreement 2, the Proxy
Agreement 2 and Power of Attorney 2, and the Exclusive Option
Agreement 2 and the Share Pledge Agreement 2] (the “"Contractual
Arrangements 2°) among Tianjin Lianhzhong Lequ Technology
Development Co., Ltd. (the "WFOE 2] and Beijing Guangyao Hudong
Technology Development Co., Ltd. ("Beijing Guangyao”), a limited
liability company established in the PRC which is owned as to 100% by
Mr. Liang Jie, and (i) Beijing Lianzhong entering into asset transfer
agreements with Beijing Guangyao, pursuant to which Beijing
Lianzhong would transfer certain assets relating to the eSports,
sports e-commerce business and other non-card-and-board games
new internet businesses of the Group ("eSports Business”) to Beijing
Guangyao. Beijing Guangyao will principally be engaged in the eSports
Business. Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 9
February 2017 for further details.

On 31 May 2018, Mr. Liang Jie (the "Registered Owner"] and Mr. Ping
Yan (the "Nominee Shareholder”) entered into a share transfer
agreement, pursuant to which Mr. Liang Jie transferred 1% of the
shares of Beijing Guangyao to Mr. Ping Yan [the "Share Transfer”).
Upon closing of the Share Transfer, Mr. Liang Jie and Mr. Ping Yan
are the nominee shareholders of Beijing Guangyao holding its equity
interest as to 99% and 1%, respectively. The Group has thus
established the New VIE Structure due to the addition of Mr. Ping Yan
to Beijing Guangyao by entering into the New VIE Agreements with the
Nominee Shareholder, the Registered Owner and/or Beijing
Guangyao. Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
31 May 2018 for further details.
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After the signing of the Contractual Arrangements 2, the financial
results of Beijing Guangyao is accounted for and consolidated in the
accounts of the Group. Beijing Guangyao is therefore accounted for as
if it is @ wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company ("VIE Structure 27).
The Registered Owner, as the sole shareholder of Beijing Guangyao,
becomes a connected person of the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. As Beijing Guangyao is wholly-owned by the
Registered Owner, Beijing Guangyao becomes an associate of the
Registered Owner and is a connected person of the Company.
Accordingly, the Contractual Arrangements 2 constitute continuing
connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Reasons for the Contractual Arrangements 2

Since the Listing, the Group’s business has grown at a significant
pace and the Group’s product offerings have significantly expanded.
The Group has evolved from a pure integrated online card and board
game platform offering both PC games and mobile games to a global
mind sports business offering online and offline products in the PRC
and worldwide. The Group now holds various investments in mind
sports across an array of platforms, including PC, mobile and real life
tournaments. The VIE Structure 2 separates the Group’s eSports
business and various investments from the online games business.
The VIE Structure 1 will remain in place for the Group’s management

of its online games business.

As disclosed in the Prospectus, due to applicable laws and regulatory
restrictions on foreign ownership in the telecommunications industry
(including online games, eSports and other internet related
businesses) in the PRC and restrictions on foreign investors
conducting value-added telecommunications services, the Group
operates its businesses, including the Group's expanded eSports
business, in the PRC through Beijing Lianzhong, and the Group has in
place a series of contractual arrangements with Beijing Lianzhong
that are designed to allow the Company to exercise control over the
operations of Beijing Lianzhong and enjoy the economic benefits
generated by Beijing Lianzhong. Detailed reasons as to why our
businesses are required to be carried out by way of contractual
arrangements from a perspective of compliance with PRC laws are
set out in the section headed “Contractual Arrangements” on page
130 to 132 of the Prospectus.
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The Group's eSports business, various investments and the Group’s
traditional online card and board games business (the "Online Games
Business”] are very different and at different stages of maturity,
requiring different strategies, resources and management personnel.
The VIE Structure 2 allows the Group to better manage the eSports
Business, various investments and the Online Games Business. Each
of Beijing Lianzhong and Beijing Guangyao has different profit and
loss focuses, and the Group has appointed separate management
personnel suitable for the respective businesses. Having separate
entities operating the respective businesses also allows the Group to
more easily set appropriate key performance indicators for the
respective businesses, management and employees, and for the
Group to devise incentives and remuneration that are appropriate in
each case.

On 9 August 2019 (US time], our WPT and eSports businesses
completed the spin-off listing (the "Spin-off Listing”] with Black
Ridge Acquisition Corporation ("BRAC"]). BRAC was renamed Allied
Esports Entertainment Inc. ("AESE"] and commenced trading on the
main board of Nasdaq under the new stock symbol AESE from 12
August 2019. Following the completion of the Spin-off Listing, the
Company is now the controlling shareholder of AESE and has control
of its board of directors, and AESE has become a non wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company.

Further details of the Spin-off Listing are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 24 December 2018, 1 April
2019, 5 July 2019, 10 July 2019, 24 July 2019, 11 August 2019 and the
circular dated 19 June 2019.

The VIE Structure 2 will remain in place for the Group’s management
of its investments, most of which are in the telecommunications
industry, and the investments are restricted on foreign ownership and
investors in the PRC.

The Group believes that such added flexibilities and focus will be
instrumental to nurturing and growing the various investments while
continuing to maintain a healthy growth in the Online Games
Business. Further details of the reasons for the Contractual
Arrangements 2 are set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 31 May 2018.
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Risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements 2
We believe the following risks are associated with the Contractual
Arrangements 2:

o If the PRC government finds that the agreements that establish
the structure for operating our business in China do not comply
with applicable PRC laws and regulations, or if these laws and
regulations or their interpretations change in the future, we
could be subject to severe penalties and our business may be
materially and adversely affected.

o The Group relies on the Contractual Arrangements 2 to control
and obtain economic benefits from Beijing Guangyao, which
may not be as effective in providing operational control as equity
ownership.

o The shareholders of Beijing Guangyao may have conflicts of
interest with us, which may materially and adversely affect our

business and financial condition.

J Certain terms of the Contractual Arrangements 2 may not be
enforceable under PRC laws.

o We may lose the ability to use and enjoy assets held by Beijing
Guangyao that are important to the operation of our business if
Beijing Guangyao declares bankruptcy or becomes subject to a
dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

J The Contractual Arrangements 2 between the WFOE 2 and
Beijing Guangyao may subject our Group to increased income
tax due to the different income tax rates applicable to the WFOE
2 and Beijing Guangyao, which may adversely affect our results

of operations.

J The Group's exercise of the options to acquire equity interests
of Beijing Guangyao may be subject to certain limitations and

the ownership transfer may subject us to substantial costs.

. The Contractual Arrangements 2 between the WFOE 2 and
Beijing Guangyao may be subject to scrutiny by the PRC tax
authorities and any finding that we or Beijing Guangyao owe
additional taxes could substantially reduce our consolidated net
income and the value of our Shareholders” investment.
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Mitigation actions taken by the Company
The same mitigation actions as that for the VIE Structure 1 have been
and will be taken for the VIE Structure 2:

o The Company has existing protections measures under the
Contractual Arrangements 2. The Company’s Risk Management
Committee will regularly review the compliance and
performance of such conditions under the Contractual
Arrangements 2.

. The Company’s public affair department and legal department
will deal with matters relating to compliance and regulatory
enquiries from relevant PRC authorities and report to the Board
on a regular basis.

. Legal advisers and other professionals have been and will
continue to be retained to assist the Company to deal with
related matters arising from the Contractual Arrangements 2,
and the auditor of the Group will be engaged to provide annual
confirmations regarding the Contractual Arrangements 2.

Contractual Arrangements 2

The Contractual Arrangements 2 under the VIE Structure 2 are on
substantially the same terms as those currently in place under the
VIE Structure 1, save as to the identity of the operating vehicle, the
identity of the wholly foreign owned enterprise, and the identity of the
registered owners of the respective operating vehicle.

As at the date of this Directors’ Report, the Contractual Arrangements
2 comprised six agreements, namely (a) the Master Exclusive Service
Agreement 2, (b) the Business Cooperation Agreement 2, (c] the
Exclusive Option Agreement 2, (d) the Share Pledge Agreement 2, (e]
the Proxy Agreement 2 and (f] the Power of Attorney 2.

In relation to the Contractual Arrangements 2 under the VIE Structure
2, the Company will fulfill and comply with the same conditions as
those imposed on the contractual arrangements under the VIE
Structure 1 as disclosed on pages 150 to 152 of the Prospectus,
mutatis mutandis.
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The following diagram illustrates how economic benefits flow from

Beijing Guangyao to our Group under the Contractual Arrangements 2: EEBROLCENE

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(1)

(2)
(3)

(4)

Covenants not to materially affect Beijing Guangyao's assets and business
and right to appoint directors and officers [Note 1)

Power of attorney to exercise all shareholders’ rights in Beijing Guangyao
(Note 2)

Exclusive option to acquire all or part of the equity interest in Beijing
Guangyao (Note 3)

First priority security interest over the entire equity interest in Beijing
Guangyao (Note 4]
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Notes:
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Please refer to the section headed "Business Cooperation Agreement 2"
for details.

Please refer to the section headed "Proxy Agreement and Power of
Attorney 2" for details.

Please refer to the section headed “Exclusive Option Agreement 2" for
details.

Please refer to the section headed "Share Pledge Agreement 2" for
details.

Please refer to the section headed “Master Exclusive Service Agreement
2" for details.

“—" denotes direct legal and beneficial ownership in the equity interest
and "--->" denotes contractual relationship.

Master Exclusive Service Agreement 2

Beijing Guangyao entered into a master exclusive service agreement
with the WFOE 2 on 9 February 2017 (the "Master Exclusive Service
Agreement 27), pursuant to which, in exchange for a quarterly service

fee, Beijing Guangyao agreed to engage the WFOE 2 as its exclusive

provider for the following services:

providing technology development and transfer, and technical
consulting services;

providing occupation and pre-occupation staff training services;

providing public relation services;

providing market investigation, research and consulting
services;

providing mid- or short-term market development and market

planning services;

providing human resource management and internal
information management;

providing network development, upgrade and daily

maintenance;

providing sale services of self-produced products;

licensing of software;
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o providing maintenance services in respect of computer software

and hardware system, database and computer servers;

J providing maintenance and upgrade services in respect of the
online games;

. providing training services in respect of online game and

eSports technology and operations;

o providing research and development services in respect of
online game software and maintenance of the system;

. selling and authorising Beijing Guangyao to license software;
and
o other services determined from time to time by the WFOE 2

according to the need of business and capacity of the WFOE 2

and its designated affiliates.

The service fee is equal to 100% of the consolidated net profits of
Beijing Guangyao. The WFOE 2 may adjust the service fee at its sole
discretion with reference to the working capital requirements of the
WFOE 2 and in accordance with several factors relating to the
services provided, including (i) technical difficulty and complexity of
the services; (i) time spent in providing the services; (iii) contents and
commercial value of the services; and [iv) the benchmark price of
similar services in the market. Our PRC Legal Advisor is of the opinion
that such payment of service fees is not subject to any legal or
regulatory requirements in the PRC and does not violate any PRC
laws.

Any intellectual properties developed by performance of the Master
Exclusive Service Agreement 2, including but not limited to copyrights,
trademarks, patents, technical secrets and knowhow, belong to the
WFOE 2. If a development is based on the intellectual properties
owned by Beijing Guangyao, Beijing Guangyao shall warrant and
guarantee that such intellectual properties are flawless and it shall
bear all damages and losses caused to the WFOE 2 by any flaw of
such intellectual properties. The WFOE 2 has the right to recover all
of its losses from Beijing Guangyao for liabilities to any third party.

The Master Exclusive Service Agreement 2 can be terminated by the
WFOE 2 at any time upon 30 days” written notice to Beijing Guangyao.
The Master Exclusive Service Agreement 2 shall also terminate upon
the transfer of all the shares of Beijing Guangyao to the WFOE 2 and/
or a third party designated by the WFOE 2 pursuant to the Exclusive
Option Agreement 2.
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Business Cooperation Agreement 2

Beijing Guangyao, the Registered Owner and the WFOE 2 entered into
a business cooperation agreement on 31 May 2018 (the "Business
Cooperation Agreement 2"). Under the Business Cooperation
Agreement 2, Beijing Guangyao and the Registered Owner, jointly and
severally, agreed and covenanted that, without obtaining the written
consent of the WFOE 2, Beijing Guangyao shall not, and the
Registered Owner shall cause Beijing Guangyao not to, engage in any
transaction which may materially affect Beijing Guangyao’'s asset,
obligation, right or operation, including without limitation:

o any activities not within its normal business scope, or operating
its business in a way that is inconsistent with its past practice;

o merger, reorganisation, acquisition or restructuring of its
principal business or assets, or acquisition or investment in any
other form;

o offering any loan to any third party, incurring any debt from any

third party, or assuming any debt other than in the ordinary
course of business;

o engaging, changing or dismissing any director or any senior
management officer;

o selling to or acquiring from any third party, mortgaging,
licensing or disposing of in other ways tangible or intangible
assets, other than in the ordinary course of business;

o incurring, inheriting, assuming or guaranteeing any debt that
are not incurred during the ordinary course of business, using
its assets to provide security or other forms of guarantees to
any third party, or setting up any other encumbrances over its
assets;

o making any supplement, amendment or alternation to its
articles of association and by-laws, increasing or decreasing of
its registered capital or changing the structure of its registered
capital in other manners;

. making a distribution of a dividend, or share interest or
sponsorship interest in any way, provided that upon the written
request of the WFOE 2, Beijing Guangyao shall immediately
distribute part or all of its distributable profits to its
shareholder(s) who shall in turn immediately and
unconditionally pay or transfer to the WFOE 2 any such
distribution;

o executing any material contract, except contracts executed in
the ordinary course of business (for purpose of this subsection,
the WFOE 2 may define a material contract at its sole
discretion);
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o selling, transferring, mortgaging or disposing of in any manner
any legal or beneficial interest in its business or revenues, or
allowing the encumbrance thereon of any security interest;

. dissolution or liquidation and distribution of residual assets; or

o causing any of its branches or subsidiaries to engage in any of
the foregoing or enter into any contract, agreement or other
legal documents which may lead to or result in any of the
foregoing.

In addition, Beijing Guangyao agreed and covenanted to the WFOE 2

that Beijing Guangyao shall, and the shareholders of Beijing Guangyao
shall cause Beijing Guangyao to:

o accept suggestions raised by the WFOE 2 over the engagement
and replacement of employees, daily operations, dividend
distribution and financial management systems of Beijing
Guangyao, and Beijing Guangyao shall strictly abide by and
perform accordingly;

o maintain Beijing Guangyao's corporate existence in accordance
with good financial and business standards and practices by
prudently and effectively operating its business and handling its
affairs;

o conduct Beijing Guangyao’s businesses in the ordinary course
of business to maintain the asset value of Beijing Guangyao and
refrain from any act or omission that may adversely affect
Beijing Guangyao’'s operating status and asset value;

o provide the WFOE 2 with information on Beijing Guangyao’'s
business operations and financial condition at the request of
the WFOE 2;

o if requested by the WFOE 2, procure and maintain insurance in
respect of Beijing Guangyao's assets and business from an
insurance carrier acceptable to the WFOE 2, at an amount and
type of coverage typical for companies that operate similar
businesses;

o immediately notify the WFOE 2 of the occurrence or possible
occurrence of any litigation, arbitration or administrative
proceedings relating to Beijing Guangyao’s assets, business or
revenue; and

. execute all necessary or appropriate documents, take all
necessary or appropriate actions and file all necessary or
appropriate complaints or raise necessary and appropriate
defences against all claims so as to maintain the ownership by
Beijing Guangyao of all of its assets.
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According to the Business Cooperation Agreement 2, the Registered
Owner and the Nominee Shareholder shall only appoint persons
designated by the WFOE 2 as directors, the general manager, the
chief financial officer and other senior management members of
Beijing Guangyao, and the Registered Owner and the Nominee
Shareholder shall dismiss any such directors or senior management
members upon the request of the WFOE 2. Beijing Guangyao and the
Registered Owner and the Nominee Shareholder also jointly and
severally covenanted that Beijing Guangyao shall seek appropriate
approval from the WFOE 2 prior to entering in to any material
contract.

Furthermore, the Registered Owner and the Nominee Shareholder
agreed that, unless required by the WFOE 2, they shall not put
forward, or vote in favour of, any shareholder’s resolution to, or
otherwise request Beijing Guangyao to, distribute profits, funds,
assets or property to the Registered Owner and the Nominee
Shareholder, or to issue any dividends or other distributions with
respect to the shares of Beijing Guangyao held by the Registered
Owner and the Nominee Shareholder.

The Business Cooperation Agreement 2 shall remain effective as long
as Beijing Guangyao exists, unless the WFOE 2 terminates it upon 30
days’” advance written notice or upon the transfer of all the shares in
Beijing Guangyao held by the Registered Owner and the Nominee
Shareholder to the WFOE 2 and/or a third party designated by the
WEFOE 2.

Exclusive Option Agreement 2

Beijing Guangyao and the Registered Owner and the Nominee
Shareholder entered into an exclusive option agreement with the
WFOE 2 on 31 May 2018 [the "Exclusive Option Agreement 27),
pursuant to which the WFOE 2 has a right to require the Registered
Owner and the Nominee Shareholder to transfer any or all the shares
of Beijing Guangyao they hold to the WFOE 2 and/or a third party
designated by it, in whole or in part at any time and from time to time,
at the lowest price allowable under PRC laws and administration
regulations at the time of transfer.

Beijing Guangyao, the Registered Owner and the Nominee

Shareholder, among other things, have covenanted that:

J without the prior written consent of the WFOE 2, they shall not
in any manner supplement, change or amend the articles of
association and bylaws of Beijing Guangyao, increase or
decrease its registered capital, or change the structure of its

registered capital in other manners;
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they shall maintain Beijing Guangyao’s corporate existence in
accordance with good financial and business standards and
practices by prudently and effectively operating its business and
handling its affairs;

without the prior written consent of the WFOE 2, they shall not
sell, transfer, mortgage or dispose of in any manner any assets
of Beijing Guangyao (except in the ordinary course of business),
or legal or beneficial interest in the business or revenues of
Beijing Guangyao, or allow the encumbrance thereon of any
security interest;

without the prior written consent of the WFOE 2, they shall not
incur, inherit, guarantee or assume any debt, except for debts
incurred in the ordinary course of business;

they shall always operate all of Beijing Guangyao's businesses
during the ordinary course of business to maintain the asset
value of Beijing Guangyao and refrain from any action/omission
that may adversely affect Beijing Guangyao's operating status
and asset value;

without the prior written consent of the WFOE 2, they shall not
cause Beijing Guangyao to execute any material contract (as
defined by the WFOE 2 at its sole discretion], except the
contracts executed in the ordinary course of business;

without the prior written consent of the WFOE 2, they shall not
cause Beijing Guangyao to provide any person with any loan or

credit other than in the course of ordinary business;

they shall provide the WFOE 2 with information on Beijing
Guangyao’'s business operations and financial condition at the
request of the WFOE 2;

if requested by the WFOE 2, they shall procure and maintain
insurance in respect of Beijing Guangyao’s assets and business
from an insurance carrier acceptable to the WFOE 2, at an
amount and type of coverage typical for companies that operate

similar businesses;

without the prior written consent of the WFOE 2, they shall not
cause or permit Beijing Guangyao to merge, consolidate with,
acquire or invest in any person;
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° they shall immediately notify the WFOE 2 of the occurrence or
possible occurrence of any litigation, arbitration or
administrative proceedings relating to Beijing Guangyao's
assets, business or revenue;

. to maintain the ownership by Beijing Guangyao of all of its
assets, they shall execute all necessary or appropriate
documents, take all necessary or appropriate actions and file
all necessary or appropriate complaints or raise necessary and
appropriate defences against all claims;

o they shall ensure that Beijing Guangyao shall not, without the
prior written consent of the WFOE 2, in any manner distribute
dividends to its shareholder(s), provided that upon the written
request of the WFOE 2, Beijing Guangyao shall immediately
distribute part or all of its distributable profits to its
shareholder(s] who shall in turn immediately and
unconditionally pay or transfer to the WFOE 2 any such
distribution;

o at the request of the WFOE 2, they shall appoint any persons
designated by the WFOE 2 as the directors and/or executive
directors of Beijing Guangyao;

. they shall cause the meeting of shareholders and the board of
directors of Beijing Guangyao to pass shareholders’ resolutions
and board resolutions in accordance with the instruction of the

WFOE 2; and

o unless otherwise mandatorily required by PRC laws, Beijing
Guangyao shall not be dissolved or liquidated without prior
written consent by the WFOE 2.

The Exclusive Option Agreement 2 shall remain effective as long as
Beijing Guangyao exists, and cannot be terminated by either Beijing
Guangyao or the Registered Owner. The Exclusive Option Agreement
2 can be terminated (i) by the WFOE 2 at any time upon 30 days’
advance written notice to Beijing Guangyao or the Registered Owner;
or (i) upon the transfer of all the shares held by the shareholders to

the WFOE 2 and/or a third party designated by the WFOE 2.
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Share Pledge Agreement 2

The Registered Owner and the Nominee Shareholder entered into an
share pledge agreement with the WFOE 2 on 31 May 2018 (the "Share
Pledge Agreement 2°). Under the Share Pledge Agreement 2, the
Registered Owner and the Nominee Shareholder unconditionally and
irrevocably agreed to pledge all of the shares of Beijing Guangyao that
they own, including any interest or dividend paid for such shares, to
WFOE 2 as a security for the performance of the obligations by Beijing
Guangyao, the Registered Owner and the Nominee Shareholder under
the Master Exclusive Service Agreement 2, the Business Cooperation
Agreement 2, the Exclusive Option Agreement 2 and other
agreements to be executed among Beijing Guangyao, the Registered
Owner, the Nominee Shareholder and the WFOE 2 from time to time
(collectively the "Principal Agreements 27).

The pledge shall remain valid until all parties have agreed to
terminate the Share Pledge Agreement 2, the Principal Agreements 2
have been fulfilled to the satisfaction of the WFOE 2 or all of the
Principal Agreements 2 have expired or been terminated.

Proxy Agreement 2 and Power of Attorney 2

Beijing Guangyao, the Registered Owner and the Nominee
Shareholder entered into a proxy agreement and power of attorney
with the WFOE 2 on 31 May 2018 (the "Proxy Agreement 2 and Power
of Attorney 2°). Under the Proxy Agreement 2 and Power of Attorney 2,
the Registered Owner and the Nominee Shareholder irrevocably
agreed to appoint the WFOE 2 (as well as its successors, including a
liquidator, if any, replacing the WFOE 2] as their attorney-in-fact to
exercise on their behalf, and agreed and undertook not to exercise
without such attorney-in-fact’s prior written consent, any and all right
that they have in respect of its shares in Beijing Guangyao, including
without limitation:

. to call and attend shareholders” meetings of Beijing Guangyao,
and receive notices and materials with respect to the
shareholders’ meeting;

o to execute and deliver any and all written resolutions and
meeting minutes in the name and on behalf of such

shareholder;

o to vote by itself or by proxy on any matters discussed on
shareholders’” meetings of Beijing Guangyao, including without
limitation, the sale, transfer, mortgage, pledge or disposal of

any or all of the assets of Belijing Guangyao;
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. to sell, transfer, pledge or dispose of any or all of the shares in
Beijing Guangyao;

. to nominate, appoint or remove the directors, supervisors and

senior management of Beijing Guangyao when necessary;

o to oversee the economic performance of Beijing Guangyao;

. to have full access to the financial information of Beijing

Guangyao at any time;

o to file any shareholder lawsuits or take other legal actions
against Beijing Guangyao's directors or senior management
members when such directors or members are acting to the
detriment of the interest of Beijing Guangyao or its

shareholder(s):

o to approve annual budgets or declare dividends;
J to manage and dispose of the assets of Beijing Guangyao;
o to have the full rights to control and manage Beijing Guangyao’s

finance, accounting and daily operation [(including but not
limited to signing and execution of contracts and payment of

government taxes and duties);

J to approve the filing of any documents with the relevant

governmental authorities or regulatory bodies; and

o any other rights conferred by the articles of association of
Beijing Guangyao and/or the relevant laws and regulations on
the shareholders.

In addition, if any share transfer is contemplated under the Exclusive
Option Agreement 2 and the Share Pledge Agreement 2 that the
Registered Owner or the Nominee Shareholder enters into for the
benefits of the WFOE 2 or its affiliate, the WFOE 2 shall have the right
to sign the share transfer agreement and other relevant agreements
and to perform the Exclusive Option Agreement 2 and the Share
Pledge Agreement 2.

The Proxy Agreement 2 and Power of Attorney 2 will remain effective
so long as Beijing Guangyao exists. Beijing Guangyao’s shareholders
will not have the right to terminate the Proxy Agreement 2 and Power
of Attorney 2 or to revoke the appointment of the attorney-in-fact
without the prior written consent of the WFOE 2.
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Revenue and Assets subject to the Contractual
Arrangements 2

The revenue, loss for the year and total assets subject to the

GRNZE2ETHRAREE

BRRB2ATHERARA  BELREE

Contractual Arrangements 2 are set out as follows: EHINNT :
Year ended Year ended
31 December 2019 31 December 2018
BE-Z—h#&F Hz—_Z2—)\#
+=—A=+-—H +=ZRA=+—H
IEFE IEFE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T ARETF T
Revenue PN 10,075 131,541
Loss for the year FRNEE (108,840) (147,889)
As at As at
31 December 2019 31 December 2018
R-—ZE—h&E RZZT—NF
+=—A=+-—H +=—A=+—H”
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREF T
Total assets HMEE 106,726 374,639
For the year ended 31 December 2019, the revenue and loss for the HE-Z—-—NEF+_B=1t—8B1ItF

year subject to the Contractual Arrangements 2 amounted to
approximately 3.7% (2018: 38.3%) and 23.9% (2018: 21.2%) of the
revenue and loss for the year of the Group respectively.

As at 31 December 2019, the total assets subject to the Contractual
Arrangements 2 amounted to approximately 10.9% (2018: 29.6%)] of
the total assets of the Group.

In the opinion of our PRC Legal Advisor dated 31 May 2018, the
Contractual Arrangements 2 are valid, binding and are in compliance
with and enforceable under the applicable PRC laws and regulations,
except that the Contractual Arrangements 2 provide that the arbitral
tribunal or the arbitrators may award remedies over the shares or
land assets of Beijing Guangyao, relief or winding up of Beijing
Guangyao, and that courts of competent jurisdictions are empowered
to grant interim injunctive relief or other interim relief in support of
the arbitration when formation of the arbitral tribunal is pending or
under appropriate circumstances, while under PRC laws, an arbitral
tribunal or the arbitrators has no power to grant injunctive relief or
provisional or final liquidation order to preserve the assets or any
shares of Beijing Guangyao in case of dispute.
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Confirmation from Independent Directors

The independent non-executive Directors reviewed the Contractual
Arrangements 1 and the Contractual Arrangements 2 (the “Continuing
Connected Transactions”] and the independent auditor’s report, and
confirmed that the Continuing Connected Transactions have been
entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group, (i) on normal commercial terms or better, and (i) according
to the relevant agreements governing each of the Continuing
Connected Transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

The Directors also confirmed that no dividends or other distributions
have been made by Beijing Lianzhong and Beijing Guangyao to the
holders of its equity interests which are not otherwise subsequently
assigned or transferred to the Group.

Confirmations from the Company’s Independent
Auditor

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
Continuing Connected Transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has confirmed in a letter to the Board that
with respect to the Continuing Connected Transactions entered into in
the year ended 31 December 2019:

(a)]  nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to
believe that the Continuing Connected Transactions have not
been approved by the Board; and

(b)  nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to
believe that the transactions were not entered into, in all
material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements
under the Continuing Connected Transactions governing such

transactions.
A copy of the auditor’'s letter on the Continuing Connected

Transactions of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 has
been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.
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We believe that there are certain risks involved in our operations,
some of which are beyond our control. The principal risks and
uncertainties the Group is facing are as follows:

Risks Relating to the Business and Industry of the
Company

If the Group fails to continuously strengthen its existing games and
launch new games, or if its top games lose their popularity, the Group
may not be able to retain existing players and attract new players,
which will adversely affect the business and results of the operation
of the Group. The Group relies on third-party channels to distribute a
substantial number of our games, and our business and results of
operations may be adversely affected if these third-party channels
breach their obligations to us, or if we fail to maintain relationships
with a sufficient number of channels, or if our commercial
arrangements with these third-party channels become less favorable
to us, or if these channels lose popularity among internet users.

During 2018, the Company encountered intensified competition and
challenges in its China domestic card and board games business,
both from intense competition from new apps that provide online
game room functions, as well as adverse payment policy changes in
the Company’'s main mobile carrier payment partners. The negative
impact on both PC and mobile China domestic card and board game
businesses of the Company, particularly in the beginning of 2018,
consequently caused a fairly substantial downturn on revenue and
profitability of the Company. During the year ended 31 December
2019, the Group's online card and board games business in China
continued to face the highly challenging conditions together with
unexpected and significant regulatory headwinds in the same
business.

On 15 August 2018, Beijing Lianzhong and Beijing Maipu Taigi
Technology Co., Ltd. ("Beijing MPTQ"), an independent third party,
entered into an exclusive operation agreement (the “Exclusive
Operation Agreement”), pursuant to which Beijing Lianzhong

entrusted, exclusively, Beijing MPTQ with all of Beijing Lianzhong's
rights relating to the operation of the Ourgame Hall (B2 ABE), Poker
World (52 ttt#) and relevant board and card game businesses [the
"Divested Businesses’). Since the Divested Businesses is operated
exclusively by Beijing MPTQ, we are unable to ensure the full
compliance of the Divested Businesses with applicable laws and
regulations, though Beijing MPTQ guarantees not to violate any
applicable laws in the operation of the Divested Business and
indemnifies the Company of any loss resulting from the Divested

Business.
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Risks and Uncertainties Related to Various PRC
Laws and Regulations

We face risks and uncertainties relating to the applicability of certain
PRC laws and regulations to our card and board games, and we
cannot assure that such laws and regulations will not be interrupted
in ways unfavorable to us. As electronic publications that provide
telecommunication services and Internet culture services, online
games are subject to various PRC laws and regulations of multiple
government authorities including the Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology of the PRC, the PRC State Administration of
Press, Publication, Radio, Film and Television, the National Copyright
Administration and the Ministry of Culture of the PRC. There is no
assurance that our online games will not further be deemed to violate
any applicable PRC laws in the future. Similarly, there is no assurance
that our game business will not be challenged or subject to any
regulatory actions in the PRC. If we are forced to discontinue any of
our existing games or if we are unable to offer any new games in the
PRC due to regulatory restrictions, our business and growth

prospects may be materially and adversely affected.

In addition, our operation may be affected due to inappropriate
personal behavior by our players and employees. We have adopted
policies and implemented measures to comply with applicable laws
and regulate players’ and employees’ behaviors. Our virtual game
points and virtual goods can only be used in our games and have no
monetary value outside our games. We prohibit players or employees
from engaging in transfers of virtual currency between themselves.
We actively monitor such transfers and other offensive player
behavior on our online game platform. However, we cannot assure
you that all our players or employees will comply with applicable laws

and our policies or that we will not be held liable for their violations.
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Risks Relating to Preferential Tax Treatment

Under the Enterprise Income Tax Law, the current statutory
enterprise income tax rate is 25%. Our PRC operating entity, Beijing
Lianzhong, has been qualified as a High and New Technology
Enterprise since 2008. Under the relevant PRC tax regulations, as a
High and New Technology Enterprise, Beijing Lianzhong is entitled to
a preferential tax rate of 15%. Beijing Lianzhong renewed this
qualification in September 2014 for a three-year period commencing
from October 2014 and then in September 2017 for a three-year
period commencing from October 2017. In addition, Beijing Lianzhong
was respectively accredited by the National Development and Reform
Commission, the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of
the PRC, the Ministry of Finance, the Ministry of Commerce of the
PRC and the State of Taxation as a Key Software Enterprise within
National Planning Layout for the Years 2013-2014 and the Years 2015,
2016 and 2017. As a result, Beijing Lianzhong is entitled to a
preferential income tax rate of 10% for the year ended 31 December
2017. As Beijing Lianzhong recorded a loss for the years ended 31
December 2018 and 31 December 2019, we were unable to apply for
the renewal the recognition for the Key Software Enterprise within
National Planning Layout for the Years 2018 and 2019. If Beijing
Lianzhong continues to record loss in future, it will still fail to renew
the qualification as a Key Software Enterprise within National
Planning Layout, its applicable enterprise income tax rate will be 15%
when its qualification as a High and New Technology Enterprise

remains valid.

Risks Relating to our Corporate Structure

We rely on our contractual arrangements to control and obtain
economic benefits from the PRC operating entities, Beijing Lianzhong
and Beijing Guangyao, which may not be as effective in providing
operational control as equity ownership. Meanwhile, the shareholders
of Beijing Lianzhong and Beijing Guangyao may have conflicts of
interest with us, which may materially and adversely affect our
business and financial condition. Furthermore, if the PRC government
finds that the contractual arrangements that established the
structure for operating our business in China do not comply with
applicable PRC laws and regulations, or if these laws and regulations
or their interpretations change in the future, we could be subject to
severe penalties and our business may be materially and adversely

affected.
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Exclusive Operation Agreement

On 15 August 2018, Beijing Lianzhong and Beijing MPTQ entered into
the Exclusive Operation Agreement, pursuant to which Beijing
Lianzhong entrusted, exclusively, Beijing MPTQ with all of Beijing
Lianzhong's rights relating to the Divested Businesses starting from
the date of the Exclusive Operation Agreement. During such period,
Beijing MPTQ assumed all costs of the operation of the Divested
Businesses and was entitled to half of the distributable income
generated by the Divested Businesses.

On 10 May 2019, Beijing Lianzhong and Beijing MPTQ entered into a
second supplemental agreement to the Exclusive Operation
Agreement (the “Second Supplemental Agreement”), pursuant to
which Beijing Lianzhong and Beijing MPTQ agreed to, among other
things, extend the term of the arrangement to 31 December 2023. As
consideration for the entrustment of operating rights of the Divested
Businesses, pursuant to the Second Supplement Agreement, Beijing
Lianzhong shall be entitled to 40% of annual distributable income
from the Divested Businesses in excess of RMB14.4 million and 60%
of annual distributable income from the Divested Businesses in
excess of RMB30 million. The distributable income shall be calculated
as users’ prepayments from the Divested Business less pre-share
costs less share of combined operation costs less tax paid. Save for
the aforesaid amendments and other minor consequential
amendments and supplements, all other terms of the Exclusive
Operation Agreement remain unchanged and continue in full force

and effect.
Further details of the Exclusive Operation Agreement and the Second

Supplement Agreement are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 15 August 2018, 31 October 2018 and 10 May 2019.
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For PRC, the ultimate customers are individual players paying
through payment channels. As such, our Directors consider that it is
not practicable to identify the five largest customers for the year
ended 31 December 2019 and we did not rely on any single customer
during the year. For instance, none of our customers accounted for 5%
or more of our revenue for the year ended 31 December 2019. For
AESE, the five largest customers accounted for approximately 32.78%
of the AESE’'s revenue and the largest customer accounted for
approximately 11.51% of the AESE’s revenues for the year ended 31
December 2019.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the purchases from the
Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for a total of approximately
28.46% of the Group’s total purchases from all of the suppliers. The
purchases from our top supplier in 2019 accounted for approximately
12.60% of the Group's total purchases.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s Shares) had an interest in any of the major customers or
suppliers noted above.

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) has
reviewed the accounting principles and policies adopted by the Group
and discussed the Group's internal controls and financial reporting
matters with the management. The Audit Committee has reviewed
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the

year ended 31 December 2019.

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association, although there are no restrictions against such rights
under the laws in the Cayman Islands.
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As at 31 December 2019, the Group had 171 employees, 25 of which
were responsible for games development and operation or general
administration in the People’s Republic of China (including Hong
Kong), 146 for AESE. The total remuneration expenses, excluding
share-based compensation expense, for the year ended 31 December
2019 were RMB79.3 million, representing a decrease of 46.6% as

compared to the previous year.

We provide various employee benefits and social insurance to our
employees. We also provide share options and Shares under the
Share Award Scheme to better motivate our employees.

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of its Directors, the Directors confirm that the
Company has maintained the amount of public float as required under

the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2019.

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Grant
Thornton Hong Kong Limited. A resolution for its re-appointment as
auditor of the Company for the coming year will be proposed at the
AGM.

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

On behalf of the Board
Yang Eric Qing

Chairman and Executive Director

31 March 2020
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EXEERS

The Board of Directors is hereby to present the corporate governance report
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2019.

The Company is committed to maintaining and promoting stringent
corporate governance policies. The principle of the Company’s corporate
governance is to promote effective internal control measures and to
enhance the transparency and accountability of the Board to all
Shareholders.

Compliance with the Corporate Governance Code

During the year ended 31 December 2019 and up to the date of this annual
report, the Company has complied with the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the
“Corporate Governance Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules, except for a deviation from code provision A.2.1T which requires that
the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual, and also a deviation from code
provision E.1.2 which requires that the chairmen of the audit, remuneration
and nomination committees (or another member of the committee in their

absence] should attend the annual general meeting.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of the Company
for the purpose of complying with the Corporate Governance Code and
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance practices of the
Company.

Model Code

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules to govern securities transactions by its Directors. Having
made specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors have confirmed that they
have strictly complied with the required standards as set out in the Model
Code during the year ended 31 December 2019 and up to the date of this

annual report.

The Board currently comprises one executive Director, four non-executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.
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The composition of the Board during the year ended 31 December 2019 and MREZ_FT—AF+ZA=+—HLEFE K

up to the date of this annual report is as follows: BEEARFRAMH EFEKNT

Executive Directors NITES

Mr. Yang Eric Qing (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer] BERE(EEFTHEHR)

Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank* {0 B RR 5 A

Non-executive Directors FERTES

Mr. Liu Jiang 2T k4

Ms. Fu Qiang 1858 2 +

Mr. Chen Xian WR 9% 5t

Mr. Hu Wen** HASC 5 A

Mr. Fan Tai** BA IR o A xx

Independent Non-executive Directors BIUENTES

Mr. Lu Zhong BREE

Dr. Tyen Kan Hee Anthony AE#tEEL

Professor Huang Yong*** |EHE

Mr. Ge Xuan*** B JiE S HE

* Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank resigned as an executive Director with effect from  * HEREEEBHAERTES BT —NF
29 June 2019 and a Co-Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect from NAZTNBRER HINE BT AR B
30 August 2019. BITBREH B-_T-AFNA=Z+HELE

B o

** Mr. Hu Wen was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 29~ ** X EEEEZARARIDTEST B —
June 2019. Mr. Fan Tai resigned as a non-executive Director with effect from 26 NERNAZTNMBRER - BEEEBEFHT
June 2019. FRTEF BT - AFARAZTRHER

AR e

***  Mr. Ge Xuan was not re-elected at the annual general meeting of the Company  *** Bl A4ER T — A FNAZ+ LB 81T
held on 29 June 2019. Accordingly, Mr. Ge Xuan ceased to be an independent MARBIRRBFRG FRESEEE-
non-executive Director on the same day. Professor Huang Yong was appointed I BEEERBABIBEEEE CIERNTE
as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 17 December 2019. F-HEHBECEZTRABIIERNTES 7

—E-NAFTZATEHEREER-

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed B EBFFIEH IR ARFREIE £38H &Y
“Directors” on pages 35 to 38 of this annual report. During the year ended [EF|—fi -REBZ_ZT—NF+_A=+—
31 December 2019, there was no relationship (including financial, business, HIFFE & BRIBECEE AT AKX HI(h I
family or other material/relevant relationship(s]) between the Board ZFE@WMEZHWEBER(REHE - ¥75 -

members per code provision I(h) of the Corporate Governance Code. RESHEMEKX HHBEBR) -
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”) FTRRITEBRE ([TBHRE)

Code provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code stipulates that the ¥ E AT BIA ST BHE X EA2. EFT A £ JE
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and should notbhe RiITHAEH MW ACEESR Y ETEHE —
performed by the same individual. ALFRE-
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Mr. Yang Eric Qing is the Chairman and CEO of the Company. Mr. Yang BB LA AR R A EEFRITIH "i’ﬁ o B A&
joined the Group in December 2010 and is responsible for general operation, R -ZET—ZFF+ _AMALXREE 8FEAR
strategy information technology of the Company and is instrumental to the — & E) B2 &8 - H B R 12 BT AR A A&
Company’'s growth and business expansion. The Board considers that ¥ ENMEBBERIFELEZEEH -EF2RAE
vesting the roles of chairman and chief executive officer in Mr. Yang is EFBRITHRAEZNBEABEEETENR
beneficial to the management of the Group. The balance of power and AEEWEE BEBLENSEZEASH
authority is ensured by the operation of the senior management and the FKHEAERE LEF @ 0] ERE H B E
Board, which comprises experienced and high-calibre individuals. The M F¥# - EEZESHAIE—R/NTESE  WRBIE
Board currently comprises one executive Director, four non-executive I {TEERER=ZBVIERNITESAR > Bk
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors and therefore has #F#A& FEBEABINITE -

a fairly strong independence element in its composition.

Board Meetings and General Meetings Held in 2019 RIE-NFEITHNESEER
RIERKRE

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Board convened eleven REZ-_ZT— N F+_A=+—HILFE
meetings. A summary of the attendance record of the Directorsis setoutin = W - BZEZAM 7 +— X @FZ - EEHFEk
the table below: MEHEINR T &

Number of meetings
attended/eligible to attend
during the year ended

Name of Directors 31 December 2019 Attendance rate
RBE=-Z=-IF
t-ZRA=t—-RLHEE
= HE ATHEGEBERK o FE &
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Yang Eric Qing HE KA /11 100%
Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank'” BB EE" 4/5 80%
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Liu Jiang 2T k£ 10/11 91%
Ms. Fu Qiang Hmog 2+ 10/11 91%
Mr. Chen Xian PR 3% % 4 10/11 91%
Mr. Hu Wen? A3 S A 6/6 100%
Mr. Fan Tai” BREED 5/5 100%
Independent Non-executive Directors BUYFHTES
Mr. Lu Zhong BREE 10/11 91%
Dr. Tyen Kan Hee Anthony A#EELT 8/11 73%
Professor Huang Yong"” EEHEY 0/1 0%
Mr. Ge Xuan" BhEke Ll 4/5 80%
. Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank resigned as an executive Director with effect from ! TEREEEBRENTES B —NF
29 June 2019 and a Co-Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect from NAZ B R AR e IR EE AR R BB
30 August 2019. THEH BT NAFNANA=ZTHREER-
@ Mr. Fan Tai resigned as a non-executive Director with effect from 26 June 2019. ¥ BREEOBHEIIBTEST BT —NF
Mr. Hu Wen was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 29 ANAZT A BRAER - BXEECEEZRER
June 2019. FRTEE B_FT-NAFRA-_THhAR
AR e
@ Mr. Ge Xuan ceased to be an independent non-executive Director on 29 June Y BEREER-_ZE—NALFNA-tILBETH
2019. EEBEMFRTES -
“ Professor Huang Yong was appointed as an independent non-executive EEHRCEZEIRBUINTEST B =
Director with effect from 17 December 2019. T-NF+A+tHBEKR-

CE-NEER
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During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company convened one
annual general meeting on 29 June 2019 (the "2019 AGM") and one
extraordinary general meeting on 5 July 2019 (the "2019 EGM").

Code provision E.1.2 of the Corporate Governance Code requires that the
chairmen of the audit, remuneration and nomination committees (or
another member of the committee in their absence) should attend the
annual general meeting.

Mr. Yang Eric Qing, the chairman of the Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee, attended the 2019 AGM and the 2019 EGM and Ms.
Fu Qiang attended the 2019 EGM. Apart from them, all other Directors did
not attend the 2019 AGM and 2019 EGM due to pre-arranged business
commitments. The Company will strive to optimize the planning and
procedures of annual general meetings, give adequate time to all Directors
to accommodate their work arrangement and provide all necessary support
for their presence at and participation in the general meetings so that all
Directors will be able to attend future annual general meetings of the
Company. The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of
the Company for the purpose of complying with the Corporate Governance
Code and maintaining a high standard of corporate governance practices of
the Company.

The Board has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors a written annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and considers each of them to be independent.

The term of office of our independent non-executive Directors is three years
with effect from the date of their letters of appointment or until the third
annual general meeting of the Company since the date of their letters of
appointment (whichever is sooner] and subject to the terms and conditions
specified therein. Mr. Lu Zhong has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director commencing from 30 June 2017. Dr. Tyen Kan Hee
Anthony has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director
commencing from 27 March 2018. Professor Huang Yong has been
appointed as an independent non-executive Director commencing from 17
December 2019. Each of them is subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the annual general meeting of the Company at least once every
three years in accordance with the Articles of Association.

Each of the non-executive Directors has separately been appointed for a
term of three years with effect from the date of their letters of appointment
or until the third annual general meeting of the Company since the date of
their letters of appointment (whichever is sooner] and subject to the terms
and conditions specified therein. Ms. Fu Qiang has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company commencing from 23 June 2017. Mr. Hu
Wen has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company
commencing from 29 June 2019. Each of them is subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company at
least once every three years in accordance with the Articles of Association.

Annual Report 2019
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The Board is the primary decision making body of the Company and is
responsible for overseeing the Group's businesses, strategic decisions and
performance and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. The Board makes

decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

All Directors,
executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business

including non-executive Directors and independent non-

experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Board has developed
measures for implementing good corporate governance policies and
practices and has delegated to the Board committees various
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of references.

Our senior management is responsible for the day-to-day management of
our business and is responsible for overseeing the general operation,

business development, finance, marketing.

Each newly appointed Director shall receive formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Company
and full awareness of director’s responsibilities and obligations under the
Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors will be continuously updated on the statutory and regulatory
regime and the business environment to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities. Directors are also encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Company secretary of the Company updates the Directors on the latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements from time to time, to ensure compliance and enhance their

awareness of good corporate governance practices.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, all Directors, namely Mr. Yang
Eric Qing, Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank'”, Mr. Liu Jiang, Ms. Fu Qiang, Mr. Fan
Tai”, Mr. Chen Xian, Mr. Ge Xuan” Mr. Lu Zhong, Dr. Tyen Kan Hee
Anthony, Mr. Hu Wen'"? “
continuous professional training to develop and refresh their knowledge

and Professor Huang Yong"” have participated in

and skills in relation to their contribution to the Board.
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Directors’ knowledge and skills are continuously developed and refreshed

EEFEREFBFEINTHIAKEZTRRE

by, inter alia, the following means: A E K B ee

(1) participation in continuous professional training seminars and/or (1) Z2EAQXE N FE#E KL SEZAD
conferences and/or courses and/or workshops on subjects relating BWLRTHEBA(HEPBE)CES
to, inter alia, corporate governance, directors’ duties and legal and BCEEREREZEARAELHOFE

regulatory changes organised and/or arranged by the Company and/
or professional bodies and/or lawyers;

(2] reading materials provided from time to time by the Company to (2]
Directors regarding legal and regulatory changes and matters of
relevance to the Directors in the discharge of their duties; and

(3] reading news, journals, magazines and/or other reading materials (3
regarding legal and regulatory changes and matters of relevance to

the Directors in the discharge of their duties.

Name of Directors

EEBIBERAHITERHRE
R/ RTAEY

ARBATHREERHREBEIERRE
2y ULEBEERTHEHBENHEBEE
MBIEER &
MEEMEARRMERZY UREFERE
THEREMABEENNE BT E®
R/ S E A B EM K o

Training received

EEng FriE sz A
Executive Directors BITES

Mr. Yang Eric Qing BEEE (1], 2], (3)
Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank'” hEREE" (1), (2), (3)
Non-executive Directors FHITES

Mr. Liu Jiang 2Tkt (1), (2), (3)
Ms. Fu Qiang Hmog 2+ (1], (2], (3)
Mr. Fan Tai” B Y (1), (2], (3)
Mr. Chen Xian PR 5% % A& (2], (3)
Mr. HU Wen'? BA S S A (2], (3]
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFBITES

Mr. Ge Xuan” Ehexag” (1), (2), (3)
Mr. Lu Zhong BREE (2), (3)
Dr. Tyen Kan Hee Anthony Hit=E L+ (1), (2), (3)
Professor Huang Yong" BEHEY (2, (3)

o Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank resigned as an executive Director with effect from

29 June 2019 and a Co-Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect from
30 August 2019.

(2) (2)

Mr. Fan Tai resigned as a non-executive Director with effect from 26 June 2019.
Mr. Hu Wen was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 29
June 2019.

(3) (3)

Mr. Ge Xuan ceased to be an independent non-executive Director on 29 June
2019.

(4) (4)

Professor Huang Yong was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 17 December 2019.
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The Board has established four committees, namely, the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination and Corporate Governance
Committee, and the Risk Management Committee, for overseeing particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs. Each of these committees is established
with defined written terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Board
committees are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock

Exchange.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee in compliance with Rule
3.21 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance Code. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial
reporting process and internal control system of the Group, review and
approve connected transactions and provide advice and comments to the
Board.

As at 31 December 2019, the Audit Committee consisted of three members:
Dr. Tyen Kan Hee Anthony, Mr. Lu Zhong and Mr. Hu Wen. Dr. Tyen Kan Hee
Anthony and Mr. Lu Zhong are independent non-executive Directors, and
Mr. Hu Wen is a non-executive Director. Dr. Tyen Kan Hee Anthony is the

chairman of the Audit Committee.

Mr. Fan Tai resigned as a non-executive Director and a member of the Audit
Committee with effect from 26 June 2019, and Mr. Ge Xuan was not re-
elected as an independent non-executive Director at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 29 June 2019 and ceased to be a member
of the Audit Committee with effect from the same day. Mr. Hu Wen, a non-
executive Director, and Mr. Lu Zhong, an independent non-executive
Director, were appointed as members of the Audit Committee with effect
from 19 August 2019.
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During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Audit Committee held two
meetings. The attendance record of the Audit Committee members is set
out in the table below:

Name of Committee Member

REBEEZZ—NF+ZA=1+T—BLEFE"
ERLZESERITMNATR BERLZE K
BEMEeaL BN TE:

Number of meetings

attended/eligible to attend

during the year ended

31 December 2019 Attendance rate

RBE-E-hL#F

+TZRA=+—-HBLEE
ZEEREH®SE HE AHEEBERK i B &
Dr. Tyen Kan Hee Anthony B =E+ 2/2 100%
Mr. Lu Zhong'" BReal 11 100%
Mr. Hu Wen'" BT 1/1 100%
Mr. Ge Xuan" ek 1/1 100%
Mr. Fan Tai?” B 1/1 100%
g Mr. Lu Zhong and Mr. Hu Wen were appointed as members of the Audit BRAERMBXEEBEZAEREZEZEES

Committee with effect from 19 August 2019. Mr. Ge Xuan was not re-elected at
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 29 June 2019. Accordingly,
Mr. Ge Xuan ceased to be a member of the Audit Committee with effect from 29
June 2019.

2 Mr. Fan Tai resigned as a member of the Audit Committee with effect from 26

June 2019.

During the meetings, the Audit Committee met with the external auditor and
reviewed the financial results and reports of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2018 and the six months ended 30 June 2019.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee in compliance
with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance Code. The
primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to review and make
recommendations to the Board on the terms of remuneration packages,
bonuses and other compensation payable to our Directors and other senior
management.

As at 31 December 2019, the Remuneration Committee consisted of three
members: Mr. Lu Zhong, Dr. Tyen Kan Hee Anthony and Professor Huang
Yong (appointed as a member of the Remuneration Committee with effect
from 17 December 2019), all
Mr. Lu Zhong is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

being independent non-executive Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, as there was no change to the
remuneration policy and structure of the Directors and senior management,
the Remuneration Committee did not convene any meeting.
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The Company has established a Nomination and Corporate Governance
Committee in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code. The primary
duties of the Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of Directors and

management of Board succession.

As at 31 December 2019,
Committee consisted of 5 members: Mr. Yang Eric Qing, Dr. Tyen Kan Hee

the Nomination and Corporate Governance

Anthony, Mr. Chen Xian, Mr. Lu Zhong and Professor Huang Yong (appointed
as a member of the Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee with
effect from 17 December 2019). Mr. Yang is an executive Director, Mr. Chen
is a non-executive Director, Dr. Tyen, Mr. Lu and Professor Huang are
independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Yang is the chairman of the

Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee held two meetings. The attendance record of the
Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee members is set out in
the table below

Name of Committee Member

ARBCRBERERTURIERA DR
EREE®- k%&m%%i‘ﬁé%aﬁﬁ?ﬁx
BERVNEZZAENESTSHIERERNES

@T»Iu”ji_aﬁ °

R-ZF-NF+_A=+—H RBREXE
EARZEBEemDEREEK BELE A
MEBL RZELE BRELREBHE
(WEZFT-NFt-_AT+LRBEZEIRR
AREEERZEENE) HEERRITE
= RELARFVTEE MHBL BEE
RERERBILIRTEF HEERRA
RERERZEE®ER -

REBEEZZ—-—NWF+ZA=+—HLFE"
}E%&JL%/( AEEBEERITMAEH IR
HREEERZEENENTHLFELHE
R

Number of meetings

attended/eligible to attend

during the year ended
31 December 2019

BE —hEF
+t=RA= -I- - EI LFE

Attendance rate

ZEEREN®E HE AHEEBERE HE =
Mr. Yang Eric Qing HE A 2/2 100%
Mr. Chen Xian Rz EAE 2/2 100%
Mr. Lu Zhong BREE 2/2 100%
Dr. Tyen Kan Hee Anthony A#EELT 2/2 100%
Professor Huang Yong'” =EHE N/A  ER N/A i@
Mr. Ge Xuan” BhekE"? Al 100%

o Professor Huang Yong was appointed as a member of the Nomination and

Corporate Governance Committee with effect from 17 December 2019.
g Mr. Ge Xuan was not re-elected at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 29 June 2019. Accordingly, Mr. Ge Xuan ceased to be a member of
Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee with effect from 29 June
2019.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

Code provision A.5.6 of Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules stipulates that a
policy concerning diversity of board members should be adopted. The
Company adopted the Board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”]
on 27 March 2015. The Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee
also reviewed and agreed on measurable objectives for implementing
diversity on the Board. The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity
through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills and knowledge. The measurable objectives identified by
the Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee include: a material
number of Board members should have served as senior management with
companies; certain Board members should have experience with listed
companies; and certain Board members should have experience with
conducting businesses in the telecommunications industry. The Nomination
and Corporate Governance Committee is satisfied that the composition of
the Board is sufficiently diverse.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board's composition under
diversified perspectives was summarized as follows:

Educational background
HEBR

Bachelor 2+

Gender

151

Age Group

FheAaR|

Industry background

TEES

Position background

BT R

Experience with listed company

ERREKER

VEICE]
31-40 41-50

Telecom Industry T3

Yes &

Senior Executive ®ARITHA B

ESETMEITILHR

TR BB R 14 B AL.6ME ST BME IR E B K
MEMESTERESZLIENEE - AAAE
RZE—RAFZA-_t+LtHEMRESSKE
ZtBR(EEERESZTLEEK] - 24
Mt EERZESNCEHNRRAEETES
CHRESZTLIENAHEEZ - ARAFKE
BEERLZEREZRERESTERE St
ZERZREETRAER - i - b R#H
ERE B HELH HERANHE RS
FGrEERZECIHNAT2EEZRE:
EEQABOHAERRZEARELIRRE

BE - ATEFEXERABRNLTAAT
EMESH: RETEESHERABHEREMN

XHAREBNRR -RAREXERZES®
EMEFTENMEARBRED Z T -

RAFHREAH EFeaEntbtAE TMHA
A a0 T

Master i8 14 PhD f& £
Female 2
61-70

Others E At

Professor 2%

Notes:
PhD : Doctor of Philosophy

Master : Master Degree
Bachelor : Bachelor Degree

The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate governance
duties as required under the Corporate Governance Code:

o to develop and review the Company’s policies and practice on

corporate governance;
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to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual applicable to employees and Directors; and

to review the Company’'s compliance with the Corporate Governance

Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year, the Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee

reviewed and discussed the following nomination and corporate governance

matters:

the re-appointment of Directors;

the appointment of a new independent non-executive Director;

the assessment of the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and

the draft reports of the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
and the Corporate Governance Report of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2018.

Amended code provision L.(d)(ii] of the Corporate Governance Code

stipulates that a nomination policy should be formulated and adopted, and

the Company adopted a nomination policy accordingly on 29 March 2019.

The main contents of the nomination policy are set out below:

Selection Criteria

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the following

criteria (among other things) should be considered:

(a)

(b)

(c]

Character and integrity.

Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and experience and diversity aspects under the Board Diversity Policy
that are relevant to the Company’s business and corporate strategy.

Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the
Board.
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Requirement for the Board to have independent Directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules, and whether the candidate would
be considered independent with reference to the independence

guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in
terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and gender
diversity.

Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties as

a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s]) of the Company.

Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company's
business and succession plan and where applicable, may be adopted
and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee from time to time for nomination of Directors

and succession planning.

Nomination Procedures

(a)

Appointment of New Director

(i) The Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee and/or
the Board should, upon receipt of the proposal on appointment
of new Director and the biographical information (or relevant
details] of the candidate, evaluate such candidate with reference
to the criteria as set out above to determine whether such
candidate is qualified for directorship;

(i) If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee and/or the
Board should rank them by order of preference based on the
needs of the Company and reference check of each candidate
(where applicablel;

(i) The Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee should
then recommend to the Board to appoint the appropriate
candidate for directorship, as applicable;

(iv]  For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder for election
as a Director at the general meeting of the Company, the
Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee and/or the
Board should evaluate such candidate with reference to the
criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate
is qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination and Corporate Governance
Committee and/or the Board should make recommendation to
Shareholders in respect of the proposed election of Director at the

general meeting.
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(b) Re-election of Director at General Meeting
(] The Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee and/or
the Board should review the overall contribution and service to
the Company of the retiring Director and the level of
participation and performance on the Board;

(il The Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee and/or
the Board should also review and determine whether the

retiring Director continues to meet the criteria as set out above;

(i) The Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee and/or
the Board should then make recommendation to Shareholders
in respect of the proposed re-election of Director at the general

meeting.

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect a candidate as
Director at the general meeting, the relevant information of the candidate
will be disclosed in the circular to Shareholders and/or explanatory
statement accompanying the notice of the relevant general meeting in

accordance with the Listing Rules and/or applicable laws and regulations.

The Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee will conduct regular
review on the structure, size and composition of the Board and this policy
and where appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy and business needs.

Risk Management Committee

The Company has established a Risk Management Committee. The primary
duties of the Risk Management Committee are to formulate policies on risk
management matters and to advise on matters raised by the Directors and
the management that may have an impact on the stability and integrity of

the securities and derivatives markets of Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Risk Management Committee
consisted of 3 members: Mr. Lu Zhong, Ms. Fu Qiang and Dr. Tyen Kan Hee
Anthony. Ms. Fu is a non-executive Director, Mr. Lu and Dr. Tyen are
independent non-executive Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Risk Management Committee

did not convene any meeting.
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The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2019.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to

continue as a going concern.

The Company appointed Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited ("Grant
Thornton”] as the external auditor for the year ended 31 December 2019. A
statement by Grant Thornton about their reporting responsibilities for the
financial statements is included in the Independent Auditor's Report on
pages 105to 111 of this annual report.

The remuneration paid/payable to Grant Thornton in respect of audit
services and non-audit services for the year ended 31 December 2019
amounted to RMB1.5 million and RMBO0.5 million, respectively. The non-
audit services mainly include the review of the interim financial statements
of the Company, reporting accountant’s work on the Group’s acquisitions
and tax compliance services.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, RSM Consulting (Hong Kong)
Limited, an independent consultancy firm, has conducted a review of the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system which covers the
aspects of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control system and
procedures, makes recommendations to the Board to address and rectifies
the weaknesses identified. Such review is conducted on a continual basis.
The review of the Group’s risk management is carried out regularly. The
Board considered the risk management and internal control systems of the
Company to be effective and the resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programs and budget of the Company’s accounting,

internal audit and financial reporting functions are adequate.
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The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute

assurance against material misstatement or loss.

We have established internal control policies and risk management systems
covering our internal control environment, risk assessment, information
and communication, monitoring, anti-cheating programs, revenue and
receivables, purchase and payables, information security and intellectual
property rights, financial management, financial reports, fixed and
intangible assets, human resources, taxation, investment, legal
management and research and development. We have also established the
Risk Management Committee on the Board to oversee the Group’s risk
management, risk tolerance and governance.

To manage the risks regarding inside information, we have adopted the
Model Code as the Company’'s own code of conduct for dealing in securities
of the Company by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, the Company confirmed that all members of the Board complied
with the Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2019. Senior
management, executives and staff who, because of their offices in the
Company are likely to possess inside information, have also been requested
to comply with the Model Code for securities transactions. No incident of
non-compliance with the Model Code by such employees was noted by the

Company during the year ended 31 December 2019.

During the year, the IA Department has performed internal audit and
reviewed the internal control system of the Group to ensure the
effectiveness of internal control procedures and strict compliance with
different standards and policies across different businesses and operations
of the Group.

The Directors are of the view that we have established procedures, systems
and controls that provide a reasonable basis to make a proper assessment

of the financial conditions and prospects of the Group on an ongoing basis.

Ms. Ng Sau Mei, an associate director of TMF Hong Kong Limited (a
company secretarial services provider), serves as the company secretary of
the Company. Her primary contact person at the Company is Ms. Xiao
Yundan, head of the legal department of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, Ms. Ng Sau Mei has undertaken
not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance with
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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Convening of Extraordinary General Meetings by
Shareholders

Pursuant to article 12.3 of the Articles of Association, the Board may,
whenever it thinks fit, convene extraordinary general meetings. General
meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition of any two or
more Shareholders deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong
Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal office,
the registered office specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists held as at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company.

General meetings may also be convened on the written requisition of a
Shareholder which is a recognised clearing house (or its nominee(s))
deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the
event the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered
office specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist,
provided that such requisitionist held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company

which carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within a further
21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them representing more
than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene the
general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
meetings may be convened by the Board provided that any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the
date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be

reimbursed to them by the Company.
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Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board and Contact
Details

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send
written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal with

verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to
the following:

Address: 10/F, Tower B Fairmont, No. 1 Building, 33# Community,
Guangshun North Street, Chaoyang District, Beijing
For the attention of the Board of Directors

Fax: +86 10 8472 5350

Email: ir@ourgame.com

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders is
essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding of the
Group's business performance and strategies. The Company endeavours to
maintain an ongoing dialogue with Shareholders and in particular, through
annual general meetings and other general meetings. At the AGM, Directors
(or their delegates as appropriate) will be available to meet Shareholders

and answer their enquiries.

Amended code provision E.1.5 of the Corporate Governance Code stipulates
that a dividend policy should be formulated and adopted, and the Company
adopted a dividend policy accordingly on 29 March 2019. The main principles
and guidelines of the dividend policy are set out below:

(a)  The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend payout

ratio.

(b)  The Board has the discretion to declare and distribute dividends to
the shareholders of the Company subject to the requirements of the
Articles of the Association, Cayman Islands law and other applicable

laws and regulations and the dividend policy.
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(c)]  The Board shall have regard to the factors of the Group, including
past financial results, past and forecasted cash flows, business
conditions and strategies, future operations and earnings, capital
requirements and expenditure plans, interests of shareholders, any
restrictions on payment of dividends (including contractual
restrictions, i.e. from financing-related agreements] and any other
factors that the Board may consider relevant, when considering the
declaration and payment of dividends.

(d)  Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the Group
and the principles and factors set out herein, dividends may be
proposed and/or declared by the Board for a financial year or period
in the form of an interim dividend, a final dividend, a special dividend
and/or any distribution of net profits that the Board may deem
appropriate. Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to
shareholders” approval. The Company may declare and pay dividends
by way of cash or scrip or by other means that the Board considers
appropriate.

(e)  Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert to the

Company in accordance with the Articles of Association.

(f) Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to shareholders’

approval.

(g} The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of cash or scrip
or by other means that the Board considers appropriate.

For the avoidance of doubt, there is no assurance that dividends will be paid
in any particular amount for any given period notwithstanding the adoption
of this policy. If the Board decides to recommend, declare or pay dividends,
the form, frequency and amount will depend upon the situation and
applicable factors at the relevant time. The Board will review this policy as

appropriate from time to time.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company did not make any
significant changes to its constitutional documents. The latest version of the
Company’'s Memorandum and Articles of Association is available on the

websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BIREEIRS

Grant Thornton
2 [=]

To the members of Ourgame International Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability]

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Ourgame
International Holdings Limited [the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together,
the “Group”] set out on pages 112 to 284, which comprise the consolidated
December 2019, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,

statement of financial position as at 31

the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing ("ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants” Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants ("IESBA Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BUKBERS (8)

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows: HMEAPEROBRESSSESADT :
Impairment assessment of goodwill and intangible SERHEMBEREENRKENED
assets

Refer to notes 2.7, 2.8, 11, 21, and 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

RARA UM EIRRME27 281121 %22
Key Audit Matter
BMEESEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BEMEAPONEEEREE

As at 31 December 2019, the Group has goodwill of RMB101,249,000 and
intangible assets of RMB281,455,000.

The Group's assessment of impairment of goodwill and intangible assets
based on value-in-use model which requires significant judgements and
estimations in the cash flow forecasts associated with the cash generating
units ("CGUs").

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill and intangible assets
as key audit matter because of their significance to the consolidated
financial statements and the level of subjectivity associated with the
assumptions used in estimating the recoverable amount of the CGUs,
including cash flows forecast, growth rate used to extrapolate the cash
flows and the rate at which they are discounted.
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Our procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of goodwill and intangible assets
included:

—  assessing the integrity of the valuation
model;

— reviewing the cash flow forecast of the
CGUs prepared by the management;

—  assessing the reasonableness of key
assumptions (including operating
margins, terminal growth rates and
discount rates) based on our knowledge
of the business and industry and taking
into account of the accuracy of previous
forecasts and historical information;
and

— testing the management’s sensitivity
calculations by applying our own
sensitivity analysis to the cash flows
forecast, long-term growth rates and
discount rates to ascertain the extent
to which reasonable adverse changes
would, either individually or in
aggregate require an impairment of
either the goodwill or intangible assets.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BUZHENRS (&)

Provision for expected credit lossses (“ECL") of

financial assets

Refer to notes 2.1 1(b) and 1
i*AHﬂ%#&%W?mo 4.1(b) %211 »

Key Audit Matter

ERETBE

THMEENRBPEEER([FAY
BEEIR]) &iE

1 to the consolidated financial statements.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EMEAPOAEEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the
Group recognised expected credit losses
("ECL")_on financial assets (including trade
and other receivables, loans to associates
and third parties] amounting to
RMB165,920,000.

ECL are based on management’s estimates
of the ECL to be incurred, which is estimated
by taking into account the credit loss
experience, ageing of overdue receivables,
debtors’ repayment history and debtors’
financial position and an assessment of both
the current and forecast general economic
conditions, all of which involve a significant
degree of management judgments.

We identified the ECL assessment of
financial assets as a key audit matter
because the assessing ECL of financial
assets is a subjective area as it requires the
management’'s judgement and uses of
estimates.
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Our procedures in relation to the ECL on financial assets included:

— reviewing and assessing the application of the Group's policy for
calculating the ECL;

— evaluating techniques and methodology in the ECL model against the
requirements of IFRS 9;

—  assessing the reasonableness of management’s loss allowance
estimates by examining the information used by management to form
such judgements, including testing the accuracy of the historical
default data, evaluating whether the historical loss rates are
appropriately adjusted based on current economic conditions and
forward-looking information and examining the actual losses
recorded during the current financial year and assessing whether
there was an indication of management bias when recognising loss
allowances;

—  evaluating the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of
key internal controls which govern credit control, debt collection and
estimation of ECL; and

- discussing with the management the estimates of the recoverable
including debtors’
payment history and current ability to pay, and taking into account
information specific to the debtors as well as pertaining to the
economic environment in which the debtor operates.

amounts for those significant financial assets,
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BUKBERS (8)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the 2019 annual report of the
Company, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report
in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs
issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The directors assisted by the audit committee are responsible for

overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

@;4 Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BUKBERS (8)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or

accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users

taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures

made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BUKBERS (8)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors” use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’'s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable
related safeguards.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BUKBERS (8)

From the matters communicated the audit committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Level 12

28 Hennessy Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

31 March 2020

Lin Ching Yee Daniel
Practising Certificate No.: P02771
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
moBmREMEZE NG R

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 HE=ZZT—hF+ A=+ —HILFE

2019 2018
ZE-hEF —E-)N\F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt 5 ARBT T ARBTT
(Restated)
(Z51)
Revenue A b 272,607 389,166
Cost of revenue NN (144,987) (234,239
Gross profit EA 127,620 154,927
Other income H U 7 3,712 20,467
Selling and marketing expenses HERTSHEREER (44,923) (87,816)
Administrative expenses TR S (249,575) (402,847)
Share-based compensation expense AR AEROH SR 37 (3,195) (29,037)
Research and development expenses e & H (393) (10,948)
Finance costs B 75 B AR 8 (14,873) (2,271)
Share of losses of associates DR E AR EE 20 (2,273) (16,662)
Fair value changes of financial assets at ~ Z AR BT AEZE 2
fair value through profit or loss CREEZARBEE (28,668) 8,151
Fair value changes of contingent ERNKAREBZ AAEED
consideration payable 32 - 45,332
Fair value changes of convertible notes AMRERZ AR EZS 33 - (1,691)
Loss on disposal/rescission of subsidiaries, & “#4WB Q7 2 &8
net HEE 45 (56,025) (28,695)
Loss on disposal of associates HEBEATZER (12,213) (3,300
Loss on disposal of financial assets at fair HEZR A A EFFAETZ
value through profit or loss TREEZERE (672) -
Impairment of assets EERE 11 (175,474) (358,579)
Loss before income tax RRPT S BLAT B B (456,952) (712,969)
Income tax credit FRiGHE % 9 687 15,456
Loss for the year FEFR 10 (456,265) (697,513)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for FEHMW2HE (FE) WH
the year
Item that may be subsequently reclassified HE A EF DB EEH
to profit or loss: BIAA -
Currency translation differences EBREEE (8,938) 11,359
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEXHEBAR (465,203) (686,154)
Loss for the year attributable to: DTEENFEERE:
Equity holders of the Company AKAAERFRA (419,213) (622,970)
Non-controlling interests R = (37,052) (74,543)
(456,265) (697,513)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income (Continued)

REBDRAMEENSR (&)

Fortheyear ended 31 December2019 HE T —NhE+-_A=+—BIFE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
F 5 AR®T T ARET T
(Restated)
(Z3)
Total comprehensive loss for the year DTECFEXEEEEHE:
attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company ARAAERFEEA (428,654) (612,887)
Non-controlling interests JEI R A = (36,549) (73,267)
(465,203) (686,154)
Loss per share attributable to equity KATRRERFEA
holders of the Company EHERER
(expressed in RMB cents per share) (LAEBBRARESF|R) 13
Basic HAR (38.72) (57.46)
Diluted #a (38.72) (57.46)

Note: The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019. Under the transitions

method chosen, comparative information is not restated. See note 3.

The notes on pages 120 to 284 form part of these consolidated financial

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e BRREK

Asat31December2019 R=—ZE—hE+=-_A=1+—H

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B E ARET T ARBT T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEHEEM
Non-current assets kERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M BEREHE 17 145,260 160,888
Right-of-use assets EREEE 18 89,732 -
Interests in associates REEE QA 2w 20 437 20,586
Goodwill [EES 21 101,249 180,441
Intangible assets mEEE 22 281,455 333,556
Loans to third parties BTE=ZRZEXR 23 6,443 15,110
Financial assets at fair value through ERARBEFAEBRZZ
profit or loss EREE 24 63,414 109,068
Deferred tax assets RIEFTEE E 25 — 1,726
Non-current prepayments SER B TAN IR 26 24,617 —
712,407 821,375
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 504 733
Trade and other receivables B 5 K H b & Wk IE 27 50,512 174,275
Loans to associates BTBERNRZER 23 — 1,756
Loans to third parties BTE=ZRAZER 23 4,068 56,974
Tax recoverable a] Y& [B] F¢ 18 — 3,348
Restricted bank balances SR HIIRITE 8 28 25,463 —
Bank balances and cash RITHEHB LIRS 29 185,848 162,674
266,395 399,760
Assets included in disposal group AN EARELECLE
classified as held for sale Bz EE 46 — 45,295
266,395 445,055
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables 5 R EAMENRIE 30 87,453 95,547
Deferred revenue i UGN 31 40,741 26,419
Contingent consideration payables JET SRR AB 32 - 40,948
Convertible notes Al R = A 33 96,506 70,323
Lease liabilities HEAE 34 7,674 -
Income tax liabilities iEHas 1,264 3,242
233,638 236,479
Liabilities included in disposal group AASBERFELE 2 HE
classified as held for sale Ml aE 46 = 16,558
233,638 253,037
Net current assets RBEEFE 32,757 192,018
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBEE 745,164 1,013,393
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)
e BERRE (E)

Asat 31 December2019 R—ZE—hE+_-_A=+—H

2019 2018
—E-AF —E-N\F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

Bt E ARBT T ARETTT

Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 34 85,530 -
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIBAEE 25 2,415 33,419
87,945 33,419

Net assets FEE 657,219 979,974
EQUITY i
Share capital &% 2= 35 340 340
Reserves e 36 418,371 943,042
Equity attributable to equity holders of KA E AEGEER

the Company 418,711 963,382
Non-controlling interests IR 238,508 16,592
Total equity R 657,219 979,974

Yang Eric Qing
BE
Director

EF
Note: The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019. Under the transitions 3 : A"EBER - AFE— A —BNLEREH

method chosen, comparative information is not restated. See note 3. PR 75 3R & 2RI BB 1658 o IBIRFTIRELZ 1BE
FE AT BRERWESS - RHES -

The notes on pages 120 to 284 form part of these consolidated financial — Z5120 & 284 B Wi 3T ARG A B IEHE — 25 o
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mMOERBER

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 HE=ZZT—hF+ A=+ —HILFE

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company
ARARRREAERER

Shares held
under the Non-
Share Share  Statutory Translation Share option Other Share Award Retained controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve Scheme earnings  Sub-total interests equity
BERSD 28
RE  ROEE AERE AEEE BRERE HORG SHRALRB  REEA i FERER s
RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARBTL ARKTR ARETR ARETT  ARBTR ARETR ARETR AR®BTR AR%TR
Balance at 1 January 2018 RZE-NE-F-H
2 285 789,818 38,025 26,481 129,108 111,787 (514) 265385 1360375 10,166 1,370,541
Total comprehensive income/(loss] £ B 2E it/ (F8) &5
for the year
Loss for the year FEBE - - - - - - - l6n90 (622970 (74563 (697513)
Other comprehensive income for ~~ EEH2EKRE
the year
Currency translation differences ~ SHBEZE - - - 10,083 - - - - 10,083 1274 11359
- - - 10,083 - - - (622970) (612,887) 73,267) (686,154)
Transactions with owners BREARS
Share-based compensation DR BERMEE
[Note 37 (f) (GERIN - - - - 28,058 - 979 - 2,037 - 29,037
Exercise of share options 1 iR ARE (3t 3sll
Note 35(i & Note 37 H3k37) - 221 - - (474) - - - 1747 - 1747
Transfer upon forfeiture of RERERERER
share options - - - - (39,590) - - 39,59 - - -
Issuance of shares for management  StE B ERBEZERT
subscription (Note 331ii) 45 (B &% 35 50 23152 - - - - - - 21574 - 21574
Issuance of shares for acquisition KB EEETREL
(Note 4(a]) (Mt 3Eaalal) 5 31,831 - - - - - - 31,53 - 31,53
Purchase of shares for Share Sk RE B ERD
Award Scheme (Note 37 (d]) (R3E37(d)) - - - - - - (13,407) - [13.407) - 13.407)
Acquisition of a subsidiary hE-BHERR
[Note 44(al) (WisE4ta)) - - - - - - - - - 5278 5278
Disposal of subsidiaries HERSAR - - - 989) - - - - (989) 17,725 [18,714)
Acquisition of additional interestsin 4% — B 2 7180
asubsidiary BiME - - - - S e - - W R 35
Total transactions with owners HEAARSER 5 25,274 - (989) (12008) (63,604) [12,428) 39,590 21589 79,693 295,587
Balance at 31 December 2018 RZZ2-N\E
TZA=t-R2ER 340 1,095,094 38,025 35,575 117,102 48,183 [12942) (317.995) 963,382 16,592 979,974
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)
RECERBBR (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZE—AF T+ A=+ —HILFE

ARAEEREARGRS
Shares held Non-
Share Share  Statutory Translation Share option Other undertheShare  Retained controlling
capital ~ premium reserve reserve reserve reserve  AwardScheme  earnings  Sub-total interests Total equity
RERGER
R ROEE EERE RERE BRERR AMRE SEREZRE  REEA Nt FERER BER
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

AR®TR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR  ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR AR®TR ARMTR

Balance at 1 January 2019 R-E-AE-F-82
Ei3 340 1,055,09 38,025 35,575 117,102 48,183 (12,942)  (317,995) 963,382 16,592 979,974

Total comprehensive income/(loss] &2 F /(K@) 48

for the year
Loss for the year EEHR = = = = = = — w923 (419213 (37,052  (456,265)
Other comprehensive income for FEEM2ENE
the year
Currency translation differences  E##E 2% - - - 9,441) - - - - 9,441) 503 8,938)
- - - 9,441) = - - (419,213)  (428,654) (36,549)  (465,203)
Transactions with owners HEEARS
Share-based compensation IR BERNOE S
Note 37(f) (W £E371) - - - - 1,281 1,914 = = 3,195 = 3195
Transfer upon forfeiture of RRBERESER
share options - - - - (2,369) - - 2,369 - - -
Purchase of shares for Share ARG REEEERG
Award Scheme (Note 371d) (BE3710) = = - - - - (2,300) - (2,300) - (2,300)
Deem gain/[loss) on Spin-off BESRNG/(BR) - - - - - (116912) - - (M6912) 258,465 141,553
Total transactions with owners BREARZHE - - - - (1,088)  (114,998) (2,300) 2,369 (116,017) 258,465 142,448
Balance at 31 December 2019 RZE-NE
TZA=+-RAzEH 340 1,055,094 38,025 26,134 116,014 (66,815) (15,262)  (734,839) 418,711 238,508 657,219

Note: The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019. Under the (i :AEBEER _Z—NLFE— A —BHFER

transitions method chosen, comparative information is not restated. See RS R E 1658 c RIRFTER 2 BE
note 3. FE AT BRERWEES - RS

The notes on pages 120 to 284 form part of these consolidated financial — Z5120 & 284 B Wi 3T ARG A B IEHE — 25 o
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
RO REMER

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 HE T —NF+-_A=+—HBLFE

2019 2018
—E-hAE —ZT—N\F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

Mz ARBTT AR®BTE

Cash flows from operating activities RETEHMBZRERE

Loss before income tax % P 5 B0 Al 5 18 (456,952) (712,969)

Adjustments for: AT S HMELFE
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M- - BERBENE 34,499 39,201
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAEEENE 12,889 —
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEHE 63,127 99,598
Interest expenses Al I%\ﬁﬁﬁ 14,873 2,271
Bank interest income fﬂﬁﬁ SON (606) (2,417)
Interest income from loans to third parties ,\;. GRTE=FZ2EXFBWA — (7,753)
Interest income form loans to associates BTYBERRZER *'J SHA (72) (170)
Impairment of assets BERE 175,474 358,579
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment REWE  BERSEEE 72 1,265
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets HEFEREEERZ (104) —
Loss on disposal/rescission of subsidiaries HEHEMBARER 56,025 28,695
Loss on disposal of associates HEBERRER 12,213 3,300
Loss/(Gain) on disposal of financial assets at fair value HERAAEFABRZEMEEL

through profit or loss B8 (W) 672 (185)

Fair value changes of financial assets at fair value BAnBEft \Ba emEEZ

)
through profit or loss NAEES 28,668 (8,151)
Fair value changes of contingent consideration payables B AREZ AR EEH = (45,332)
Fair value changes of convertible notes AMEREEREZ AR EE = 1,691
Share of losses of associates JEMR B2 R AE R 2,273 16,662
Share-based compensation expense Ml]x@%%ﬁ%ﬁ']@ﬂéﬁﬁ 3 3,195 29,037
Operating loss before working capital changes BBEECEHA 2 LEEHIE (53,754) (196,678)
Decrease in inventories FERD 229 463
Decrease/(Increase) in trade and other receivables B 5 K H i g W s R (38 ) 20,160 (249,393)
Increase in trade and other payables & 5) K H th & < R IE I 0 203,763 318,528
Increase in deferred revenue I FE Y A1 0 1,840 19,882
Cash generated from/(used in) operations KeEEY /(TR 28 E 172,238 (107,198)
Interest received =R BN 606 20,419
Income tax paid BEATFER (958) (9,494)
Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities BEEBHME (A ZREFHE 171,886 (96,273)
Cash flows from investing activities RETHFBZRERE
Placement of time deposit with maturity over three months 77 AEIHi BB i@ =@ A 2 & B F & - (6,863)
(Increase)/Decrease in restricted bank balances PR fETTmﬁ?(i‘ ), w (25,463) 52,410
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE  WE &R (23,737) (134,540
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment i & #2 - W%&ﬂﬁﬁﬁ@?ﬂ — 1,030
Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets o m B EPTIS A = 2,369
Purchase of intangible assets BEmRVEE (119,152) (42,192)
Addition in development costs through internal development i3 i@ A 2B 7 3% 2 [ ﬁk$i‘ n (1,205) (8,394)
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired W BE B B8 1 A ?DF@EHX B — (40,932)
Acquisition of additional equity interest in a subsidiary W b — R BT /B8 A A 2 FE AMNAR 4 — (34,521)
Net cash outflows from rescission of a subsidiary BB ARZIRE R L F58 45(a) (157) —
Net cash inflows/(outflows) from disposal of subsidiaries ~ H&E—BWHBRARZIREARAS
O i) % 58 5 (500)
Purchases of financial assets at fair value through profitor AR AR B ABRZZERMEE
loss (8,501) (44,497)
Proceeds from disposal of associate 5 e R ] P AS RR = 3,000
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value HERAABFABZZEREEMS
through profit or loss R 17,363 58,347
Addition of loans to associates BT EE QR 2B FIEM — (7,154)
Addition of loans to third parties %ﬁ%%’z*ﬁzgﬂ-‘ n (9,150) (65,635)
Addition of loan to a director of the Company BTARB —BEFEZEFEM — (4,381)
Addition in amounts due from associates JRE W Bt 2 X A) 2 SR IR R A0 — (16,370)
Repayment of loans to associates BREETHERAZERK = 3,524
Repayment of loans to third parties EBEBHRTE=ZAZER 28,862 40,294
Repayment of amounts due from associates B8 FE Wik & R R 2 FRE = 18,417
Net cash used in investing activities RETBHFAZRESESR (141,135) (226,588)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

freRERER (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZE—AF T+ A=+ —HILFE

2019 2018
—g-hE —T)\%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

Mz ARBTT AR®TE

Cash flows from financing activities

RETHMEZRER

Interest paid EAFE (7,404) (443)
Proceeds from amount due to an associate FET— B & A R FRIB 2 P18 5008 - 850
Repayment of amount due to an associate EE N —RHBE AR 2 RE (840) (10)
Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes BATAMRBRRIRFTISRE 26,479 68,632
Proceeds from issuance of shares upon exercise of share 17 {# &% % & B 2% 77 A% 19 P 15 3008

options — 1,747
Proceeds from issuance of new shares for management NEREERBEERITHRMDAERE

subscription —_ 231,574
Payment of lease liabilities HEABEMNK (9,416) -
Purchase of shares under Share Award Scheme RIERDEBMAEBEERD (2,300) (13,407)
Net cash from financing activities METHMEZ2RESFHE 6,519 288,943
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents RERBELEEYEMCRD) FHE 37,270 (33,918)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year FUREeRELEEY 155,811 194,956
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ERXSHoFE (7,233) (5,227)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year RERZEERASEEY 29 185,848 155,811

Note: The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019. Under the transitions
method chosen, comparative information is not restated. See note 3.

The notes on pages 120 to 284 form part of these consolidated financial

statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
i BRETMEE

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 HE=ZZT—hF+ A=+ —HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Ourgame International Holdings Limited (the "Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 4 December 2013 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law (2013
Revision) of the Cayman Islands. The address of the Company's
registered office is P.0. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman KY1-
1104, Cayman Islands. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 30 June
2014 (the “Listing”].

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”] are principally engaged in the development
and operation of online card and board games, organising and
broadcasting online to offline mind-sports events, tournaments, TV
shows and contents [collectively, the “Online Games Business”)
primarily in the People’'s Republic of China (the “PRC") and the United
States (the “US"). The Group is expanding the eSports, sports
e-commerce business and other non-card-and-board games new

internet businesses (collectively, the “eSports Business”) globally.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group has reorganized
the WPT business and eSports business into Allied Esports
Entertainment, Inc. ["AESE"] for separate listing in NASDAQ of the
United States (the “Spin-off”).

Pursuant to the applicable PRC laws and regulations, foreign
investors are prohibited from holding equity interest in an entity
conducting online game business and are restricted to conduct value-
added telecommunications services. In order to enable investments
be made into the restricted businesses, the Company established
subsidiaries, Beijing Lianzhong Garden Network Technology Co., Ltd.
(Gt RERREBEBEEREMEAR, "WFOE 17) and Tianjin
Lianhzhong Lequ Technology Development Co., Ltd. (K25 R 448
REER AR AT, "WFOE 27) (together, the "WFOEs"), which are wholly
foreign owned enterprises incorporated in the PRC. The WFOEs have
entered into a series of contractual arrangements (the “Contractual
Arrangements”] with Beijing Lianzhong Co., Ltd. (3t 5B R B ShAB4E A%
M BPRAT], “Beijing Lianzhong”) and Beijing Guangyao Hudong
Technology Development Co., Ltd. QERERESHEHLERBR A A,
“Beijing Guangyao”) and their respective equity holders, which enable
the WFOEs and the Group to:

— exercise effective financial and operational control over Beijing
Lianzhong and Beijing Guangyao;

= exercise equity holders’ voting rights of Beijing Lianzhong and

Beijing Guangyao;

@‘ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RS MR 5F ()

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZE—AF T+ A=+ —HILFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

— receive substantially all of the economic interest returns
generated by Beijing Lianzhong and Beijing Guangyao and their
subsidiaries in consideration for the business support, technical
and consulting services provided by WFOEs, at WFOEs’

discretion;

— obtain an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase all or part
of equity interest in and/or assets of Beijing Lianzhong and
Beijing Guangyao from the respective equity holders at a
minimum purchase price permitted under the PRC laws and
regulations. WFOEs may exercise such options at any time until
it has acquired all equity interests and/or all assets of Beijing
Lianzhong and Beijing Guangyao;

= obtain a pledge over the entire equity interest of Beijing
Lianzhong and Beijing Guangyao from their respective equity
holders as collateral security for all of Beijing Lianzhong and
Beijing Guangyao's payments due to WFOEs and to secure
performance of Beijing Lianzhong and Beijing Guangyao's
obligations under the Contractual Arrangements.

The details of the Contractual Arrangements are set out in the
prospectus issued by the Company dated 18 June 2014 (the
“Prospectus”] and the announcement issued by the Company dated 9
February 2017.

The Group does not have any equity interest in Beijing Lianzhong and
Beijing Guangyao and its subsidiaries. However, as a result of the
Contractual Arrangements, the Group has rights to variable returns
from its involvement with Beijing Lianzhong and Beijing Guangyao and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over Beijing
Lianzhong and Beijing Guangyao and is considered to control Beijing
Lianzhong and Beijing Guangyao and hence the Beijing Lianzhong and
Beijing Guangyao Group. Consequently, the Company regards the
Beijing Lianzhong and Beijing Guangyao Group as consolidated
structured entities under International Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRSs”). The Group has consolidated the financial position and
results of the Beijing Lianzhong and Beijing Guangyao Group in the
consolidated financial statements.

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective
as direct legal ownership in providing the Group with direct control
over the Beijing Lianzhong and Beijing Guangyao Group and
uncertainties presented by the PRC legal system could impede the
Group's beneficiary rights of the results, assets and liabilities of the
Beijing Lianzhong and Beijing Guangyao Group. The directors of the
Company, based on the advice of its legal counsel, consider that the
Contractual Arrangements are in compliance with relevant PRC laws
and regulations and are legally enforceable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BETME (E)

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZFE—AF+ A=+ —HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB”), unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 were
approved for issue by the board of directors (the “Board”) on 31 March
2020.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

These annual consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRSs”) which collective term includes all applicable individual
International Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting
Standards and Interpretations issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board.

The consolidated financial statements also comply with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and include
the applicable disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Listing Rules”).

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group decided to
reorganise the PC Business under the Lianzhong Group which will
effectively result in the disposal of Beijing Lianzhong Co., Ltd. and the
divested businesses (the “Reorganisation”] and on 15 August 2018,
the Group entered into the reorganisation agreement. In these
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2018, results of the PC Business under the Lianzhong Group were
presented as a single line item of “discontinued operations” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

On 1 April 2019, the Group announced to terminate the Reorganisation
given the performance of the divested businesses has shown
continued stabilisation. The results of the PC Business previously
presented as “discontinued operations” in these consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 has been
reclassified and included in profit or loss from continuing operations,
and re-presented in these consolidated financial statements.

The significant accounting policies that have been used in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
summarised below. These policies have been consistently applied to
all the years presented unless otherwise stated. The adoption of new
or amended IFRSs and the impacts on the Group’'s financial
statements, if any, are disclosed in Note 3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BRERME(E)

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZE—AF T+ A=+ —HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial assets and liabilities
which are stated at fair values. Non-current assets and disposal
group held for sale are stated the lower of carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell. The measurement bases are fully described

in the accounting policies below.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group's principal subsidiary, Allied
Esports Entertainment, Inc. ("AESE”) and its subsidiaries (together
“AESE Group”) had convertible notes payable of approximately
RMB96,506,000 that would be due for repayment in the coming twelve
months. As at the same date, AESE Group had cash and cash
equivalents of approximately RMB58,883,000. This condition indicates
the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt
on AESE Group's ability to continue as a going concern, therefore
AESE Group may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its
liabilities in the normal course of business.

Management has prepared cash flow projections of AESE Group
which cover a period of twelve months from the date of the
consolidated statement of financial position. The directors of the
Company [the “Directors”] have reviewed AESE Group's cash flow
projections. The Directors closely monitor AESE Group’s liquidity
position and financial performance and have initiated measures to
improve AESE Group's cash flows. These measures include obtaining
additional financing. In the opinion of the Directors, AESE Group will
have sufficient working capital to fulfill its financial obligations as and
when they fall due in the coming twelve months from the date of the
consolidated statement of financial position. Accordingly, the
Directors are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the

consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions are
used in preparation of the financial statements. Although these
estimates are based on management’'s best knowledge and
judgement of current events and actions, actual results may
ultimately differ from those estimates. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in Note 4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BETME (E)

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZFE—AF+ A=+ —HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
December each year.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls
an entity when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. When assessing whether
the Group has power over the entity, only substantive rights relating
to the entity (held by the Group and others) are considered.

The Group includes the income and expenses of a subsidiary in the
consolidated financial statements from the date it gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses
on transactions between group companies are eliminated in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Where unrealised losses on
sales of intra-group asset are reversed on consolidation, the
underlying asset is also tested for impairment from the Group’'s
perspective. Amounts reported in the financial statements of
subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to ensure

consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity on a subsidiary not
attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in respect of
which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the holders
of those interests which would result in the Group as a whole having a
contractual obligation in respect of those interests that meets the
definition of a financial liability. For each business combination, the
Group can elect to measure any non-controlling interests either at
fair value or at their proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net
identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position within equity, separately from the equity
attributable to the owners of the Company. Non-controlling interests
in the results of the Group are presented on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between non-controlling interests

and the owners of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BRERME(E)

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZE—AF T+ A=+ —HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a
loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions, whereby
adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling interests within
consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no

adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on
disposal is calculated as the difference between [i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill], and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-
controlling interests. Where certain assets of the subsidiary are
measured at revalued amounts or fair values and the related
cumulative gain or loss has been recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity, the amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are
accounted for as if the Company had directly disposed of the related
assets (i.e., reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to
retained earnings). The fair value of any investment retained in the
former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the
fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under IFRS
9 “Financial Instruments” or, when applicable, the cost on initial

recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, subsidiaries are
carried at cost less any impairment loss unless the subsidiary is held
for sale or included in a disposal group. Cost is adjusted to reflect
changes in consideration arising from contingent consideration
amendments. Cost also includes direct attributable costs of

investment.

The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividends received and receivable at the reporting date. All
dividends whether received out of the investee's pre or post-
acquisition profits are recognised in the Company’s profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BETME (E)

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZFE—AF+ A=+ —HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Business combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using
the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum
of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair

values at the acquisition date.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity in
the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of
the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If, after
assessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value on the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is

recognised immediately in profit or loss as bargain purchase gain.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BRERME(E)

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZE—AF T+ A=+ —HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Business combinations (Continued)

Where the consideration the Group transfers in a business
combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured
at its acquisition-date fair value and considered as part of the
consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in the
fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement
period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with the
corresponding adjustments being made against goodwill or gain on
bargain purchase. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments
that arise from additional information obtained during the
measurement period about facts and circumstances that existed as of
the acquisition date. Measurement period does not exceed one year
from the acquisition date. The subsequent accounting for changes in
the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as
measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its
subsequent settlement is accounting for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as a financial liability is remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates at fair value with corresponding gain or
loss being recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in the value of the previously held equity interest recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity before the
acquisition date are reclassified to profit or loss when the Group

obtains control over the acquiree.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, the
Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about
facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence, which is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint

control of those policies.

In consolidated financial statements, an investment in an associate is
initially recognised at cost and subsequently accounted for using the
equity method. Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent Lliabilities of the associate recognised at the date of
acquisition is recognised as goodwill. The goodwill is included within
the carrying amount of the investment and is assessed for impairment
as part of the investment. The cost of acquisition is measured at the
aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given,
liabilities incurred or assumed and equity instruments issued by the
Group, plus any costs directly attributable to the investment. Any
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the
determination of the Group’s share of the associate’s profit or loss in
the period in which the investment is acquired.

Under the equity method, the Group’s interest in the associate is
carried at cost and adjusted for the post-acquisition changes in the
Group’'s share of the associate’s net assets less any identified
impairment loss, unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in
a disposal group that is classified as held for sale). The profit or loss
for the year includes the Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-
tax results of the associate for the year, including any impairment
loss on the investment in associate recognised for the year. The
Group’s other comprehensive income for the year includes its share

of the associate’s other comprehensive income for the year.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associate
are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in the associates.
Where unrealised losses on assets sales between the Group and its
associate are reversed on equity accounting, the underlying asset is
also tested for impairment from the Group’s perspective. Where the
associate uses accounting policies other than those of the Group for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances, adjustments
are made, where necessary, to conform the associate’s accounting
policies to those of the Group when the associate’s financial

statements are used by the Group in applying the equity method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BRERME(E)

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZE—AF T+ A=+ —HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Associates (Continued)

When the Group's share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds
its interest in the associate, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate. For this purpose, the
Group's interest in the associate is the carrying amount of the
investment under the equity method together with the Group’s long-
term interests that in substance form part of the Group’s net
investment in the associate.

After the application of equity method, the Group determines whether
it is necessary to recognise an additional impairment loss on the
Group's investment in its associates. At each reporting date, the
Group determines whether there is any objective evidence that the
investment in associate is impaired. If such indications are identified,
the Group calculates the amount of impairment as being the
difference between the recoverable amount (i.e. higher of value in use
and fair value less costs of disposal) of the associate and its carrying
amount. In determining the value in use of the investment, the Group
estimates its share of the present value of the estimated future cash
flows expected to be generated by the associate, including cash flows
arising from the operations of the associate and the proceeds on
ultimate disposal of the investment.

The Group discontinues the use of equity method from the date when
it ceases to have significant influence over an associate. If the
retained interest in that former associate is a financial asset, the
retained interest is measured at fair value, which is regarded as its
fair value on initial recognition as a financial asset in accordance with
IFRS 9. The difference between (i) the fair value of any retained
interest and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in the
associate; and (i) the carrying amount of the investment at the date
the equity method was discontinued, is recognised in the profit or
loss. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
associate on the same basis as would have been required if the
associate had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by the investee would be reclassified to profit
or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the entity
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) when the equity method is discontinued.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture, the Group continues to apply the equity method and does not
remeasure the retained interest.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB"), which is also the functional currency of the Company.

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated entities,
foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency of the individual entity using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. At the reporting date, monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at that date. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the reporting date retranslation of monetary assets and

liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated (i.e. only translated using the exchange rates at the

transaction date).

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual financial
statements of foreign operations, originally presented in a currency
different from the Group's presentation currency, have been
converted into RMB. Assets and liabilities have been translated into
RMB at the closing rates at the reporting date. Income and expenses
have been converted into the RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates, or at the average rates over the reporting period
provided that the exchange rates do not fluctuate significantly. Any
differences arising from this procedure have been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in the translation

reserve in equity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a
foreign operation have been treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign operation and translated into RMB at the closing rates.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e., a disposal of the Group’s
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or loss of
significant influence over an associate that includes a foreign
operation), all of the accumulated exchange differences in respect of
that operation attributable to the Group are reclassified to profit or
loss. Any exchange differences that have previously been attributed to
non-controlling interests are derecognised, but they are not
reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal (i.e., no loss of control) of a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, the proportionate share of
accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all
other partial disposals (i.e., of associates not involving a change of
accounting basis], the proportionate share of the accumulated

exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

2.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (other than construction in progress
as described below) are initially recognised at acquisition cost or
manufacturing cost, including any cost directly attributable to bringing
the assets to the location and condition necessary for them to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by the Group’'s
management. They are subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and, for qualifying
assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group's
accounting policy. Such properties are classified to the appropriate
categories of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are

ready for their intended use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets, other
than construction in progress, less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method, as follows:
Leasehold improvements Shorter of remaining term of the
lease and the estimated useful
lives of the assets
Computer equipment 3to 5years
Furniture and office equipment 3 to 5 years
Motor vehicles S years

Production equipment S years

Estimates of residual value and useful life are reviewed, and adjusted
if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the

asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
costs, such as repairs and maintenance, are charged to profit or loss

during the financial period in which they are incurred.

2.7 Goodwill

Set out below are the accounting policies on goodwill arising on
acquisition of a subsidiary. Accounting for goodwill arising on
acquisition of investment in an associate is set out in Note 2.4.

Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an asset
at the date that control is acquired (the acquisition date]. Goodwill is
measured as the excess of the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the Group’s
interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and

liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Goodwill (continued)

If, after reassessment, the Group's interest in the fair value of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised

immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and is tested annually

for impairment (see Note 2.21).

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of
goodwill capitalised is included in the determination of the amount of
gain or loss on disposal.

2.8 Intangible assets (other than goodwill) and
research and development activities

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Acquired intangible assets are recognised initially at cost. After initial
recognition, intangible assets with finite useful lives are carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
provided on straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.
Amortisation commences when the intangible assets are available for
use. The following useful lives are applied:
Computer software 1to 5 years
Game intellectual properties, trademark and licenses 2 to 10 years
Brand name 1to 10 years
Programmes and film rights 5to 20 years
Unfinished contracts 1to 10 years

Customer relationships 5years

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less

any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

The assets’” amortisation methods and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Intangible assets, with finite and indefinite useful lives, are tested for

impairment as described below in Note 2.21.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Intangible assets (other than goodwill) and
research and development activities (Continued)

Research and development costs

Costs associated with research activities are expensed in profit or
loss as they occur. Costs that are directly attributable to development
activities are recognised as intangible assets provided they meet the

following recognition requirements:

(i) demonstration of technical feasibility of the prospective product
for internal use or sale;

(i) there is intention to complete the intangible asset and use or

sell it;

(i)  the Group’'s ability to use or sell the intangible asset is
demonstrated;

(iv]  the intangible asset will generate probable economic benefits

through internal use or sale;

(v) sufficient technical, financial and other resources are available
for completion; and

(vi)  the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset can be

reliably measured.

Direct costs include employee costs incurred on development
activities along with an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. The
costs of development of internally generated software, products or
knowhow that meet the above recognition criteria are recognised as
intangible assets. They are subject to the same subsequent

measurement method as acquired intangible assets.

All other development costs are expensed as incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Financial instruments

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial
instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the
cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the financial asset
and substantially all of its risks and rewards are transferred. A
financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged,

cancelled or expires.

Financial assets

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component and are measured at the transaction price in
accordance with IFRS 15, all financial assets are initially measured at
fair value, in case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit
or loss ("FVTPL"), plus transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial
assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Financial assets, other than those designated and effective as hedging
instruments, are classified into the following categories:

—  amortised cost; or

— FVTPL.

The classification is determined by both:

—  the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset;
and

— the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are
recognised in profit or loss are presented within “finance costs” or
“other income”, except for expected credit losses ("ECL") of financial

assets which is presented within “impairment of assets”.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. BEREFHBERBUE @

POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial Assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement of financial assets

Debt investments

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet

the following conditions (and are not designated as FVTPL]:

— they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold

the financial assets and collect its contractual cash flows; and

—  the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in “other income” in profit or loss. Discounting is
omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Group's
bank balances and cash, trade and other receivables, loans to
associates and third parties fall into this category of financial

instruments.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that are held within a different business model other
than “hold to collect” or “hold to collect and sell” are categorised at
FVTPL. Further, irrespective of business model, financial assets
whose contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and

interest are accounted for at FVTPL.

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL unless the
equity investment is not held for trading purposes and on initial
recognition of the investment, the Group elects to designate the
investment at FVOCI [non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in
fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in “fair value reserve — non-recycling” in equity. Such
elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but only
be made if the investment meets the definition of equity from the

issuer’s perspective.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. BEREFHBRBUE @

POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement of financial assets (Continued)

Equity investments [Continued]

The equity instruments at FVOC| are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss in “fair value reserve — non-
recycling” will not be reclassified to profit or loss upon disposal of the
equity investments, and will be transferred to retained earnings.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the
dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are included
in the “other income” in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
contingent consideration payables, convertible notes and lease
liabilities.

Financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities] are initially measured
at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs

unless the Group designated a financial liability at FVTPL.

Subsequently, financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method
except for derivatives and financial liabilities designated at FVTPL,
which are carried subsequently at fair value with gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss (other than derivative financial instruments
that are designated and effective as hedging instruments).

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an
instrument’s fair value that are reported in profit or loss are included

within “finance costs” or “other income”.

Accounting policies of lease liabilities are set out in Note 2.15.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities (Continued)
Convertible notes

Convertible notes issued by a subsidiary of the Company are
designated as financial liabilities at FVTPL on initial recognition. The
conversion option allows the holder to convert the notes into ordinary
shares and will be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed
amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the
subsidiary’s own equity instruments, and therefore it does not meet
the equity classification. At the end of each reporting period,
subsequent to initial recognition, the entire convertible notes are
measured at fair value, with changes in fair value arising on
remeasurement recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise, except for changes in fair value arising from the
subsidiary’s own credit risk which are presented in other
comprehensive income with no subsequent reclassification to the

statement of profit or loss.
Transaction costs that relate to the issuance of the convertible notes
designated as financial liabilities at FVTPL are charged to profit or

loss immediately.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Contingent consideration

Details of accounting policy of contingent consideration are set out in
Note 2.12.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported
in the consolidated statement of financial position when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be
contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal
course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or

bankruptcy of the company or the counterparty.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BRERME(E)

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZE—AF T+ A=+ —HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10Impairment of financial assets

IFRS 9's impairment requirements use more forward-looking
information to recognise ECL — the "ECL model”. Instruments within
the scope included loans and other debt-type financial assets

measured at amortised cost and trade receivables.

The Group considers a broader range of information when assessing
credit risk and measuring ECL, including past events, current
conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the

expected collectability of the future cash flows of the instrument.

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made
between:

— financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in
credit quality since initial recognition or that have low credit
risk ("Stage 1) and

—  financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly in
credit quality since initial recognition and whose credit risk is
not low ("Stage 27).

“Stage 3" would cover financial assets that have objective evidence of
impairment at the reporting date.

“12-month ECL" are recognised for the Stage 1 category while “lifetime
ECL" are recognised for the Stage 2 category.

Measurement of the ECL is determined by a probability-weighted
estimate of credit losses over the expected life of the financial
instrument.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Trade receivables

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in
calculating ECL and recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime
ECL at each reporting date. These are the expected shortfalls in
contractual cash flows, considering the potential for default at any
point during the life of the financial assets. In calculating the ECL, the
Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience and external indicators, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Group measures the loss allowance for other receivables equal
to 12-month ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increase in the likelihood or risk of default

occurring since initial recognition.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial assets at the reporting date with the risk of default
occurring on the financial assets at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when

assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available] or internal credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit

default swap prices for the debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

(Continued)

— existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant

decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

— an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a
debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk at the end of each reporting period. A debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if it has a low risk of default, the
borrower has strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term and adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfill its contractual cash flow

obligations.

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of
default occurs when information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any

collateral held by the Group).

Detailed analysis of the ECL assessment of trade receivables and
other financial assets measured at amortised cost are set out in Note
42(e).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.11Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated cost of completion and
applicable selling expenses. Cost is determined using the first-in,
first-out ("FIFQ") method.

2.12Contingent consideration

Contingent consideration are recognised at fair value at the end of
each reporting period with gain or loss on remeasurement to fair
value is recognised immediately in profit or loss, except where the

derivatives qualify for hedged accounting under IFRS 9.

2.13Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand, demand
deposits with banks and short term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant

risk of changes in value.

2.14Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue (see
Note 2.19). A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group
has an unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding

receivable would also be recognised (see Note 2.9).

2.15Leases

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee

Policy applicable from 1 January 2019

For any new contracts entered into on or after 1 January 2019, the
Group considers whether a contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is
defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to
use an identified asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in
exchange for consideration’. To apply this definition, the Group
assesses whether the contract meets three key evaluations which are
whether:

. the contract contains an identified asset, which is either
explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly specified by
being identified at the time the asset is made available to the
Group;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. BEREFHBRBUE @

POLICIES (continued)

2.15Leases (Continued)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee (Continued)
Policy applicable from 1 January 2019 (Continued)

o the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from use of the identified asset throughout
the period of use, considering its rights within the defined scope
of the contract; and

o the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified asset
throughout the period of use. The Group assess whether it has
the right to direct "how and for what purpose’ the asset is used

throughout the period of use.

For contracts that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease and non-lease component
on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices. However, for leases
of properties in which the Group is a lessee, the Group elected not to
separate non-lease components and will instead account for the
lease and non-lease components as a single lease component.

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use
asset and a lease liability on the consolidated statement of financial
position. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made
up of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct
costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset at the end of the lease, and any
lease payments made in advance of the lease commencement date (net

of any lease incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-Lline basis
from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the end of the
useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term
unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership at the end
of the lease term. The Group also assesses the right-of-use asset
(except for those meeting the definition of investment properties) for
impairment when such indicator exists.

At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability at
the present value of the lease payments unpaid at that date,
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate
cannot be readily determined, the Group’'s incremental borrowing
rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.15Leases (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee
(Continued)

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability
are made up of fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments] less any lease incentives receivable, variable payments
based on an index or rate, and amounts expected to be payable under
a residual value guarantee. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised
by the Group and payment of penalties for terminating a lease, if the

lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for
lease payments made and increased for interest cost on the lease
liability. It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or lease
modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed payments.
The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as expense in the period on which the event or

condition that triggers the payment occurs.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities whenever:

o there are changes in lease term or in the assessment of
exercise of a purchase option, in which case the related lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the date of
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rates following a market rent review, in which cases the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

For lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a

revised discount rate at the effective date of modification.

When the lease is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is
reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if the right-of-

use asset is already reduced to zero.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.15Leases (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee
(Continued)

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets using the practical expedients. Instead of
recognising a right-of-use asset and lease liability, the payments in
relation to these leases are recognised as an expense in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Short-term leases are
leases with a lease term of 12 month or less. Low-value assets
comprise small items of premises.

Right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for under IFRS ¢ and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included

in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Policy applicable before 1 January 2019

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of transactions,
is or contains a lease if the Group determines that the arrangement
conveys a right to use a specific asset or assets for an agreed period
of time in return for a payment or a series of payments. Such a
determination is made based on an evaluation of the substance of the
arrangement and is regardless of whether the arrangement takes the
legal form of a lease.

(i) Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases which transfer to the
Group substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
classified as being held under finance leases. Leases which do not
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the

Group are classified as operating leases.

(ii) Operating lease charges as the lessee

Where the Group has the right to use of assets held under operating
leases, payments made under the leases are charged to profit or loss
on a straight line basis over the lease terms except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the time pattern of benefits
to be derived from the leased assets. Lease incentives received are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net
lease payments made. Contingent rental are charged to profit or loss
in the accounting period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZFE—AF+ A=+ —HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.16 Provisions, contingent liabilities and
contingent assets

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, and it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can
be made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to

reflect the current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future uncertain events not wholly within the control of the
Group, are also disclosed as contingent Lliabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination which are
present obligations at the date of acquisition are initially recognised
at fair value, provided the fair value can be reliably measured. After
the initial recognition at fair value, such contingent liabilities are
recognised at the higher of the amount initially recognised, less
accumulated amortisation where appropriate, and the amount that
would be recognised in a comparable provision as described above.
Contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination that cannot
be reliably fair valued or were not present obligations at the date of

acquisition are disclosed as per above.

Probable inflows of economic benefits to the Group that do not yet
meet the recognition criteria of an asset are considered as contingent
assets.

2.17Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is recognised
at the amount of consideration of shares issued, after deducting any
transaction costs associated with the issuing of shares [net of any
related income tax benefit] to the extent they are incremental costs
directly attributable to the equity transaction.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.17Share capital (Continued)

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised
and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company's

own equity instruments.

(i)  Shares held for share award scheme

Share awards granted under share award scheme are satisfied by
shares acquired by the trustee from the market. Where the
Company’s shares are acquired from the market by the trustee under
the share award scheme, the total consideration of shares acquired
from the market (including any directly attributable incremental
costs) is presented as “shares held for share award scheme” and
deducted from total equity. Upon vesting, the related costs of the
vested shares for share award scheme purchased from the market
are credited to “shares held for share award scheme”.

2.18 Non-current assets, or disposal groups held
for sale

Non-current assets, or disposal groups held for sale

Non-current assets, or disposal groups comprising assets and
liabilities, that are highly probable to be recovered principally through
sale rather than through continuing use, are classified as held for
sale. Immediately before classification as held for sale, the assets, or
components of a disposal group, are remeasured in accordance with
the Group’s accounting policies. Thereafter generally the assets, or
disposal group, are measured at the lower of their carrying amount
and fair value less costs to sell. Any impairment loss on a disposal
group first is allocated to goodwill, and then to remaining assets and
liabilities on pro rata basis, except that no loss is allocated to
inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets, employee benefit
assets, investment property or biological assets, which continue to be
measured in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies.
Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale and
subsequent gains and losses on remeasurement are recognised in
profit or loss. Gains are not recognised in excess of any cumulative

impairment loss.

Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment once classified
as held for sale are not amortised or depreciated. In addition, equity
accounting of equity-accounted investees ceases once classified as

held for sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19Revenue recognition

Revenue arises mainly from provision of online gaming services, in-
person services, multiplatform content services and interactive
services.

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group follows a 5-step
process:

(1) Identifying the contract with a customer

(2)  Identifying the performance obligations

(3)  Determining the transaction price

(4)  Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations

(5)  Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s] are
satisfied

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is allocated
amongst the various performance obligations based on their relative
stand-alone selling prices. The transaction price for a contract
excludes any amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time, when (or
as) the Group satisfies performance obligations by transferring the
promised goods or services to its customers.

Where the contract contains a financing component which provides a
significant financing benefit to the customer for more than 12 months,
revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction with the customer, and interest
income is accrued separately under the effective interest method.
Where the contract contains a financing component which provides a
significant financing benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under
that contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19Revenue recognition (Continued)

Further details of the Group's revenue and other income recognition
policies are as follows:

(1) Online gaming income

The Group is engaged in the development and operation of online card
and board games that consist of PC and mobile games. Games
include self-developed games, licensed games and third-party
operated games. The Group also organise and/or hosts online/offline

tournaments.

The Group's revenue is principally derived from the sale of in-game
virtual goods. Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the sale of goods, net of related surcharges
and discounts. Substantially all of the Group’s games are free to play
and players can pay for virtual goods for better in-game experience.
Players purchase our virtual currencies for PC games or mobile
games [collectively, the “Virtual Currencies’), through third-party
payment channels or the purchase of pre-paid game cards. The
Virtual Currencies can be used to exchange for virtual goods such as
personalised avatars and membership plans. Paying players usually
exchange their Virtual Currencies for the virtual goods shortly after
purchase. Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow
to the Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be
measured reliably, revenue is recognised as follows:

(a] PC games

Self-developed games and licensed games

The Group has integrated online game platforms with multiple
distribution channels. The Group distributes locally installed PC
games and provides services through our proprietary PC client
portals, such as Ourgame Hall. The Group also offers web games
playable on web pages served by the Group on ourgame.com.

For self-developed games and licensed games, the Group is
responsible for hosting the games, providing on-going updates of new
contents, technical support for the operations of the games, as well
as preventing, detecting and resolving in-game cheating and hacking

activities.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. BEREFHBERBUE @

POLICIES (continued)

2.19Revenue recognition (Continued)

(1) Online gaming income (Continued)

(a]  PC games [Continued)

Self-developed games and licensed games [Continued,

Third-party distribution channels and payment channels collect the
payments from the paying players and remit the cash to the Group,
net of commission charges which are pre-determined according to
the relevant terms of the agreements entered into between the Group
and the third-party distribution or payment channels.

Upon the sales of Virtual Currencies, the Group typically has an
implied obligation to provide the services which enable the virtual
goods exchanged with the Virtual Currencies to be displayed or used
in the games. As a result, the proceeds received from sales of Virtual
Currencies are recorded as deferred revenue. With the pre-paid game
cards, paying players can credit their user accounts with virtual
currencies and exchange for virtual goods in the same way. Proceeds
received from the sale of pre-paid game cards are recorded as
deferred revenue. The attributable portion of the deferred revenue
relating to values of the virtual goods consumed are immediately or
ratably recognised as revenue only when the services are rendered to
the respective paying players.

For the purposes of determining when services have been provided to

the respective paying players, the Group has determined the

following:
— Consumable virtual goods represent items (i] that have a
predetermined service period; or (il where no service is

rendered by the Group for the virtual goods immediately after
purchase by the paying players. Revenue is recognised (as a
release from deferred revenue) when the goods are consumed
and the related services are rendered, or ratably over the
predetermined service period of the respective consumable
virtual goods.

— Durable virtual goods represent items that have no
predetermined service period and are accessible and beneficial
to paying players over an extended period of time. Revenue is
recognised ratably over the expected life of the respective
durable virtual goods ("Player Relationship Period”).

®‘ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019

2. 19U B8 58 ()

(1) REBHEA (8)
a] PCEE (#)

E o 2% A E B G A BT i (A
F=ANHERAFREBRNEITRA
3 ARABRASWRE (EREAEHE
B =77 0 85 3 SRR B RT 3L A 15 7% A9
HEGERBELEEE) R TRAEEEA
B

REEERERR A&B-—KREESF
BERMRE WEEHEBBNE
BYmARERTRRIEER - Btk
& i B S AT O BT 5 SR B R R
RRAAR -BRBENEBRRME B
DEARBEREBEFEARSENAPEP
W XWAEE T ARBERY S - 3
& T8 5 382 B R B OB Y BT 3 FOR S IR R
FERAARR - BRERERY mEERN
i FE WA R PTG B BR 0 (2 & 10 A AR R A
B K RHRE - 75 A BB SR L B
HEARR/UWA -

REEMHEBNETREHRRE DK
B AEBEDEE THISE:

- TAEREBRYRNENAERRE
ey L —BENERREE
ERY MR AEETEHREER
BE Y an o WA (IFRIEZRAK
AR EBR) TH 1) an 2 K RE T B A AR 75
BRME KRB RERERY
an B TR RR AR 76 B R EL DI RE R o

- MAERYREERXKREHA
RERHBAN BRI A EA
¥z Yo o WAR BRI A E
By mnBERERBA(TTREE
SEMRE DR IR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. BEREFHBRBUE @

POLICIES (continued)

2.19Revenue recognition (Continued)

(1) Online gaming income (Continued)

(a]  PC games [Continued)

Self-developed games and licensed games [Continued,

For self-developed games and licensed games, the computer systems
of the Group captures all player data, such as log-in data, purchase
and delivery records for the Virtual Currencies sold and the virtual
goods exchanged with the Virtual Currencies. The Group estimates
the Player Relationship Period based on an overall game by game
basis and platform by platform basis and reassesses such periods
annually. If there are insufficient data to determine the Player
Relationship Period, such as in the case of a newly launched game,
the Group estimates the Player Relationship Period based on other
similar types of games developed by the Group or by third-party
developers until the new game establishes its own patterns and
history. The Group mainly considers the paying players’ spending and
consumption behaviour in estimating the Player Relationship Period,
which typically represents the time interval between paying players’
consecutive recharges of their user accounts with additional Virtual
Currencies and represents a reasonable estimate of the average
expected life of the durable virtual items for the applicable game.

If the Group does not have the ability to differentiate revenue
attributable to durable virtual goods from consumable virtual goods
for a specific product, item or game, the Group recognises revenue
from both durable and consumable virtual goods ratably over the
average life of the durable virtual products or goods, or over the
Player Relationship Period.

For revenues relating to self-developed games and licensed games,
the Group has evaluated the roles and responsibilities of the Group,
the game license holders and the third-party distribution and payment
channels in the delivery of game experience to the paying players and
concluded the Group takes the primary responsibilities in rendering
services. The Group is determined to be the primary obligor and,
accordingly, the Group records revenue on a gross basis, and
commission charges by game license holders and third-party

distribution and payment channels are recorded as cost of revenue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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M BRI EE (8)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19Revenue recognition (Continued)

(1) Online gaming income (Continued)

(a]  PC games [Continued)

Third-party operated games

The Group also distributes games developed and operated by third-
party developers on the Group’'s own web proprietary platform
including the Group’s client portal and websites. The Group’s revenue
mainly consists of pre-determined portions of total player payments
according to the relevant terms of the agreements entered into
between the Group and the game developers.

The games distributed on the Group’s platform are hosted,
maintained, operated and updated independently by the game
developers, and the Group mainly provide players with access to the
Group's platform to download the third-party developers” games and
limited after-sale basic technical support to the paying players. The
Group has evaluated and determined it is not the primary obligor in
the services rendered to the paying players as a platform. Accordingly,
the Group records its revenue net of the portion of sharing of

revenues with the game developers.

As the Group provides merely the first contact point by the players to
gain access to download the third-party developers’ games, the Group
believes that its implied obligation to the game developers do not
correspond to the game developers” implied obligation to provide the
service which enables the virtual goods to be displayed and used in
the games. Given that games are hosted, managed, administered and
operated by the game developers, the Group does not have access to
the data on the consumption details and the types of virtual goods
purchased by the paying players. The Group only maintains individual
paying player’s purchase history of the Virtual Currencies which are
used to exchange for virtual goods in the third-party operated games.
As such, the Group has adopted a policy to recognise revenue when
the paying players exchange the Virtual Currencies for consumable or
durable virtual goods for the relevant games.

(b)  Mobile games

The Group distributes mobile games and provides services mainly for
Android and i0S operating systems through third-party distribution
and payment channels, including mobile operators in the PRC (“Mobile

Operators”).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 &% =
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19Revenue recognition (Continued)

(1) Online gaming income (Continued)

[b)  Mobile games (Continued)

Self-developed games — Single player games

The Group’s mobile games are single player games or have single
player modes ("Single Player Games”]. Virtual goods of the Single
Player Games are purchased when the players are online and can be
consumed irrespective of whether or not they are connected to the
internet. Only the purchase of such virtual goods requires connection
to the internet. Once the players confirm their purchase requests via
Mobile Operators” payment channels, the purchased virtual goods are
automatically available in the downloaded game. Future play and use
of the purchased virtual goods do not require internet connectivity or
any involvement from the Group. Players do not need to connect to
online servers to play the game or utilise the purchased virtual goods
on their mobile devices and hence the Group has no obligation to
deliver any further services to the paying players. As a result, all
services are rendered immediately upon the sale and delivery of the

virtual goods.

The gross revenue from mobile games includes allowance for
expected credit losses. For mobile games, the computer system of
the Group captures limited data such as certain purchase and delivery
records of the virtual goods. The Group contracts with the Mobile
Operators which include billing and collection services. The Mobile
Operators provide the Group with monthly statements that represent
the principal evidence that virtual goods has been sold and delivered.
The Mobile Operators remit to the Group only amounts net of channel
commission charges and an allowance that Mobile Operators have
made for the expected credit losses in respect of the amounts due to
the Group from the paying players. The Mobile Operators do not
provide an itemised analysis of their remittances and the usage of the
virtual goods and the Group is therefore unable to determine what
allowance, if any, for expected credit losses should be recorded with
respect to services delivered through them. As a result, based on the
amounts reported on the Mobile Operator's monthly statements,
which are net of expected credit losses and represent the amounts
the Group reasonably believes will be collected, the Group records
the gross proceeds [net of allowance for expected credit losses as
revenue and the channel commission charges are recorded as cost of

revenue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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M BRI EE (8)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19Revenue recognition (Continued)

(1) Online gaming income (Continued)

[b)  Mobile games (Continued)

Self-developed games with connected internet game play

For revenue derived from self-developed mobile games with
connected internet game play, the Group follows the policies of PC
games — “Self-developed games and licensed games” as the
operations of the two types of games are similar. The Virtual
Currencies can be used to exchange for virtual goods such as symbol
and membership plans. Paying players usually exchange their Virtual

Currencies for the virtual goods shortly after purchase.

Third-party distribution channels and payment channels collect the
payments from the paying players and remit the cash to the Group,
net of commission charges which are pre-determined according to
the relevant terms of the agreements entered into between the Group
and the third-party distribution or payment channels. For paying
players who use payment channels of the Mobile Operators, cash
remitted to the Group are also net of allowance for expected credit
losses as assessed by the Mobile Operators as detailed in single
player mobile games above.

Upon the sales of Virtual Currencies, the Group typically has an
implied obligation to provide the services which enable the virtual
goods exchanged with the Virtual Currencies to be displayed or used
in the games. As a result, the proceeds (net of allowance for expected
credit losses assessed by Mobile Operators, if applicable] received
from sales of Virtual Currencies are recorded as deferred revenue.
The attributable portion of the deferred revenue relating to values of
the virtual goods are recognised as revenue (as a release from
deferred revenue) when the goods are consumed and the related
services are rendered, i.e. ratably over the predetermined service

period of the respective virtual goods.

For revenues relating to self-developed mobile games, the Group has
evaluated the roles and responsibilities of the Group, and the third-
party distribution and payment channels in the delivery of game
experience to the paying players and concluded the Group takes the
primary responsibilities in rendering services. The Group is
determined to be the primary obligor and, accordingly, the Group
records revenue on a gross basis, and commission charges by third-
party distribution and payment channels are recorded as cost of
revenue.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19Revenue recognition (Continued)

(1) Online gaming income (Continued)

[b)  Mobile games (Continued)

Third-party operated games

For revenue derived from third-party operated mobile games, the
Group follows the policies of PC games—"Third-party operated
games” as the operations of the two types of games are similar. The
games distributed on the Group’s and third-party distributors’
platform are hosted, maintained, operated and updated independently
by the game developers, and the Group mainly provide players with
access to the Group's platform to download the third-party
developers’ games and limited after-sale basic technical support to
the paying players. The Group has evaluated and determined it is not
the primary obligor in the services rendered to the paying players as a
platform. Accordingly, the Group has adopted a policy to recognise
revenue when the paying players purchase the virtual currencies for
consumable or durable virtual goods for the relevant games and
records its revenue net of the portion of sharing of revenues with the

game developers.

(2) In-person revenue
The Group's in-person revenue is comprised of event revenue,

sponsorship revenue, merchandising revenue and other revenue.

Event revenue is generated through World Poker Tour events held at
the Group’s partner casinos as well as Allied Esports events held at
the Group’s esports properties. Event revenues recognised from the
rental of the Allied Esports arena and gaming trucks are recognised

at a point in time when the event occurs.

In-person revenue also includes revenue from ticket sales, admission
fees and food and beverage sales for events held at the Group's
esports properties. Ticket revenue is recognised at the completion of
the applicable event. Point of sale revenues, such as food and
beverage, gaming and merchandising revenues, are recognised when

control of the related goods are transferred to the customer.

The Group also generates sponsorship revenues for naming rights
for, and rental of, the Group’s arena and gaming trucks. Sponsorship
revenues from naming rights of the Group's esports arena and from
sponsorship arrangements are recognised on a straight-line basis
over the contractual term of the agreement. The Group records
deferred revenue to the extent that payment has been received for
services that have yet to be performed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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M BRI EE (8)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19Revenue recognition (Continued)

(3) Multiplatform content revenue
The Group’s multiplatform content revenue is comprised of
distribution revenue, sponsorship revenue, music royalty revenue,

online advertising revenue and content revenue.

Distribution revenue is generated primarily through the distribution of
content from World Poker Tour’s library. World Poker Tour provides
video content to global television networks, who then have the right to
air the content and place advertisements on the content during the
related license period. Revenue from the distribution of video content
to television networks is received pursuant to the contract payment
terms and is recognised at the point in time that advertisements are
aired on the WPT content. Occasionally, WPT will
content with its own content in a distribution arrangement and will

bundle third-party

share the revenue with the third party. However, the revenues related
to third party content are de-minimis. The Group recognises
distribution revenue pursuant to the terms of each individual contract
with the customer and records deferred revenue to the extent the
Group has received a payment for services that have yet to be
performed or products that have yet to be delivered.

The Group also distributes video content to online channels. Both the
global television networks and the online channels place ads within
the WPT content and any advertising revenue earned by the global TV
network or online channel is shared with WPT. The Group recognises
online advertising revenue at the point in time when the

advertisements are placed in the video content.

Sponsorship revenue is generated through the sponsorship of the
Group’s TV content, live and online events and online streams. Online
advertising revenue is generated from third-party advertisements
placed on the Group’s website. Music royalty revenue is generated
when the Group’s music is played in the Group’s TV series both on TV
networks and online. The Group recognises sponsorship revenue
pursuant to the terms of each individual contract when the Group
satisfies the respective performance obligations, which could be
recognised at a point in time or over the term of the contract. The
Group records deferred revenue to the extent the Group has received
a payment for services that have yet to be performed or products that
have yet to be delivered.

Music royalty revenue is recognised at the point in time when the

music is played.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

=)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 &% =

e E LN )

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19Revenue recognition (Continued)

(4) Interactive revenue
The Group's interactive revenue is primarily comprised of subscription
revenue, licensing, social gaming and virtual product revenue.

Subscription revenue is generated through fixed rate (monthly,
quarterly, annual] subscriptions which offer the opportunity for
subscribers to play unlimited poker and access benefits not available
to non-subscribers. The Group recognises subscription revenue on a
straight-line basis and records deferred revenue to the extent the

Group receives payments for services that have yet to be provided.

Social gaming revenue arises from the sale of online tokens and other
online purchases on the Group’s social gaming website, and is
recognised at the point the product is delivered.

Virtual product revenue is generated from the licensing of the Group's
various brands to be used on the customers’ virtual product and
social gaming platforms, and is recognised over the term of the

contractual agreement.

The Group generates licensing revenue by licensing the right to use
the Group's brands on products to third parties. Licensing revenue is
recognised pursuant to the terms of each individual contract with the
customer and is recognised over the term of the contractual
agreement. Deferred revenue is recorded to the extent the Group has
received a payment for products that have yet to be delivered.

(5) Interestincome

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the
effective interest method. For credit-impaired financial assets, the
effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost [(i.e. gross
carrying amount net of ECL allowance) of the asset.

2.20Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where
there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and
the Group will comply with all attached conditions. Government
grants are deferred and recognised in profit or loss over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that the grants are intended

to compensate.

Government grants relating to income is presented in gross under
“other income” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BETME (E)

Fortheyear ended 31 December2019 HiZE =T —NF+ZA=+—HBLFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. RESTBURBIZE @)

POLICIES (continued)

2.21Impairment of non-financial assets

The following assets are subject to impairment testing:
— Goodwill arising on acquisition of a subsidiary;

= Other intangible assets;

= Property, plant and equipment;

— Right-of-use assets;

— Interests in associates; and

—  The Company’s interests in subsidiaries

Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful life or
those not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least
annually, irrespective of whether there is any indication that they are
impaired. All other assets are tested for impairment whenever there
are indications that the asset’s carrying amount may not be
recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting
market conditions less costs of disposal, and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessment of time value of money and the

risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent from those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group
of assets that generate cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit). As a result, some assets are tested individually for
impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit level.
Goodwill in particular is allocated to those cash-generating units that
are expected to benefit from synergies of the related business
combination and represent the lowest level within the Group at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purpose and not

be larger than an operating segment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BRERME(E)

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZE—AF T+ A=+ —HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.21Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating units, to which
goodwill has been allocated, are credited initially to the carrying
amount of goodwill. Any remaining impairment loss is charged pro
rata to the other assets in the cash generating unit, except that the
carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below its individual fair

value less cost of disposal, or value in use, if determinable.

An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.
In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates used to determine the
asset’s recoverable amount and only to the extent that the asset’s
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no

impairment loss had been recognised.

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in respect of
goodwill are not reversed in a subsequent period. This is the case
even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have been recognised had the
impairment been assessed only at the end of the financial year to
which the interim period relates.

2.22Employee benefits

(a) Pension obligations

The Group has various defined contribution plans in accordance with
the local conditions and practices in the municipalities and provinces
in which they operate. Defined contribution plans are pension and/or
other social benefit plans under which the Group pay fixed
contributions into a separate entity (a fund) and will have no legal or
constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does
not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees benefits relating to
employee service in the current and prior periods. The contributions
are recognised as labour costs when they are due. Under the defined
contribution schemes, forfeited contributions could not be used to

reduce the existing level of contributions.

(b) Bonus entitlements

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised as a liability when
the Group has a present contractual or constructive obligation as a
result of services rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of
the obligation can be made. Liabilities for bonus are expected to be
settled within twelve months and are measured at the amounts

expected to be paid when they are settled.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BETME (E)

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZFE—AF+ A=+ —HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EXSEHBRME @)

POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Employee benefits (Continued) 222 E @A ()

(c) Equity-settled share-based compensation ) IEZBE DURORER
transactions NER S

The Group operates a number of equity-settled share-based
compensation plans under which the Group receives services from
employees as consideration for equity instruments (options) of the
Group. The fair value of the services received in exchange for the
grant of the equity instruments is recognised as expense.

The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the
fair value of the equity instruments granted including any market
performance conditions; excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions; and including the impact of

any non-vesting conditions.

Non-market performance and service conditions are included in
assumptions about the number of options and shares that are
expected to vest. The total expense is recognised over the vesting
period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be

satisfied.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of
the number of options and shares that are expected to vest based on
the non-marketing performance and service conditions. The Group
recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in

the profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as If the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BRERME(E)

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZE—AF T+ A=+ —HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EXSEHBREME @)

POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Employee benefits (Continued) 222 E @A ()

(c) Equity-settled share-based compensation ) IEZBE DURORER
transactions (Continued) BB & 22 2 ()

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised
for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award
where non-vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is substituted for
the cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on
the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated
as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in

the previous paragraph.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The
proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs
are credited to share capital (nominal value] and share premium.

(d) Share-based payment transactions among group
entities

The grant by the Company of options over its equity instruments to
the employees of subsidiary undertakings in the Group is treated as a
capital contribution. The fair value of employee services received,
measured by reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised over
the vesting period as an increase to investment in subsidiary
undertakings, with a corresponding credit to equity (share option
reserve] in the separate financial statements of the Company.

2.23Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred, net of any investment income earned on
the temporary investment of the specific borrowings, for the
acquisition, construction or production of any qualifying asset are
capitalised during the period of time that is required to complete and
prepare the asset for its intended use. A qualifying asset is an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for
its intended use or sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed when

incurred.

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying
asset when expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing
costs are being incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are being undertaken.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs ceases when substantially all the
activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended
use or sale are complete.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

=)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 &% =

M BRI EE (8)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.24Accounting for income taxes

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.
Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those
obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities relating to the current
or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the reporting date. They
are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to
the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the taxable profit for
the year. All changes to current tax assets or liabilities are recognised
as a component of tax expense in profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on temporary
differences at the reporting date between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities in the financial statements and their respective
tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised for
all deductible temporary differences, tax losses available to be carried
forward as well as other unused tax credits, to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit, including existing taxable temporary
differences, will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction

that affects neither taxable nor accounting profit or loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period the liability is settled or the asset
realised, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised in profit or
loss, or in other comprehensive income or directly in equity if they
relate to items that are charged or credited to other comprehensive

income or directly in equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BRERME(E)

Fortheyear ended 31 December2019 HZE =T —NF+ZA=+—BHLFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EXSEHBREME @)
POLICIES (continued)
2.24 Accounting for income taxes (Continued) 22LFTEREERIE (|)

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented in net if,
and only if,

(a) the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off the

recognised amounts; and

(b]  intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities in

net if, and only if,

(a)  the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities; and

(b)  the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either:
(i)  the same taxable entity; or
(i) different taxable entities which intend either to settle

current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to

realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously,
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in each future period in which significant amounts of HEEHAEXREERE
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled ERSEAENTREZRH
or recovered. T o

2.25 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as
a liability in the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements in
the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’'s

shareholders or Board, where appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 &% =

M BRI EE (8)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.26Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment
information based on the regular internal financial information
reported to the board of directors of the Company for their decisions
about resources allocation to the Group’s business components and
for their review of the performance of those components. The
business components in the internal financial information reported to
the executive director are determined following the Group’s major
product and service lines.

Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each of
the service lines requires different resources as well as marketing
approaches. All inter-segment transfers are carried out at arm’s

length prices.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group has identified

three reportable segments as below:

(i) Lianzhong Group — online card and board games business

carried out by Lianzhong Group

(il Peerless Group — online card and board games of World Poker
Tour ("WPT") business

(i)  eSports business: sports e-commerce business and other non-

card-and-board games new internet businesses

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group has reorganised
the WPT business and eSports business into Allied Esports
Entertainment, Inc. ["AESE"] for separate listing in NASDAQ of the
United States (the “Spin-off”). Upon the completion of this Spin-off,
regular internal financial information of AESE as a whole is reported
to the board of directors of the Company.

In view of the change of internal reporting structure, the Group re-
identifies the following reportable segments for the year ended 31
December 2019:

(i) Lianzhong Group — online card and board games business
carried out by Lianzhong Group

(i)  AESE Group — World Poker Tour ("WPT") and eSports

businesses carried out by AESE Group
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
R BRETME (B)

Fortheyear ended 31 December2019 HZE =T —NF+ZA=+—BHLFE
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EXEFHHRME =)
POLICIES (continued)
2.26Segment reporting (Continued) 226D WS (|)
Comparative information for the year ended 31 December 2018 has BHEe_ZTZ—\F+_A=+—HLEFE
been restated to conform with the current year's presentation. MERERE TES - LERXEFEN2
1=V
The measurement policies the Group uses for reporting segment K& B AR E R B RRE E R 85k
results under IFRS 8 are the same as those used in its financial #HE D ABEE PTG 2 BUR R R
statements prepared under IFRSs. B R B 765 3 45 4 Bl 4R B4 EL B 75 3R % P AR
EHR o
Segment assets include all assets and segment liabilities include all DEHEEREMEEE MOBLEER
liabilities. ERBAR-
2.27Related parties 2.27RAE 5
For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements, a party MZEHREUBRERMS —AHEEAR
is considered to be related to the Group if: BREE B REE -
(a)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family (a) WELATAZL: G BIEZA®%ZA &‘Eﬁ
and if that person: AL 2R EAREE R &
(i) has control or joint control over the Group; (i) 72 ) Bt £ (B 422 ) AN SR [
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or i) HAEBBEERFEN K
liii) is a member of the key management personnel of the il ARAKEEIEREEE AT
Group or of a parent of the Group. TEEBEKE -

BREEERERAT —E-NEER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BETME (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 &% =

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.27 Related parties (Continued)

(b)  the party is an entity and if any of the following conditions

applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group.

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party.

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

a person identified in (alli) has significant influence over
the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members

who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in

their dealings with the entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
R BRETME (B)

Fortheyear ended 31 December2019 HZE =T —NF+ZA=+—BHLFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED IFRSs

New and amended IFRSs that are effective for
annual periods beginning on 1 January 2019

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time the
following new and amended IFRSs, which are relevant to the Group’'s
operations and effective for the Group’s consolidated financial

statements for the annual period beginning on 1 January 2019:

IFRS 16 Leases

Amendments to IFRS ¢ Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation

Amendments to IAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

Amendments to IAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures

Amendments to IFRSs Annual Improvements to IFRSs

015-2017 Cycle

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

The impact of the adoption of the new and amended IFRSs are
discussed below. Other than as noted below, the adoption of the new
and amended IFRSs had no material impact on how the results and
financial position for the current and prior periods have been
prepared and presented.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BETME (E)

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZFE—AF+ A=+ —HILFE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED IFRSs

(Continued)

New and amended IFRSs that are effective for
annual periods beginning on 1 January 2019
(Continued)

IFRS 16 “Leases”

As a Lessee

IFRS 16 “Leases” replaces IAS 17 “Leases” along with three
Interpretations IFRIC 4 “Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease”, IFRIC 15 “Operating Leases-Incentives” and IFRIC
27 “Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal
Form of a Lease”. IFRS 16 has been applied using the modified
retrospective approach, with the cumulative effect of adopting IFRS 16
being recognised in equity as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained earnings for the current period. Prior periods have not been
restated.

For contracts in place at the date of initial application, the Group has
elected to apply the definition of a lease from IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 and
has not applied IFRS 16 to arrangements that were previously not
identified as lease under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4.

The Group has elected not to include initial direct costs in the
measurement of the right-of-use asset for operating leases in
existence at the date of initial application of IFRS 16, being 1 January
2019. At this date, the Group has also elected to measure the right-
of-use assets at an amount equal to the lease liability adjusted for any
prepaid or accrued lease payments that existed at the date of

transition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
REMBRITME (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZE—AF T+ A=+ —HILFE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED IFRSs

(Continued)

New and amended IFRSs that are effective for
annual periods beginning on 1 January 2019
(Continued)

IFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

As a Lessee (Continued]

Instead of performing an impairment review on the right-of-use
assets at the date of initial application, the Group has relied on its
historic assessment as to whether leases were onerous immediately
before the date of initial application of IFRS 16.

On transition, for leases previously accounted for as operating leases
with a remaining lease term of less than 12 months, the Group has
applied the optional exemptions to not recognise right-of-use assets
but to account for the lease expense on a straight-line basis over the
remaining lease term.

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease

liabilities recognised under IFRS 16 was 8.48%.

The Group has benefited from the use of hindsight for determining
lease term when considering options to extend and terminate leases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

S M BREME (&)

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 HE=ZFT—hF+-_A=+—HILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED IFRSs 3.

(Continued)

New and amended IFRSs that are effective for
annual periods beginning on 1 January 2019
(Continued)

IFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

As a Lessee (Continued)

The following is a reconciliation of total operating lease commitments
at 31 December 2018 to the lease liabilities recognised at 1 January

£ HR R 5] R A2 5] Bl BR B
S ZE A m)

RZE—NF—B—BRB
L EEHBEEBMHET RIE

IEET BRI 8 S 28l (m)
BERYERSENB16REE] (8

TERABEN (B)
TXYXARZZE—N\F+ZA=+—8H

REHEAERREAR_FT—-NF—A

2019: —AERANEERBRHE:
RMB'000
AR T T
Total operating lease commitments disclosed at RZZE-NF+-A=+—H
31 December 2018 BEMNKEMEAELE 59,741
Recognition exemption: HRE#R
Leases with remaining lease terms of less —FIAEERRIRNZEANEE
than 12 months (2,163)
Operating leases liabilities before discounting BBEMNREHEERR 57,578
Discounting using incremental borrowing rate BR_ZE-NF—H B
as at 1 January 2019 BEEME/LR (8,499)
Operating leases liabilities KEHEAE 49,079
Extension option reasonably certain to be exercised SERHTESITRAEE R 26,739
Total lease liabilities recognised under IFRS 16 ZE-NF-A—BREEEHG
at 1 January 2019 mEENB 16ROV ER FERR 75,818
Classified as: DER -
Current lease liabilities nBEEAE 1,779
Non-current lease liabilities FERBHEHEBE 64,039
75,818
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
R BRETME (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 HE=ZFT—hF+-_A=+—HILFE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED IFRSs

(Continued)

Total impact arising from transition to IFRS 16

The following table summarises the impact of transition to IFRS 16 on
the Group's consolidated statement of financial position at 1 January
2019:

3.

=3¢

ER #7851 B ‘f‘“ﬂ%%][‘?fiﬂﬁ
S ZE A m)

RBEZCIRFRES %R
FIEELTNERESE

TREABEEERTHRELELE16
BHAEBER _FT-NAF—H-BEAE
MBRRROTE

%

\¢

RMB'000
AREBTT
Increase in right-of-use assets i FA #E & EE 2 0 75,818
Increase in lease liabilities HEAFEEM 75,818
Amendments to IFRS 9 “Prepayment Features with Negative BEBEUBEREERAEIFH (BFTAX)E
Compensation” BEHEENRNKERM]
The amendments allow particular prepayable financial assets with HWENRESBEE LRRRTHNAEAS

negative compensation to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI

ERMB(EFRANBREAREAMKLAR

instead of at FVTPL if the prepayment amount substantially WEIEREINEE)  AZFEEI A THAS
represented unpaid amounts of principal and interest, which could BfEMNSENEMeREE, MEBIE
include reasonable additional compensation for the early termination SR AN sk iR A A B ET A E A2 U ES

of the contract.

i 3ER A R Et AR E e

The amendments also include clarifications to the modification or ZEERNERE T2 E R AKX
exchange of a financial liability that does not result in derecognition, i.e. PHEENEHRKELNEF RS
the gain or loss arising from on modification of a financial liability that HEEENmMEENEE TS EHL L

does not result in derecognition, calculated by discounting the change

BRERERNEREAHRERE

in contractual cash flows at the original effective interest rate, is BB T AT E) AR B TR o
immediately recognised in profit or loss.
The application of these amendments has had no impact on the FERZE B HENANEELSS B KHK

Group's consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
R BRITME (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 HE=ZFT—hF+-_A=+—HILFE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED IFRSs

(Continued)

New and amended IFRSs that are effective for
annual periods beginning on 1 January 2019
(Continued)

Amendments to IAS 19 “Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement
The amendments clarify how an entity determines pension expenses

when changes to a defined benefit plan occur and require an entity to

3.

|

<

) ‘ﬁ

¥

?

%

FEIRSIBEIE R
RS 2 Al ()

S8

\¢

753

_E-NF—HB—B8HB
LEEBHREEBZFHII R
1Z 5] Bl PR BA 75 3R = % Bl (&)

BIERE St REAE195% (BT A) (5t
B25] - RS E

mwa#%;ﬁmﬁﬂ%ﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁ
EREMTECRASHS ¥ B
B A AEEN G ERTEEFNAE

use updated actuarial assumptions from remeasurement of net SKE B

defined benefit liability (asset) to determine current service cost and (BE)FEMTRHNBEBRRIINEEZ
net interest for the remainder of the reporting period after the change SHEIE & RS R E A S H RS
to the plan. Any reduction in a surplus should be recognised BR AN F % A S o {E ] 3 & £R 1E &9 4R R
immediately in profit or loss either as part of past service cost, or as a EERBE Hﬁf%ﬁk$ —HaNEREE
gain or loss on settlement. In other words, a reduction in a surplus BrANNEENBERERRER B

was not previously recognised because of the impact of the asset
ceiling. Besides, any changes in the asset ceiling are recognised
through other comprehensive income.

The application of these amendments has had no impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 28 “Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures”

The amendments clarify that an entity applies IFRS 9 to long-term
interests in an associate or joint venture to which the equity method is
not applied but that, in substance, form part of the net investment in
the associate or joint venture. Besides, in applying IFRS 9 to those
long-term interests, an entity does not take into account adjustments
to their carrying amount required by IAS 28 “Investments in
Associates and Joint Ventures” (i.e. adjustments to the carrying
amount of long-term interests arising from the allocation of losses of

the investee or assessment of impairment in accordance with IAS 28).
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% EERER B 8K BB A 75 s 2R
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EHEDN BERTEEBEBRSTER
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B E) -

The application of these amendments has had no impact on the FERAZEEIHAEBRE T B HREM
Group’s consolidated financial statements. | E o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BRERME(E)

Fortheyear ended 31 December2019 HZE =T —NF+ZA=+—BHLFE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED IFRSs

(Continued)

New and amended IFRSs that are effective for
annual periods beginning on 1 January 2019
(Continued)

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

The Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle include a
number of amendments to various IFRSs, which are summarised

below.

The amendments to IFRS 3 clarify that when an entity obtains control
of a business that is a joint operation, the entity applies the
requirements for a business combination achieved in stages,
including remeasuring its previously held interest in the joint
operation at fair value. The previously held interest to be remeasured
includes any unrecognised assets, liabilities and goodwill relating to
the joint operation.

The amendments to IFRS 11 clarify that participate in, but does not
have joint control of, a joint operation that is a business obtains joint
control of such a joint operation, the entity does not remeasure its
previously held interest in the joint operation.

The amendments to IAS 12 clarify that the income tax consequences
of dividends are linked more directly to past transactions or events
that generated distributive profits than to distributions to owners.
Therefore, an entity recognises the income tax consequences of
dividends in profit or loss, other comprehensive income or equity
according to where the entity originally recognised those past

transactions or events.

The amendments to IAS 23 clarify that if a specific borrowing remains
outstanding after the related qualifying asset is ready for its intended
use or sale, it becomes part of general borrowings.

The application of these amendments has had no impact on the

Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BETME (E)

Fortheyear ended 31 December2019 HiZE =T —NF+ZA=+—HBLFE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED IFRSs

(Continued)

New and amended IFRSs that are effective for
annual periods beginning on 1 January 2019
(Continued)

IFRIC 23 “Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments”

IFRIC 23 clarifies how to apply the recognition and measurement
requirements in IAS 12 when there is uncertainty over income tax
treatments. In such a circumstances, an entity shall recognise and
measure its current or deferred tax asset or liability applying the
requirement in IAS 12 based on taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases,
unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates determined
applying IFRIC 23.

Under IFRIC 23, an entity shall determine whether to consider each
uncertain tax treatment separately or together with one or more other
uncertain tax treatment based on which approach better predicts the
resolution of the uncertainty. When making the assessment, an entity
shall assume that a tax authority will examine amounts it has a right
to examine and have full knowledge of all related information when
making those examinations. If an entity concludes it is probable that
tax authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the entity shall
determine the taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses,
unused tax credits or tax rates consistently with the tax treatment
used or planned to be used in its income tax filings. If an entity
concludes it is not probable, the entity shall reflect the effect of
uncertainty for each uncertain tax treatment by using either the most
likely amount method or the expected value method, depending on
which method the entity expects to better predict the resolution of the
uncertainty. Moreover, an entity shall reassess a judgement or
estimate made if facts and circumstances on which the judgement or
estimate was based change or as a result of new information that
affects the judgement or estimate.

The application of IFRIC 23 has had no impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Fortheyear ended 31 December2019 HZE =T —NF+ZA=+—BHLFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED IFRSs 3.

(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective IFRSs

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial
statements, certain new and amended IFRSs have been published but

are not yet effective, and have not been adopted early by the Group.

Amendments to IAS 1 and Definition of Material'
IAS 8

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39  Interest Rate Benchmark Reform'

and IFRS 7
Amendments to IAS 1 Definition of Material'
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
As Current or Non-Current?
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts®
Amendments to IFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets
IAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®
Amendments to IFRS 3 Definition of a Business®

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

Effective date not yet determined

Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the
acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020

The directors anticipate that all of the pronouncements will be
adopted in the Group’s accounting policy for the first period beginning
on or after the effective date of the pronouncement. Information on
new and amended IFRSs that are expected to have impact on the
Group’'s accounting policies is provided below. Other new and
amended IFRSs are not expected to have a material impact on the

Group's consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Fortheyear ended 31 December2019 HiZE =T —NF+ZA=+—HBLFE
3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED IFRSs 3. Rim#s] RIEISFIEHRES
(Continued) B S ZER m)
Issued but not yet effective IFRSs (Continued) EEMEBBRENE R
WS ER ()
IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” RUBBRSEIE1TRIRRS
%)

IFRS 17 was issued to replace IFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts”, an B0 B2 B 75 R S ZE R S5 17 5% T A BV B BR

interim standards that allowed entities to use a wide variety of WS SRE R E LSRR A R B4

accounting practices for insurance contracts, reflecting national HWEREEANAFERBYRRAENERZ

accounting requirements and variations of those requirements. IFRS BARMBEREARERZSHER B

17 solves the comparison problems created by IFRS 4 by requiring all FHNETER - BEYEHREERE

insurance contracts to be accounted for in a consistent manner. 1TRFERERARRELQREKE — ﬁ(ﬁ

Insurance obligations will be accounted for using current values SENER T AR R B BR B 7 R S 2RI

instead of historical cost, ending the practice of using data from when SRS R LB R o (R B A fﬁ

a policy was taken out. EmMERELKATIE  HMARERB

R PR ISR R Y U B9 MO o
IFRS 17 applies to all insurance contracts an entity issues (including RO BEREEE1TRERNE R
those for reinsurance), reinsurance contracts it holds and investment BHOERBREN(BEBRREOS
contracts with a discretionary participation features, provided the ) ERENERBEAREELER
entity also issues insurance contracts. The standard introduces HIEEHNIRESY  RiileR % BB INE%
insurance contract measurement principles requiring: HREE K - ZERS| ARRBRENTE
JRAI - BHHE
. current, explicit and unbiased estimates of future cash flows; . HAKBEERENE A BEEA
A E

. discount rates that reflect the characteristics of the contracts’ e RHMANBSMEBFHHEERX
cash flows; and 5

. explicit adjustment for non-financial risk. o  EMBEMAIABREFE

Besides, IFRS 17 also introduces the following changes: Uk o1 BB B 7 R 5 ZE BN SB 17 5% IR Bl A

AT & &) :

. Day one profits should be deferred as a contractual service e EERREHRESHELARRKRF
margin and allocated systematically to profit or loss as entities BReE - a8 HE 2E?2Ekf’lf7,%é\l
provide coverage and are released from risk. HARBREZS WERMDEEE

= o

. Revenue is no longer equal to written premiums but to the e WRTEHZEREERE mMERRK
change in the contract liability covered by the consideration. BRENAEHNEEBEES -

o A separate measurement model applies to reinsurance o EENGERAERARMEEN
contracts held. Modifications are allowed for qualifying short- BREAX - £ FFHEEKHEH
term contracts and participating contracts. =N &’ﬁi@ﬁ?’]iﬁﬁﬂﬁ(@] °

. More extensive disclosure requirements. e HEEZHHEEZEXK-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

=)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 &% =

e E LN )

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED IFRSs

(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective IFRSs (Continued)

IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” (Continued)

IFRS 17 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021. Earlier application is permitted, provided the entity also applies
IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 on or before the date it first applies IFRS 17. IFRS
17 is not applicable to the Group.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 “Sale or Contribution
of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture”

The amendments remove an acknowledged inconsistency between
the requirements in IFRS 10 and those in IAS 28 (2011), in dealing with
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture and require that a full gain or loss is
recognised when a transaction involves a business (whether it is
housed in a subsidiary or not). A partial gain or loss is recognised
when a transaction involves assets that do not constitute a business,

even if these assets are housed in a subsidiary.

The amendments are originally effective prospectively to transactions
occurring in annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2016.
However, such effective date has been postponed indefinitely with
earlier adoption permitted. The directors expect that the amendments
have no material impact on the financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 3 “Definition of a business”

The amendments narrowed and clarified the definition of a business,
with the objective of assisting entities to determine whether a
transaction should be accounted for as a business combination or as
an asset acquisition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

=)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 &% =

M BRI EE (8)

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED IFRSs

(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective IFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 3 “Definition of a business” (Continued)
The amendments:

o clarify that a business is considered as an acquired set of
activities and assets must include, at a minimum, an input and
a substantive process that together significantly contribute to
the ability to create outputs. Guidance and illustrative examples
are provided to help entities assess whether a substantive

process has been acquired;

J narrow the definitions of a business and of outputs by focusing
on goods and services provided to customers and by removing
the reference to an ability to reduce costs;

J add an optional concentration test that permits simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets
is not a business; and

J remove the assessment of whether market participants are
capable of replacing any missing inputs or processes and

continuing to produce outputs.

Amendments to IFRS 3 is effective for annual reporting period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020 and apply prospectively. Earlier
application is permitted. The directors expect that the amendments

have no material impact on these consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 “Interest Rate

Benchmark Reform”

The amendments provide certain temporary reliefs from applying
specific hedge accounting requirements in order to deal with the
potential effects of uncertainties caused by interbank offered rates
("IBOR") reform.

In addition, the amendments require entities to provide additional
information to investors about their hedging relationships which are

directly affected by these uncertainties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

=)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 &% =

e E LN )

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED IFRSs

(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective IFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 “
Benchmark Reform” (Continued)

Interest Rate

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 8 are effective for annual
period beginning on or after 1 January 2020. The directors expect that
the amendments have no material impact on the financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 “Definition of Material”

The amendments clarify the definition of material and state that
“information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could
reasonably be expected to influence the decisions that the primary
users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements, which provide financial information about
a specific reporting entity”. Materiality depends on nature or
magnitude of information or both.

The amendments also:

o introduce the concept of obscuring information when
considering materiality and provide some examples of
circumstances that may result in material information being
obscured;

. clarify that materiality assessment will need to take into
account how primary users could reasonably be expected to be
influenced in making economic decisions by replacing the
threshold “could influence” with “could reasonably be expected
to influence” in the definition of material; and

o clarify that materiality assessment will need to take into
account of information provided to primary users of general
purpose financial statements (i.e. existing and potential

investors, lenders and other creditors that rely on general

purpose financial statements for much of the financial

information they need).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Fortheyearended 31 December2019 HE=ZFT—hF+-_A=+—HILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED IFRSs 3.

(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective IFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 “Definition of Material”

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 are effective for annual reporting
period beginning on or after 1 January 2020 and apply prospectively.
Earlier application is permitted. The directors expect that the
amendments have no material impact on these consolidated financial
statements.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4.

JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the

circumstances.

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes accounting estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will,
by definition, seldom equal to the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed
below.

(a) Estimates of Player Relationship Period for
revenue recognition
As described in Note 2.19, the Group recognises revenue
from certain durable virtual goods derived from its self-
developed and licensed PC games over the Player
Relationship Period. The determination of Player
Relationship Period in each type of virtual goods is based
on the Group's best estimate that takes into account all
known and relevant information at the time of
assessment. Such estimates are subject to re-evaluation
on an annual basis. Any adjustments arising from
changes in the Player Relationship Period as a result of
new information will be accounted for prospectively as a

change in accounting estimate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
R BRETME (B)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 &% =

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Provision for expected credit loss (“ECL”) of
financial assets

The Group determines the provision for expected credit
losses ("ECL") of financial assets (Note 11). These
estimates are based on the ECL to be incurred, which is
estimated by taking into account the credit loss
experience, ageing of overdue receivables, debtors’
repayment history and debtors’ financial position and an
assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions. All of which involve a significant
degree of management judgments.

Current and deferred income taxes

As detailed in Note 9, the Group is subject to income
taxes in several jurisdictions. There are many
transactions and events for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. Significant judgment is required from the Group
in determining the provision for income taxes in each of
these jurisdictions. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment
assessment of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment (Note 17), right-of-use
assets (Note 18] and intangible assets (Note 22] with finite
useful lives are depreciated or amortised on a straight-
line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets,
after taking into account the estimated residual value, if
any. The Group reviews the estimated useful lives of the
assets regularly in order to determine the amount of
depreciation and amortisation expense to be recorded
during any reporting period. The useful lives are based on
the Group's historical experience with similar assets and
taking into account anticipated technological changes.
The depreciation and amortisation expense for future
periods is adjusted if there are significant changes from
previous estimates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
R BRITME (B)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 &% =

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment
assessment of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets with finite useful lives are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. The recoverable amounts of the assets
have been determined based on the higher of fair value
less cost of disposal and value-in-use calculations. These

calculations require the use of judgement and estimates.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill (Note 21) is impaired
requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-
generating units to which goodwill has been allocated.
The value in use calculation requires the entity to
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the
cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order

to calculate present value.

Impairment of interests in associates

The Group makes provision for impairment in its interest
in associates (Note 20) based on an assessment of the
recoverable amounts of the associates. An impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is
the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its
value in use. The assessment requires the use of
judgements and estimates and any changes to these
judgements and estimates could result in a material
change to the recoverable amounts of the associates.

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
REMBRITME (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZE—AF T+ A=+ —HILFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4, FABSEHEEt RAHE @
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

42 BABRIESHBRZEK
4.2 Critical judgments in applying the entity’s F &

accounting policies (a) % 40 1R20% M0 1 1 18 &

(a) Significant influence over investees with less Vel N4
than 20% equity interest BERNEEER L R20%H
The Group classified certain investments as interest in BELARNWERE®E A& H
associates although the Group owns less than 20% equity BETEESEASNREE A
interest in these companies (Note 20(a)). The Group has A (Mt 5E20(a) 2 #am - A&
significant influence over these companies by virtue of its HEREEaRECEEFSE
contractual right to appoint director on its board. ENANOENEZE AT A
BERTE-
5. SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. DEER
Segment result, assets and liabilities DEEE BEEREE
The board of directors of the Company, being the chief operating ARrlEEg(MEELERKEE(E
decision maker ("CODM"), has identified the Group’s operating and BRERKE|))EHEEAEENEER
reportable segments as below and further described in Note 2.26: AE2RD AT (RMFE226 M B FERE
at) :
()  Lianzhong Group — online card and board games business ] HBEREEE-ABBREEETHER L
carried out by Lianzhong Group e
(il  AESE Group — World Poker Tour (‘WPT") and eSports (i) AESE%E B — FAESES B {7 a9ttt
businesses carried out by AESE Group SRR KB R (TWPT]) R EBEE

BREEERERAT —E-NEER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e U MER M EE ()

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZFE—AF+ A=+ —HILFE

5.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. 2EER @
Segment result, assets and liabilities (continued) PHEE EEREEM®
2019
=
Lianzhong AESE
Group Group Eliminations Total
BREE AESEEE £ st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBT T AR®T AR¥ETR
Revenue LON
— From external customers - RENFERP 92,523 180,084 - 272,607
— From other segments - REEMLDH = = - -
Reportable segment revenue AE2HFBUWA 92,523 180,084 - 272,607
Impairment of assets (Note 11) BEEREMF11) (173,192) (2,282) - (175,474)
Reportable segment results 2R PEE (330,854) (126,098) - (456,952)
Loss before income tax BRETERAIEE (330,854) (126,098) - (456,952)
Income tax credit FEREE 687
Loss for the year FREE (456,265)
Other information HtER
Interest income B WA 479 127 - 606
Finance cost B 7% AR (402) (14,471) - (14,873)
Depreciation of property, plant and NE BRERRERE
equipment (4,988) (29,511) - (34,499)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE (2,068) (10,821) - (12,889)
Amortisation of intangible assets BEVEESH (18,633) (44,494) - (63,127)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RS U MERM EE ()
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. DEEN @
Segment result, assets and liabilities (Continued) PHEE EEREEM®
2019
ZE-NF
Lianzhong AESE
Group Group Eliminations Total
BREE AESEE i @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT AR T ARET R
ASSETS 5E
Segment assets DHEE 221,627 757,175 - 978,802
LIABILITIES =
Segment liabilities AHEE 58,214 263,369 - 321,583
Other information Hin&EH
Non-current assets [other than ETRBHEE(SRIANET
financial instruments and deferred HEBEEERMN BE:
tax assets), including: 6,975 611,158 - 618,133
— Interests in associates —-RELE N aINES 437 - - 437
Additions to non-current segment FRERHIOBEE (&R
assets [other than financial TEREEBREEERI)
instruments and deferred tax #m
assets) during the year 12,546 162,343 - 174,889
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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5.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. 2WEN )
Segment result, assets and liabilities (Continued) PHEE EEREEM®
2018 (Restated)
—Z2-N\E (&%)
Lianzhong AESE
Group Group Eliminations Total
HREE AESEE g M@t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARETT ARBTR ARETFT
Revenue 'ON
— From external customers - RENPER 250,969 138,197 - 389,166
— From other segments —REEMDH 2,227 - (2,227) -
Reportable segment revenue A2HAHBKA 253,196 138,197 (2,227) 389,166
Impairment of assets (Note 11) BEREKZ1) (358,349) (210) - (358,579)
Reportable segment results AERIBEE (412,246 (300,723) - (712,969)
Loss before income tax BRAEHAIER (412,246 (300,723) - (712,969)
Income tax credit EHEe 15,456
Loss for the year FRER (697,513)
Other information Hi &R
Interest income SV ON 2,405 12 — 2417
Finance cost BBAR (1.846) (425) - (2.271)
Depreciation of property, plant and NE BRERRERE
equipment (11,273) (27,928) - (39,201)
Amortisation of intangible assets BYEEHE (72,409) (27,189) - (99,598)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZE—AF T+ A=+ —HILFE

5.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued 5. DEEN
Segment result, assets and liabilities (Continued) PHEE EEREEM®
2018 (Restated)
—T-NE (&)
Lianzhong AESE
Group Group Eliminations Total
R B AESEE B B @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT ARET T ARET T ARETT
ASSETS 5E
Segment assets DHEE 911,047 732,430 (377,047) 1,266,430
LIABILITIES =
Segment liabilities nNHaE 249,089 724,787 (687,420) 286,456
Other information HitrE#
Non-current assets [other than FRPEE (SR ITARET
financial instruments and deferred BMEEERNBE:
tax assets), including: 377971 317,500 - 695,471
— Interests in associates —REERANER 3,052 17,534 - 20,586
Additions to non-current segment FRERHIBEE (&R
assets [other than financial TEREEBREEERI)
instruments and deferred tax Em
assets) during the year 69,012 116,114 - 185,126
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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6. REVENUE 6. WA
The Group’s principal activities are disclosed in Note 1 to these AEBETEXBEERNGEE P BHREMN
consolidated financial statements. The Group's revenue from external Tl AKBEAINBRFERS ZWERF
customers recognised during the year is as follows: NIRRT
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T AR T T
(Restated)
(E71)
Lianzhong Group BMEEH
— Online games revenue — R EPEELRA 92,523 246,855
AESE Group AESEX H
— In-person revenue — B AEERBRI A 76,901 56,510
— Multiplatform content revenue —ZTFEATHA 37,979 22,426
— Interactive revenue —H5HRUWA 65,204 63,375
272,607 389,166
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T AR T T
(Restated)
(F75)
Timing of revenue recognition W X\ FERR YRS R
At a point in time ANE R 174,618 320,532
Over time WE B 3l = 97,989 68,634
272,607 389,166

Online games revenue is derived from the development and operation
of online card and board games that consist of PC and mobile games.
Games include self-developed games, licensed games and third-party
operated games.

In-person revenue is comprised of event revenue, sponsorship

revenue, merchandising revenue and other revenue.

@p Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z—ZE—hAF+ A=+ —HILFE

6. REVENUE (continued) 6.

Multiplatform content revenue is comprised of distribution revenue,
sponsorship revenue, music royalty revenue, online advertising

revenue and content revenue.

Interactive revenue is primarily comprised of subscription revenue,
licensing, social gaming and virtual product revenue.

Details of revenue recognition are disclosed in Note 2.19 to these
consolidated financial statements.

Geographical information

The following illustrates the geographical analysis of the Group's
revenue from external customers, based on the country from which
the transactions are executed, and information about its non-current
assets (other than financial instruments and deferred tax assets),
based on the location of assets.

WA ()

ZFERRRABEETRA -BEBK
A BREMNBEA REESEARA
BHA -

EHARAZIZBEITERA BE-
A 22 3 B Ko FEE 4R S m A

N R B AR B TS R R
21945 5% -

AEERETRIMEBRKEDNEKE
SIBMEFPZWBERIREEMELE D H
FRBEEERH(TEESRTARE
ERIREE) 2 HEDITWAT -

Revenue Non-current assets
LN FRBEE
As at As at
2019 2018 31 December 2019 31 December 2018
R=ZF—hF RZZE—N\F
—E-NF -\ +=ZHA=+—-H +ZA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T AR T T AR¥T T ARBT T
(Restated)
(E31)
PRC a8 92,523 258,259 6,975 220,738
USA E3E 174,156 128,328 633,074 471,593
Others H 5,928 2,579 2,501 3,140
272,607 389,166 642,550 695,471
Information about major customers ERETEZPNERN

No revenue from any individual game player or customer exceeded
10% or more of the Group's revenue during the years ended 31
December 2019 and 2018.

BHE_ZT-—NWEERTE—N\F+=A=
+— B IEFE - BEE R A F W E R B
MRIEBEFHRABBAAREEKAD
10% 8% A L o
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Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZFE—AF+ A=+ —HILFE

7. OTHER INCOME

7. EHMIEA

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBT T
(Restated)
(E31)
Other revenue H i 2
Bank interest income HRATH B WA 606 2,617
Gain on disposal of financial assets at fair  HEE AR BT AEZZ
value through profit or loss SREEZWE - 185
Interest income from loans to third parties % FTE=FER 2 F B WA — 7,753
Interest income from loans to associates ~ # FEZ QNG ER 2 FE WA 72 170
678 10,525
Other net income Hit g A F 5
Subsidy income from government (note) BT 478 A5 WA (B 51) 1,402 3,125
Sundry income TR UG A 1,632 6,817
3,034 9,942
3,712 20,467

Note: Subsidy income from government mainly relates to cash subsidies in

respect of operating and development activities which are either

unconditional grants or grants with conditions having been satisfied.

@, Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019
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9.

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MBHRA
2019 2018
—E-AEF —E—)N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET AR T T
(Restated)
(E71)

Interest charges on Convertible Notes AR ZE AT R B (B 5E33)

(Note 33) 7,469 1,828
Interest expenses FBFX 1,075 443
Finance charges on lease liabilities HEBBENEKBER 6,329 —

14,873 2271
INCOME TAX CREDIT 9. FISRNIER
2019 2018
—E-AF —ZE—N\F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 2 ARE T ARBT T
(Restated)
(&%)
Current tax B HA B 18
The PRC H
— Current year —KFE 2,002 887
— Over-provision in respect of —BEFEBERE
prior year - (1,842)
2,002 (955)
Deferred tax IEEF 18
Origination and reversal of temporary EREMEENEES

differences % # (5] 25 (2,689) (14,501)

Income tax credit FEHER (687) (15,456)
MREBRERERAT

—E-NEER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Fortheyearended 31 December2019 HE=ZFT—hF+-_A=+—HILFE

9. INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued) 9. FiIBRELZW®
The difference between the actual income tax charge in the RETERERNERMSHER LFE
consolidated statement of comprehensive income and the amounts FA i B R B BT 15 4 AT B 18 /9 R B B R 5t
which would result from applying the enacted tax rate to loss before HELOMBOEZELRMOT

income tax can be reconciled as follows:

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AR®ET T
(Restated)
(E71)
Loss before income tax B 15 B AT 5 18 (456,952) (712,969)
Tax on loss before income tax, calculated at & FT/5 55 A &5 B 72 18 (32 48 8
the statutory rates applicable to profitsin -~ B A A = E A A EEE
the tax jurisdiction concerned BMEFE) (79,719) (236,213)
Tax effect on non-deductible expenses TR MBRAZOH G E 13,795 61,289
Tax effect on non-taxable income FERBMBMANT G2 (511) (9,714)
Tax effect on preferential income tax rates @ AR & A &) E’]%%Fﬁ =8
applicable to subsidiaries MENRBTE 5,664 4,399
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not MABREATIEEEZ
recognised ik (15,594) (3,598
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised MABABTEEBEREZBRBEE 75,678 170,235
Over-provision in respect of prior year BEFERERE — (1,842)
Others E A — (12)
Income tax credit FEHESR (687) (15,456)
Notes: Bt 3 -
(a)  Cayman Islands income tax (a) FHEFESHEH
The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted ARBREBERSEHERARIERHASH
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman Bk BERECERAR - AL
Islands and accordingly, is exempted from Cayman Islands income tax. GSHMNASEESERM
(b)  Hong Kong profits tax (b) FEEFES
Hong Kong profits tax rate is 16.5%. Hong Kong profits tax has not been BEMEHBER165% HRAE
provided as the Group had no estimated assessable profits arising in REE-_ZE—hLhER-_ZE—N\FE+=
Hong Kong for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018. B=+—BLEEEREBALEELM
TR ANE - B\ E B RS
FTIR B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZE—AF T+ A=+ —HILFE

9.

INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

PRC enterprise income tax

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of its operations in the
PRC has been calculated at the applicable tax rate on the estimated
assessable profits for the year based on the existing legislation,
interpretations and practices in respect thereof. The applicable income
tax rate is 25%.

According to relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, enterprises
engaging in research and development activities are entitled to claim
150% of the research and development expenses so incurred as tax
deductible expenses when determining their assessable profits for that
year (“Super Deduction”). Beijing Lianzhong did not make such claims
for deduction for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

US profits tax

Subsidiaries operating in the US are subject to US federal and state tax
on its assessable profits. The applicable tax rate for federal tax is 21%
whilst the tax rate for state tax of California, the principal place of
business of the Company’s major US subsidiaries is 8.8%. US profits tax
has not been provided as the Group incurred a loss for taxation purposes
for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

PRC withholding tax

According to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the Group is
also liable to a 10% withholding tax on dividends to be distributed from
the Group's foreign-invested enterprises in the PRC in respect of its
profits generated from 1 January 2008. If a foreign investor incorporated
in Hong Kong meets the conditions and requirements under the double
taxation treaty arrangement entered into between the PRC and Hong
Kong, the relevant withholding tax rate will be reduced from 10% to 5%.

9.

FTERIES @

BsE : (&)
() FEBEFMEH

(d)

(e)

REBBEEPENEBHAELOR
SHBEDRERTHEBER RER
18 P 3t A AN F [ fh 5T R B A B i@
R EETE - E A PTIS BB R &25% e

BEPBREBBEEER REHEED
WEERETEZTEERHFEE -
BEEAGFMEEMNEERMN150%ER]
MBS BRMENERD - L 7R
REE-_ZE-—AER-_Z—N\F+=
A=+—BLFERERZNREL
B3R o

XEFEB

REBELEZHBARARELERM
1) 7 4 A S 0 D e M R o 97 R Bt B R
EAH2N% MARREEXBEH B A A
ZEBEEMB MM ZBIER 588% -
RAEEHE-T—AFR=2F—N
F+ A=+ —BHUEFEELEFHEES
B ERERDMNESHTIRERS -

o B TR B

RiEPEBRERER  AKEARRA
FENAEKRECEEAR _TTNE
—A—BEELENFERT DI K
S AR10% K TRINT - fin 10 B 8 o 1 AK
YHIBEREEFAPEHEAEST BT
B EE S8 TR A R A0 e BERO IR AR E - 48
BA TR HI 5 B R A 10%F% 2 5% °
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10. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging:

10.

FREBR

FABECRIER TS ERER:

2019 2018
—E-NF —T—N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET ARBET T
(Restated)
(&%)
Lease charges: HEEM :
Land and buildings held under operating REFHEIE TTHE it
leases g == —_ 22,118
Short term leases and leases with lease A ¥ 25 FE F BB B 7% 3R 5 #E B
term shorter than 12 months as at FI165 RS EIE & K 5
initial application of IFRS 16 RRNEANEE 249 —
Total lease charges HEBRRSE 249 22,118
Auditors’ remuneration 1% SR Bl &
— Audit services —Bi R 4,219 1,400
— Non-audit services — B RS 514 800
Depreciation: e :
Owned assets (Note 17) Fris & E (MeE17) 34,499 39,201
Right-of-use assets (Note 18] & A EE (FzE18) 12,889 -
Total depreciation e 47,388 39,201
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 22) 4 /f2 & = # # (Bt 5£22) 63,127 99,598
Net foreign exchange loss SNEE B 18 F 5E 26 123
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWME BMERZBZER
equipment 72 1,265
11. IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS 1. EERIE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 2 AR®ET ARET T
(Restated)
(&%)
Intangible assets BRAE 22 3,316 125,387
Goodwill RS 21 6,238 28,170
Interests in associates REEE RN AR 20 — 57,568
Loans to associates LTHERRINER 23 1,828 35,379
Loans to third parties BTFE=ZTHNER 23 55,146 5,218
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H b fE Y 8 27 108,946 106,857
Total ®at 175,474 358,579
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11. IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS (continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group face
regulatory headwinds in the same business of highly challenging
conditions. Accordingly, impairment loss were provided on various
assets in the PRC, with reference to the recoverable amount
determined based on value in use of respective assets which were
close to zero.

12. DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

13. LOSS PER SHARE

(a) Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss
attributable to equity holders of the Company and on the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the

1.

12.

[13)

BEEREm®

HE-_ZT— L FE=ZE—N\F+=A
—t+—HLEFE AEEERAEKER
RTHEAREAEEBENEEMRN - B
It KL ERBERBEELTATHE
FAEEmMEEMNTKRESEEZ EfR
FEMNZEEEEDREBIERME -

R =2

BEETRRASMBE-_Z—NF+=A
St HUEFEZRARE(ZF AN
T

BREGIR
(a) BREXREGR

BREABENEARRER R
EARGEERRFASHTHNE
BENEFOBEESS -

year.
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-)N\F
Loss attributable to holders of the RAGEERFTB AEN
Company for the year (RMB'000) FABEARETT) (419,213) (622,970
Weighted average number of ordinary FAEBTEER
shares in issue during the year nRE 15 21 1,082,817,928 1,084,086,991
Basic loss per share (in RMB cents FREREE ATK
per share) ARESE) (38.72) (57.46)

BRERZEREBAT —B-NFFR
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13. LOSS PER SHARE (Continued) 13. BEBE @)

(b) Diluted loss per share

The calculation of diluted loss per share is based on the loss
attributable to equity holders of the Company and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year
after adjusting for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company has six
categories of dilutive ordinary shares, being the Company's
share option schemes, and options, warrants, convertible notes,
unit purchase options and contingent consideration shares
issued by a subsidiary of the Company. The impacts had anti-

dilutive effect on the basic loss per share amounts presented.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company has two
categories of dilutive ordinary shares, being the Company's
share option schemes and contingent consideration shares.
The impacts of share options and contingent consideration
shares had anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per share
amounts presented.

(b)

BREFER
FREEERDSARSEEE
BEEBEOYEE REEAT
BEHEABBERARFADE
TEBB G BT B -

BE-_FT-hhFt+-_A=+—H
LFEE  ARREENBAEEY
EmEEk ARFBERES
ARARE —EHERBETH
it RREE ARERREER E
NEEMERKARERD - BH
TEUMEINERERNERS
BEXKRBEZE -

HE_FT-N\F+=ZA=+—H
EFE ARaFEEMBELEEY
ZHEBA - BIAR R B ERTE
R ARERD - BRERIAR
ERONEEHMENNETRE
AEBSEARBESE -

14. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING  14. Eggﬁﬂﬁﬁ§(@%§$
[

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

2019 2018

—E-NF —E-)\F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®ET T ARET T

(Restated)

(871)

Salaries, bonus and allowances Ha - B4 KEBL 69,887 91,291
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RKAE R T8I 3 3,695 7,919
Severance payments BB 2,547 20,344
Share-based compensation expense IR RBERS & H X 3,195 29,037
79,324 148,591
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15. DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 15. ESREEBTHAEFH
EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ and chief executive’'s emoluments disclosed pursuant to B ETHRB - FE D B EH 2 383(1) 5§
the Listing Rules, section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies AEAR(HEESAEER) HAIFE2
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information B OEERETETHAEMNTHEES
about Benefits of Directors) Regulations is set out below: T
Salaries,
allowances Retirement Share-
Directors’ and benefits Discretionary benefit based
Fees in kind bonuses contributions payment Total
-
R BREN  UROAR
Exe HBEURNE BBRA #®Y} EBRHCR Bt

Notes ~ RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ME ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARBTRE ARETT ARETR

Year ended 31 December 2019 HEZE=-Z—-h&+=8

=Zt+-BLEE

Executive directors: HOTES:

Mr. Yang Eric Qing BELE (i) - 1,440 - 85 559 2,084

Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank HER % A& (il 1,805 - 57 922 2,784

Non-executive directors: FHTES:

Mr. Liu Jiang ThA - - = = = =

Mr. Fan Tai BREE (i) = = = = = =

Mr. Chen Xian Rz FEE - - - = = =

Ms. Fu Qiang Baat - - - - = =

Mr. Hu Wen X s (iv) - - - — - -

Independent non-executive BUFHTES

directors:

Mr. Ge Xuan B4 v) 68 - - - - 68

Mr. Lu Zhong BRAE 141 - - - - 141

Dr. Tyen Kan Hee Anthony H#EEL vi) 220 - - - - 220

Professor Huang Yong BEYK (vil) - - - - - =
429 3,245 - 142 1,481 5,297

Year ended 31 December 2018  #HZ-Z— \F+ A

=+-HILEFE

Executive directors: HBTES:

Mr. Yang Eric Qing BERE (i - 1,440 - 85 2,035 3,560

Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank HEIR %A+ (i) - 1,440 - 85 2,035 3,560

Non-executive directors: EHTES:

Mr. Liu Jiang AT kA - - - - - -

Mr. Fan Tai BREE (i) - - - - - -

Mr. Chen Xian BRIz 4 - - - - - -

Ms. Fu Qiang Beat - - - - - —

Independent non-executive BIHTES:

directors:

Mr. Ge Xuan Bkt v) 142 - - - - 142

Mr. Lu Zhong BRELE 142 - - - - 142

Mr. Cheung Chung Yan David ~ SRE{ 4 (viii) 48 - - - - 48

Dr. Tyen Kan Hee Anthony A#fEE L vi) 426 - - - - 426
758 2,880 — 170 4,070 7,878
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15. DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES’
REMUNERATIONS (continued)

15. EEFHRESEF @

(a) ES%

(a) Directors’ remunerations (Continued)

Notes:

(i) Mr. Yang Eric Qing is also the co-chief executive officer of the
Group for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

(i) Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank is also the co-chief executive officer of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 until
his resignation for co-chief executive officer and the director on
30 August 2019.

(i) Resigned on 26 June 2019.

liv]  Appointed on 29 June 2019.

(v Resigned on 29 June 2019.

(vl Appointed on 27 March 2018.

[vii)  Appointed on 17 December 2019.

[viii)  Resigned on 27 March 2018.

There were no arrangements under which a director of the
Company waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

Directors’ retirement benefits

During the year ended 31 December 2019, no retirement
benefits were paid to or receivable by the directors in respect of
their services as directors of the Company and its subsidiaries
or other services in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking (2018: Nil).
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15. DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES’
REMUNERATIONS (continued)

(a)

Directors’ remunerations (Continued)

Directors’ termination benefits

During the year ended 31 December 2019, no payments or
benefits in respect of termination of directors’ services were
paid or made, directly or indirectly, to the directors of the
Company (2018: Nil).

Consideration provided to or receivable by third
parties for making available the services of a person
as directors

During the year ended 31 December 2019, no consideration was
provided to or receivable by third parties for making available
directors’ services (2018: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate and connected entities

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, except as
disclosed in Note 40(c), there are no other loans, quasi-loans or
other dealings in favour of the directors, their controlled bodies
corporate and connected entities.

Material interests of directors in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Company’s business to which the Company was
a party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year ended 31 December 2019
(2018: Nil).

15. EEFHRESEF N

(a) ES%

EERIBA
BE-F-hnhF+T-A=+—H
LFE BESRKLESREME
BHIMBERARAES IR
HEMAFRIEHN(ZF -\ F:
E) o

=

MREHESRBEMQAE=7
RHENABERBRR

BE-_T-NE+=-A=+-8
LE 4 - 3 4 SR AR 4 AR IS T
E=HRENRERERR(ZT
—N\E:E) o

BROES  ZEHEBER
HAHERBLENER  £8
REHMESEHNER

REBEEZTE-—NEFRZZF—N\F
+ZA=+—BLFE BRWF
WM EEIIN ERES A
XEGlEEREBRERBLANE
HFERREMEE -

EERRZ REREGNHE
ENEXRER

BMEEEARQB MM AR A
EESHEEAEa(TwEEXHE
B)ARFERRBE_T—HLF+
A=t BLEERTMAER
MEBERNEARS THEREHD
(ZZ2E—NF 8\
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16. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUAL

EMOLUMENTS

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group
for the year included two (2018: two) directors whose emoluments are
reflected in the analysis presented above. The emoluments paid/

16. h2EafmAL

FARXKELEREFMALO B EHE
ME(ZE-N\F MB)EZ H#2
ERBREXDH P - FARE NN

=

payable to the remaining three (2018: three) individuals during the BTI=B(ZFE—N\F: =%) ALK B
year are as follows: /(N
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T ARBTT
Salaries and other emoluments FekHEMMe 5,255 4,983
Discretionary bonuses B IETEAL 11,784 —
Retirement benefit contributions R ORAR A 5K 16 172
Share-based payments VARR 17 7 Z 1 69 1< 3K 326 983
17,381 6,138
The emoluments fell within the following bands: & &5 & T A S4B Rl ¢
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
Emolument bands B & 48 5
HK$1,000,001— HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7% 7T % 1,500,000% 7T 1 —
HK$1,500,001— HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7 7T & 2,000,0007%8 7T 1 2
HK$2,000,001— HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7% 7T £ 2,500,0007% 7T — —
HK$2,500,001— HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7% 7t = 3,000,0007% 7T — —
HK$3,000,001— HK$4,000,000 3,000,001 JT £ 4,000,0007% 7T — 1
HK$4,000,001— HK$5,000,000 4,000,001 7 7T 25,000,000 % 7T — —
Over HK$5,000,000 5,000,000 7T JA £ 1 -

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors or the
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office during the year (2018:

nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

S M BRERME (&)

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZE—AF T+ A=+ —HILFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

17. W%  BERKIE

Furniture
Leasehold Computer and office Motor  Construction Production
improvements equipment equipment vehicles in progress equipment Total
HENE BRRBAE
£ ERRE R "E ERIR EERE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETE ARBTE ARETR ARMTR ARETR ARET:
At 1 January 2018 RZE-NF
N
Cost 2 32,503 86,174 23,431 3,098 39,125 - 184,331
Accumulated depreciation ZHMER
and impairment losses REESE 18,944) 59,700) 14,074) (1,080) - - (93,798)
Net book amount FEFE 13,559 26,474 9,357 2,018 39,125 - 90,533
Year ended BE-E-N\E
31 December 2018 +=ZA=1+-H
LEE
Opening net book amount FURETE 13,559 26,474 9,357 2018 39,125 - 90,533
Additions RE 32216 8,914 7,108 - 46,974 39,328 134,540
Transfers g2 66,032 3 9,210 - (86,589) 13314 -
Disposals HE - 634) (262) (1399) - - (2,295)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMBERE (27,470) 9,050) 8,399) - - (4,489) (49,408)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEHB AT 7.868 4,306 3798 1,061 - 1,21 18,244
Depreciation & 9,286) (15,230) 6,115) (648) (750) (7172 (39,201)
Exchange differences ERER 3,680 862 934 - 1,240 1,759 8,475
Closing net book amount EREEEFE 84,599 15,675 15,631 1,032 - 43,951 160,888
At 31 December 2018 RZB-N%
and 1 January 2019 +ZA=+-8R
“E2-n¥-A-AH
Cost KA 105,641 52,190 29,830 2217 - 51,390 241,268
Accumulated depreciation ZHTER
and impairment losses HEER (21,062) (36,515) [14,199) (1,189) - (7,439) (80,380)
84,599 15,675 15,631 1,032 - 43,951 160,888
Year ended BE-Z-NF
31 December 2019 +=ZA=1+-H
tEE
Opening net book amount FOEEEE 84,599 15,675 15,631 1,032 - 43,951 160,888
Additions NE 12,075 943 485 6,908 641 2,685 23,737
Disposals it & - (8) (5,689) - - - (5,697)
Disposal/Rescission of HE/ BEMBAR
subsidiaries (Note 45(al) (MizE45(a)) (616) (56 (151) (742) - - (1,565)
Depreciation ik 11,559) (6,878) (3,841) 1,836) - (10,385) (34,499)
Exchange differences EEZE 1,354 188 149 52 6 647 2,396
Closing net book amount FREEFE 85,853 9,864 6,584 5,414 647 36,898 145,260
At 31 December 2019 RZB-N%F
+=A=+-H
Cost KA 119,278 43,351 23,030 9,19 647 54,948 250,448
Accumulated depreciation ZEANMER
and impairment losses HEEE 33,425) (33,487) 16,446) (3,780) - (18,050) (105,188)
85,853 9,864 6,584 5,414 647 36,898 145,260

BRERBRERAT —E—NEER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

S M BREME (&)

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZFE—AF+ A=+ —HILFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)  17. ¥ % - R E R & & @)
Depreciation charges recognised is analysed as follows: EREZITEERASTET :

2019 2018
—E-NF —T—N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T ARET T
Cost of revenue NN 695 4,363
Selling and marketing expenses HELTBHEEER 723 983
Administrative expenses THHEX 33,081 33,630
Research and development expenses it 2 & A - 225
34,499 39,201
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

S M BRERME (&)

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z—ZE—hAF+ A=+ —HILFE

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

18. ERREEE

Buildings eSports arena Total
BF B 55 it FER-C]
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTRT ARBTT
(Note (a)) (Note (b))
(M=% (a)) (B 5% (b))
Year ended 31 December 2019 #HE—-Z—hF
+TZA=+—-BLFE
Net book amount as at RZZE-—hAF—-—H—HBHX
1 January 2019 FREFE — - —
Adjustment from the adoption of B £R 49 BIBR BF s e &5 22 R ZB 16
IFRS 16 (Note 3) SR e F 2 (M RE3) 11,298 64,520 75,818
Opening net book amountasat R_-ZT—AF—A—HNFH
1 January 2019, restated BREFE(EY) 11,298 64,520 75,818
Additions nE 30,795 — 30,795
Depreciation e (5,146) (7,743) (12,889)
Disposal & (2,800 — (2,800
Disposal/Rescission of & REHTE A )
subsidiaries (Note 45(a)) (Bt £ 45(a)) (1,083) - (1,083)
Exchange differences ME N = 5 (31) (78) (109
Closing net book amount FAREEFE 33,033 56,699 89,732
At 31 December 2019 R-ZZB-AFE+=ZA=+—H
Cost RN 38,210 64,520 102,730
Accumulated depreciationand ~ REFHITE KIREERE
impairment losses (5,177) (7,821) (12,998
33,033 56,699 89,732
The details in relation to their leases are set out in Note 34. ERAEEENFBENMIEESL -

Notes:

(a) Buildings represent office premises in Hong Kong, PRC and USA.

(b) eSports arena represents flagship gaming arena in Las Vegas, USA.

BFELUNRERE PERXENHAE

B2 FfT °

B 335 1 8 i 170 5% B A B 4 0 H e B

S i B35 3 o

BRERERERAY
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e U MER M EE ()

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZFE—AF+ A=+ —HILFE

19. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 19. RIWE AT B

RZZE—NEFER_TE—N\EF+=-A=1+
—HEELENBARFBOT :

Particulars of the principal operating subsidiaries as at 31 December
2019 and 2018 are as follows:

Issued and paid in

Country/Place and date of capital/registered  Equity interest Principal activities and place of
Name of company incorporation/establishment Type of legal entity capital held operation
ERRL/RINER/ BRTRES
RRAAR WHREH AR E4/2MEs HERE FEXBRELHY
Directly held by the Company
KARERER
Lianzhong Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited ~ Hong Kong/18 December 2013 Limited liability company 100 ordinary shares 100%  Investment holding
BRER(FE)ERAA BE/_Z-ZETZRTN\B BREELA 100/ & &k REZR
Primo Vital Limited BVI/13 February 2018 Limited liability company 100 ordinary shares 100%  Investment holding
AEERRES/ EREERA 100/ & & R REER
—Z-N\¥ZAt+=AH
Indirectly held by the Company
RRARBERE
Beijing Lianzhong Garden Network PRC/21 January 2014 Limited liability company US$350,000 100%  Provision of computer related
Technology Co., Ltd technical support, in PRC
IREFRAMENREREALA  HE/"E-BE-A-+-H ARELRA 350,000% 7T R ERAHERRBRITE
Beijing Lianzhong Co., Ltd. PRC/23 March 1998 Limited liability company RMB72,000,000 100% Development and operation of online
card and board games, in PRC
ARBREHEERHERAA PE/-ANNEZAZTZE BRARAR AR 720000007 RAERYRELERERES
Tianjin Juxian Tongchuang Technology PRC/31 October 2014 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% Mobile games development and

Development Co., Ltd.
ARRBERAMEERERAT

HE/-E-RETA=T-H

AR 1,000,007

operation, in PRC
RPERYRELHHER

Tianjin Lianzhong Yidong Technology PRC/11 November 2014 Limited liability company RMB10,000,000 100%  PC and mobile games development
Development Co., Ltd. and operation, in PRC

REBRREDNEERBRAF PE/ZE-RET-A+-B ARELAF AR %10,0000007 RAERERELPCRBDER

Beijing Guangyao Hudong Technology PRC/7 December 2016 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100%  Investment holding, in PRC
Development Co., Ltd.

GEAREHHEERARLA PE/ZE-RETZALE BREMRA AR H1,000,0007 REERERR

Tianjin Shengyou Shidai Technology PRC/21 July 2015 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100%  Investment holding, in PRC
Development Co., Ltd.

RERFBRMRERARAA ME/ZZ-RELAZt-B  AREARA AR#1,0000007 RAERE R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RS U MERM EE ()

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZE—AF T+ A=+ —HILFE

19. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 19. KM B A VRS @)
Issued and paid in
Country/Place and date of capital/registered  Equity interest Principal activities and place of
Name of company incorporation/establishment Type of legal entity capital held operation
HBARL/RINER/ BRTRESL
BRAAE WHREH AR E4/2MEs BERE IEXBRELHY
Indirectly held by the Company (Continued)
FAABERE @)
Allied Esports Entertainment, Inc. ("AESE”)  US/5 November 2018 Limited liability company US$10,000 51.7%*  Investment holding, in US
[2018: 85.11%)
X8/-F-\ET-ARER  BREALA 10,0005 7T 5.7% REBRARR
(Z2-NF:
85.11%)
Allied Esports International, Inc. US/25 January 2017 Limited liability company - 51.7%*  Operation of eSports activities,
[2018:85.11%)  inUS
$8/-F-+tF-f-+H8 BRELLA ST% RERLEEHEEY
(ZF-N\F:
85.11%)
eSports Arena Las Vegas, LLC US/14 November 2017 Limited liability company - 51.7%*  Operation of eSports activities,
(2018:85.11%)  inUS
¥B/Z2-+F+-A+tEA BREALA 5% REREEERED
(ZF-N\EF:
85.11%)
Allied Esports Atlanta, LLC US/5 December 2019 Limited liability company - 51.7%*  Operation of eSports activities,
(2018:85.11%)  inUS
XB/-Z-NET-AER BREEAA SL7% REEBEERED
(ZB-NF:
85.11%)
ELC Gaming GmbH Germany/2 June 2016 Limited liability company EUR?25,000 51.7%*  Operation of eSports activities,
[2018:85.11%) in Europe
&R/ —F-~F AZH EREAAH 2500080 51.7% REMELERED
(ZF-NF:
85.11%)
Club Service Inc. US/3 March 2010 Limited liability company Tordinary share 51.7%*  PC and mobile games development
(2018:100%)  and operation, in US
*B/-F-2F=A=H EREEAR REBR 5.7% RERREREEPCRBHER
(ZF-NE:
100%)
WPT Enterprise Inc. US/16 October 2009 Limited liability company Tordinary share 51.7%*  Television production, brand licensing
(2018:100%)  and tour management, in US
ZE/ZZTNETATAH BREEAR 1RE B 0T REBREBEATHE G
(ZB-NE:  RERHEER
100%)
Peerless Media Limited Gibraltar/27 September 2004 Limited liability company 2,200 ordinary shares 51.7%*  Television production, brand licensing
(2018:100%)  and tour management, in Gibraltar
ENBR/ZZENE BRELERT 22008 & &R 51.7% REMERNRZERARESE:
MAZT+H (C2-N%:  GRERERLEEE
100%)
2 Decrease because of the Spin-off (Note 1) * WA TR o B (Bt aE1)
The English name of certain companies referred herein represent RIERMIBAKE TRARMEXZTETY
management’s best effort at translating the Chinese names of these BEEEZERAZLENIHAZERAZHFX
companies as no English name has been registered. 2 N8 B i 2R o PR H P A A 2R S R e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

S M BREME (&)

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZFE—AF+ A=+ —HILFE

19. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 19. RIWE R I VELRS @)
The following table list out the financial information related to Allied TR EFEE T —NF+=_RA=+
Esports Entertainment, Inc. ("AESE”) and its subsidiaries (together — A Lk F [E Allied Esports Entertainment,
“AESE Group”], of which the Group has material non-controlling Inc. (TAESE]) K £ Bt & 2 7] (4% 78 [ AESE
interests during the year ended 31 December 2019. The summarised SE))(AEEREFRHES RIEZER
financial information presented below represents the amounts before RN BER - TX 2B ER
any inter-company elimination. B2 5 R E A & B A A R E K 8 AT A9 53X
I8 -

AESE Group AESE£ H 2019 2018

—B-hEF —E-N\F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETT

Proportion of ownership interests and voting

BRI ANGE A

rights held by the non-controlling shareholders K 3% ZZ # £, ff 48.30% 14.89%
Current assets M EE 113,657 48,083
Non-current assets ERBEE 643,518 157,130
Current liabilities mEAE (176,163) (124,882)
Non-current liabilities EMEBEE (87,206) -
Net assets BEFE 493,806 100,331
Revenue WA 180,084 5,003
Total expenses X 4858 (306,182) (34,281)
Loss for the year FAERE (126,098) (29,278)
Other comprehensive income for the year FREMEEEA 503 —
Total comprehensive loss for the year FALHEBIEEE (125,595) (29,278)
Loss attributable to equity holders of the Company AN A FIf&#E B A B EE (89,046) (24,919)
Loss attributable to non-controlling shareholders — FF % % % 5 & {h #5148 (37,052) (4,359)

(126,098) (29,278)

Total comprehensive loss attributable to equity

ARRIBERSE ARG

holders of the Company THEEELE (89,046) (24,919)

Total comprehensive loss attributable to non- SEER R EEEEEEIE
controlling shareholders B (36,549) (4,359)
(125,595) (29,278)

Net cash flows (used in)/from operating activities

rEEHFM) FERE

mEFE (69,512) 3,000
Net cash flows from investing activities KEEBMREREREFE 55,512 -
Net cash flows from financing activities MEZEBHSRSREFE 25,233 —
Net cash inflows BE&RANFE 11,233 3,000
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RS U MERM EE ()

Forthe year ended 31 December 2019 &% ==

20.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

—NFT-_A=1T—HLLFEE

20. RE#ERTHVER

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AR T T
1 January R—A—H 20,586 102,915
Additions NE - -
Disposals & (14,444) (26,891)
Reclassification from interest BER—ENBRARIMNEREN
in a subsidiary S| — 18,792
Fair value measurement at the date of REFHEAHNARERFE
reclassification 2,231 —
Reclassification to financial assets at FVTPL EFH DB E R A L EF ABFH
(Note 42(g)) A E (Ft42(g)) (5,663) -
Share of loss of associates DIEHE A REBE (2,273) (16,662]
Provision for impairment of interests RS N B B RE o B RU(E B
in associates (Note 11) (BF7E11) - (57,568)
At 31 December R+—_A=+—H 437 20,586
Share of net assets and goodwill DREEFEIEE 43,496 82,381
Provision for impairment of interests REE RN R 2 R ERE
in associates (43,059) (61,795)
437 20,586

Movement in the provision for impairment of interests in associates is

as follows:

ERBIZERBERBEEHNOT

2019 2018

ZE-NF —E-)N\F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARBTT

At 1 January R—A—H 61,795 4,227

Provision for impairment BB R = 57,568

Amount written off during the year FAMBH SRR (18,736) —

At 31 December R+TZA=+—H 43,059 61,795
BRERERBRAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fn S W B MR M & (18)

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZFE—AF+ A=+ —HILFE

20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had interests in the following
principal operating associates, all of which are considered not
individually material to the Group:

20. RIE N TEVRELS (@)

R=F-AF+=A=+—R A%HE
BEATHABLREBHAEELAEAKN
MEELEPBE QRIS

Attributable
Country of equity interest held  Principal activities and
Name of company establishment Paid in capital by the Group  place of operation
B 3L rEERE
AE-T ! HE R BARA WEERE IEXBRELHEH
Beijing Linghegu Online Technology PRC RMB1,371,429 14.21%  Provision of technology
Co., Ltd. ["Beijing Linghegu") development and
consultation services, in
PRC
ERERABEMZEREMLLF FE ARB1371,46297C 1 e B i A 0l 2 7
(TERERAD B %
Chengdu ZhiWeiXing Network PRC RMB1,000,000 15.0%  Mobile game development and
Technology Co., Ltd. ("ZhiWeiXing") operation, in PRC
REBEMEBRHRERRA & AR #1,000,0007T RPBEREREERDEE
(TEmED
Tianjin Zhongqi Weiye Sports PRC RMB10,526,320 40.6%  Mobile games development
Development Co., Ltd. and operation, in PRC
("Tianjin Zhonggi Weiye")
RETEEEREERBRAA & AR 10,526,320 7T RPBEREREERDEE
([REFRENEZED
Beijing Weichu Information Technology PRC RMB1,538,460 35.0%  Mobile games development
Co., Ltd. ("Beijing Weichu") and operation, in PRC
LERMBEERRMERAE 1 AR 1,538,460 7T RPBEREREERDEE
(T =i 1)
Zhike Zongheng Cultural Media (Beijing) PRC RMB289,465 20.0%  Mobile games development
Co., Ltd. ("Zhike Zongheng") and operation, in PRC
BEMBEXCERUGR)ERRF  FH AR 289,4657T RPBEREREESDEE

(T8 =HE])
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Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZE—AF T+ A=+ —HILFE

21. GOODWILL 21. &
The net carrying amount of goodwill can be analysed as follows: EEREFEADTAT :
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR T T
At 1 January ®n—A—H 180,441 129,443
Acquisitions of subsidiaries Wit B BT 8 2 ) - 97,307
Disposal/Rescission of subsidiaries EE HEE AR (74,594) (24,067)
Provision for impairment (Note 11) AR (M) (6,238) (28,170)
Net exchange differences [E X =% FE 1,640 5,928
At 31 December RTZA=+—H 101,249 180,441
The carrying amount of goodwill, net of any impairment loss, is AEZEEEREMAEBEEE) 5K
allocated to the cash generating units of the following segments: ZEUTHE 2R EEEEN
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBTT
Lianzhong Group: Bt R E
— Beijing Zhangzhong Qiji Technology — I RERFHEK
Co., Limited BRAA — 6,238
— Nanjing Haoyun Meicheng Electronics —HROEENE TR
Co., Ltd. BRAF] - 74,394
— Others —H — 200
- 80,832
AESE Group: AESEEH :
— WPT business — WPTET 101,249 99,609
101,249 180,441

HREEZRERAT "B NEER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

=)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 &% =

21.

M BRI EE (8)

GOODWILL (continued)

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the recoverable amounts of
goodwill relating to Beijing Zhangzhong Qiji Technology Co., Limited
were determined based on value-in-use calculations, using an annual
cash flow budget plan covering a two-year period per annum for the
operations. A discount factor of 23.4% (2018: 23.4%) per annum was

applied in the value in use model.

As at 31
Meicheng Electronics Co.,

December 2019, goodwill relating to Nanjing Haoyun
Ltd. was fully derecognised due to the
rescission of this subsidiary (Note 45(a)).

As at 31 December 2018, the recoverable amounts of goodwill relating
to Nanjing Haoyun Meicheng Electronics Co., Ltd. were determined
based on value-in-use calculations, using an annual cash flow budget
plan covering a five-year period with estimated long-term growth rate
of 3.0% per annum for the operations. A discount factor of 29.8% per

annum was applied in the value in use model.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the recoverable amounts of
goodwill relating to WPT business were determined based on value-
in-use calculations, using an annual cash flow budget plan covering a
four-year period (2018: five-year period] with estimated long-term
growth rate of 2.3% (2018: 2.3%) per annum for the operations. A
discount factor of 12.0% (2018: 16.0%) per annum was applied in the

value in use model.

The key assumptions include profit margins, which have been
determined based on the expectations for market share after taking
into consideration current economic environment and market
forecast. The directors believe that any reasonably possible change in
the key assumptions on which the recoverable amounts are based
would not cause the carrying amounts of the units to exceed their
respective aggregate recoverable amounts.

y@‘ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019
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21.

[/

BE (#)
RZE—NhER=FE—NF+=ZA=+
= éﬁib?%ﬂtﬂﬂﬂ#&ﬁﬁi”ﬂa
Bz Er R ERE D REEREE
E ERHAMEHzEER S RENR
rElEE -FAEERAAER 2 F/
WEE23.4% (ZF—)\F : 23.4%) °

—NWFE+ZA=+—8 HER
FEBERETREERAABEZEE
EEBEZWEB AR MEHLEER
(P 3£ 45(a)) o

RZT-—N\F+=ZA=+—HB ' HEZR
FEERNBEFREERAAABzZEE
AIERAEDNREERAEBETE &+
%m£¢%Z¢EE$WEMﬁ%&ﬁ
SARPEEFERERIUNETE - FHAE
BEEXTERZ FAREF29.8% -

—NERZE-—NFE+=_A=+
—H~£WW%%WWZﬁﬁT@Wé
BHHRBEFEABENE  EPRANFE
B2 N\F:AFH2FEBER
A E R REEEFHERE23%
(ZE—NFE:23%)EF - FREAER
NFTERAZFAHEBEER120%(=ZF—N
£ :16.0%) °

FTERZENBEE - @ AEETDRE
KERBELERERMISEARZTE
HmEHEET E=ZRAUTKRE & HE
FIERZERNEEZBRIREELESE ]S
EHTeERENFEAERAESHMN
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZE—AF T+ A=+ —HILFE

S
22. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 22. BIZEE
Game
intellectual
properties,
trademark Programmes
Computer and Brand and  Unfinished Development  Customer
Software licenses name filmrights  contracts costs relationships Total
ER AR
EE BE HAR

ElRA RHTR  REEE  BY¥ME ARHGH  HBERA  EFBR gt
RMBOOD ~ RMB000  RMBO00 ~ RMBO00  RMBOOD  RMBOO0  RMBOOD  RMBI00D
ARBTT ARETE ARETE ARRTE ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARETT

At 1 January 2018 R=B-N§-A-H
Cost A 16,332 164,343 112,380 200,761 31376 25,520 47357 598,069
Accumulated amortisation ZEHBER

and impairment losses HEEE (11,315) (89,081) (39,564) (93,468) (28,348) - (94470 (271,229)
Net book amount REFE 5017 75,262 72816 107,293 3,028 25,520 37910 326,846

Year ended 31 December BE-2-N\E&

2018 +ZA=+-HLEE
Opening net book amount FNERFE 5,017 75,262 72,816 107,293 3,028 25,520 37,910 326,846
Additions NE 3,686 808 - 37,698 - 8,394 - 50,586
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEKHBAR - 175,227 - - - - 6,142 181,369
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAF (553) (961) - - - - (6,451) 7,965)
Disposals & - 2,369) - - - - - 2,369)
Amortisation B [2,025) (66,379) [13,478) (10,604) 3,065) - [4,047) (99,598)
Impairment loss (Note 1) FEBIE (H311) (2,109) (56,634) - - - (32,785) (33863)  [125,387)
Exchange differences ERESE b6 86 3,163 6,413 37 - 309 10,074
Closing net book amount EREBFE 4,086 125,040 62,501 140,800 - 1129 - 333,556
At31December 2018and ~ R=ZE-NE+=R

1 January 2019 Zt-BR=B-h¥

-R-H
Cost A 19760 337,502 114,086 238,459 31,376 33,914 47,357 822,454
Accumulated amortisation it B #H K

and impairment losses WEBRE (15,674) [212,462) (51,585) 97,659) (31,376) (32,785) (47,357) (488,898)
Net book amount FHFE 4,086 125,040 62,501 140,800 — 1,129 - 333,556
Year ended 31 December ~ HZE-F-hE

2019 TZRA=T-RLEE
Opening net book amount FONERFE 4,086 125,040 62,501 140,800 - 1,129 - 333,556
Additions NE 1,150 1,723 81,726 34,553 - 1,205 - 120,357
Disposal of subsidiaries HE R B 2 A (I 7 45(a))

[Note 45(a)) (2,840) (107,002) - - - (768) - (110,610
Amortisation 3 (737) (16,390) (25,033) (19,401) - (1,566) - (63,127)
Impairment loss (Note 1) SR {EEE (FI&E11) - (1,035) - (2,281) - - - (3,316)
Exchange differences EBHES 20 4 2,125 2,446 - - - 4,595
Closing net book amount FREMFE 1,679 2,340 121,319 156,117 - - - 281,455
At 31 December 2019 RZB-N%

+=A=+-8
Cost %N 18,104 232,227 203,052 288,988 33,498 34,351 47,357 857,577
Accumulated amortisation R EER

and impairment losses BEER (16,425) (229,887) (81,733) (132,871) (33,498) (34,351) (47,357) (576,122)

Net book amount EmFE 1,679 2,340 121,319 156,117 - - - 281,455

HREEZRERAT "B NEER @
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Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZFE—AF+ A=+ —HILFE

22. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued] 22. BIEEE @
Amortisation charges recognised is analysed as follows: EERAEHER O
2019 2018
ZE-NF —T-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T AR T T
Cost of revenue W A B AR 2,346 13,733
Selling and marketing expenses HERTSHEEER = 12
Administrative expenses THR X 60,781 85,627
Research and development expenses s A — 226
63,127 99,598
23. LOANS TO ASSOCIATES AND THIRD PARTIES 23. 6 FERIRE=HL
=&
(a) Loans to associates (a) BFPHELAIZER
2019 2018
ZE-NF —E-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BT AREBTT
Current portion B HA 3B &
Loans BX - 1,600
Interest receivables JE U F B, — 156
- 1,756
Less: ECL allowance B THEEEEERE = —
—_ 1,756
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RS U MERM EE ()

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZE—AF T+ A=+ —HILFE

23. LOANS TO ASSOCIATES AND THIRD PARTIES 23. o FHERTRB=AL
)

(Continued) gﬁ' (€
(b) Loans to third parties (b) BFE=PLZER
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\E
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B & ARET T ARET T
Non-current portion JEBDHA &8
Loans BX 6,443 14,943
Interest receivables JiE W FI B, — 167
(a) 6,443 15,110
Less: ECL allowance B TEEME BB EEHE — —
6,443 15,110
Current portion BIHA 3B &
Loans BXR 57,470 59,398
Interest receivables JiE W FI B, 2,061 2,794
(b) 59,531 62,192
Less: ECL allowance B AR E B R e RS (55,463) (5,218]
4,068 56,974
(c) 10,511 72,084

HRARDRERAT —E-NEER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BETME (E)

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZFE—AF+ A=+ —HILFE

23. LOANS TO ASSOCIATES AND THIRD PARTIES

(Continued)

(b) Loans to third parties (Continued)

(a)

(b)

As at 31 December 2019, long-terms loans amounting to
RMB6,443,000 are secured by unlisted equity interest in
companies of the debtors incorporated in the PRC and

were interest free. They were repayable in Year 2021.

As at 31 December 2018, long-terms loans amounting to
RMB14,943,000 are secured by unlisted equity interest in
companies of the debtors incorporated in the PRC, of
which RMB4,000,000 were with interest rate at 4.75% per
annum and RMB10,943,000 were interest-free. They were
repayable in 2021.

As at 31 December 2019, the loans to third parties of
RMB57,470,000 become due within next 12 months and
are included in current portion. The amount comprises
of:

(i) RMB26,452,000 loan secured by a personal
guarantee of Ms. Fu Qiang, a non-executive director
of the Company, with interest rate of 5.5% per

annum;

(i)  RMB13,285,000 unsecured loan with interest rate of

7% annum;

(i)  RMB5,000,000 loan secured by unlisted equity
interest in company of the debtor incorporated in

the PRC with interest rate of 4.35% per annum;
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23. B FWERIARE=PL

EMRm@m)

(b) BFE=PZER @

(a)

(b)

RZZ—h&+=A=
+—B REHERARE
6,443,0007T B FA B 5 it Ak
YHEBARARZIELETR
BEAEAEEE - ZEEX
AR-_T-—FEHE-

R=ZZFE—-—NF+ A=
+—B EHERAERK
14,943,0007C B R # B &% fit
R EFEARAZIELE
MEREEF Hh AR
4,000,000 7T 1% & F| F4.75% &t
B AR #10,943,000T &
REZREERERETZ
—FEE-

RZE—NEF+ZA=+—
B #TFE=A28FAR
¥ 57,470,000 7T # B & K +
— {8 A A= H B 5 A BDER B
D o %R IERIE

i) A R ¥26,452,0007T &Y
BERBEARQEFERT
EEEETRENE
AFERE IR - 3R FF X
5.5%5 &

il A E #13,285,000 7T
5K 9 B R E R X
%3t B

liii) AR #5,000000tHE
XA R E A S
MEREARANIELE
MDA - EFH R
4.35%ET B



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BRERME(E)

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZE—AF T+ A=+ —HILFE

23. LOANS TO ASSOCIATES AND THIRD PARTIES

(Continued)

(b) Loans to third parties (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

(iv)

(v)

RMB4,233,000 unsecured loan being interest-free;
and

RMB8,500,000 were secured by unlisted equity
interest in companies of the debtors incorporated
in the PRC, of which RMB4,000,000 were with
interest rate 4.75% per annum and RMB4,500,000
were interest-free.

As at 31 December 2018, the loans to third parties of
RMB59,398,000 become due within next 12 months and

are included in current portion. The amount comprises

of:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

RMB49,475,000 loan secured by a personal
guarantee of Ms. Fu Qiang, a non-executive director
of the Company with interest rate of 5.5% per

annum;

RMB5,000,000 loan secured by unlisted equity
interest in company of the debtor incorporated in
the PRC with interest rate of 4.35% per annum;

RMB3,000,000 loan secured by unlisted equity

interest in company of the debtor incorporated in
the PRC with interest rate of 12% per annum; and

RMB1,923,000 unsecured loan being interest-free.

The carrying amount of the amounts due approximate

their fair values.

23. EFWERIARE=PL

EMwm

(b) BFE=PZER @

bl (&

(v)

n=
E' B

A B ¥ 4,233,000 7T H) #&
BERERRRE K

A R #8,500,0007T &
T D ARV R -
AR B I LR
mEE ERARK
4,000,000 7T ¥ F F =
4T75%FT B T A R
4,500,000 B R 8 °

T-NEFTZA=+—
BFE=FTMERAR

#59,398,000 7T # A AR 2K 4 =
8 A A 28 - 30 5 A BDER &R
Do ZRBEE

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

A R #49,475,0007T &
ERARRAFERT
BB TRHENE
AERER R E R X
55%ET 8.

A R #5,000,000t M E
XA R B E R A Sz
MEBSARAMNIELE
AR I 3 - R F F &K
4.35%5H 8.

A R #3,000,000T M &
X A AP B A AR 32 /D
BB ARARMNIELETR
I R EF R12%
e Kk

A R #1,923,000 7T H £
ERERBRE -

FHFENEAEEE AR
B -

BRERERERAY

CR-NEER



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
R BRITME (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZFE—AF+ A=+ —HILFE

23. LOANS TO ASSOCIATES AND THIRD PARTIES 23. i B N REB=ZHZ
(Continued) —¢4C )
(b) Loans to third parties (Continued) (b) BFE=PZER 0@
(c)  During the year ended 31 December 2019, an impairment ) RBEE_ZEZ—NAF+-_A=
loss of RMB55,146,000 (Note 11] was recognised in +—HLEFE ERIEE
“Impairment of assets” (2018: RMB5,218,000). BEIERBAEBEARE

55,146,000 70 ( fff 5E11) (= &
—N\&F : AR¥57218,0007T) °

24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 24. MR FESTARIZNE R
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS BE
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET T ARBTT
Included in non-current assets FAERBEE
Unlisted equity investments FLEmBRAREE 63,414 95,782
Unlisted debt investments FLEMEBERE = 13,286
63,414 109,068
The fair value of the Group’s investments have been measured as MM s20g) it - REEREN AR
described in Note 42(g). BEEFE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RS U MERM EE ()

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z—ZE—hAF+ A=+ —HILFE

25. DEFERRED TAXATION 25. IEFERIR

The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as ELXHBEERREERBAEBEDY TN

follows:

T

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T ARET T
Deferred tax assets BEERIBEE — (1,726
Deferred tax liabilities BEHIBAE 2,415 33,419
2,415 31,693

The gross movement of deferred income tax account is as follows: BEEFFSHENZDISEEWNT -
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T ARET T
At 1 January n—HA—H 31,693 2,455
Acquisition of a subsidiary Y g — 1B B8 A &) — 43,578
Rescission of a subsidiary (Note 45(a)) s — 8 2 7 (M 5E45(a)) (26,631) —
Recognised in profit or loss [Note 9) Rigm A R (o) (2,689) (14,501)
Exchange differences ME 3 = 42 161
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 2,415 31,693

HRARDRERAT —E-NEER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e U MER M EE ()

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZFE—AF+ A=+ —HILFE

25. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 25. IEERIR (@)

REREEMBHEERAENED
(RFFRBER-—BRBRIEEER NG

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the

year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances

within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows: EREEEH) a0 T ¢
Deferred tax liabilities BEXEREEE

Fair value adjustment
on business combination

EBESHAREBERE
RMB'000
ARBTT
At 1 January 2018 RZE—-—N\F—H—H 4,181
Acquisition of a subsidiary o — R Bt 1B~ A 43,578
Recognised in profit or loss R R (14,501)
Exchange differences M H, 2= 5 161
At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 R-ZE—-NE+-_A=+—8B K
—E—-hF—HF—H 33,419
Rescission of a subsidiary (Note 45(a)) BsH — B 2 R (MY sE45(a)) (26,631)
Recognised in profit or loss RiERPER (4,415)
Exchange differences ME N = 42
At 31 December 2019 R=-ZB—-hAhE+=A=+—H 2,415
Deferred tax assets BERREEE
ECL
allowance for
receivables Others Total
L
WRBEE
IR Hh LR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTRT AR®BFT
At 1 January 2018 W-E-NE—HA—H 1,113 613 1,726
Recognised in profit or loss RIEFPER - - -
At 31 December 2018 and 1 RZE-N\F+ZHA=+—H
January 2019 rZE—-NF—A—H 1,113 613 1,726
Recognised in profit or loss Rz R (1,113) (613) (1,726)

At 31 December 2019 R-ZZE-NFE+=ZHA=+—8H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BRERME(E)

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z—ZE—hAF+ A=+ —HILFE

25.

26.

DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

As at 31 December 2019, no deferred tax liability had been provided
for the PRC withholding tax that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings of approximately RMB282,122,000 (2018: RMB281,298,000).
Such earnings are expected to be retained by the PRC subsidiaries to
operate and expand its business in the PRC and not to be remitted to

a foreign investor in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-forward
to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through
future taxable profits is probable. As at 31 December 2019, the Group
has unrecognised tax losses of approximately RMB336,857,000 (2018:
RMB283,161,000) to carry forward against future taxable income.
These tax losses do not expire under current legislation except losses
of approximately RMB233,706,000 (2018: RMB231,941,000) that may
be carried forward for 5 years from the year of incurring the loss.

NON-CURRENT PREPAYMENTS

Non-current prepayments represent US$3,500,000 (equivalent to
RMB24,417,000) paid to TV Azteca, S.A.B. DE C.V., a Grupo Salinas
company (“TV Azteca’), in connection with a strategic investment
agreement with TV Azteca in order to expand the Allied Esports brand
into Mexico.

25.

26.

EERIR )

MN-ZBE—-AE+-_A=+—8 BEHR
KEHZBEF L AR 282,122,000 (==
— N\ AR #281,298,0007T) 78 &4 4% &Y
FEENHTREINECHEAE &
% & A FEHA 48 B A B BT B A R AR BB LA A
ERBRENFBEAES  WHRATRR
RIAGEL FIRIEES -

ERAENTEBERERETEMEN
EE HEABBEBERETEERA
BHERTRMNSEHEERBR - R 2T —
NWE+—_A=+—8 KNEBAIEBE
EREERERM B AN R ERYIE
B8 4 A A R 336,857,000 (= & —
NE : AR#283,161,0007T) © & B & &
EEFERATAEAFZEBRBOAR
#5223,706000c(ZFE— \NF: ARK
231,941,00070) 50 - BRI B RIER » % F
TRIBEE M ARE R °

FERBDENRIR

JE % B) TE T 3K IH $8 [TV Azteca,
S.A.B. DE C.V.(Grupo Salinas & T~ A &) °
[TV Aztecal) 3 1 #93,500,000 7t ( 48
ERHARE2,417000) BB A
#% Allied Esports fa h# & 78 = 22 7§ =f £
TV Aztecar] M 2 REEIR E B ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fm S B |ER M L (88)
Fortheyearended 31 December2019 HE=ZFT—hF+-_A=+—HILFE
27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 27. EZ R EMEBUWRIE
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-)N\F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Mz AR®BTR ARBT T
Trade receivables B 5 Bl E (a)
From third parties FEME =7 F A 45,166 75,424
Less: ECL allowance B THEEEEERE (27,582) (44,041
17,584 31,383
Other receivables H fth fE W TR IE (b)
Deposits, prepayments and other e TENFRIERE A EYFKIE
receivables 35,098 104,310
Advances to employees W& 8 1E By 24 5 1,321 21,175
Loan to a director of the Company i/f\%$“:J—% EENER 4,509 4,381
Amounts due from associates JE LS Bg & A R RRIE - 26,683
Compensation receivable for profit ML REF Erftﬂﬁ/ﬁﬁ ) & R B9 JE U
guarantee of Beijing Zhangzhong Qiji ~ &5 {& — 18,426
40,928 174,975
Less: ECL allowance B TEHEEEBRE (8,000) (32,083)
32,928 142,892
50,512 174,275
The directors of the Group considered that the fair values of trade and AEESEERREH R HMEKRFRIED
other receivables are not materially different from their carrying AR EHEREBEYTESAEZR 1D
amounts because these amounts have short maturity periods on their HRZESERELEERRHARNEIE-
inception.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RS U MERM EE ()

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZE—AF T+ A=+ —HILFE

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 27. ES R EMEWFRIE @)

(a) Trade receivables (a) ESZEIKRE

ZEHRBFENEFEEHRBAE A0
Z0H - RIEBHBEE S EW
RIBHEENERBHNERE DT

The credit terms of trade receivables are usually 30 to 90 days.
Ageing analysis based on recognition date of the gross trade
receivables at the reporting dates is as follows:

LU

2019 2018
—E-NF —T-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T AR T T
0-30 days 0&30H 11,608 9,026
31-60 days 312 60H 1,925 2,873
61-90 days 61£290H 614 417
91-180 days 912180 H 2,603 3,548
181-365 days 1812365 H - 17,156
Over 1year B F 28,416 42,404
45,166 75,424

The movement in the ECL allowance is as follows: BHEEEEREEDHOT
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AR T T
At the beginning of the year REF ) 44,041 17,478
ECL allowance recognised EmREHEEEBERE 34,088 26,563
Amount written off during the year RERNRIEN AR (50,547) -
At the end of the year RER 27,582 44,041

HREEZRERAT "B NEER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fn S W B MR M & (18)

Fortheyear ended 31 December2019 HiZE =T —NF+ZA=+—HBLFE

27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(a) Trade receivables (Continued)

The Group applies simplified approach to provide for expected
credit losses prescribed in IFRS 9 as disclosed in Note 3.
Provision for ECL have been included in “Impairment of assets”
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income.

As at 31 December 2019, 38.9% (2018: 39.8%) of trade
receivables are due from three (2018: three) major distribution
channels and payment vendors in cooperation with the Group's
online card and board games business.

(b) Other receivables

Advances to employees mainly represent advances for various
expenses to be incurred in the ordinary course of business.
These advances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on

demand.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, impairment losses
on amount due from associates of RMB545,000 (Note 11) was
recognised in “Impairment of assets” (2018: RMB26,138,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2019, impairment losses
on other receivables, other than amount due from associates,
of RMB74,313,000 (Note 11) was recognised in “Impairment of
assets” (2018: RMB14,444,000).

28. RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES

Restricted bank balances represented US$3,650,000 (equivalent to
RMB25,463,000) placed into an escrow account to be utilised for
various strategic initiatives including the build-out of branded esports
facilities at Simon Property’s malls, and esports event programs.
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7. EZREMBEERIR @)

28.

(a)

(b)

B2 EIWRIE (&)

BMEIRARE  ~AEEERAGS
LR B BR B 75 3R 5 2E R B 955 A
AN EREREBEIERE - R’
HEEPBRRBEFAGSER
kEMEEEERNEERE] -

R=ZZF-—NF+-_HA=+—H"
38.9% (=T —N\F:398% ) HEH
EURKETDEKE =ZR(ZF—N
FZR)BAKEREEREEE
BEBAENIEDHRERX
R

H At B RIR
MEBFHNRREBERE S
EEBIRTAE LS EM LB

KeoRERREEERB £EHA
BREREE -

HE-_Z—NLF+=-A=+—¢H
IEFE - B UCE & A F 3E R
B & 1B A K #5450007T (K 7E11)
ERIBEERBIRNBR(ZZE—N
£ AR#26,138,0007T) °

HE-_Z—NLF+=-A=+—H
IEFE - E b fE U 3R TE K R E &
B A R#74,313,000 7T (& Yo Bk & A

Rl AN (KT E11) BRI E E
BEIABR(ZE—N\F: AR
14,444,0007T) o

= bR U R 17 15 B8R

XRHRITEREEFTALERFH
3,650,000 T (48 & 5 A K % 25,463,000

L)

HERRTREBEE 28R

Simon Property il T~ 7 3% #8 22 o h8 & 37 3%
MEREFEEIER °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
R BRETME (B)

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZE—AF T+ A=+ —HILFE

29. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 29. SRITHRBFRRRE
2019 2018
—E-hFE —BN\F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARETT

Cash at bank and on hand RITEFERS 185,848 135,809
Term deposits with banks EHRITIF - 26,865

Bank balances and cash per the consolidated FE MBI R ARIBIT

statement of financial position E IR e 185,848 162,674
Less: Term deposits with banks over 3 months & : RIR7T1F MU #8318 A
B BT R - (6,863)

Cash and cash equivalents per the consolidated #RAIRE&REXRTRIR S

statement of cash flows kB EED 185,848 155,811
Included in bank balances and cash of the Group is RMB119,908,000 AEBNRTERERSBREFRRA
(2018: RMB75,922,000) of bank balances denominated in Renminbi BORITUARETAREDEEZA
("RMB”) placed with banks in the PRC. The conversion of RMB into R¥119908000c (=T — \F : AR¥
foreign currencies is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign 75,922,0007T ) By SRAT A R o A R K 14
exchange control promulgated by the PRC government. As of 31 N 2 B Fh B IR 28 A 9 SN BE E I 5 B
December 2019 and 2018, other than the restriction from exchange RBEENRE BE_T—NLFR=ZF
control regulations, there is no significant restriction on the Group. —N\NFE+TZA=1+T—H BRIINEE

il 1% 151 &0 BR il S - 7N £ [ 3 A 2B A A
EPNIEHE

HRARSBRERAT —E—NEER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

S M BREME (&)

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZFE—AF+ A=+ —HILFE

30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

3. ESREMEBARE

2019 2018
ZE-hEF —E-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T AR T T
Trade payables ESEARE
To third parties EBNE=H 17,507 14,159
To an assaciate N — R E QA - 5
17,507 14,164
Other payables H fth FE {3 TR 18

Receipts in advance TE U K IE 10 -
Other payables and accrued charges Hih B REER 46,720 24,617
Amount due to an associate JEF— B & A B FRIB - 840
Staff costs and welfare accruals 8 TR R EsHa F 8,643 7,007
Accrued interests on convertible notes AR SRR ) AT AR 14,573 1,828

Consideration payable for profit guarantee in HEANERRFEN SR
relation to the acquisition of Nanjing Haoyun EROEMKE - 46,202

Consideration payable for profit guarantee and REBALEREZRHMEED

further acquisition option in relation to the i AR B s — 25 W i B
disposal of Tianjin Zhonggi Weiye RN (B — 889
69,946 81,383
87,453 95,547

All amounts are short-term and hence the carrying values of trade
and other payables as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 were considered

to be a reasonable approximation of their fair values.

The credit terms granted to the Group are usually 30 to 90 days.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

S M BRERME (&)

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z—ZE—hAF+ A=+ —HILFE

30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued] 30. E5 K HEH B IR @)
The ageing analysis of trade payables to third parties based on ERNE=R10E 5 ENRIERERB S
recognition date is as follows: BERER DT T

2019 2018
—E-AF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AR T T
0-30 days 0&30H 8,536 10,470
31-60 days 31E60H 528 510
61-90 days 61£290H 151 579
91-180 days 91£180H 1,979 323
181-365 days 181 £ 365 H 5,335 1,608
Over 1year Bl —F 978 669
17,507 14,159

31. DEFERRED REVENUE 31. IBE A
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARETT

Contract liabilities arising from billing in BARMBEMEENEHNERE

advance of performance

40,741 26,419

Deferred revenue represented service fees prepaid by the game
players for the Group's online games in the forms of prepaid game
cards, virtual currencies and virtual goods, for which the related
services had not been rendered at the reporting dates.

When the Group receives in advance before the services rendered,
this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of a contract until
the revenue recognised for the services exceeds the amount of the

receipt in advance.

The amount of contract liabilities of RMB26,419,000 at the beginning
of the year has been recognised as revenue during the year ended 31
December 2019.

I FE WA 45 7S 52 1B AR b e 8 e 2 B B 5K
NEMNERR EREERERD D
FABRNHREE MAEERHRSE A
5 i R SR AR R AR 7S

2N 5 B 0 4R AR 7% A TR ST MR ERFROR
WEERENHIEREEARNRE B
ERRBERNRABBBRKASR
Rk e

HE-_Z— L F+A=+—81

FE REVEENEAHNEBEBARE
26,419,000 7T E R AR A °
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e U MER M EE ()

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZFE—AF+ A=+ —HILFE

32. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION PAYABLE 32. BN RIKE
2019 2018
—®-NF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T AR¥ETT

Contingent consideration payable for profit 3t 5 8 U B/ R 47 18 09 )& 7
guarantee in relation to the acquisition of ¥R EYFENF sk A RKAE

Nanjing Haoyun - 40,948
The movements during the year were as follows: FREEBNOT :

2019 2018

ZE-hF —E-)N\F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARETT

As at 1 January n—A—H 40,948 3,328
Fair value of contingent consideration W BE Mt B~ R EE A H) R S A

payables arising from acquisition of REARE

subsidiaries - 113,150
Derecognition upon rescission of a BH— AW B QA& R

subsidiary (Note 45(a)) (Mf3E45(a)) (40,948) -
Transfers to other receivables BT H R IE = 18,426
Transfers to other payables B Hh JE N IR = (48,624)
Fair value changes recognised for the year F NIERH A R EE D — (45,332)
As at 31 December R+ZA=+—8H - 40,948
Analysed as: pakiv=1
— Current liabilities —-nBAE — 40,948
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

=)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 &% =

e E LN )

33. CONVERTIBLE NOTES

Convertible Notes issued in 2019

On 17 May 2019, the Group issued convertible notes with an aggregate
principal amount of US$4,000,000 (equivalent to RMB26,479,000) (the
“2019 Convertible Notes”). The 2019 Convertible Notes carry interest
at 12% per annum, payable annually in arrears. The 2019 Convertible
Notes will mature in 12 months and the Group shall redeem at 100%

of the principal amount on the maturity date.

The noteholders shall have the right to convert the 2019 Convertible
Notes into equity securities of either each of Allied Esports and Black
Ridge (the “Conversion Equity Securities”), in each case in the event of
a qualified financing. The number of Conversion Equity Securities to
be issued to the noteholders shall be equal to the product of (i] the
principal amount of the Convertible Notes being converted into
Conversion Equity Securities, divided by (i) US$8.50 (the “Conversion
Price”). The 2019 Convertible Notes were accounted for as financial

liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

Convertible Notes issued in 2018

On 11 October 2018, the Group issued convertible notes with an
aggregate principal amount of US$10,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB68,632,000) (the “2018 Convertible Notes”). The 2018 Convertible
Notes carry interest at 12% per annum, payable annually in arrears.
The 2018 Convertible Notes will mature in 12 months and the Group

shall redeem at 100% of the principal amount on the maturity date.

The noteholders shall have the right to convert the 2018 Convertible
Notes into equity securities of either (i) each of Allied Esports and
Noble Link, or (i) a holding company incorporated to hold the Group’s
interests in Allied Esports and Noble Link ("AESWPT Holdco"), in each
case in the event of a qualified financing. Upon exercise of the
conversion right attached to the 2018 Convertible Notes in full, the
noteholders will receive up to 10% of the outstanding equity securities
of (i) each of Allied Esports and Noble Link or (i) AESWPT Holdco
immediately prior to the closing of a qualified financing (assuming full
conversion or exercise of any convertible and exercisable securities
then outstanding other than the 2018 Convertible Notes]. The 2018
Convertible Notes were accounted for as financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss.

—NFT-_A=1T—HLLFEE

Sk

TJRRER
ﬁ’k‘é%—nﬁﬁﬁzﬁﬂﬁﬂﬁ

R-_ZT—NAFRA+EH AEEET

NE&E A 400000 T(HERAR
#526,479,00070) 2 T BB EH ([ =ZF —
NWEABRBRERE]) - —T—AFABR
ZERBEFRIN2%TE  ARBEER
e ZBE—NFAIRBREEFN+ =@
AREHS MASEBRIBRZAS
FEE100% B E o

e ERMEEE
B NFA KR
Esports 3% Black Ridge # & 728 & 5 ([ # %
BRAZES] - BRAZEFE AZTHR
PR AR A 72 75 BB 1848 2 50 (1) 35 A R AR AR
RELFNARBRBBENRS S - BRI
li)8.50k T ([EHREBEDHNEm - —T— N1
FAIBRBREBARREAR B ARR
WERBIE-

Sut B
=%

R-_E—N\FE+A+—H KEEHT
N4 %A 10,000,000 T (HERAR
#568,632,0007T) 2 AT R EHE ([ =F —

EBRFEABE
= 15 82 48 5 Allied

BITIBRRK

NERBBREE]D —F— \FRBK
EBREENENRRT L ARTFEM

e —E-N\FABLKEEHR+ @
AAREH MAEEBRIBPAERS
REH)100% & 2] ©

EREEABRE T \FAHEE
1% 8% 3% 5 (i) Allied Esports & Noble Link %
B 2k (i) & #F B 2~ & B R Allied Esports &
Noble Link & # #= i = fift B 37 &9 4% ik &
A ([AESWPTHE R AR MR AE S - m
EEBRTMBEECERBEZ SHE
AER . T \F I BRERZEE S
MEREREBRETEE MERFEA
#5 Uz BX & % (i) Allied Esports } Noble Link
H B HIAESWPTEZE R A B EHEE LS
ERBERIM(BRELERFEZETHE
MABREATEERFEERHERR
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BEITRAEHRMI0% > —F— \FEahk
BEBABRREAAEFARRN SR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RS M BRI 5 (8)
Fortheyearended 31 December2019 HE=ZFT—hF+-_A=+—HILFE
33. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued) 33. ARBRER W@
On 5 August 2019, the Group entered into agreements with RZZE—NFENBRH" $&l;ﬁ$%ﬁ
noteholders to defer repayment of the total convertible notes of B A AR A5 AT i Rk 2 i 4a
US$14,000,000 to 23 August 2020. In consideration of agreeing to the 14000000 E TiEEE T - F )\ )EJ
deferred repayment, the noteholders will be paid the higher of (i) 18 —t=HEZ-FARETEEENR
months of interest, or (ii] the amount the noteholders would have B ZEHEABES)I8E A B F
received in interest plus an additional six months of interest, solely to B UZ[H];RTfé A AR KE TS SN
the extent any Holder elects not to convert into AESE's common BHNRNERAFENCENRSE @ fE—
stock. REREMRE AR EE N ERSAESE
B E AR o
The movements of Convertible Notes are as follows: AR EEAESE ST
2019 2018
ZE-NEF —F—N\EF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARET T
At 1 January n—H—H 70,323 —
Issue of Convertible Notes ?é‘ﬁﬁﬁﬁ‘ﬁﬁ?% 26,479 68,632
Fair value changes of 2018 Convertible T N\FABRREENAAE
Notes k@ — 1,691
Exchange difference ME 3, = (296) —
At 31 December R+-—A=+—H 96,506 70,323
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Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z—ZE—hAF+ A=+ —HILFE

34. LEASE LIABILITIES 4. HEBE

2019 2018
ZE-hEF —E-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T ARBT T
Total minimum lease payments: HIERHERIBENRE :
Due within one year R—FREE 15,488 —
Due in the second to fifth year REZ_EZRFANEH 60,090 —
Due after the fifth year 2 A F 1% 5 8 64,117 -
139,695 —
Future finance charges on leases liabilities fAE BB ARG E W E (46,491) —
Present value of leases liabilities HEBENRE 93,204 -
Present value of minimum lease payments: &K &R EHIRE

Due within one year A — A E| Hf 7,674 -
Due in the second to fifth year NG e s E 35,888 -
Due after the fifth year & T F 1 5 1 49,642 -
93,204 —

Less: Portion due within one year included J& : BT ARBBEN R —FA
under current liabilities S ER B (7,674) —

Portion due after one yearincluded under B it AFERBEBEHN —F1%E 5
non-current liabilities EREE > 85,530 —

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group entered into new
lease agreements for use of buildings with lease terms ranging from
24 to 167 months. The Group makes fixed payments during the
contract period. The lease agreement contains an option for further
extending the lease period for 5 years. The Group considered the
option is reasonably certain to be exercise at the lease
commencement date. On lease commencement during the year
ended 31 December 2019, the Group recognised right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities amounting to RMB30,795,000 and RMB30,795,000
respectively. The lease liabilities arising from leases of buildings and
eSports arena as disclosed in Note 18.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the total cash outflows for
the leases are RMB9,416,000.

HE-ZTZ-—NhFE+-_A=+—HBItE
B AEBERERZFTZHEE W
HOHEBNTUZR17EA - AEBRE
WA EERE - B B E &
EHHPR AT E—PERAERERE-
AEBRE RNHAEHAKABAH BEAE
MEEFITEZEEE - REEEEE
—E-AFE+-_A=+—BItEER
ik A"EEDRRRERAELEER
THE B & AR #230,7950007T & A R #&
30,795.000C - HEBF R E FHREGE
EHHEEABENKFEISEE -

BHE_Z-—NF+-_A=+—HIHF

B ZEHENRSRLBREAARR
9,416,0007C °
BRERZRERAT —B-NEER
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35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. &
The movements in the share capital of the Company are as follows: NANTIIRARESEE T -
Equivalent
Nominal nominal
Number value of value of
of shares shares shares
BHOHEE
il 4= KA EE g
Notes Us$:000 RMB'000
M TE AR T T
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares: ZH R
At 31 December 2018 and RZTE—NFRK
2019 —E-NEF+=-A8
=+—H 10,000,000,000 500
Issued and fully paid: ERTRHR:
Ordinary shares: =)
At 1 January 2018 R-_ZFE—NF—H—H 923,139,589 47 285
Exercise of share options 1710 B A (i) 780,261 - -
Issuance of new shares for NEEEREEIEET
management subscription A D (ii) 153,880,037 8 50
Issuance of new shares for ~ FLUK BB FIBEITH IR 5
acquisition (iii) 15,555,556 1 5
At 31 December 2018, RZZTE—NF
1 January 2019 and +-—A=+—8"
31 December 2019 —T—NAF—HF—H
r=ZZFE-NF+=A
=+—H 1,093,355,443 56 340
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35. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Exercise of share options

During the year ended 31 December 2018, 780,261 options were
exercised to subscribe for 780,261 ordinary shares of the Company at a
consideration of approximately RMB2,221,000, of which RMB250 was
credited to share capital and the balance of approximately RMB2,221,000
was credited to the share premium account. As a result of the exercise
of options, RMB474,000 has been transferred from the share option
reserve to the share premium account.

Issuance of new shares for management subscription

On 4 January 2018, the Company issued 89,189,189 ordinary shares to a
management subscriber, Jian Ying Ourgame High Growth Investment
Fund at an issue price of HK$1.85 per share. The proceeds were
approximately RMB137,280,000 (equivalent to HK$165,000,000). On the
same date, the Company issued 64,690,848 ordinary shares to a
connected subscriber, Glassy Mind Holdings Limited at an issue price of
HK$1.85 per share. The proceeds were approximately RMB99,572,000
[equivalent to HK$119,678,000]). The net proceeds from these
management subscriptions were approximately RMB231,574,000. The
proceeds are intended to be used for further developing the eSports
business and the WPT business, revamping and updating the Group's
core mobile product portfolio, acquiring and/or developing China
regional card and board games platforms and replenishing working
capital.

Issuance of new shares for acquisition

On 9 February 2018, the Company issued 15,555,556 ordinary shares at
an issue price of HK$2.62 (equivalent to approximately RMB2.16) per
share as share consideration for the acquisition of the entire equity
interest in Nanjing Haoyun Meicheng Electronics Co., Ltd. (Note 34(a)).
The closing price of the shares was HK$2.51 (equivalent to
approximately RMB2.02) per share on 9 February 2018.

35. B AR m)

F

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

B

TR RE

RBE-FT—-\F+=ZA=+—A8HL
FE BT ERERETS0261 A
ARAIEBR  REHRAR2221,000
JLc HR ARBEBOTTE ARA RL A
R #2,221,000T & 25T AR 0 )% (B AR o
RRITE AR - AR®4740007TE B
BREFGEESRERMGEER -

REEERABSEBITHRS

REZZT—NF—AMA  KRQRIRET
BERISBTAEERBEA(RRE
FERERERES) 789,189,189 1% &
BAR o FT1S IB A A A R 137,280,000
7T (48 & 7 165,000,000 7T ) B A
B ARAEEREITEI8E TR
BERBA(CEERERAR) BT
64,690, 84808 LA - FTISKIBH B A
R #99,572,000 7T (8 & 5 119,678,000
)  ZEERERESZTHEZIBREA
EE A A A R % 231,574,0007C © 7% BT 15
RIEERARE — P HREEHRELRWPT
X% BWERABAIEENZLBEHE
MmAE - W K5 B % R B [ A g
FEHTARBRELEESD -

BB EEBTH RO

RZZE-—NFZRANB  KARKET
BEER22ET(HERDARK216
7T) ¥ 17 15,555,556 A% & i@ AR 1F 75 W i /g
REFEEZKREFREERAR 2R
R AR 1B (FF3E34(a)) - R=ZF— N
F-ANLB BOZKTERER25
BT (EERHARE2027T) °
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36. RESERVES

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Share premium

Share premium represents the excess of the net proceeds from
issuance of the shares of the Company over its par value, less
any dividends paid out of the share premium account and any
premium paid for the repurchase of shares of the Company.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations for the
Company’s subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC, it is required
to appropriate 10% of its annual net profit determined in
accordance with China Accounting Standards for Enterprises
issued by the Ministry of Finance of PRC, after offsetting any
prior years' losses, to the statutory reserve. When the balance
of such a reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital of the
respective company, any further appropriation is at the
discretion of shareholders. The statutory reserve can be used to
offset prior years’ losses, if any, and may be converted into
share capital by issuing new shares to shareholders in
proportion to their existing shareholding or by increasing the
par value of the shares currently held by them, provided that
the remaining balance of the reserve after such an issue is not
less than 25% of registered capital. The statutory reserve is
non-distributable.

Share option reserve

Share option reserve represents the fair value of share options
granted by the Company to employees recognised and is dealt

with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2.22.

Other reserve

Other reserve includes capital reserve arises from capital
contribution by the controlling shareholders (including share-
based compensation expense arising from the 2014 Blink
Milestones Share Options under Note 37(a)); the difference
between the consideration and the carrying amount of the net
assets attributable to the additional and reduction of interests
in companies comprising the Group being acquired from and
disposed to non-controlling equity holders respectively; warrant
reserve and share option reserve of a subsidiary.
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37. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS

37. MR RERNMER 5

(a) The 2014 Replacement Share Options issued (a) KRZFE—MOFBlink

by Blink Milestones Limited (“Blink
Milestones”)

In 2014, 12,152,381 share options were granted by Blink
Milestones (the “2014 Blink Milestones Share Options”] as the
replacement of the share awards granted by Beijing
Tongshengcheng Investment Management Center (LLP)
(“Tongshengcheng”) to certain employees of the Group (the
“Participants”] in 2012. The share options are valid for a period
of 10 years from 20 February 2014 to 19 February 2024 with an
exercise price of RMB0.2625 per share (subject to adjustment])
and are subject to a vesting scale in equal proportions of 25%
on every anniversary date of the date of listing of the Company’'s
shares on any internationally recognised stock exchange,
starting from the first anniversary date until the fourth, and for
the Participants remaining an employee of the Group until and
on the relevant vesting dates. Blink Milestones is an investment
holding company and owned 12.43% equity interest in the
Company at the date of grant. Upon the completion of the
capitalisation issue on 30 June 2014, the number of share
options and exercise price per share has been adjusted to
25,009,600 options in total, at an exercise price of RMB0.1276

per share, respectively.

Milestones Limited ([ Blink
Milestones ) 3% 1T BV BB A%
EER

R = Z — P04 - Blink Milestones #%
12,152,381 g ik ([ = F — Y
% Blink Milestones BB |) * A E
BIAFREBEKEEEEFRL(ER
EB)VRABRKDR=ZZT—Z=FMN
AEBEETRE([2EE]) KL
fRinaEE - EREE =T —HF=
A-_t+BEE-_Z_WFE_A+
NABLETERER TEEAEER
AR®0.26257C (7] TRAE) LR AR
A 7 B 5 75 7] B BR 7R Al /) 7
REMEMARBEZEREH A
F—EAEFBEEZEFNEAEFEE
FIREER2B%BNEEHIEBFEE
B2HEEEESHEBASEEBHMD
AR & B & 8 ° Blink Milestones &
—EEREERAR WHRFL B
A KRR R 12.43% KR HE - B AL
BTN _E-—NENA=ZTAHRE
K% BRESRERSRITEE
2 Bl F8 2 & 4 $£25,009,60017 B I%
1 TEEAERARYK0I1276TT
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37. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION 37. UM RERNMER S
TRANSACTIONS (continued) (#&)
(a) The 2014 Replacement Share Options issued (a) IR == —PUEBLlink

by Blink Milestones Limited (“Blink
Milestones”) (Continued)

The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase
or settle the 2014 Blink Milestones Share Options in cash. The
2014 Blink Milestones Share Options entitle participants to
obtain existing issued shares in the Company held by Blink
Milestones and will not involve the Company issuing any new
shares, the 2014 Blink Milestones Share Options were
accounted for as a share-based compensation transaction by

way of capital contribution from the shareholders.

Milestones Limited ([ Blink
Milestones ) & {THV BB AR
BEER@)

AREBVEEZTHHEEETUR
A AEEHBEE T —WF
Blink Milestones i i # - — = — Y
 Blink Milestones B ki< £ 8 &
5 1 ¥ 18 B Blink Milestones 5 A &)
RARBEBEEITKRG BBTW
MEBETARBMEMNTK  —F—H
£ Blink Milestones & A% 4 8 18 A% 3
EFEMARNARBURG & EH
MRS -

Exercise price

Exercisable period per share

TS BR{TEE

RMB

AR¥

Employee 20 February 2014 to 19 February 2024 0.1276
== —E--ME_AZ+RAET-_MFE_ATNAH

Movements in the number of 2014 Blink Milestones Share
Options are as follows:

— Z — [ 4 Blink Milestones & A% #
HENEFHMT :

Average exercise Number of

price in RMB per outstanding
share option share options

LA R HE

2B HERE RITE
ZEHITEE BREHRE
RMB
AR
At 31 December 2017 and R-_E—+F+_HA=+—H"
1 January 2018 and —E-NEFE-A—-Bk
31 December 2018 —E-NEFE+ZA=+—H 5,076,400
Exercised during the year FRITHE 0.1276 (5,076,400
At 31 December 2019 R-ZEBE—-NE+=-_A=+—82 —
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37. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

37. MR RERNMER 5
(&)

(b) Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme of (b) RABARZE—NENE

the Company in 2014

Pursuant to an unanimous written resolution of the Board on 7
March 2014, a share option scheme (‘Management Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme”] and respective share options granted by
the Company on 20 February 2014 was adopted and ratified by
the Board. The Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme was
adopted for the purpose of providing participants an opportunity
to acquire proprietary interests in the Company and help
motivate such participants to optimise their performance and
efficiency, and also to help retain the participants for the
continual growth and development of the Group. The maximum
number of shares to be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the Management
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme must not in aggregate exceed 6%
of the issued share capital of the Company after an IPO, as
defined. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to

repurchase or settle the options in cash.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, share options [in
aggregate to purchase 6% of the issued share capital of the
Company after an IPO) were granted by the Company on 20
February 2014 to senior management of the Group with
estimated total fair value of approximately RMB52,870,000. The
exercise price of the share options granted is US$0.34398035
per share (subject to adjustment). The share options are valid
for a period of 10 years from 20 February 2014 to 19 February
2024. Twenty five percent of options granted shall vest on the
first anniversary of the grant date, and the remaining options
granted shall vest on 36 equal monthly instalments with the
first instalment vesting upon the 13th monthly anniversary of
the grant date and each of the remaining instalments vesting
on each monthly anniversary of the 13th monthly anniversary of
the grant date, and for the participant continuing to be an
employee of the Group or director of the Company until and on
the relevant vesting dates. In addition, the share options are
only exercisable after the completion of an |PO.

BEEERARBEMNEBR
st

BREEFEeRN _T—NF=A+t
H—RBBNEMRER B2
ERMNBERBARAR T —
ME-_AZTHEEN —BER
EE((EREE R AHEENE
fRHEETEI]) RAAEBRE - KN E
B EH XA RS ERE S
A2 EERE —EREARRQA
B Ee  BEBNSEZ
ELHEERABENRERBE
NEPRBEBZELEBENEASE
ERFBEERE -LZRAT RETEE
BRAHEEINEREFEER
HEERITENEREEESRT
FEETFETHNESROHEE &
HABBBARNARE XA R
EREBRTRANG  AEEIW
BAETRHEEEFTIARESED R
BERE R -

BE-_Z—NE+=ZA=+—H
EFE ARAR=ZZFT—NF=
AZtTHHRASESATEER
HOERE(GFBERARAARNE
RARABEEBREBITIRAN6%) b
AT AR EX A A RK52870,000
T EREERENTEERER
0.34398035% T (Al T %) - BB
BREE-ZTZ—NEF-_A=+HZE
—E_HF_At+AHLETERA
ER-EEREERENBE Z2=1
ARRELBEHMNE —BAEFAR
HE - ARTERLAOBEREENIS
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HERBEABTFEETASHPE
B BE2HEEREZEHESEER
H(eEzZB)hALAEENES
HARAIMES - Lo BIRERE
ARBERARAEETKEITE-

BRERZEREBAT —B-NFFR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fn S W B MR M & (18)

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZFE—AF+ A=+ —HILFE

37. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme of
the Company in 2014 (Continued)

On 30 June 2014, upon the completion of the capitalisation
issue and the Listing on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
the total number of share options granted equate to 50,042,553
share options at an adjusted exercise price of US$0.16714303

(&)

37. MR RERNMER 5

AANTRZE—OENE
BEER L HBERNRBER
RSt El (m)

R-ZZE—WENA=Z1+H8" %k
BEAEBETRRE R EIR £
mE BEREABTEESR
0.16714303 3 7t % H #Y B AR #E 48 25

per share. 7%50,042,55317 °
Exercise price  Outstanding as at
Exercisable period per share 31 December 2019
R=—Z—h#
+=-—A=+-—8
TS BRTEE e R AT 6
Us$
ETT
Directors 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2026 0.16714303 41,702,128
55 —E—+HF+tA—BEZZTEZR"FAA=TH
Employee 20 February 2015 to 19 February 2024 0.16714303 4,517,802
== —E-AF-AZ+BEZZT-_NF_A+ 1A
46,219,930
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37. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION 37. MR RERNMER 5
TRANSACTIONS (continued) (18)
(b) Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme of (b) RRATR-_ZB—MENE
the Company in 2014 (Continued) BEERXR L AHBENRBR
fE5T &8l (m)
Movements in the number of share options during the year are FERNEREGEEHOT :
as follows:
2019 —E—hE
Outstanding Exercised Outstanding
Exercisable Exercise price asat  Granted during during asat
period per share 1 January the year the year 31 December
R®
®-A—H +=ZA=+-H
T BRITEE i R AT FRRE FRTE i R1T
Us$
Y
Directors 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2026 0.16714303 41,702,128 - - 41,702,128
EE ZE+tELA-REZZ-RERAZ=TH
Employee 20 February 2016 to 19 February 2024 0.16714303 4,517,802 - - 4,517,802
&E ZE-AFZAZ+tHEZZ-_ME-_Rt+NA
46,219,930 - 46,219,930
Weighted average exercise price per share [US$) 0.16714303 0.16714303
BRMETHITRE ET)
— Equivalent to approximately RMB per share 1.09 1.17
- BREZROARE
Weighted average remaining contractual life of options 4.1years
outstanding at 31 December 2019
RZE-NFTZA=+—AERTFEBEREMNETS LIE
e NERES
Number of options exercisable at 31 December 2019 46,219,930

RZF-NE+ZA=+-BATREREZA

HRARDRERAT —E-NEER @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

fn S B RER M S (8)

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZFE—AF+ A=+ —HILFE

37. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme of

the Company in 2014 (Continued)

37. MR RERNMER 5

€9

(b)

AANTRZE—OENE
BEER L HBERNRBER
St El |

2018 —E-N\F
Outstanding Outstanding
Exercisable Exercise price asat  Granted during Exercised during as at
period per share 1 January the year the year 31 December
i
R—A—H +=A=+-H
T8 BRITHEE fH R AT 5 FRRM FRATHE AT
Us$
e
Directors 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2026 0.16714303 41,702,128 - - 41,702,128
¥ T LFLA-RAE-FToAFAASTE
Employee 20 February 2016 to 19 February 2024 0.16714303 4,517,802 - - 4,517,802
&8 ZE-RF-AZHHEZT-ME-A+AA
46,219,930 - - 46,219,930
Weighted average exercise price per share (US$) 0.16714303 0.16714303
BRMBETHITEE(FETL
— Equivalent to approximately RMB per share 1.16 1.09
-~ BRIEERODARK
Weighted average remaining contractual life of options 5.1 years
outstanding at 31 December 2018
RZE-N\E+ZA=+-HHRTEEREMETYH Ak
e BuE
Number of options exercisable at 31 December 2018 46,219,930

RZZ-N\E+ZA=+-BATREREZA
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37. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) Management Pre-IP0O Share Option Scheme of

(c)

the Company in 2014 (Continued)

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had 46,219,930 (2018:
46,219,930) share options outstanding under the Management
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme of the Company in 2014, which
represented approximately 4.23% (2018: 4.23%) of the issued
ordinary shares of the Company as at 31 December 2019.

Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company
in November 2014

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 19 November 2014, a
share option scheme was adopted by the Company and is valid
and effective for a period of ten years from 19 November 2014 (the
“2014 Share Option Scheme”).

The purpose of the 2014 Share Option Scheme is to provide
eligible participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary
interests in the Company and to encourage participants to work
towards enhancing the value of the Company and its shares for
the benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a whole. All
directors, full-time employees and any other person who, in the
sole discretion of the Board, have contributed or will contribute
to the Group are eligible to participate in the 2014 Share Option
Scheme. Each grant of options to any director of the Company,
the chief executive officer or substantial shareholder of the
Company must first be approved by the independent
non-executive directors of the Company.

The maximum number of shares to be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the 2014 Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 30% of
the issued share capital of the Company from time to time.

37. MR RERNMER 5

(&)

(b)

(c)

ARARZF—OFNE
BEEERARBEMNEBR
fE5T &8l (m)

RZE—AE+-A=+—H &
BARATR-_ZE—NHENETRE
BRARBEREREE A&
B A 46,219,930 (ZF— \ &
46,219,930172 ) 1# R 17 B AR A - 1h
RAABR=ZZE—NANEFE+=A=+
—HEBTEBRL28%(ZF —
NG 4.23%) °

ARIR_F—OF+—
AR AR St 8l

BEARBR=_Z-—NFE+—A
TABETZEREIAS BB
MERARSR  ARRRM —IEE
fiEE BT —mF+—HA+
NBEEFTFARABR(=F—HF
EhEstall) -

—E-NEBEREFEEERA
ER2EERHBALRRESR
Hamz#e USRB2EESER
ARBERZEBNEE NARR
ARAREBRND2BE MELL
AREUHAEEEMERZES
EREEMBAEZTENBRELZ
FREMATHFTEERSE -
T-MERRESSE - AARRE
MEE THRAKAARAETEZR
RETZE - HBRERAELR
BARRBILIFATEST ZHE-

RE-_ZF-OFEREFE IR
AR EMEREFEEHE
WARTTENZHEREETER
BTETZENESBEEART
BEBARAITHDETRAZ
30% °

HRARSBRERAT —E—NEER @
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37. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c)

Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company
in November 2014 (Continued)

Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the 2014 Share Option Scheme or any other
share option schemes adopted by the Company must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue on
the date of adoption (the "Option Scheme Mandate Limit").

The Option Scheme Mandate Limit may be refreshed at any
time by obtaining approval of the shareholders of the Company
in general meeting and/or such other requirements prescribed
under the Listing Rules. However, the refreshed Option Scheme
Mandate Limit cannot exceed 10% of the total number of shares
of the Company in issue as at the date of such approval.

Unless approved by shareholders of the Company, the total
number of shares of the Company issued and to be issued upon
the exercise of the options granted to each participant (including
both exercised and unexercised options) under the 2014 Share
Option Scheme or any other share option schemes adopted by
the Company in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the
issued share capital of the Company.

The period within which the options must be exercised will be
specified by the Company at the time of grant. The options may
be exercised up to 25% for each year after the first anniversary
of the date of grant for four consecutive years.

At the time of grant of the options, the Company may specify a
minimum period for which an option must be held and/or any
minimum performance target(s) that must be achieved, before
the option can be exercised in whole or in part. The offer of a
grant of share options may be accepted within 20 business days
from the date of offer, the offer is delivered to that participant

and the amount payable on acceptance of options is RMB1.

@‘ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019
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(&)

(c)
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B £ 1R BY 7B IR 5T 8l ()
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A 7 BR AN R A H 4 RS AR A At 2
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37. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c)

Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company
in November 2014 (Continued)

The subscription price for the shares under the 2014 Share
Option Scheme shall be a price determined by the Board, but
not less than the greater of (i) the closing price of shares as
stated on the Stock Exchange on the date of the offer of grant; (ii)
the average closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of the offer of grant; and (i) the nominal value of the
shares.

No options may be granted under the 2014 Share Option

Scheme after the date of the tenth anniversary of its adoption.

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, no share

options were granted.

37. MR RERNMER 5

(&)

(c)

ARARZF—OF+—
B £ 1R BY 7B IR 5T 8l ()

RIE—F - IFBARAE M
TZENABEREESETE B
PRERAT =285 (i
R EHEZRAREBIA £
B3l 2 W (B : (AR A RD N E
BEREEZAHIAESXAE
BRXAMEBBERERLAINZFS
W8 Rl RpmE -
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“A=tT-HIEFE BERLE
P HE -

BREEERERAT —E-NEER @
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37. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION 37. LRI RERNNMER 5

TRANSACTIONS (continued) (18)

(c) Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company (c) RRIR-E—WOE+—
in November 2014 (Continued) B 9 58 A& #E 5t 8l (m)
Movements in the number of share options during the year are FREBREZB Z2EHHMT :
as follows:

2019 —_E-—hEFE
Outstanding Granted  Forfeited Exercised  Outstanding
Exercisable Exercise price as at during during  during the asat
period per share 1 January the year the year year 31 December
R+=A
®-A-H Ear=[
Ggid: ﬁﬁﬁﬁ% HATE FREE FrRE FATH i RAT
HK
B
Directors 5 January 2015 to 4 January 2025 2.67 23,520,000 - - - 23,520,000
3 —E-nF¥-RRRE-F-_nF-AMWA
8 January 2016 to 7 January 2026 5.506 7,840,000 - - - 7,840,000
—E-R"¥-ANHEZZZR"E-AtH
Employees 5 January 2015 to 4 January 2025 2.67 19,207,839 — (756,500 - 18,451,339
&8 LR -AAHEZZ-HE—-ANH
9 July 2015 to 8 July 2025 4.402 15,070,000 — (1,775,000 - 13,295,000
—E2-nFtANBREZ-_RFtANR
17 May 2016 to 16 May 2026 3.684 900,000 — (200,000 = 700,000
—E-RFRATtBE-Z=-AFRAATAR
7 September 2016 to 6 September 2026 3.95 1,240,000 = (50,000 - 1,190,000
ZE-RFNRLREZZ-RFENAAKRA
28 April 2018 to 27 April 2027 2.886 120,000 - - - 120,000
ZE-\FRAZ+N\REZF-+FMA-++A
67,897,839 — (2,781,500 - 65,116,339
Weighted average exercise price per share (HK$) 3.42 3.87 3.40
BRMETHITEE (BT
— Equivalent to approximately RMB per share 3.00 3.07 3.05
- BRIAEROARE
Weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding 5.3years
at 31 December 2019
SE-AET A=t BEATEOBRENET LS
A0ENS
Number of options exercisable at 31 December 2019 33,495,600
RZB-AFE+TA=+T-BAUTEEREHR
Weighted average exercise price per share of options exercisable 3.67
at 31 December 2019 (HK$)
RZB-NE+-A=+—-HATEEREZERMETY
fTEE(EL)
— Equivalent to approximately RMB per share 3.29
- BRIAEROARE

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019
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37. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION 37. MR RERNMER S
TRANSACTIONS (continued) (&)

(c) Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company (c) ZRRATIR_E—MFE+—
- i 7 aY = =
in November 2014 (continued) B R 1% 89 18 AR #E 5t 8l (m)
2018 —E-N\E

Exercise  Outstanding Granted  Forfeited  Exercised Outstanding Weighted average
Exercisable price per as at during during  during the asat share price at
period share 1January  theyear  theyear year 31 December  Exercise Date exercise date
gk R-A-A ®W+=A=+-A8 RiTERAHZ
e ﬁﬁ% AR FARE FARK FRIER WA frRAH &@M%iﬁ%
HK( HK(
BT oy
Directors 5 January 2015 to 4 January 2025 267 23,520,000 - - - 23,520,000
is —E-RF-ARAE-EF-RF-AMEA
8 January 2016 to 7 January 2026 5506 7,840,000 - - - 7,840,000
ZT-RE-AN\BEZZZRE-FtH
Employees 5 January 2015 to 4 January 2025 267 20,973,500 — (9854000 (780,261) 19,207,839 5 January 2018— 2.79
31 January 2018
&8 CE-h5-RERE-EZ-R4-ANA - \¥-AIA
E_E-N\F
—-RA=t-H
9 July 2015 to 8 July 2025 L&0D2 21,940,000 — (6,870,000 - 15,070,000

ZE-RFtANBECZRFLANR

17 May 2016 to 16 May 2026 3.684 2,430,000 —(1,530,000] - 900,000
ZE-AFRAtEREZZ-AFTATAA

7 September 2016 to 6 September 2026 395 1,850,000 —  [610,000) - 1,240,000
ZE-RERRLBREZEZAFENAANE

28 April 2018 to 27 April 2027 2.886 1,220,000 —(1,100,000] - 120,000
3 \fNAZ+N\BE-F-+FMA=1+H

79,773,500 — (11,095,400 (780,261) 67,897,839

Weighted average exercise price per share [HK$) 3.50 396 219 3.42
BRMEFHTEEET)
— Equivalent to approximately RMB per share 292 3.30 031 3.00
- SRAEROARYE

Weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding 6.3 years
at 31 Decemnber 2019

RZF-AF+ZA=t-HHRTEOBRENETORE
ANERS

Number of options exercisable at 31 December 2019 46,940,439
RZE-AF+ZA=+-BATEBRER

Weighted average exercise price per share of options exercisable 347
at 31 Decemnber 2019 (HK$)

REZ-NFH-A=+-BAATREREZERMETY
TEEGET)
— Equivalent to approximately RMB per share 3.04
- BREERDARY

BREEZRERAT —E-NEER @
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 &% =

37. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c)

(d)

Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company
in November 2014 (Continued)

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had 65,116,339 (2018:
67,897,839 share options outstanding under the Share Option
Scheme adopted by the Company in November 2014, which
represented approximately 5.96% (2018: 6.21%) of the issued
ordinary shares of the Company as at 31 December 2019

Share Award Scheme adopted by the Company
in May 2017

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 19 May 2017, a share award
scheme was adopted by the Company (the “Share Award

Scheme”).

The purpose of the Share Award Scheme is to align the
interests of eligible participants with those of the Group through
ownership of shares, dividends and other distributions paid on
shares and/or the increase in value of the shares, and to
encourage and retain eligible participants to make contributions
to the long-term growth and profits of the Group. All directors,
full-time employees and any other person who, in the sole
discretion of the board of directors, have contributed or will
contribute to the Group are eligible to participate in the Share
Award Scheme. Each grant of award to any director of the
Company, the chief executive officer or substantial shareholder
of the Company must first be approved by the independent

non-executive directors of the Company.

The maximum number of shares to be granted must not exceed
7% of the issued share capital of the Company from time to
The Share Award

Scheme Limit may be refreshed at any time by obtaining

time (the “Share Award Scheme Limit").
approval of the shareholders of the Company in general
meeting and/or such other requirements prescribed under the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”). At the time of grant of the awards, the
Company may specify any minimum performance target(s) that
must be achieved, before the awards can be vested in whole or

in part.

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019
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37. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

37. MR RERNMER 5

(d) Share Award Scheme adopted by the Company

in May 2017 (continued)

On 23 May 2018, the Company extended the scheme mandate to
permit the Directors to issue and allot up to 55,084,636 shares
permitted to be granted under the Share Award Scheme,
subject to an annual limit of 3% of the total number of issued
shares as at 23 May 2018, being the date of the Company’'s
annual general meeting at which the relevant resolution was
passed.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company has
purchased 4,056,000 shares amounting to RMB2,300,000 (2018:
16,887,000 shares amounting to RMB13,407,000) through its
trustee on the Stock Exchange. The acquired Shares was
recognised and accumulated in equity under the heading of
“Shares held under Share Award Scheme”.

Movements in the number of shares held for the Share Award

(&)

(d) ZRAR_B—CEFAHA
RV BR D 2= B 5T 8l (w0

RZE—N\FRA=-_+=H &R
AEAGTEIRE  AHESETR
MERERMDEEFEFELNR
% 55,084,636 Bz 10 - MEZBR K =
E—NFRA=-F+=B(ANHEER®
FRRARFAIBRRBFAS L&
BRAERH)EBTRMDBES%ZF
EER-

BE-_ZT—NLF+=ZA=+—8H
IEFE ARABEBEZT AR
X P B B 4,056,000 % f% 17 - £ 58 A
AR #2300000c (=& — \4F:
16,887,000/ & 10 - € B A AR
13,407,0007T) ° B U B8 % 10 7 # 25
R IER D BR8I35 8 2 k1D ]
NER KRG -

B £ 22 B 51 & B 15 B 0 K SR B AR

Scheme and awarded shares are as follows: DEEEEBET :
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F

Weighted Weighted

average average
fair value Number of fair value Number of
per share share award per share share award
9 Bz hn & % 13 22 &b &R 0 HE i 17 22 B
FHARE #qE FHAAE L Qe

RMB RMB

ARK AR #
At 1 January w—HA—H 2.05 1,000,000 — —
Granted BEET - - 2.05 1,000,000
As at 31 December Rt+t-—A=+—8 2.29 1,000,000 2.05 1,000,000
Vested at 31 December WM+ A=+ —HERB 2.29 1,000,000 2.05 250,000

HRARSBRERAT —E—NEER @
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37. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(d)

(e)

Share Award Scheme adopted by the Company
in May 2017 (continued)

Notes:

(i) The fair value of the awarded shares was calculated based on the
market price of the Company’s shares at the respective grant
date. The expected dividends during the vesting period have taken
into account when assessing the fair value of these awarded
shares.

(ii) 250,000 shares are vested as at 31 December 2019 (As at 31
December 2018: 250,000 shares).

Equity Incentive Plan adopted by the
Company’s subsidiary, AESE in 2019

On 20 September 2019, the Company's subsidiary, AESE
adopted an incentive plan (the "AESE’s Incentive Plan”). AESE
issued ten-year options for the purchase of 400,000 shares of
AESE's common stock, with an exercise price of US$5.66 per
share, pursuant to the Incentive Plan. The options have a 4-year
vesting term, and vest 25% on each anniversary of the date of
grant. The options had an aggregate grant date fair value of
US$867,120.

Apart from the options, AESE issued an aggregate of 80,393
shares of restricted common stock, pursuant to the Incentive
Plan, to certain members of AESE's Board of Directors and
Executives. The restricted common stock had an aggregate
grant date fair value of US$455,000, and vest on the one-year
anniversary of the date of grant. The shares were valued at the
trading price of the Company’s stock on the date of grant.

On 21 November 2019, AESE extended the plan mandate to
permit its employees to issue ten-year options for the purchase
of 2,080,000 shares of its common stock with an exercise price
of US$4.09 per share under the Incentive Plan. The options have
a 4-year vesting term, and vest 25% on each anniversary of the
date of grant. The options had an aggregate grant date fair
value of US$3,263,551.
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37. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(e) Equity Incentive Plan adopted by the
Company’s subsidiary, AESE in 2019 (Continued)

The fair values were calculated using the Black-Scholes option

pricing model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

Risk-free rate 1.74=-1.77%
Expected life 6.25 years
Expected volatility 36%

Expected dividend yield —

Movements in the number of shares held for the AESE's
Incentive Plan are as follows:

€9

(e)

37. MR RERNMER 5

AKATK BT AESER
“E-NFHENZRER
Bh 5t &l (@)

L i

BERAGFE - ZEANHABEN
T

[ B 1) 1.74-1.77%
%ﬁiﬁsﬁﬁx&,ﬁﬁ 6.25%
SEEENED) 36%
TEHARS B R =

AESE SR St 8) B 45 A% 19 2 B 2
m

2019 —EBE—-hEF
Outstanding Granted Forfeited Outstanding
Exercise price per asat during during Exercised asat
Exercisable period share 1 January the year theyear  during the year 31 December
®-A-H Rt=A=+-8
(igid} BRITEE o R AT 8 FRRHE FRRK FERTR R AT
us$
EY
AESE’s 20 September 2019 to 19 September 2029 5.66 - 400,000 - - 400,000
Directors
AESE “NEAAZTRAE-E-AFAATAR
iz
21 November 2019 to 20 November 2029 409 - 2,080,000 - - 2,080,000
“E-AET-ACT-REZF-AET-ACTA
- 2,480,000 - - 2,480,000
Weighted average exercise price per share (US$) 434 434
SRMETHTEE (ET)
— Equivalent to approximately RMB per share 30.30 30.30
- FRAEROARYE
Weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding 9.86 years
at 31 December 2019
RIF-NE+-A=+-BEATRERENETIRNGAOERE 9.86%
Number of options exercisable at 31 December 2019 -
RZZ-nE+ZA=+-AaTERREHR
[f] The Group recognised a total expense of RMB3,195,000 for the [f] RNEBRRN —E—-NE+=A8

year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: RMB29,037,000) in relation
to the above share options, and the share-based compensation
expense were shown as a separate item on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

:Jr—EIJtEEﬁEM\EﬁiiLﬁ%Hx
BB RS A ARES195000
T(ZZ—\F : AR #¥29,037,000
TC) MABKRDAEROHE M
RirdEmkEME K=K
RBEBIEE

BRERZEREBAT —B-NFFR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

S M BREME (&)

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZFE—AF+ A=+ —HILFE

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 38. QT BRI K

COMPANY
2019 2018
ZE-hAEFE —ZT-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFT
Non-current assets kRBEE
Interest in subsidiaries NLINEMNGIE ok 35 266,684 266,684
Financial assets at fair value through profitor loss AR B ARSI EE — 13,286
266,684 279,970
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables H h g Wy sk IE 6,376 6,915
Loan to a third party BKTE=THWER = 51,151
Amount due from an associate JE U — FE B = R B 3RIR - -
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE W B |88 & Rk IA 456,404 823,331
Bank balances and cash RITHEHRNIRS 7,057 7,545
469,837 888,942
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables H & 1~ 5RIE 3,179 4,437
Amounts due to subsidiaries RN S 114,210 114,226
Convertible notes Al g iR — 70,323
117,389 188,986
Net current assets REBEEFE 352,448 699,956
Net assets EEFE 619,132 979,926
Equity s
Share capital & A 340 340
Reserves (Note) & (M sE) 618,792 979,586
Total equity Y L 619,132 979,926

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31

March 2020.
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 38. A Q@B iR R @)
COMPANY (continued)

Note: B3 -
The movement of the Company’s reserves are as follows: KRB FEENESHDOT :
Shares
held under the Share
Share  Share Award option Other Accumulated Total
premium Scheme reserve reserve losses reserves
RER 45
REEE
RoEE BEzRG BREME HEREE ZitBR RRELEEHE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBTET ARBTT ARBTT ARBTRT AREBTI ARETR

Balance at 1 January 2018 RZZE—-N\F—A—H
B 45 B8 789,818 (514) 125,892 — (181,017 734,179
Loss for the year FNEE - - - - (35,025) (35,025)
Share-based compensation AR AEROHS
(Note 37(f)) (Fff 5£37()) - 979 28,058 - - 29,037
Exercise of share options 178 B R pE
(Note 35(i) & Note 37) (P 7 35(1) K fi$ 5£37) 2,221 - (474) - - 1,747
Transfer upon forfeiture of share options 7 )% Uk 8 A% # s 88 5 - - (39,590) - 39,590 -
Issuance of shares for management BORDAEERERE
subscription (Note 35ii)) (B 2 35(ii)) 231,524 - - - - 231,524
Issuance of shares for acquisition HUE B ITRG
(Note 44(al) (B % 44(a)) 31,531 - - - - 31,531
Purchase of shares for Share Award kD B ET 8RS [ Ak 1D
Scheme [Note 37(d)) (Fff 5£37(d)) - (13,407) - - - (13,407)
Balance at 31 December 2018 R-ZEB-N\F
+t-ZA=+-Hz#&& 1,055,094 (12,942) 113,886 — (176,452) 979,586
Loss for the year EREBE - - - - (358,494) (358,494)
Purchase of shares for Share Award SR RENET B B E R
Scheme [Note 37(d)) (B3 £37(d)) - (2,300) - - - (2,300)
Balance at 31 December 2019 R=B-h&
+t-A=t+-Hz#&& 1,055,094 (15,242) 113,886 — (534,946) 618,792
As at 31 December 2019, the aggregate amount of reserves available RZZE—AF+=_A=1+—8 Aty
for distribution to equity holders of the Company was RMB520,148,000 REFARAREZFEANBEEREXAA
(2018: RMB878,642,000). R#520,148000 L (ZZE— NF : ARK

878,642,0007T) °
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39. COMMITMENTS

(a) Capital commitments

At the reporting date, the Group had the following capital
commitments:

39. RE
(a) EEREIE

RBERH AEBEEFUTEARK

=

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBTT
Contracted but not provided for: BRIHE KRB
Expenditure in respect of strategic FEARKRMERENSTH
investment 24,417 —
Expenditure in respect of investments AR ENBE R B
in subsidiaries = 1,500
Expenditure in respect of investments BB EH & R A M X H
in associates - 2,118
Expenditure in respect of investment ~ BEREE A BT ABE
in financial assets at fair value MemEENI L
through profit or loss - 1,800
24,417 5,418

(b) Lease commitments

At the reporting date, the lease commitments for short-term
leases (2018: the Group leases its servers, lines, offices and
various properties under non-cancellable operating lease
agreements. The leases have varying lease terms and renewal
rights. The total future minimum lease payments payable by the
Group under non-cancellable operating leases] are as follows:

(b) HEXKIE

RERS  EHESHHES AR
(ZZ2-N\F: ARBERETATH
HEEHEREHEEL MRS &R
B -MAEksxENE-HEAR
TREHETES AEERET
AHEKEHERNMHREKE
HEBNRER) WOT :

2019 2018

ZE-NF —E-)N\F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARMT T AR T T

Within one year —FRK 27 21,283
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_FEFLIF(BEEREMF) = 38,458
27 59,741
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40. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY 40. EXEBILO RS
TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions/information disclosed elsewhere in MRZESAV B RREM AT E
these consolidated financial statements, during the year, the Group 2R 5/ ERSN RN E B R
had the following material transactions with related parties: FETHNEARZNOT :
(a) Key management personnel remuneration (a) TEETEBEASHE
Key management of the Group are members of the Board and AEBETEZEBEEAEEZKE
senior management. Included in employee benefit expenses are EefhERE NWARERHNMAX
key management personnel remuneration which includes the ZETEEEEBEAEMESBRFEUT
following expenses: FX
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBTT
Basic salaries and allowances HAR %€ NMERL 5,999 5,982
Discretionary bonus [SE=PEFAN 1,090 775
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 3R K& F 51 & 4t 3% 209 348
Share-based compensation expense At BEROME R X 1,481 4,077

8,779 11,182

HRARSBRERAT —E—NEER @
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40. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) Related party transactions

4L0. EXBIKH R S @)

(b) BAMETSORRZ

Nature of

Name of related companies Related party relationship transactions 2019 2018
2] NI BAE 5 B R REME ZE-RE ZZ-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®BTR
FEREEREMER AR A company under controlled by Event service income — 45
substantial shareholders of the
Group
MASEFERRES 2 QA EZRBEHKA
REPHEEEFER An associate of the Group Event service income - 6
BRAA
AEEHERA EEZRBHA
Revenue - 553
WA
EREHLESRRERAE An associate of the Group Consultancy service — 239
income
REEKE QT HARBAA
FHERBROBEARE An associate of the Group Marketing expense — 244
BRAR AEEBERT 25 X
REBEREREARAR An associate of the Group Interest income 72 78
AEEHERA NS ON
IREEEEMBMARAR  Anassociate of the Group Interest income - 92
REEBE R T FEWA
ERPREREULER An associate of the Group Interest income — 25
BRAA REEKE QT FEWA
BEBENREAEXLERAQE Anassociate of the Group Interest income - 68

AEEHERAF

FEBWA

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019
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40. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY 40. EXBB DR S @)

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c) Loans to directors and entities connected with c) OESESRESNHESE
directors REHER
Loans to directors and entities connected with directors of the MARARBEERESNHEET R
Company disclosed pursuant to section 383(1)(d) of the Hong REEXRRBREDT B RAIEHE
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 3 of the Companies 38BN ER AR (REEENRE
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) B BBIEIHELNT ¢

Regulation are as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2019 BE-_Z—-—hAE&+=-A=t+—H
LEFE
Amount of loan
]

Maximum
Relationship with At beginning outstanding

Name of borrower  the Company At end of year of year duringtheyear Term Interest rate
ERES

EHEH BAD R EE RER REL REEE HR IS
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T R ARETRT  AR®TR

2019
—Z-NE
Mr. Ng Kwok Leung  An executive director of 4,509 4,381 4,509 Repayablein1yearand  2.0% per annum
Frank (Note 1) the Company secured by equity
interests in the
Company
hEREE ARAPTES AR-FRAEERULX 552.0%
(GER NEREEER
Note 1: Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank resigned as director of the Company M1 - AEREER=-_ZE—HALENA
on 30 August 2019. =t+RBEEAARES-

HRARSBRERAT —E—NEER @
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40. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY 40. EXEANETS 225 ()
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(c) Loans to directors and entities connected with c) OESESRESNHESE
directors (Continued) RESEM @)
Year ended 31 December 2018 BE-_Z—N\&+=-_A=+—H
IEFE
Amount of loan
EReE
Maximum
Relationship with At beginning outstanding
Name of borrower  the Company At end of year of year  during the year Term Interest rate
FRRE
EWR =R/ LR RER R AEEE B GRS
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT ARBTR
Mr. Ng Kwok Leung  An executive director of 4,381 - 4,381 Repayable in 1yearand 2.0% per annum
Frank the Company secured by equity
interests in the
Company
mERLE AREUTES AR—FRNEERUK BF2.0%
NCIlE: ARl

@4 Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
R BRETME (B)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 &% =

41.

—AWF+-HA=+—H1L

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities

can be classified as follows:

Lease liabilities

FE

41.

AEEREIPELNBBEESHEN

N

Amount due to an associate

Convertible notes

METHEENEEHER

HERE e —EBE D ARE TRREE
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
—E-NF -\ ZE-hE -\ ZE-hE —NF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRE ARETT AR¥TR AR®Tr AR®Tn ARET:R
At 1 January WR—HA—H 75,818 - 840 _ 70,323 _
Cash-flows: Reme:
— Proceeds —FTiEA - - - 850 26,479 68,632
— Repayment —BX = - (840) (10) = -
— Capitalelementof ~ —E[HEE
lease rentals HeMER
paid ik (9,416) - = - = -
— Interest element -BfHEE
of lease rentals HEmH L
paid Eipa (6,329) - - - - -
Non-cash: B
— Conversion to —ERA
ordinary shares T — - — - — -
— Fairvalue changes  — AR E &
of convertible NREE
notes - - - — - 1,691
— Entering into —FAUMEE
new leases 30,795 - - - - -
— Interest expenses —MERY 2,336 - - - - -
At 31 December R+ZA=+—8H 93,204 - - 840 96,506 70,323

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of financial

instruments in its ordinary course of operations and in its investment

activities. The financial risks include market risk (including foreign

currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity

risk. The Group's overall risk management strategy seeks to minimise

potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. Risk

management is carried out by the senior management of the Group

and approved by the Board.

There has been no change to the types of the Group’s exposure in

respect of financial instruments or the manner in which it manages

and measures the risks.

AEE
BIET S R
B M (B 4% 2 B2

=K - & &
WITWAE

N6 E Bt B 15 T B AR RO [ B 4 Rl 3 H
B EH M ER KT I EEA K

5 o

BRERERERAY

MBEAREERA B
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 42. UHBRABREERANES

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) =4C )

(a) Categories of financial assets and liabilities a) TMEEREEBEIR
The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated statement iR A B ISR O K P 51 BR TH & 5E B
of financial position relate to the following categories of TIemEERSREEIP TR
financial assets and financial liabilities. 4 o

2019 2018
—B-hF —F—N\EF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR T ARETT

Financial assets ERMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost BEHEKN AV RN SR EE
Loans to associates BTEBERNRINER - 1,756
Loans to third parties BTE=ZFHNER 10,511 72,084
Trade and other receivables B 5 K HE b eI G E 41,450 133,409
Bank balances and cash IRITHHBNIRS 185,848 162,674
Financial assets at FVTPL BARBEFAEBEGNEREE 63,414 109,068
301,223 478,991
Financial liabilities cHas
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BEEAA RSB E
Trade and other payables B 5 & H b B RRIE 87,443 95,547
Lease liabilities HEBR 93,204 -
Financial liabilities at FVTPL ERArBE AEZNEREE
Contingent consideration payables JET SRR AB = 40,948
Convertible notes EE S 96,506 70,323
277,153 206,818
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 42. UHBRABREERANES

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) =4( )
(b) Foreign currency risk (b) 4IMCE R B=
The Group's subsidiaries mainly operate in the PRC and in the AEBNKNBAREEZENFE K
US and majority of the transactions are settled in RMB, USD or EREKgE BERXHBIRHGUAR
EUR, being the functional currency of the group entities to CETHIBTEE  HAR S
which the transactions relate. Foreign currency risk arises BN EEERNINEEE - IMNER
when future commercial transactions and recognised assets RRBE NN FERERBINEEED
and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the EEAENARBER H &R
entity’s functional currency. As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, REENBE - R_ZE—NLFEK=
the Group did not have significant foreign currency risk from its TZ-NF+-A=+—H ~&EE
operations. TS0 B K HNE LR o
Financial assets denominated in a foreign currency, translated LAGNEESHE T IE R E A A
into RMB at the closing rates, are as follows: RENSMEEWNT :
2019
—E-NF
usD EUR HK$ Total
EY BT 7B T AEt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT AR¥ETRT AR®BTRT AR¥T=R

Bank balances and cash #R1T&E&# LIRS 6,763 15 5,460 12,238

Gross exposure arising  EERES@MEE

from recognised EEREE
financial assets 2 B 6,763 15 5,460 12,238
2018
—ZET-N\F
usD EUR HK$ Total
Y BT BT HaEr
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR T T ARET T AR T T AR T T
Bank balances and cash E17&8 RIE S 7,588 349 7,261 15,218

Gross exposure arising B RS/ EE

from recognised 2= 48 A
financial assets & B 7,588 369 7,261 15,218

HREEZRERAT "B NEER @
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 42.

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(b) Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the Group’s loss
after income tax for the year and equity in regard to a 5% (2018:
5%) appreciation in the Group’s functional currency against
RMB. The rate used represents management's best

assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange rates.

UHERREERARES

= (1|

(b)

SN BE @ bR (@)

TRIWFHAEEDEEE KA
REABN(ZZE—/\F :5%) M
= AEEFANRBRATER%ZERIA
RESBRME - FTEAEREE
BEHIINEEXRTREZEHELDH

SRR

2019

—E-NF

RMB’000

AR T

Increase in loss for the year and equity FAEEREREM (459)
2018

—E-)\F

RMB'000

ARBTT

Increase in loss for the year and equity FAEEREREM (571)

The same % depreciation in the Group’s functional currency
against the respective foreign currency would have the same
magnitude on the Group's loss after income tax for the year and
equity but of opposite effect.

The Group does not hedge its foreign currency risk. However,
management monitors the foreign currency exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should

the need arise.

73;4 Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 &% =

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Interest rate risk

Other than the interest-bearing bank deposits, the Group has
no other significant interest-bearing assets bearing variable
rates. The directors of the Company do not anticipate there is
any significant impact to these interest-bearing assets resulted
from the changes in interest rates, because the interest rates

of bank balances are not expected to change significantly.

Price risk

The Group is not exposed to significant price risk for the
Group's unlisted equity investments that do not have a quoted

market price in an active market.

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its bank
balances and cash, trade and other receivables and loans to

associates and third parties.

The carrying amounts of each class of the financial assets as
summarised in Note 42(a] above represent the Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets.
To manage this risk arising from bank balances and cash, the
Group only transacts with state-owned financial institutions and
reputable commercial banks which are all high-credit-quality
financial institutions in the PRC, Hong Kong and the US. There
has been no recent history of default in relation to these

financial institutions.

Trade receivables

The Group’'s policy is to deal only with credit worthy
counterparties. Credit terms are granted to new customers
after a credit worthiness assessment. When considered
appropriate, customers may be requested to provide proof as to
their financial position. Where available at reasonable cost,
reports on customers are obtained and used. Customers who
are not considered creditworthy are required to pay in advance
or on delivery of goods and provision of services. Payment
record of customers is closely monitored. It is not the Group’s

policy to request collateral from its customers.

—NFT-_A=1T—HLLFEE

UHERREERARES

(c)

(d)

(e

==4¢ )

= @ kR
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AREFHAHRNKREGH TS YA
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ﬁ%ﬁﬁ*%%ﬂ%%?@%i
PNEE

ERE R

REBI AR AEBR RIS
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AERRR -
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A S B0 (5 B R I X BB R R 1T
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e
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EEEREcMmEBERBEER M
WEERTHAEFRE BEERE
Imm%AAi%ﬂ%%)Vﬁi

cRELHMMB Y EABERT
ﬁ°

B2 BKRE
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(e)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

In addition, as set out in Note 2.10, the Group assesses ECL
under IFRS 9 on trade receivables based on provision matrix,
the expected loss rates are based on the payment profile for
sales in the past years as well as the corresponding historical
credit losses during that period. The historical rates are
adjusted to reflect current and forward looking macroeconomic
factors affecting the customer’s ability to settle the amount
outstanding. At each reporting date, the historical default rates
are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed. However, given the short period exposed to credit
risk, the impact of these macroeconomic factors has not been

considered significant within the reporting period.

Trade receivables are written off (i.e. derecognised) when there
is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Failure to make
payments generally within 180 days from the invoice date and
failure to engage with the Group on alternative payment
arrangement amongst other is considered indicators of no
reasonable expectation of recovery.

@‘ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 42. UHBRABREERANES

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) =4 ))

(e) Credit risk (continued) (e) BEERR &)
Trade receivables (Continued) B S EINRIE (#)
On the above basis, the ECL for trade receivables as at 31 BREMEE R-_ZT-—HER=-Z
December 2019 and 2018 was determined as follows: —NF+_A=+—HBWEZE

WHRENBREEBERETWT

PRC (ma)c]
As at 31 December 2019 R-ZZE—-—NFE+=ZHA=+—H
Total
allowance
BEHRE

RMB'000  RMB’000
ARETRE AR®TR

Gross carrying amount BREBE—E 5
— trade receivables & Y Z0 I8 32,153

Individually impaired & 51l J3i & f& U
KIB

receivables QL] (27,295) 27,295
4,858
Current Within1year 1to2years Total
BD £ 1R 1225 #st

ECL rate FEHEEBERE 1% 5% 20%

RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTRE ARBTR AR®TRT AR®BTR

Gross carrying amount BREAE—E 5
— trade receivables & Y F 18 1,701 2,404 753 4,858

Lifetime ECL THEBEEEIE 17 120 150 287 287

27,582

BRERZEREBAT —B-NFFR
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 42. UHBRABREERANES

In order to minimise the credit risk of other financial assets at
amortised cost, the management would make periodic
collective and individual assessment on the recoverability of
other financial assets based on historical settlement records
and past experience as well as current external information.
Other monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In these regards,
the credit risk of other receivables, loans to associates and

third parties are considered to be low.

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) = (|
(e) Credit risk (continued) (e) BERK @)
Trade receivables (Continued) B2 RBINRIER (#)
Outside PRC o B L S
ECL rate of current trade receivables are assessed to be 0.1%. BIERE 5 W KB T8 B 5 B &
For the past due trade receivables, the management of the BEREFER0I% HAHZESE
Group considered the loss allowance provision for the balances WHIEmMS  AEBEEREERAT
outside PRC were immaterial. There is no change in the ECL BERNEHRNEEBRETIBEKX -
rate for trade receivables during the track record period mainly REECLHBRARNE S EKRRIEA
due to no significant change in the historical default rates of WEREEEREXTREES 2
trade receivables based on which the ECL rate is determined. EHREEEREEEE XK
The management of the Group considered the loss allowance ENESRKRREESLZLHEIL
provision for trade receivables was immaterial during the track EREEH AEBEEEERRAE
record period. B HREAE S EWRIEEE
BHETIBERK -
As at 1 January 2019 R-—ZE—hLE—HA—H
Current Within Tyear 1to2years 2to3years Total
k) 1R 1226 PESKES Et
ECL rate BEHEEBRE 1% 5% 20% 30% -
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBETT ARBTT ARETRZ
Gross carrying amount SREBE—E 5
— trade receivables JE W FR B 6,566 56,707 11,487 664 75,424
Lifetime ECL *HEREEER 66 2,835 2,297 199 5,397
Individually impaired & 51 5 & F& U 50IA
receivables 38,644
44,041
Other financial assets at amortised cost H i #2 8 35 A R B0 & &l
BE

A3 B 1R B R R DI BR Y &
BENEERBRERE EEE
BIEBEELEELHERBELR
ARERIBEN  EHREMES
A& E B AT U HE R R
At - EEENATHMBESR
B BERRRRETE  KikE
BRES - RUTE - EMbEUKK
H BTHERRARE=ZTZER
MEERBRERSRE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B BRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 &% =

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(e

(f)

Credit risk (Continued)

After considering the factors as set out in Note 2.10, the
management is of opinion that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk on certain other receivables, loans to
associates and third parties’ balances since initial recognition.
The Group recognises lifetime ECL on the other receivables
loans to associates and third parties with significant increase in
the likelihood or risk of default occurring since initial
recognition. For remaining other receivables, loans to
associates and third parties, there is no significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition as the risk of default is low

and, thus, ECL recognised is based on 12-month ECL.

Liquidity risk

Prudent
sufficient cash and cash equivalents. Due to the dynamic nature

liquidity risk management implies maintaining

of the underlying business, the Group aims to maintain flexibility
in funding by maintaining adequate cash and cash equivalents.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group's remaining
contractual maturities for its financial liabilities are mainly
within one year. When the creditor has a choice of when the
liability is settled, the liability is included on the basis of the
earliest date on when the Group can be required to pay. Where
the settlement of the liability is in instalments, each instalment
is allocated to the earliest period in which the Group is

committed to pay.

—NFT-_A=1T—HLLFEE
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(f) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The contractual maturity analysis below is based on the
undiscounted cash flows of the financial liabilities.

As at 31 December 2019

42. BEEAREEBRASES

==4¢ )

(fl ARHEERARE @

RESBEBEZAMARSRE

BMAEKBIEMAMMT -

R-B-HhE+Z-A=+—H

Over 1 year
Within 1 year but within Carrying
on demand 5years Over 5years amount
R—F R —FHE
RER BREFUR EFEULE B H (B
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥TRT AR®BTR AR¥T T
Non-derivative financial T4 & @M E &
liabilities
Trade and other payables & 5 & H b g
IE 87,453 — — 87,453
Lease liabilities HEBE 7,674 85,530 — 93,204
Contingent consideration S sk AR (B
payables — - - —
Convertible Notes A A AR = AR 96,506 — — 96,506
191,633 85,530 — 277,163
As at 31 December 2018 N-ZE—NE+=-HB=+—H
Over 1 year
Within 1 year but within Carrying
on demand S years Over 5 years amount
R—FRA —F M E
REXR EEFNUR AFMNE FREE
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT AR®FT
Non-derivative financial T4 &R EE
liabilities
Trade and other payables & 5 & H b fg f+
IR 95,547 - - 95,547
Contingent consideration JE{J sk A (B
payables 40,984 — — 40,984
Convertible Notes R ERE 70,323 — — 70,323
206,854 — — 206,854

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 42. UHBRABREERANES

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) =4( )
(g) Fair value measurements () RRVESEm

The following table presents financial assets and liabilities TRBEARBEERINTGEE M

measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of BRAXHERAREFEN TR

financial position in accordance with the fair value hierarchy. BEERBE ZEARBRBRARGE

The hierarchy groups financial assets and liabilities into three ZESTRMEERBBEAABEEAKN

levels based on the relative reliability of significant inputs used BAHBENESATEEEERE

in measuring the fair value of these financial assets and EREESRA=ELRAN - AREE
liabilities. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels: Har

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for FEH REEERBERE
identical assets and liabilities; BB T 9% 1) R E (R &

)

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within FRER BRE-—RFTANRE
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or SN BEEXBENERE
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly E(NER) EE(8
(i.e. derived from prices); and BRITE)BEENE A

gz R

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based FEZEBHR: WIFERABETISH

on observable market data (unobservable inputs). % (BN 71 o] B 2= & A X
BIMEEXAGBNR
ANBUR -

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the financial BEH AL BEEEATED

asset or liability is categorised in its entirety is based on the BMABEBENREERERARERE

lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value AemEENEBRABEZEM
measurement. A5 HR -

HRARSBRERAT —E—NEER @
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 42. UHBRABREERANES

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) ==1¢-))
(g) Fair value measurements (Continued) () [ ESE @
The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the REMBMRAKRPZRALBTE
consolidated statement of financial position are grouped into WemBEERABAGKUATA
the fair value hierarchy as follows: AEER:
2019 —2-hEF
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E-EBR E-ER E=ER o

Note RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
M AR®TR ARBTRE AR®TR AR®TR

Assets BE
Financial assets at FVTPL BRAREFAEEN
CREE
Unlisted equity investments  3E E MR ANIE & (a) = = 63,414 63,414
— - 63,414 63,414
Liabilities &
Financial liabilities at FVTPL R AL B ABER
TREE
Convertible notes AR EE (e) - - 96,506 96,506
— — 96,506 96,506
Net fair values PREFE - - (33,092) (33,092)
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

42. BEEREEBRASES

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) = (1)
(g) Fair value measurements (Continued) () DAFESE @
2018 —E-N\F
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FE—ER FE_EB E=BHR Mt
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
iz ARBTT ARETT AREBTT ARETR
Assets EE
Financial assets at FVTPL BARBEFABEDN
TREE
Unlisted equity investments ~ 3F F IR AN 1E & (a - - 95,782 95,782
Unlisted debt investments FEEMERRE (b) — — 13,286 13,286
— — 109,068 109,068
Liabilities afE
Financial liabilities at FVTPL 2 A A E&H ABZH
cRERE
Contingent consideration ERSRAR(E
payables (c) - - 40,948 40,948
Convertible notes gk EE (d) - — 70,323 70,323
— — 111,271 11,271
Net fair values NAEFE - - (2,203) (2,203)
During the year ended 31 December 2019, there were no HeE== et =H=1HH

transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out

of Level 3 (2018: nil).

Notes:

(a)  Unlisted equity investments

The fair value of unlisted equity investments is determined with

reference to combinations of various factors including net assets

values of the unlisted equity investments. The fair value

measurement is positively correlated to the factors including net

assets values.

(b) Unlisted debt investments

The fair value of unlisted debt investments is determined by

reference to combinations of various factors including the net

asset values of the underlying investment.

LTFEE F-BREE_ER2H
WEEE TEEAXBLE=F

H(=

GEX

(a)

(b)

BRERERERAY

T-N\F 8-

FLEMRAKRE

FETRARENRIAETLIES
ZHRLTRARENEEFES
ZHAEAZMAHTEMET - A
REFEREEFESEAREL
HERAR -

FLHEEERE
FLETEBRENAIAETLILS

EHARENEEFESFZAR
ENAHEEMERE -

“BNEER
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 42. UHBRABREERANES

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(g) Fair value measurements (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)
(c)  Contingent consideration payables
The information about the fair value of contingent consideration
payables categorised under Level 3 fair value hierarchy are

described below:

As at 31 December 2018

==4¢ )
(g) ALESE @)
5T« (48)
c) EAIAKE
BERAAEEF=ZERBETHER
HARBARBENERDOT :

RZE—NF+=-_A=+—H

Valuation technique Unobservable input Range

HETA A BR R EolE|

Profit guarantees Discounted cash flows Probability of meeting target 20% to 30%
i R FE AR BBERERE ERE AR 20% 2 30%
Further acquisition option Polynomial option pricing model Spot price, volatility n/a
S U I ZEAHREBRRA REE RIE A8 A

As at 31 December 2018, the fair value of contingent
consideration payables of profit guarantees (Note 32) is estimated
using present value technique.

As at 31 December 2018, the fair value of RMB40,948,000 is
estimated by the probability weighting the estimated future cash
flows of the earn-out arrangement and taken into account the
discounting effect of maturity over one year.

An increase in the probability of meeting the target would
increase the fair value of the contingent consideration.

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

42. BEEREEBRASES

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) =4C )
(g) Fair value measurements (Continued) () DAFESE @

Notes: (Continued)

(e)

Convertible notes

As at 31 December 2019

MiaE : ()
le) WHRERE

R=-ZB-AFE+=-BA=+—H

Valuation technique Unobservable input Range

fh BT FABERE EE

Convertible notes Market comparable companies Discount of lack of marketability 12.8%
AR R R MEAELRAF TR Z TSR B AT & 12.8%
Volatility 91.5%

R IE 91.5%

As at 31 December 2018

R_T-—NF+_HA=+—H

Valuation technique Unobservable input Range

H1ETT A TR B = ER &5 &

Convertible notes Market comparable companies Discount of lack of marketability 12.3% to 12.8%
AR RE TS A B LERA A BRZ TSR B AT AR 12.3%212.8%

Volatility 85.4% to 111.5%

o

85.4% & 111.5%

An increase in the discount for lack of marketability would
decrease the fair value.

The reconciliation of the carrying amounts of the Group’'s
financial instruments classified within Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy is as follows:

il R = T 3% 7 8 M AT AR AR N &

REE TR -

DERAREERE=ZRANRK
SEHeRTARMEHERNT

2019 2018
—E-hEF —T-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T ARBTF T
Unlisted equity investments FETRERE
95,782 83,692
Reclassification to financial asset at EN OB RBHEKAY R
amortised cost HNEmEE = (6,883)
Additions nNE 8,501 18,080
Disposals & (18,034) (4,839)
Fair value changes recognised in profit or loss R IBzE R A L EEF (28,668) 5,732
Reclassification from interest in an associate B/ — 5 & A B S
(Note 20) s o E(HEE20) 5,663 -
Exchange difference MEHZR 170 —
Fair value at 31 December R+=-ZB=+—HHAARE 63,414 95,782
I RERERTRAT

—®-NEER @
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 42. UHBRABREERANES

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) =4C )
(g) Fair value measurements (Continued) () [ ESE @
2019 2018
ZE-hF —ZET-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AR T T
Unlisted debt investments FETEBRE
Fair value at 1 January R—A—HBWARE 13,286 —
Reclassification to loan to third parties ENORERTE=FH
B® (13,286) 10,890
Fair value changes recognised in profitor ~ RIBmERE A i HE
loss — 2,396
Fair value at 31 December R+=ZA=+—-BHARE = 13,286
2019 2018
ZE-hF —ZET-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BT T AR T T
Unlisted trust funds kEmETXESE
Fair value at 1 January R—A—BWARE = 20,000
Additions nNE — 20,000
Disposals & - (40,000
Fair value at 31 December R+TZA=+—-HBWARE - —
2019 2018
ZE-NEF —ZE-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T ARBT T
Contingent consideration payables ENRANKE
Fair value at 1 January R—A—BWARE 40,948 3,328
Fair value of contingent consideration BWENEARIEED
payables arising from acquisition of ENHARELAE
subsidiaries (Note 44(a)) (K =E44la)) — 113,150
Derecognition upon rescission of a RS — BB A R R
subsidiary (Note 45(a)) 1 FE R (MY 3T 45(a) (40,948) —
Transferred to other receivables R E H i W FROR - 18,426
Transferred to other payables B & H Ath JE T SRR — (48,624)
Fair value changes recognised in profitor ~ R IBm R A A it B E
loss = (45,332)
Fair value at 31 December R+ZA=+—-HBHWARE - 40,948
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 42. UHBRABREERANES

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) = (|
(g) Fair value measurements (Continued) () DAFESE @
2019 2018
ZE-NF —T-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T T
Convertible notes THRREE
Fair value at 1 January R—B—HBWAARE 70,323 —
Issue of convertible notes BATAI R R 1R 26,479 68,632
Fair value changes recognised in REZERNALELY
profit or loss - 1,691
Exchange difference ME 3, 2= 2R (296) —
Fair value at 31 December RtZA=+—BHWARE 96,506 70,323
Fair value gain or loss on unlisted equity investments and ELEmMRERERFLETEBR
unlisted debt investments are recognised in profit or loss and BWA R EWRZKEERER#
included under “Fair value changes of financial assets at fair W ARARBEFABRZZ
value through profit or loss”. TRIEEZARBED] -
Fair value gain or loss on contingent consideration payables is ENIAREBN AR EKRKE
recognised in profit or loss and included under “Fair value BRERER Wit ATEA IR
changes of contingent consideration payables”. REZAAEZS] -
Fair value gain or loss on convertible notes is recognised in A#KREEN A R E R KER
profit or loss and included under “Fair value changes of RERER Wt AR KR ERE
convertible notes”. ZARBEZEH] -
43. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT L3. BXREIR

The objectives of the Group when managing capital are to safeguard
the ability of the Group in continuing as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to enhance shareholders’
value in the long term.

The Group monitors capital by regularly reviewing the capital
structure. As part of this review, the directors of the Company
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with the issued
share capital. The Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares, repurchase the Company’'s shares
or sell assets to reduce debts.

AEENEAEERARAREAR KB
SEEERE N EUAOBRRR R EM
BaRAARENSE TH#FREER
BEBAMRTTIRRKEEE -

AEBBBETHRNEARBUESR
BER - {ERZBFMN -8 ARAE
EERETRAREBEHITHRANE
o AKBEAABRARRKNHKRE
BBOHRO BEAQBKMDNK L
EEERBDET

BRERZEREBAT —B-NFFR
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M BRI EE (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 &% =

44. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(a) Acquisition of Nanjing Haoyun Meicheng

Electronics Co., Ltd.

On 9 February 2018, the Group acquired 100% of the issued
share capital of Nanjing Haoyun Meicheng Electronics Co., Ltd.
("Nanjing Haoyun”) at a total consideration of RMB220,000,000
(the “Consideration”], among which RMB136,000,000 shall be
settled in cash and RMB84,000,000 shall be settled in issuing
consideration shares, which shall be payable in three
instalments from the date of completion to Year 2020 as

—NFT-_A=1T—HLLFEE

46, WIBINE LT

(a)

WEEAREEERETH
RERAT

RZFE—N\F-_AhB A&EEBEK
BEAUTEERNETREERA
Al RIFE]) 2IEEITRA -
BB A A R % 220,000,000 5T ([
&) H A K #136,000,0007T A
H&#E - ARKS40000007T &
BETRERDEE  HEBHZK

follows: HEEZ—_ZFT_TFHp=-8FZHu
™
Number of
Cash Consideration consideration
consideration shares Total shares
RERE KER D BmE KREROHE
RMB000 RMB000 RMB’000 (Unit)
AREFTT AREFTT ARETRT (B 1)
(note)
(Bt 3)
First instalment F—H 60,400 33,600 94,000 15,555,556
Second instalment F_H 37,800 25,200 63,000 11,666,666
Third instalment £ =f 37,800 25,200 63,000 11,666,666
Total &t 136,000 84,000 220,000 38,888,888

Note: Based on the issue price of HK$2.62 (equivalent to approximately
RMB2.16) per consideration share as stated in the acquisition
agreement.

As part of the Group’s strategy is to actively seek investment
opportunities that would bring strategic resources to expand
the Group’s portfolio and user base, the directors of the
Company believe that the acquisition presents an opportunity
for the Group to complement and enlarge China national games
platforms. In view of the existing card and board games
developed and operated by Nanjing Haoyun and the
geographical coverage of Nanjing Haoyun in China, and the
experiences of the members of the core management team in
Nanjing Haoyun in developing and operating card and board
games, the directors of the Company believe that the acquisition
will further consolidate the Group’s leading position in its
domestic China card and board games business and enhance

its brand influence.

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019
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44. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) L. WEREH BT @)
(a) Acquisition of Nanjing Haoyun Meicheng (a) MEBERGBEEZEREFH

Electronics Co., Ltd. (Continued)

The following summarises the consideration paid for Nanjing
Haoyun and the recognised amounts of assets acquired and
liabilities assumed at the acquisition date:

RBRAE )

AT Hd st RFEEHARE MR
REWBEERMAEAGRK
BREZERSE

Fair value of net identifiable
assets and liabilities

acquired
EWEBARBEER
BEEFEZAAE
Note RMB’000
Bt 5 ART T
Property, plant and equipment ME BB RER 1,616
Intangible assets mEAE 174,312
Trade and other receivables 2 5 & H fth B WK IA 5,696
Bank balances and cash RITEHRER S 29,776
Trade and other payables B 5 REAENFRIE (37,064)
Income tax payable FERPRIEEL (66)
Deferred tax liabilities R IE B F (43,578)
Net identifiable assets acquired TR BRI EEF R 130,692
Goodwill [EES 74,394
205,086

Satisfied by: AR
Cash consideration HeRE 60,400
Fair value of consideration shares issued B2 {TRERHD 2 AR E 31,536
Contingent consideration payables FE T Sk A AB 32 113,150
205,086

Profit Guarantee

Pursuant to the acquisition agreement, the vendors undertook
that the audited net profit of Nanjing Haoyun for the year ending
31 December 2018 shall not be less than RMB40,000,000 (the
“Nanjing Haoyun’'s 2018 Guarantee Profit’] and for the year
ending 31 December 2019 shall not be less than RMB52,000,000
(the “Nanjing Haoyun's 2019 Guarantee Profit”).

mFER

BEKERZE BEHARLERT
BERBE-_ZT - NF+=-A=+
— B Ik FE KK E R s AR E S
& bR AR ¥40,000,0007c ([ /@
RFE-_ZT— N\NEEREH]
BERBE=-_Z—hhEF+=ZA=+
—BALEEFEBTEIRARE
52,000,0007C ([ R iF 38 =T — A
FHEREF ] -

BRERZEREBAT —B-NFFR
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44. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) Acquisition of Nanjing Haoyun Meicheng

Electronics Co., Ltd. (continued)

Adjustments to the Consideration

In the event that the Nanjing Haoyun does not meet the Nanjing
Haoyun's 2018 Guarantee Profit, the vendors shall compensate
to the Group by adjusting the second trench of consideration

payment in accordance with the following formula:

2018

; (Nanjing Haoyun's 2018 Guarantee Profit -
Compensation

audited net profit) x 4
Amount

In the event that the Nanjing Haoyun does not meet the Nanjing
Haoyun's 2019 Guarantee Profit, the vendors shall compensate
to the Group by adjusting the third trench of consideration
payment in accordance with the following formula:

2019

; (Nanjing Haoyun's 2019 Guarantee Profit -
Compensation =

audited net profit) x 4
Amount

In no events shall the difference of the Consideration and the
sum of 2018 Compensation Amount and 2019 Compensation
Amount exceeds RMB220,000,000.

Goodwill of RMB74,394,000 arose in the above business
combination as the cost of combination included a control
premium. In addition, the consideration paid for the combination
effectively included amounts in relation to the benefit of
expected synergies, revenue growth, future market
development and the assembled workforce. These benefits are
not recognised separately from goodwill because they do not

meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition is expected to
be deductible for tax purposes.

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019
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Ewmof KEELR-_F N
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44. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a)

(b)

Acquisition of Nanjing Haoyun Meicheng
Electronics Co., Ltd. (Continued)

Adjustments to the Consideration (Continued)
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition is as
follows:

(a)

46, WENBL T @

WEARBEEZENEFTH
KERA T @)
KERBE (&)
FHBESEREREZMMN
T

RMB’000

ARBT

Cash consideration paid ENBREeRE (60,400)

Less: Bank balances and cash acquired W BB IRIT AR RIS 29,776
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included st AREEZHMERERZES

in the cash flows from investing activities MRSEEM R FE (30,624)

The revenue and profit included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income since ¢
February 2018 to 31 December 2018 contributed by Nanjing
Haoyun was RMB116,661,000 and RMBA45,456,000 respectively.

Had the combination taken place on 1 January 2018, the
revenue from continuing operations and loss of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2018 would have been
RMB344,945,000 and RMB697,827,000 respectively. These pro
forma information are for illustrative purposes only and are not
necessarily an indication of revenue and result of operation of
the Group that actually would have been achieved had the
acquisition been completed on 1 January 2018, nor are they
intended to be a projection of future results.

Acquisition of eSports Arena LLC

On 1 January 2018, the Group acquired additional interests of
64.44% of the issued share capital of the associate, eSports
Arena LLC ("eSports Arena”] at a total consideration of
US$1,484,295 (equivalent to approximately RMB10,376,000) (the
“Consideration”).

(b)

BEZZ - N\NFZANBE=_Z—
NF+ZA=+—HZHEAE
MEMEZEKRERBERRTE
BB Z WA RGBT DR AARE
116,661,000 7T & A & # 45,456,000
—

WeEHR _—_T—-\F—A—B#E
T BE_ZE-NF+_A=+
—ALFEAKREZBERLER
BRAREBEBESNER/RARE
344,945,000 7T K& A B ¥ 697,827,000
Lo lhEHREEREHRSA T8
EABRRUREBR=_Z—-NF—H
—BERAEEERMARSRA
RBEREZER  FTBRIERSR
KA TR

WX & eSports Arena LLC

—E-NF-HA—-—B XEH
BARE484295KTT(HERHA
R #10,376,0007T) ([ 1B 1) U 5 Bt
& ‘A AleSports Arena LLC ([eSports
Arenal) B 1T B AN Z 64.44% B 5
g o

BRERZEREBAT —B-NFFR
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44, ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) L4, WENWB QT @
(b) Acquisition of eSports Arena LLC (Continued) (b) WX ¥ eSports Arena LLC (&)
The following summarises the consideration paid for the LA TS #F it % 45 B8 eSports Arena B 15
acquisition of eSports Arena and the recognised amounts of REAREWRBEERMEAES
assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date: BERWERHERERE

Fair value of net

identifiable
assets and
liabilities
acquired
E Wi AT 3 Bl
EEREBEBTFE
ZARE
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB R 16,628
Intangible assets BIVEE 7,057
Trade and other receivables B 5 &k H b e KB 6,855
Bank balances and cash RITEB KRS 68
Trade and other payables B 5 & H A RIA (33,116)
Net identifiable liabilities assumed T AHE 7T 38 5l B B % R (2,508)
Fair value of non-controlling interests FERERZ ANE (5,278)
Goodwill Bk 22,913
15,127

Satisfied by: SR
Cash RBe 10,376
Fair value of 18% interest in associate given up B RERBEEL NG 18%EZZ ARLE 4,751
15,127
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44. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 44, WiEHEAD D @

(b) U8 eSports Arena LLC (&)
WESENRSRESTAOT :

(b) Acquisition of eSports Arena LLC (Continued)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition is as

follows:
RMB’000
AR T
Cash consideration HeRE (10,376)
Less: Bank balances and cash acquired W T IRIT AR RIR S 68
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included T AREEFEBMERESTENEE
in the cash flows from investing activities kReZEBEYRLFRE (10,308)

The revenue and loss included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income since 1 January
2018 to 31 July 2018 contributed by eSports Arena was
RMB5,256,000 and RMB 14,836,000 respectively.

Subsequent to the acquisition, the Group disposed of 57.44%
equity interest in August 2018 (note 45(c]).

B NF—A—HAE=%—
NELtA=+—HBZHREEZEK
H b 2 T W 2= K B FE eSports Arena
B2 BMAREE 2R AARKE
5,256,0007T & A K #14,836,0007T ©

B REEBR -_Z— N\F/)\ A
tH & 57.44% &9 A% #E (FfT 3£ 45(c)) °

HRARSBRERAT —E—NEER @
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45. DISPOSAL/RESCISSION OF SUBSIDIARIES 45. BE HEKEAT

2019 2018
—2-NF == =/\4F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt 5 AR¥T T ARBTT
(Restated)
(EZ51)
Loss on rescission of Nanjing Haoyun HEERTFEEKRNEFRIE
Meicheng Electronics Co., Ltd. BERRAMERE 45(a) (56,121) —
Loss on disposal of Tianjin Allied Esports 1 & K2 B B8 55 #% B B B L
Internet Technology Co., Ltd. RAERXF®EE 45(b) — (25,098)
Loss on disposal of eSports Arena LLC ) 5 eSports Arena LLCH#J &8 45(c) — (3,597)
Gain on disposal of other subsidiaries B B A B A IR AR 96 —
(56,025) (28,695)
(a) Rescission of a subsidiary with loss of control (a) AEEEKREEHENRWELR

— Nanjing Haoyun Meicheng Electronics Co.,
Ltd. (“Nanjing Haoyun”)

On 9 February 2018, the Group acquired 100% of the issued
share capital of Nanjing Haoyun. Following the arbitration
proceedings pursuant to the terms of the share transfer
agreement, on 23 December 2019, the Company received a
binding arbitral award issued by Nanjing Arbitration Commission
that the arbitration panel has determined that the share transfer
agreement should be rescinded and the respective parties
returned to their respective positions prior to the entry into the

share transfer agreements.

Following the rescission, the first cash consideration of
RMB60,400,000 paid in respect of the acquisition and the first
consideration shares of 15,555,556 number of shares of the
Company shall be returned to the Company. As at 31 December
2019, the cash consideration of RMB60,400,000 has been
received, and the consideration shares of 15,555,556 number of
shares have not yet transferred. Subsequent on 8 January 2020,
such consideration shares have been received and the Company
has cancelled those shares.

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019

O —FERBEZNEFH
RBRAT([ERBE))

R-ZZE—N\EFE-_ALB AEBEK
BRERTEENEBITRA - RE
REEZRENGERMEELRRD
RIFZSAHRERERF  ARAFRZZ
—hE+-A-F+t=A%kI @R
MBEEZEESIEHAEBHR DM
EECR R E/ AR E R D B
Ehm BSITHOAEEERSA
513 PR 15 B 5 17 2 AU MO AR ©

Btz B EEINME —H
/& KB AR ¥60400,0007T & 5
— H3 K (8 B 19 15,555,556 B A8 A A
BOHEREFARA - R_T—Ah
F+-_A=Z+—H ARADK
3] & KB A R ¥60400,0007T
B 15,555,556 B% X 1B % 17 117 K % &=
F-R_ZT-_TF—ANHE XK
ARIBREZERERG BEE
ZERMDEITESH -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RS U MERM EE ()

Fortheyearended 31 December2019 B Z=—ZE—AF T+ A=+ —HILFE

45. DISPOSAL/RESCISSION OF SUBSIDIARIES 45. HE HHENWBLT @

(Continued)

(a) Rescission of a subsidiary with loss of control (a) ABEXEEHENKED
— Nanjing Haoyun Meicheng Electronics Co., A—EARBEERNEFTH
Ltd. (“Nanjing Haoyun”) (continued) KBERAT(ERBE])

(&)
The following summarises the assets and liabilities over which MEREEGIEB R EESEZ
control was lost at the date when control was lost and cash EENEBEMAMRLEENR SR AR
inflow arising on the disposal: ARy
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control EXEXEFHENEEREE
was lost Va)ll
RMB'000
ARBTT
Property, plant and equipment mE - BEK&E 1,565
Right-of-use assets EREEE 1,083
Intangible assets BIVEE 110,610
Goodwill A 74,394
Trade and other receivables B 5 & E A U RIA 22,803
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR LB S 60,557
Trade and other payables B 5 R E b EARIA (32,218]
Deferred revenue iR W (1,144)
Lease liabilities HERE (1,089)
Income tax payable JERTET 1SR (1,168)
Deferred tax liabilities RERIBAE (26,631)
Net assets disposed of BEHENFEE 208,762
Note RMB’000
B 55 AR T T
Net assets disposed of BEHENFEE (208,762)
Cash consideration received BRBEeNE 60,400
Share consideration receivable JE AR 17 (B 5,091
Derecognition of consideration payables #X | R BRI E —HHNEWAR B
in respect of the second instalments 32 46,202
Derecognition of contingent consideration #% |F#ER A B35 = BiAfE IR
payables in respect of the third g ARE
instalments 30 40,948
Loss on rescission of Nanjing Haoyun HiEm R ERNEE (56,121)
I RERERTRAT

—E-NEER @
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45. DISPOSAL/RESCISSION OF SUBSIDIARIES 45. HE HHENBA T @

(Continued)

(a) Rescission of a subsidiary with loss of control
— Nanjing Haoyun Meicheng Electronics Co.,
Ltd. (“Nanjing Haoyun”) (Continued)

(a)

HEER R EHIENNEL
D—FEREEEAEFH
RERAT(ERBE])
(%)

Net cash outflow arising on disposal HEEENREALBE
RMB'000
ARET T
Cash consideration received BN e RE 60,400
Bank balances and cash disposed of BEHEMRITEKRLRRS (60,557)
(157)
(b) Disposal of subsidiaries with loss of control (b) HEWBATIWERKE
— Tianjin Allied Esports Internet Technology EHE—XEZHBERR
Co., Ltd. (“Tianjin Allied Esports”) B@NRERAT([X
EMBRER])

In November 2018, the Group disposed of entire equity interest
in its subsidiary, Tianjin Allied Esports Internet Technology Co.,
Ltd. ("Tianjin Allied Esports”) to independent third parties.

The following summarises the assets and liabilities over which
control was lost at the disposal date and cash inflow arising on
the disposal:

RZZB-NF+—F AEERE
TE=ZFHEENE QB RZH
HEFLBHBAMRARAR (TR2F
SR E ) B 2 P RHE -

REERMAREZEGRZEER
BERLENRSRABALT

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control LEBHRENEEREE
was lost DI

RMB'000
ARBTT
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB R 17,860
Intangible assets BVEE 210
Interests in associates B QB R) R a 9,042
Inventories 7&E 42
Trade and other receivables H 5 Kk EAh W RIE 294,744
Income tax recoverable CIEqENiR e 2,096
Bank balances and cash RITHEHR KRS 3,358
Trade and other payables B 5 & H fih B RIA (285,391]
Net assets disposed of HEEESFE 41,961

@, Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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45. DISPOSAL/RESCISSION OF SUBSIDIARIES 45. HE HHENBA T @

(Continued)

(b) Disposal of subsidiaries with loss of control (b) HENBATIWEHEKR
— Tianjin Allied Esports Internet Technology PR — RORM R E R
Co., Ltd. (“Tianjin Allied Esports”) (continued] ER@RRERAT(X

BRI @0
Net cash outflow arising on disposal HEEENREALBE

RMB’000

ARBTT

Consideration KRE 4,118

Non-controlling interests JEFE IR M = 12,745

Net assets disposed of BEHENFEE (41,961)

Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HMBARIMNERE (25,098)
Net cash inflow arising on disposal HESHEELNREANBEER

RMB’000

AR T T

Consideration KE 4,118

Bank balances and cash disposed of EHENRITESRER (3,358

760

(c) Disposal of subsidiaries with loss of control (c) HEWBATIWEHNLKE
— eSports Arena 12 5l #€ —eSports Arena
In August 2018, the Group disposed of 57.44% equity interests R-ZE—NENA XEBHE
in its subsidiary, eSports Arena, resulting in a loss of control E [ff & 2 7] eSports Arena 57.44% %
over eSports Arena. Upon the disposal, the Group's interest in ¥+ A It 2k & ¥ eSports Arena B 2
eSports Arena was reduced to 25%. Accordingly, the investment HE- LEB K&EH 75'/$eSports
in eSports Arena was reclassified as interests in an associate. Arena ) # & B £25% © A 1 - ©

eSports Arena B 1% & E 3 5 &R
— e AR ER -

HREEZRERAT "B NEER @
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45. DISPOSAL/RESCISSION OF SUBSIDIARIES 45. HE HHENBA T @

(Continued)

(c) Disposal of subsidiaries with loss of control
— eSports Arena (Continued)

The assets and liabilities of eSports Arena were deconsolidated
from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position
and the remaining 25% equity interest in eSports Arena has
been accounted for as an associate using equity method. The
25% retained interest in eSports Arena amounting to
RMB18,792,000 at the date on which the control was lost is
regarded as the cost on initial recognition of the investment in
eSports Arena as an associate.

(c)

HEWBS AW E K
Z 2§ —eSports Arena
(&)

eSportsArenafi EE R A fE T B
AL B 84RG8 B R &K P A
& ABR ¢ i 7 eSports Arena ik T #Y
25% A #E B 4% 4 550K A BR 51 4F B
ERR - RNAXEEHEER R
eSports Arena B9 25% 1R B # @ A R
18,792,000 7T #% 1R &% ¥1] 46 7 R
eSports Arena ({E & B & A R]) B 1%

RMB'000

ARET T

Fair value of interest retained REBEZNAAE 18,792
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control SLEEHENEEREED

was lost Uik

RMB'000

ARET T

Property, plant and equipment M- BERF 31,548

Goodwill & 24,067

Intangible assets BEAE 7,755

Trade and other receivables B 5 K& H b fE W TR IA 23,566

Bank balances RIT# 8 1,260

Trade and other payables g5 REAMENFRIE (59,838)

Net assets disposed of EHERFEE 28,358
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45. DISPOSAL/RESCISSION OF SUBSIDIARIES 45. HE HHENEBE LD @

(Continued)
(c) Disposal of subsidiaries with loss of control (b) HEHBAIWEIK
— eSports Arena (Continued) E 2 B #E—eSports Arena
(%)
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control LEBRHENEEREBED
was lost (Continued) T ()
RMB'000
ARBTT
Fair value of retained interests REEENALE 18,792
Non-controlling interests FE 2 AR 4,980
Translation reserve MEFE 989
Net assets disposed of EHERFEE (28,358
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HBARZERE (3,597)
Net cash outflow arising on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RBRBEAIELENER
TRE PR
RMB'000
AR T T
Bank balances disposed of B HEMIRITAER (1,260)
(1,260)

HREEZRERAT "B NEER @
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46. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES INCLUDED IN 46. SFADBREFIELHENT
DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR EHNINEERERE
SALE
As at 31 December 2018, the assets and liabilities related to PC R-—ZE—NE+-_A=+—8 ' F@B
Business under the Lianzhong Group were presented as single line REBEBETPCEKMEERBEZIR
items of “disposal group classified as held for sale” (Note 2.1). The [PEABELHENLEHERMERE
assets and liabilities were as follows: B (M2 - BEERBBENT :
As at
31 December
2018
RZZT—N\F
+—-A=+—8©
RMB'000
ARET T
Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H b U R IE 45,295
Current liabilities FREEE
Trade and other payables B 5 hHEMENRE 16,558
Net assets included in disposal group FASEABELHENHEAR
classified as held for sale MWEEFE 28,737

@ Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019
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